A study examining the role of Rho family GTPases in the intracellular targeting of Src kinase during cell polarisation and migration.

By

Paul Timpson.

This thesis is submitted in part fulfilment of the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the University of Glasgow

> WODSALD VIISSIVIX VIISSIVIX

ProQuest Number: 13818495

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 13818495

Published by ProQuest LLC (2018). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

Abstract

The ability of a cell to polarise and move is governed by re-modelling of the cellular adhesion/cytoskeletal network that is in turn controlled by the Rho family of small GTPases. However, it is not known what signals lie downstream of Rac1 and Cdc42 during peripheral adhesion re-modelling that are required for directional migration.

We show here that individual members of the Rho family, RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42, direct the specific intracellular targeting of c-Src tyrosine kinase to focal adhesions, lamellipodia or filopodia, respectively, and that the adaptor function of c-Src (the combined SH3/SH2 domains coupled to green fluorescent protein) is sufficient for targeting. Furthermore, Src's catalytic activity is absolutely required at these peripheral cell-matrix attachment sites for adhesion re-modelling that converts RhoA-dependent focal adhesions into smaller focal complexes along Rac1-induced lamellipodia or Cdc42-induced filopodia. Consequently, cells in which kinase-deficient c-Src occupies peripheral adhesion sites exhibit impaired polarisation towards migratory stimuli and reduced motility.

Our findings demonstrate that individual Rho GTPases specify Src's exact peripheral localisation, and that RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 cannot co-ordinate cell structural changes and directed cell migration when Src is present at adhesion sites in an inactive form. Src's role, which involves phosphorylation of adhesion substrates including FAK, is to induce the necessary adhesion re-modelling downstream of Rac1 and Cdc42 during migratory cell responses.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the following people without whom this thesis would never have been completed:

I would like to give a special thanks my supervisors Margaret Frame and Val Brunton who have provided endless advice and support over the past three years and whom along with Val Fincham have acted as my surrogate mother throughout my PhD. Thanks also to all members of R1 and R11. I would also like to thank all PhD students, past and present, for making my social life at the Beatson one to remember. I also wish to thank my friends and family for their continuous help and support during my constant thesis writing complaints!

Finally, I wish to thank the Beatson Institute, the CRC and Art Alberts for giving me the valuable opportunity to spend time learning about Diaphanous proteins at the Van Andel Institute in Michigan earlier last year.

Table of Contents

	Title Page		
	Abstract		
	Acknowledgements		
	Table of Contents		
	List of Figures		
	Abbreviations		
1	Introduc	tion	14
	1.1 Src		14
	1.1.1	Structure of Src	14
	1.1.2	Regulation of Src	16
	1.1.3	Allosteric regulation of Src	16
	1.1.4	Factors influencing the enzymatic regulation of Src	17
	1.1.5	Regulation of Src by protein tyrosine phosphatases.	19
	1.1.6	Regulation of Src by C-terminal Src kinase Csk.	19
	1.1.7	Regulation of Src by altered protein stability or expression levels	s20
	1.1.8	Regulation of Src by the Src kinase domain.	21
	1.1.9	Regulation of Src by the unique domain	
	1.1.10	Regulation of Src by molecular displacement.	
	1.2 Spa	itial regulation of Src	
	1.2.1	Src domains involved in spatially regulating Src	27
	1.2.2	Potential binding partners involved in spatial regulation of Src	
	1.2.3	Spatial location of Src during various cellular processes.	
	1.2.4	Src's intracellular targeting within the cell.	
	1.3 Rh	oGTPases	
	1.3.1	Regulation of RhoGTPases	
	1.3.2	RhoGTPases act as a link between extracellular stimuli and the r	emodelling
	of the ac	tin cytoskeleton	
	1.3.3	Link between extracellular signalling and RhoGTPases	
	1.4 Rh	oGTPases and their effectors	45
	1.4.1	Rho effectors	
	1.4.2	Cdc42 and Rac effectors.	
	1.4.3	Cross-talk between RhoGTPases	
	1.4.4	Cross-talk between small family subgroups	
	1.5 Ce	Il motility and migration	
	1.5.1	A role for Rac1 in cell migration.	
	1.5.2	A role for Cdc42 in cell migration.	
	1.5.3	A role for RhoA in cell migration.	
	1.6 Re	gulation of adhesion dynamics during cell migration.	
	1.6.1	A role for Src in cell migration.	
	1.6.2	Src induced modulation of RhoGTPases during cell migration	
	1.7 Air	m	
2	Materia	ls and methods	
	2.1 Ce	Il culture reagents.	
	2.2 Ce	11 culture plasticware	
	2.3 Int	ibitors	
	2.4 Gr	owth factors.	
	2.5 An	tisera and associated materials	
	2.6 Pro	otein reagents and materials	
	2.7 Sto	ock solutions and buffers	
		WAR WWARVAWAAN NAAN NAAN NAAN NAAN NAAN NAAN NAA	

2.8 Pro	tein extraction and processing	3
2.9 Cel	ls and plasmids	5
2.10 Me	thods	5
2.10.1	Experimental protocol for serum starvation76	5
2.10.2	Microinjection and transfection of plasmids76	5
2.10.3	Immunofluorescence	5
2.10.4	Preparation of protein extracts from adherent fibroblasts	7
2.10.5	Protein electrophoresis	7
2.10.6	Immunoblotting7	8
2.10.7	Antibody incubation and detection by ECL7	8
2.10.8	Removing bound antisera from immunoblots7	8
2.10.9	Immunoprecipitation of extracted proteins7	9
2.10.10	Random cell migration7	9
2.10.11	Dunn chamber polarisation assay7	9
2.10.12	Primary antisera dilutions used for immunofluorescence	0
2.10.13	Secondary antisera dilutions used for immunofluorescence	1
2.10.14	Primary antisera dilutions used for immunoblotting and	
immuon	precipitation	1
2.10.15	Secondary antisera dilutions used for Immunoblotting8	1
2.10.16	Bacterial transformation and DNA extraction8	1
2.10.17	Routine Swiss 3T3 propagation8	2
2.10.18	Swiss 3T3 fibroblast cyropreservation and recovery	2
3 Charact	erisation of Swiss 3T3 cells and Src251-GFP as tools to monitor c-Src	
targeting wit	hin the cell	5
3.1 Pu	rpose	5
3.2 Re	sults	5
3.2.1	Manipulation of the actin cytoskeleton in Swiss 3T3 cells	5
3.2.2	Characterisation of Src251-GFP as a tool to monitor c-Src localisation in	
Swiss 3	T3 cells)2
3.2.3	Translocation of Src251-GFP to focal adhesions is dependent on the actin	
cytoske	leton)2
3.2.4	Discussion	0
3.3 Su	mmary	2
4 Co-ordi	nated regulation of the actin cytoskeleton by RhoGTPases spatially regulates	
Src targeting	to the cell periphery	4
4.1 Pu	rpose	4
4.2 Re	sults	4
4.2.1	Localisation of Src251-GFP to specific peripheral sites is under the control	
of Rho	family GTPases11	4
4.2.2	Localisation of endogenous or wt-Src by RhoGTPases is indistinguishable	
from th	e targeting of Src251-GFP	23
4.2.3	Molecular or pharmacological inhibition of RhoA blocks Src targeting to	
focal ac	lhesions	23
4.2.4	Co-ordinated regulation of the actin cytoskeleton by RhoGTPases controls	
the intra	acellular targeting of Src to lamellipodia	34
4.2.5	Co-ordinated regulation of actin cytoskeleton by RhoGTPases controls the	
intracel	lular targeting of Src to filopodia14	12
4.3 Di	scussion	52
4.4 Su	mmary	51
5 Src kina	ase activity participates in the efficient remodelling of focal adhesions to foca	1
complexes during lamellipodia and filopodia formation163		
5.1 Pu	rpose	53
5.2 Re	sults	53

	5.2.1	Src251-GFP interferes with the efficient formation of uniform lar 163	nellipodia
	5.2.2 adhesion	Src mutants used as tools to determine the role Src kinase activity remodelling.	/ plays in 167
	5.2.3	c-Src kinase activity is required for complete remodelling of the	actin
	cytoskele	eton during lamellipodia formation.	175
	5.2.4	c-Src kinase activity is required for remodelling of focal adhesion	ns during
	lamellip	odia formation	
	5.2.5	c-Src kinase activity is also required for complete remodelling of	the actin
	cytoskel	eton and focal adhesions during filopodia formation.	
	5.2.6	Expression of Src251-GFP or SrcMF in focal adhesions prevents	Y-27632
	induced	focal adhesion disassembly	
	5.2.7	c-Src kinase activity is required for cell motility and polarity	
	5.3 Dis	cussion	201
	5.4 Sur	nmary	
6	Identific	ation of potential binding partners/substrates of Src specifically lir	iked to
fo	cal adhesio	n remodelling	211
	6.1 Pur	pose	211
	6.1.1	Scar family proteins as potential candidates involved in focal adl	nesion
	remodel	ling	
	6.1.2	The effect of Src kinase activity on Scar-1 function	
	6.1.3	FAK as a candidate in Src induced focal adhesions remodelling.	232
	6.2 Dis	cussion	
	6.2.1	Scar as a candidate in Src induced focal adhesions remodelling	
	6.2.2	FAK as a candidate in Src induced focal adhesions remodelling.	
_	6.3 Sur	nmary	
1	Conclus	10n	
	7.1 Sur	nmary and future work	
	7.1.1	Summary	
	7.1.2	Future studies.	
	7.1.3	Potential candidates involved in Src's perinuclear to peripheral t	argeting 252
	7.1.4	Potential candidates involved in Src's focal adhesion remodellin	g during
	lamellip	odia or filopodia formation.	
	Appe	ndices	
	LISE O	T Keterences	

List of Figures

Figure 1 Schematic representation of (c) and (v) -Src	.15
Figure 3 Schematic representation of Src's spatial localisation during various cellular	
processes	26
Figure 4 Regulation of RhoGTPases	36
Figure 5 Schematic representation of the specific morphological changes induced by	
activation of the respective RhoGTPases in Swiss 3T3 cells	40
Figure 6 Signalling pathways involved in actin cytoskeletal remodelling induced by RhoGTPases	44
Figure 7 Schematic representation of adhesion dynamics during migration induced by	
Cdc42, Rac1 and RhoA	61
Figure 8 Disruption and breakdown of the actin cytoskeleton by serum starvation	88
Figure 9 Specific activation of RhoGTPases using constitutively active RhoGTPases lea	ads
to distinct actin rearrangements	90
Figure 10 Activation of RhoGTPases using external growth factors to manipulate the ac	ctin
cytoskeleton	93
Figure 11 Disruption and breakdown of the actin cytoskeleton by pharmacological	
intervention	95
Figure 12 Y-27632 specifically inhibits RhoA mediated actin remodelling without	
effecting Rac-1 or Cdc42	99
Figure 13 Expression of dominant negative RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 in cells inhibit the	
respective morphological actin structure induced by serum, PDGF or bradykinin	
stimulation respectively	.101
Figure 14 Src251-GFP construct	.105
Figure 15 Translocation of Src251-GFP to focal adhesions is dependent on the actin	
cytoskeleton	.107
Figure 16 In the presence of serum Src251-GFP associates with focal adhesions	.109
Figure 17 Src localisation to focal adhesions is under the control of RhoA mediated stre	ess
fibres	.118
Figure 18 Src localisation to lamellipodia is under the control of Rac-1 mediated actin	
remodelling	.120
Figure 19 Src localisation to filopodia is under the control of Cdc42 mediated actin	
remodelling	.122
Figure 20 Localisation of endogenous Src by RhoGTPases is indistinguishable from the	Ð
targeting of Src251-GFP	.126
Figure 21 Localisation of wt-Src by RhoGTPases is indistinguishable from the targeting	g of
Src251-GFP	.128
Figure 22 Expression of dominant negative RhoA in cells blocks Src targeting to focal	
adhesions	.130
Figure 23 The Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632 blocks RhoA-dependent targeting of Src t	0
focal adhesions	.133
Figure 24 Addition of the Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632, prior to PDGF stimulation or	
Rac1 expression impairs stressfibres and retains Src251-GFP in a perinuclear loca	tion
during lamellipodia formation	.137
Figure 25 Removal of the inhibitory effect of Y-27632 allows stress fibre re-formation	and
PDGF induced targeting of Src to lamellipodia	.139
Figure 26 Inhibition of Rac1 blocks the formation and targeting of Src to lamellipodia	out
has no effect on Src's peripheral targeting from a perinuclear location to focal	
adhesions	.141
Figure 27 Addition of the Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632, prior to bradykinin stimulatio	n
impair stress fibres and retains Src251-GFP in a perinuclear location during filipod	145
formation	.145

Figure 28 Addition of the Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632, prior to Cdc42 expression impaires stress fibres and retains Src251-GFP in a perinuclear location during filopodia formation
Figure 29 Removal of the inhibitory effects of Y-27632 allows stress fibre re-formation
and bradykinin induced targeting of Src to illopodia
has no effect on Src's peripheral targeting from a perinuclear location to focal
adhesions
Figure 31 Schematic representation of the co-ordinated actin remodelling proposed to be involved in Src's sequential targeting from the perinuclear region of the cell to
The second secon
involved in Src's sequential targeting from the perinuclear region of the cell to
filopodia
Figure 33 Schematic representation of Src's sequential targeting from the perinuclear
region of the cell to lamellipodia or filopodia
Figure 34 Src kinase activity at focal adhesions is required for remodelling of the actin
cytoskeleton during lamellipodia formation
Figure 35 c-Src constructs
Figure 36 Translocation of SrcY52/F to local adhesions is indistinguishable from Src251-
GFP
Figure 37 Translocation of Stewif to local adhesions is indistinguishable from Ste251-
Figure 38 Src kinase activity is required for remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton during
lamellinodia formation
Figure 39 SrcMF expression in focal adhesion prior to PDGF stimulation inhibits actin
cytoskeletal remodelling during lamellipodia formation
Figure 40 Src kinase activity is required for the disassembly of focal adhesions during
lamellipodia formation
Figure 41 Src kinase activity is required for re-modelling of the actin cytoskeleton during
filopodia formation
Figure 42 Src kinase activity is required for the disassembly of focal adhesions during
filopodia formation
Figure 43 SrcMF expression in focal adhesions prior to bradykinin stimulation inhibits
actin and focal adhesion remodelling during filopodia formation
Figure 44 Stabilisation of focal adhesions in cells expressing Src251-GFP
Figure 45 Stabilisation of focal adhesions in cells expressing SrcMF
Figure 46 Src251-GFP and SrcMF inhibit random cell migration
Figure 47 Src251-GFP and SrcMF inhibit cell polarisation
Figure 48 Schematic representation of Src's targeting from the perinuclear region of the
Figure 49 Scar co localises with actin at focal adhesion and lamellipodia induced by LPA
and PDGF 215
Figure 50 Scar co-localises with the focal adhesion protein vinculin at focal adhesions and
lamellipodia induced by LPA and PDGF
Figure 51 Myc-tagged Scar-1 co-localises with actin at focal adhesions as endogenous Scar
induced by the LPA and PDGF
Figure 52 Scar co-localises with Src251-GFP and SrcY52/F at focal adhesions induced by
KNOA activation
Pigure 55 Sear co-localises with Src251-OFP and Src 152/F in lamellipodia induced by
Figure 54 Src kingse activity does not offect Arm2/2 binding to Sear 1 207
Figure 55 Src kinase activity does not effect actin monomer binding to Scar-1
Figure 56 Src kinase activity does not effect Grb2 binding to Scar-1
o

Figure 57 PDGF stimulation increases FAK phosphorylation
Figure 58 Phosphorylation of FAK is inhibited in cells expressing kinase defective Src.237
Figure 59 FAK phosphorylated on tyrosine 925 is found in focal adhesions and
lamellipodia239
Figure 60 FAK phosphorylation on tyrosine-925 localises to discrete patches around the
edge of the lamelipodia in Src251-GFP expressing cells and is continuous along the
lamellipodia in SrcY527F expressing cells241
Figure 61 Schematic representation of Src's intracellular targeting from the perinuclear
region of the cell to lamellipodia or filopodia

Declaration

I declare that all the work in this thesis was performed personally unless otherwise acknowledged. No part of this work has been submitted for consideration for any other degree or award.

Abbreviations

.....ammonium persulphate APS ATPadenosine 5'-triphosphate actin filament associated protein AFAPbovine serum albumin BSAcellular C-CSF-1Rcolony stimulating factor receptorDbl homology DH DNAdeoxyribonucleic acidenhanced chemiluminescence ECL ECMextracellular matrix EDTAethylenediamine tetraacetic acid, disodium salt EGF(R)epidermal growth factor receptor EGTAethylene glycol-bis(β -aminoethyl ether)N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid ERKextracellular signal regulated kinaseezrin moesin radixin ERM Fphenylalanine FHforming homology FAKfocal adhesion kinase FCSfoetal calf serumfluorescein isothiocyanate FITC GAPGTPase activating protein GDI guanine dissociation inhibitor GDFGDI displacement factor GEFguanine nucleotide exchange factor GFPgreen fluorescenct protein GPCRg-protein coupled receptorguanosine 5'-triphosphate GTP HGFhepatocyte growth factorimmunoglobulin Iglysophosphatidic acid LPAmonoclonal antibody mAbmyosin binding subunit MBS MLC(K).....myosin light chain kinasemodified eagles medium MEM MRCKmyotonic dystrophy kinase-related Cdc42 binding kinase PAKp21-activated kinase PAGEpolyacrylamide gel electrophoresis PBSphosphate buffered saline PDGF(R)platelet derived growth factor receptor PHPleckstrin homology PI3-kinasephophatidyl inositol 3-kinase PIPphophatidyl inositol monophosphate PIP2 phophatidyl inositol- 4.5 bisphosphate PIP3 phophatidyl inositol- 3,4,5 bisphosphate PIXPAK interacting exchange factor PI5 kinase...... phophatidyl inositol 5-kinase PKCprotein kinase C PLCPhospholipase C PORPartner of rac PTPprotein tyrosine phophatase RNAribonucleic acid

ROCK	rho kinase
SH2	src homology domain 2
SH3	src homology domain 3
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate
TEMED	N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine
Tris	tris-[hydroxymethyl]aminomethane
TRITC	tetramethyl rhodamine isothicyanate
ts	temperature sensitive
V-	viral
WASP	wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein
w/v	weight for volume
Y-	tyrosine

Throughout this study, the names of genes are presented in italics (e.g. *fyn*) and the names of proteins are given in normal text beginning with a capital letter (e.g. Fyn).

introduction.

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

1.1 Src

Tyrosine phosphorylation has been implicated in a variety of biological responses, including cell migration, proliferation, differentiation and cell survival (Bolen & Brugge, 1997). Many protein tyrosine kinases have been characterised that do not contain extracellular or transmembrane domains. Among these non-receptor tyrosine kinases, are the Src protein tyrosine kinase family which are capable of phosphorylating a diverse range of cellular targets and are the best characterised of all protein tyrosine kinases. c-Src was first isolated as the cellular homologue of v-Src, the transforming gene of Rous Sarcoma virus (Stehelin, 1976). As the first proto-oncogene described and through the finding that Src possesses tyrosine kinase activity (Collett & Erikson, 1978; Levinson et al., 1978), Src serves as a prototype in our understanding of molecular mechanisms behind cellular processes involving tyrosine phosphorylation and has led to the discovery of many other proto-oncogenes and kinase families.

The Src family kinases have been identified on the basis of their transforming phenotype (Yes, Frg and Lck), while others have been identified by regions of homology not found in the receptor family tyrosine kinases (Fyn, Yrk, Hck, Lyn and Blk). Most members of the Src family kinases demonstrate restricted distribution, primarily in hematopoetic cells, while Src, Yes and Fyn display almost ubiquitous expression (Bolen & Brugge, 1997).

1.1.1 Structure of Src

Topographically Src consist of a short membrane anchor domain of 15-17 residues, a poorly conserved unique domain of 40-70 residues which defines family members, a Src homology 3 (SH3) domain of 50 residues which can bind to specific proline rich sequences and a Src homology 2 (SH2) domain of 100 residues found carboxy terminal to the SH3 domain, which binds to tyrosine phosphorylated sequences. Following this the catalytic or kinase domain of Src encompasses 250 residues. Finally at the extreme termini of c-Src lies the carboxy-terminal regulatory region containing a conserved tyrosine residue (Figure 1).

Figure 1.



Figure 1. Schematic representation of cellular (c-) and viral (v-) Src. Amino acids numbers correspond to the chicken c-Src sequence The molecule is composed of an amino-terminal myristilation domain, a unique region, SH3 and SH2 protein interaction domains, a kinase domain that contains tyrosine-416 and a carboxy-terminal regulatory domain that contains tyrosine-527. In v-Src 19 C-terminal amino acids of c-Src are replaced by 12 amino acids in v-Src. The C-terminal amino acid deletions in v-Src includes tyrosine-527 which is critical for regulating the protein and as a result v-Src is rendered constitutively active.

1.1.2 Regulation of Src

Most family members of the Src family kinases are highly regulated, exhibiting limited kinase activity in the absence of an activating stimulus. This tight regulation and the methods by which this is achieved will be highlighted here with particular interest paid to the spatial regulation of Src as a method of localising Src's biological action and thus preventing aberrant effects of Src kinase activity within the cell. To begin addressing this, we describe the role of individual Src domains in regulating the enzymatic activity of Src and ultimately their collective role in Src's spatial regulation and biological action.

1.1.3 Allosteric regulation of Src

Initial insights into the important role phosphorylation of Src plays in regulating its kinase activity came from a study, showing that the removal of phosphotyrosine from normal c-Src enhanced the kinase activity of Src (Courtneidge, 1985). Later it was demonstrated that the reduced transforming ability of c-Src compared to v-Src, which is dependent on Src kinase activity (Kmiecik & Shalloway, 1987; Snyder et al., 1985), was due to the presence of tyrosine-527 in c-Src, whose phosphorylation was responsible for the negative regulation of c-Src kinase activity and thus transforming capacity (Cooper et al., 1986). v-Src lacks this residue and mutations in c-Src at tyrosine-527 to phenylalanine or serine augmented the protein tyrosine kinase and transforming activity of c-Src (Figure 1) (Kmiecik & Shalloway, 1987; MacAuley & Cooper, 1989). Moreover point mutations in the SH2 domain led to c-Src activation (Kato et al., 1986; Parsons & Weber, 1989), highlighting its importance in regulating c-Src activity, and led to the proposal of a model in which the SH2 domain participates in an intramolecular interaction with the phosphorylated tyrosine-527 carboxy domain, rendering the kinase domain inaccessible and therefore inactive in this 'closed' conformation (Figure 2). By conjecture, this model suggests that dephosphorylation of tyrosine-527 by cellular phosphatases for example, would abolish this interaction and allow c-Src to adopt an 'open' catalytically active conformation, as postulated for protein serine kinases (Soderling, 1990). When Src is in its 'open' conformation, where restraints from the intramolecular interactions are disrupted, the phosphorylation of the activation loop at tyrosine-416 in the kinase domain, which is an autophosphorylation site (see Section 1.1.8), is required to allow full activation of the molecule (Kmiecik & Shalloway, 1987; Snyder et al., 1983) (Figure 2). The transforming capacity of oncogenic c-Src mutants or v-Src are reduced in cells expressing point mutations in the activation loop (Kmiecik & Shalloway, 1987; Snyder et al., 1983).

Until the recent elucidation of the three-dimensional crystal structure of regulated Src, the role of the SH3 domain of Src was thought to be in co-operation with the binding of the SH2 domain to tyrosine-527 by binding proline rich sequences in the kinase domain (Courtneidge et al., 1993). However, it is now clear that the kinase domain is exposed during interactions between the SH2 domain and the carboxy-terminal region and that the SH3 domain participates in regulating the kinase activity of Src by interacting with the linker region between the SH2 and catalytic domain (Figure 2) (Sicheri & Kuriyan, 1997; Xu et al., 1997). Moreover, elimination of the SH3 domain-linker interaction has been shown to induce the activation of the Src family member, Hck, thereby providing a direct connection between the SH3 interaction, results in constraints on the free movement within the kinase domain, rendering it inactive (Sicheri et al., 1997; Xu et al., 1997; Yamaguchi & Hendrickson, 1996). Interactions between the SH3 and upstream linker sequences between the SH2 and the kinase domain, therefore both contribute to the regulation of Src (Figure 2).

1.1.4 Factors influencing the enzymatic regulation of Src

Given the current model (Figure 2), there are several ways in which Src can be regulated and any one or more of these might be responsible for the enzymatic activity of Src. These include deletion of tyrosine-527 for example, which has previously been described for v-Src (Reynolds et al., 1987), resulting in its constitutive activation. Similar results were seen in the case of mutating tyrosine-527 to phenylalanine or serine causing the constitutive activation of c-Src (Kmiecik & Shalloway, 1987). More recently there has been reports of activating mutations in the carboxy terminal region in human c-Src on tyrosine-530 which have similar functional consequences as mutating or deleting tyrosine-527 in chicken c-Src, including links to enhanced metastasis and cell transformation (Irby et al., 1999). Other regulatory mechanisms include de-phosphorylation of tyrosine-527 by tyrosine phosphatases, negative regulation by the related regulatory kinase Csk, displacement of SH3/SH2- mediated intramolecular interactions by higher affinity ligands or by altering the binding affinity of the SH domains to these ligands and finally phosphorylation of tyrosine-416, all of which are described in more detail below.

Figure 2.



closed 'inactive'

open 'active'

Figure 2. Schematic representation of c-Src activation by de-phosphorylation of tyrosine-527, which results in both the dissociation of intramolecular interactions with the SH2 and SH3 domains.

1.1.5 Regulation of Src by protein tyrosine phosphatases.

Several protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) have been implicated in the regulation of Src family kinases serving to de-phosphorylate the C-terminal tyrosine-527 residue and thus displace the intramolecular interaction with the SH2 domain rendering Src 'open' and active. For example, Cd45 is able to dephosphorylate the C-terminal regulatory site of Lck and Fyn resulting in kinase activation (Mustelin & Altman, 1990) and Cd45-deficient mice have impaired T-cell signalling which correlates with decreased catalytic activity of Lck and Fyn and increased phosphorylation of the C-terminal tyrosine-527 (Mustelin et al., 1992; Ostergaard et al., 1989). However, it is not known whether Cd45-induced dephosphorylation of Lck or Fyn is primarily responsible for these effects, due to the fact that Lck and Fyn are already poorly phosphorylated in lymphocytes (Ostergaard et al., 1989). Perhaps a more likely phosphatase would be PTP- α , which dephosphorylates tyrosine-527 in vitro (Zheng et al., 1992) and in cells such as A431 carcinoma cells (Harder et al., 1998; Ponniah et al., 1999; Su et al., 1999). Consistent with this, overexpression of PTP- α in fibroblasts is oncogenic and causes dephosphorylation of Src on tyrosine-527 in these cells (Zheng et al., 2000). The likely-hood of PTP- α being a major physiological regulator of Src however is unlikely due to the lack of specificity of PTP- α for the carboxy-terminal tyrosine-527 over other residues, such as the autophosphorylation site at tyrosine-416 (Smart et al., 1981). Other phophatases that can dephosphorylate Src include PTP1B, SHP-1 and SHP-2. PTP1B was found to be up regulated in breast cancer cell and when purified, like PTP- α , can dephosphorylate and activate Src in vitro and in cells (Bjorge et al., 2000). The regulation of Src may be achieved by the activity of a variety of protein tyrosine phosphatases and the level of PTP expression in different cell types may serve to regulate Src kinase family activity, on a celltype specific basis (O'Connor et al., 1995; Zhao et al., 1992).

1.1.6 Regulation of Src by C-terminal Src kinase Csk.

In addition to the actions of phosphatases, the tyrosine kinase Csk and its homologue Chk are thought to be involved in controlling the activation status of Src family kinases by phosphorylating the C-terminal tyrosine-527 (Nada et al., 1993). Csk is structurally similar to Src comprising an SH2 and SH3 domain, but it lacks the regulatory tyrosine residue that critically controls Src activity (Nada et al., 1991). It also does not have a membrane anchorage domain and thus Csk is not membrane bound but is found predominantly in cytoplasmic pools (Bergman et al., 1995; Okada & Nakagawa, 1988;

Okada & Nakagawa, 1989). One mechanism proposed for Src regulation by Csk is that access to Src by alterations in Csk localisation may influence its effect on Src regulation (Chow et al., 1994; Chow et al., 1993; Ford et al., 1994). Csk has a high affinity for sequences around tyrosine-416 of activated Src which may target Csk to areas of Src activation and thereby act in a negative feedback loop to regulate Src activity (Sabe et al., 1995; Songyang et al., 1994b). Interestingly, Csk phosphorylates native Src more effectively than C-terminally mutated or denatured Src, suggesting that it recognises the tertiary structure of Src and that it is in close proximity to the SH2/SH3 and C-terminal domains before phosphorylation occurs (Okada & Nakagawa, 1988; Okada & Nakagawa, 1989). It can therefore be postulated that protein interactions with the SH2/SH3 domain of Src could influence the likely-hood of Csk-induced Src phosphorylation and repression of its kinase activity (see Section 1.1.10). Finally as with PTPs, the level of Csk expression between different cell types may serve to regulate the relative activity of Src. As demonstrated in hepatocellular carcinomas. where Csk levels have been reported to be reduced compared to normal liver tissue, this altered level of expression correlates with enhanced Src activity (Masaki et al., 1999). Loss of Csk activity or reduced expression leads to activation of Src family kinases and results in the deregulation of many cellular and developmental processes (Masaki et al., 1999; Nada et al., 1993). Consistent with this, Csk null mice cause constitutive activation of Src family kinases (Nada et al., 1991; Nada et al., 1993). Moreover, overexpression of Csk has been reported to suppress metastasis of colon cancer in an animal model correlating to repression of Src kinase activity (Nakagawa Another related mechanism of negatively regulating Src is the et al., 2000). autophosphorylation of carboxy-terminal tyrosine-527, which has been demonstrated in vitro (Cooper et al., 1986; Osusky et al., 1995) and in fibroblasts (Bagrodia et al., 1991; Bagrodia et al., 1993) however the kinetics of this suggest that other kinases along with Csk are more physiologically relevant regulators of Src tyrosine-527 phosphorylation.

1.1.7 Regulation of Src by altered protein stability or expression levels.

As discussed above, control of the steady state levels of PTPs or Csk serve to regulate their activity and in turn regulate Src activity (Nada et al., 1991; Nada et al., 1993). Recent evidence suggests that Src is subject to ubiquitin-dependent degradation. Specifically, activated forms of Src, including that activated as a consequence of Csk loss, are turned over more rapidly than wild type or kinase-inactive Src proteins (Harris et al., 1999; Yokouchi et al., 2001). Consistent with this, previous work has demonstrated an increased susceptibility of dephosphorylated, 'open' Src, compared to repressed or 'closed' Src, to a spectrum of protease-induced degradation conditions (MacAuley & Cooper, 1989).

Therefore, if the ubiquitin-proteosome degradation system in general is altered this could potentially effect the level of Src activity in the cell (Kamei et al., 2000). The ubiquitously expressed protease calpain (Fox et al., 1985) may also co-operate with proteosomes to regulate Src by calpain-induced cleavage of Src (Jang & Choi, 1999). Calpain is proposed to impair Src dependent activity by decreasing its kinase activity due to a reduction in its association with the cell membrane. Association with the cell membrane, as described later in Section 1.1.9, is essential for many of Src's activities and therefore impairing this association may constitute a further mechanism of regulating Src within the cell (Oda et al., 1993). Irrespective of the mechanism involved, down regulation of Src activity by proteolytic pathways represents an additional mechanism by which Src family kinases can be regulated.

1.1.8 Regulation of Src by the Src kinase domain.

The kinase domain of Src is the most conserved region between family member and plays a role in substrate selection along with the SH3 and SH2 domains. Moreover, the preferred substrate sequence of the kinase domain shows similarities to the preferred binding sequence of the SH2 domain, suggesting cross-talk between these domains during substrate binding (Zhou et al., 1995). As discussed earlier (see Section 1.1.3) when Src is in its 'open' conformation, where restraints from the SH2/SH3 intramolecular interactions are disrupted, the phosphorylation of the activation loop at tyrosine-416 is required to allow full activation of the molecule (Kmiecik & Shalloway, 1987; Snyder et al., 1983). Autophosphorylation appears to occur mainly by intramolecular interactions and it is thought that phosphorylation of tyrosine-416 serves to stabilise the catalytically active conformation of Src (Feder & Bishop, 1990; MacAuley & Cooper, 1988; Osusky et al., 1995; Sugimoto et al., 1985). Moreover, recent studies have also proposed a bi-directional regulatory mechanism involving the phosphorylation of tyrosine-416 in the kinase domain, where phosphorylation or mutations in the activation loop result in the increased availability of the SH3 domain for binding. By this mechanism the Src residues within the kinase domain control the accessibility of the regulatory domains (SH3/SH2), while as described previously (see Section 1.1.3), the regulatory domains control the accessibility of the kinase domain. The lysine residue at position 295 in the kinase domain is strictly conserved between family members and plays a role in the phosphotransfer reaction during ATP binding (Hunter & Cooper, 1985). Mutation of this residue results in a kinasedefective form of Src (Kamps & Sefton, 1986).

1.1.9 Regulation of Src by the unique domain.

Carboxy-terminal to the myristylation domain lies the unique domain (Figure 1). This domain is highly divergent and the least conserved between family members. There are protein kinase (PKC) dependent phosphorylation sites at residue 12 and 48 in this domain, and furthermore, serine-17 in the unique domain, is a major phosphorylation site for cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase (Brown & Cooper, 1996; Courtneidge et al., 1993). Moreover, there have also been reports of cdc2/cyclin-dependent phosphorylation of Src's unique domain (Kaech et al., 1993; Shenoy et al., 1992). The overall function and significance of the phosphorylation events in the unique domain however have still to be fully understood. Some studies have revealed potential functions of this domain in terms of protein interactions and in regulating Src family kinase activity itself. Cdc2/cyclindependent phosphorylation of Src's unique domain for example, seems to disengage the Cterminal regulatory domain from the SH2 domain, rendering tyrosine-527 more accessible to phosphatases and therefore activation (Chackalaparampil & Shalloway, 1988). Interesting in the case of Lck, there are indications that serine-49 may regulate the specificity of the SH2 domain for ligands (Park et al., 1995; Shenoy et al., 1992), which, as will be discussed in more detail later, may serve to regulate Src kinase activity by interfering with the association of phosphorylated tyrosine-527 and the SH2 domain, rendering it 'open' and in the active conformation. Recently, auto-phosphorylation of tyrosine-29 in the Src family member, Hck's, unique region has been shown to activiate Hck (Johnson et al., 2000). Therefore the unique domain may play a key role in regulating Src kinase activity during specific processes.

1.1.10 Regulation of Src by molecular displacement.

Carboxy-terminal to the unique domain is the SH3 domain followed by the SH2 domain (Figure 1). The SH3 domain binds proline-rich ligands with a left handed helical conformation and the SH2 domain preferentially binds to phosphotyrosine containing sequences with the consensus sequence YEEI (Songyang et al., 1994a; Yu et al., 1994). In both cases these domains are highly conserved amongst Src family members and other non-related proteins, however variations in the binding affinity of the SH2 and SH3 domain of Src, Fyn and Yes have been shown to recognise a common motif, while Lyn demonstrates a distinct binding specificity (Rickles et al., 1995). Moreover, like the SH3 domain, the binding affinity of the SH2 domain for its ligand has been demonstrated to be regulated by post-translational modification. For example, tyrosine phosphorylation at

tyrosine-192 increases the binding affinity of the SH2 domain for phospholipase C (PLC) (Couture et al., 1994).

Displacement of intramolecular SH3/SH2 interactions constitutes another mechanism for activating and thereby regulating Src kinase activity within the cell. A diverse class of Src interacting partners has been identified that could compete effectively with the intramolecular interactions and thereby disturb Src's inactive state. The first indication that Src kinase as well as other family member such as Fyn (Ralston & Bishop, 1985) could be regulated by this mechanism, demonstrated that binding of the SH2 domain of Src or Fyn to the platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR) or to the colony stimulating factor receptor (CSF-1R) activates Src or Fyn's kinase activity (Mayer et al., 1999; Ralston & Bishop, 1985; Songyang et al., 1994a). As stated above the SH2 domain preferentially binds to phosphotyrosine containing sequences and activation of Src has previously been observed following binding to a tyrosine phosphorylated peptide derived from the PDGFR (Mayer et al., 1999; Ralston & Bishop, 1985; Songyang et al., 1994a). In addition to actively competing for the Src SH2 domain, the PDGFR may activate Src by phosphorylation of the SH3 domain. Tyrosine-136 phosphorylation in the SH3 domain by the PDGFR has been shown to reduce the affinity of the SH3 domain for peptide ligands (Broome & Hunter, 1996), analogous to the effect of the unique domain of Lck on SH2 binding (see Section 1.1.9). As the SH3 domain is partially involved in maintaining the 'closed' conformation of Src this could lead to destabilisation and therefore activation of Src kinase activity. Interestingly, another non-receptor tyrosine kinase family member, focal adhesion kinase (FAK), that was first identified as a tyrosine phosphorylated protein in Src transformed cells (Kanner et al., 1990), is an example of a Src effector that can bind to the SH2 domains of Src and lead to Src kinase activation (Schaller et al., 1994; Thomas et al., 1998). Recently it was demonstrated that the FAK binding partner, p130 Cas (Crk associated substrate), could activate Src via binding to its SH domains and displace the intramolecular interactions that regulate Src activity (Burnham et al., 2000). As described previously, (see Section 1.1.5), PTPa can activate Src by dephosphorylation of the Cterminal tyrosine-527 of Src. Recently PTP α has also been shown to regulate Src by the phosphotyrosine displacement mechanism described above (Zheng et al., 2000).

1.2 Spatial regulation of Src.

Conserved domains of Src are not only involved in regulating Src kinase activity by regulating the 'open,' or 'closed' conformation of Src but also serve a purpose in the

correct intracellular localisation of Src during various cellular processes. For example early observations demonstrated that Src-family kinases are commonly found associated with the plasma membrane, as well as intracellular membranes including endosomes and the endoplasmic reticulum (Courtneidge et al., 1980; Garber et al., 1983). The amino-terminal myristylation of Src is required for the association with cellular membranes and is essential for the transforming function of oncogenic Src mutants (Resh, 1994). Consistent with this, myristylation defective alleles of v-Src, which are no longer associated with the membrane, are no longer transforming (Hamaguchi & Hanafusa, 1987). Similarly the perinuclear distribution of Src has been shown to be dependent on the myristylation domain and is thought to be retained there by association with the microtubule network, as demonstrated, by co-localisation studies in which both Src and tubulin co-localised in the perinuclear region of the cell (Fincham et al., 1996). Moreover the switch from a perinuclear to a cytoplasmic distribution of Src upon treatment with the microtubule disrupting drug nocodazole also demonstrated the microtubule association of Src in this region of the cell (Fincham et al., 2000; Fincham et al., 1996). Myristylation is an irreversible process mediated within the first seven residues of Src where the myristylation group is added to glycine at position two of the protein (Figure 1). In general myristylation is necessary for membrane localisation (Bagrodia et al., 1993) however some myristylated Src molecules are found to be cytoplasmic (Buss et al., 1984) suggesting that myristylation is not the only domain involved in membrane localisation of Src. Besides the myristylation domain providing a signal for membrane association, all Src family members except Src itself and Blk (Resh, 1994), undergo palmitylation of amino-terminal basic cysteine residues, which serves to stabilise membrane association by compensating for the absence of a positive charge on the N-terminal region of the protein (Lock et al., 1991; Robbins et al., 1995). Palmitylation is a reversible process and control of palmitylation has been proposed as a potential mechanism for the regulation of Src family kinase localisation within different membrane compartments such as caveolae in response to the certain stimuli (Kaplan & Simon, 1988; Robbins et al., 1995). Recently alterations in the palmitylation status of Lck, has been shown to block its normal function in T-cell signalling (Kabouridis et al., 1997) analogous to alterations in the myristylation of Src blocking oncogenic transformation (Buss et al., 1984; Resh, 1994). Therefore the myristylation domain plays an important role in c-Src distribution, by anchoring c-Src to various membrane locations. Furthermore, in association with other domains and modifications, myristylation regulates the trafficking of Src to specific membrane micro-environments (Buss et al., 1984; Kaplan et al., 1994).

figure3legend

Figure 3

A schematic representation of Src's spatial localisation during various cellular processes. Following translocation to the cell periphery Src can be found in focal adhesions where it may be involved in a number of signal transduction pathways or in focal adhesion turnover during cell migration. Src may also be localised to cell-cell junctions inducing cell-cell disruption.



1.2.1 Src domains involved in spatially regulating Src.

The finding that the transforming activity of Src involves interactions between multiple domains and that myristylation-induced membrane association is necessary for this process, emphasises the importance of spatial regulation of Src in the biological action of Src. It is also clear however, that domains other than the myristylation domain of Src, besides contributing to Src's allosteric regulation, also provide a role in Src localisation.

As stated previously, early observations demonstrate that Src is readily found in the perinuclear region of the cell where co-localisation and biochemical fractionation studies demonstrated that Src localises with endosomal markers and associates with endosomal membrane structures (David-Pfeuty & Singer, 1980; Kaplan et al., 1992; Nigg et al., 1982). v-Src however, is abundant in both the perinuclear region of the cell and in focal adhesions, which are areas of adhesion, where the extracellular matrix can interact with transmembrane receptors and the actin cytoskeleton (see Section 1.3.2) (Burr et al., 1980; Kaplan et al., 1992; Nigg et al., 1982). The apparent difference in sub-cellular localisation of c-Src and v-Src led to the proposal that deletion of the C-terminal tyrosine-527 in v-Src may be responsible for this altered distribution of v-Src (Figure 1). In v-Src, 19 C-terminal amino acids of c-Src are replaced by 12 unique amino acids in v-Src (Takeya & Hanafusa, 1983). This includes tyrosine-527, which, as mentioned above, is critical for the regulation of the protein. This altered sub-cellular distribution of v-Src along with the fact that myristylation can confer membrane association led to investigations examining the contribution of each domain in controlling the intracellular targeting of Src. The role of each domain in this process was investigated by examining a series of deletions and point mutations of these sites in c-Src.

Mutation of tyrosine-527 to phenylalainine in c-Src, which results in catalytic activation, as well as release of constraints on the SH3 and SH2 domains (see Section 1.1.4), led to c-Src being constitutively associated with focal adhesions (Kaplan et al., 1994). Similarly, temperature sensitive *ts* variants of v-Src that are temperature sensitive for kinase activity, located to focal adhesions when activated by switch to permissive temperature (Fincham & Frame, 1998; Fincham et al., 1996; Welham & Wyke, 1988). Although the mechanism for temperature-induced activation of ts v-Src is not established, it is believed to mimic the conformational changes in c-Src upon release of the regulatory intramolecular interactions between the SH3/SH2 domains and the catalytic domain (Abram & Courtneidge, 2000; Thomas & Brugge, 1997).

Subsequently, the role of the kinase domain in c-Src targeting to focal adhesions was examined in this context. Using the SrcY527F mutant with a point mutation in the ATP binding domain (K295M) (see Section 1.1.8) the translocation of c-Src to focal adhesions was shown to occur independently of kinase activity (Kaplan et al., 1994), consistent with the kinase-independent targeting of (ts) v-Src to focal adhesions (Fincham & Frame, 1998). Moreover, in addition to activating the kinase activity, mutation of tyrosine-527 to phenylalanine also alters the tertiary structure of c-Src to expose the N-terminal regulatory domains of Src (Figure 2) (Gonfloni et al., 2000).

The ability of focal adhesion targeting by the N-terminal domains of Src comprising the first 251 residues was therefore examined. The first 251 residues of c-Src readily associate with focal adhesions (Kaplan 1994), indicating that the N-terminal region of Src contains sufficient information to allow targeting of Src to focal adhesions. Deletion of the SH3 domain residues 92-144 abolished Src targeting to focal adhesions along with a reduction in the detergent-insoluble (or membrane) fraction of c-Src (Kaplan et al., 1994). This, along with further mutational analysis of both c- and v-Src, including a single amino acid change in the SH3 domain which ablates SH3 binding (Erpel et al., 1995), revealed a critical role for the SH3 domain in the translocation of Src to focal adhesions (Fincham et al., 2000; Fincham & Frame, 1998; Kaplan et al., 1994). Mutations of the SH2 domain to block phosphotyrosine binding (Bibbins et al., 1993), or deletion of the C-terminal residues in the SH2 domain (residue 169-204, Figure 1), revealed that impairment of the SH2 domain function has no significant effect on Src localisation to focal adhesions, resulting in only a slight increase in perinuclear staining. In contrast, previous reports by Fukui, demonstrated that deletions of the N-terminal residues (residues 149-169, Figure 1) of the SH2 domain reduced the association of v-Src with the membrane fraction of the cell (Fukui et al., 1991). This apparently paradoxical result can be explained however by the likely-hood that such large deletions in the N-terminal region of the SH2 domain (as opposed to the C-terminal region) may effect the conformational stability of the adjacent SH3 domain (Figure 1), which has been demonstrated to be necessary for Src translocation (Fincham et al., 2000; Kaplan et al., 1994). Furthermore, mutations in the SH2 domain have also been reported to effect the overall stability of the molecule making data interpretation difficult (Kaplan et al., 1994). It is likely that the SH2 domain plays a role in peripheral targeting by modulating the association of the SH3 domain with candidate mediators of Src's peripheral targeting, such as the p85 regulatory domain of phophatidyl inositol 3-kinase (PI3-kinase). v-Src binds to PI3-kinase in normal growing cells via its SH3 domain, however upon activation of v-Src there is a rapid induction of binding to PI3kinase via the SH2 domain of Src which is thought to serve in regulating the recruitment of

PI3-kinase to Src which is required during Src translocation to the cell periphery (Fincham et al., 2000; Haefner et al., 1995). Furthermore the N-terminal region of the SH2 domain has been implicated as having a role in Src's association with the actin cytoskelton, as Nterminal but not C-terminal deletions in this domain reduce cytoskeletal association (Fukui et al., 1991; Okamura & Resh, 1994). Deletions in the N-terminal region of the unique domain residues (residue 17-30, Figure 1) had no effect on focal adhesions targeting, while deletion in the C-terminal end of the unique domain (residues 30-92, Figure 1), disrupted the localisation of Src to focal adhesions, which, as above, was suspected to be due to interference in the SH3 related targeting processes. Clearly multiple domains in Src are involved in the targeting of Src to the cell periphery, whether it be via membrane association or by allowing recruitment of high affinity binding partners to specific sites. By this means, activation of Src induces the formation of SH2- and SH3- dependent complexes with proteins or lipids (Kaplan et al., 1990; Rameh et al., 1995) that can specify the targeting of Src during suitable cellular responses. As discussed previously for the activation loop (see Section 1.1.8), a bi-directional regulatory mechanism has been proposed, in which the intramolecular interactions involving the SH2/SH3 domains and the C-terminal region of Src, regulate kinase activity, as well as serving to regulate the availability of these N-terminal protein-protein interaction domains. By this mechanism the localisation of Src and the kinase activity can be simultaneously regulated (Gonfloni et al., 2000).

As discussed earlier in Section 1.1.6, one mechanism proposed for Src regulation by Csk is that access to Src by alterations in Csk localisation may influence its effect on Src regulation (Guan & Shalloway, 1992). In particular, Csk has been shown to translocate to focal adhesions and co-localise with Src during cell spreading and adhesion formation (Kaplan et al., 1995). It has been proposed that Csk may bind to various tyrosine phosphorylated chaperon proteins such as FAK or paxillin and therefore be brought to the cytoskeletal or focal adhesions fraction of the cell and locally inhibit Src, indicating that the spatial regulation of proteins such as Csk may serve a role in their biological function or efficacy within the cell.

1.2.2 Potential binding partners involved in spatial regulation of Src

The finding that the Src SH3 domain along with potential contributions from the SH2 domain directs peripheral targeting of Src (Fincham et al., 2000; Kaplan et al., 1994), led to investigations to examine the nature of the SH3 binding partners involved in the peripheral targeting of Src. The binding of potential proteins involved in Src targeting to

an SH3 binding mutant of (ts) v-Src, which inhibits SH3 binding (W118A) (Erpel et al., 1995) and the targeting of Src to focal adhesions, was compared to the binding of normally targeting (ts) v-Src, to examine a variety of potential regulators of this process. The actin filament associated protein (AFAP) which is a Src substrate and binding partner (Flynn et al., 1993), the cytosolic chaperon HSP90 that binds to both c-Src and v-Src and is reported to be essential for membrane association of Src (Bijlmakers & Marsh, 2000; Brugge, 1986; Xu et al., 1999) and FAK which contains a C-terminal focal adhesion targeting sequence and binds to Src via the Src SH3 and SH2 domains (Hildebrand et al., 1993; Thomas et al., 1998) were all examined. Both AFAP and HSP90 were ruled out as contributing to this process due to their ability to associate with v-Src independently of SH3 binding, as demonstrated by their binding to (ts) v-Src containing the SH3 domain binding mutation (W118A) (Erpel et al., 1995; Fincham & Frame, 1998). Similarly FAK was ruled out as a chaperon in the translocation of Src to focal adhesions as v-Src could translocate to focal adhesions in FAK -/- cells and over expression of FAK mutants that impair Src binding to FAK did not inhibit v-Src targeting (Fincham & Frame, 1998). PI3-kinase however, which is involved in regulation of vesicular transport (Clark & Brugge, 1993; Schuh & Brugge, 1988) and has been recently detected in focal adhesions with similar dynamics as the activation of Src (Gillham et al., 1999; Guinebault et al., 1995), was shown to only associate with the targeting version of v-Src and not the targeting defective mutant (Fincham et al., 2000). This is consistent with previous work demonstrating the binding of PI3-kinase with the SH3 domain of activated Src in vitro (Haefner et al., 1995; Liu et al., 1993). Subsequently, PI3-kinase dependent targeting of Src was demonstrated using the PI3-kinase inhibitor LY294002 which prevented the translocation of v-Src to focal adhesions (Fincham et al., 2000). This however does not rule out other possible binding partners involved in this process.

1.2.3 Spatial location of Src during various cellular processes.

Regardless of how Src kinase activity is regulated, Src's contribution to cellular processes is almost certainly not confined to whether it is active or not. For example, upon activation, Src has been shown to translocate from a perinuclear localisation to the cell periphery within the cell. Src has been found in focal adhesion structures at the cell periphery where it is associated with various proteins resulting in the activation of a number of signal transduction pathways (Figure 3). Moreover Src's localisation in focal adhesions is thought to lead to focal adhesion turnover and remodelling, a prerequisite for cell migration (see Figure 3 and Section 1.6.1). Src has also been shown to localise to areas of cell-cell contact in epithelial cells and its kinase activity at these sites is thought to

function in the disruption of cadherin mediated cell-cell junctions during their normal dynamic regulation and upon cell scattering (Behrens et al., 1993; Matsuyoshi et al., 1992; Owens et al., 2000). Other roles for Src kinase activity at cell-cell junctions include the breakdown of gap junctions as demonstrated by the phosphorylation of connexin 43 leading to gap junction dissociation (see Figure 3) (Crow et al., 1990; Filson et al., 1990). Src has also been shown to be re-located from cell-cell junctions to integrin adhesions during epidermal growth factor (EGF)-induced invasion (Brunton et al., 1997). Src induced disruption of cell-cell contacts has implications for cell migration and metastasis allowing cells to disperse from an epithelial sheet (Owens et al., 2000). Src can also be found associated with secretary vesicles indicative of a role in directed secretion (Grandori & Hanafusa, 1988; Linstedt et al., 1992). Moreover, Src is found in the nuclear compartment along with other Src family kinases such as Fgr and the related kinase Frk where it is thought to be involved in mRNA processing in association with Sam68 during mitosis (Taylor & Shalloway, 1994). Src as well as other family member such as Fyn and Lck can also be found associated with microtubules or pericentriolar vesicles respectively (Ley et al., 1994). The distinctive localisations of Src and Src family members, suggest that localisation is partially regulated by individual domains of Src and also highlights that intracellular localisation plays a major role in the biological action of Src family kinases.

1.2.4 Src's intracellular targeting within the cell.

Despite our increasing understanding of the regulation of Src, and the importance of the SH3 and SH2 domains in binding to potential chaperon molecules, there is still little information on the mode of intracellular targeting of Src to the cell periphery and how this targeting is controlled. Earlier observation however, demonstrated that Swiss 3T3 cells expressing high levels of v-Src were surprisingly unable to induce morphological transformation or induce mitogenic signalling when deprived of serum (Fincham et al., 1996). Resistance to the normal transforming effects of v-Src was found to be due to impaired peripheral targeting of Src, consistent with myristylation defective mutants of Src which fail to transform (see Section 1.2). The reason for the impaired peripheral targeting however, originates from previous observations by Ridley and Hall, that Swiss 3T3 cells lose their actin stress fibres upon serum starvation (Ridley & Hall, 1992). This observation in conjunction with demonstrations that activated Src in response to PDGF, EGF or thrombin translocates to the actin cytoskeleton (Burr et al., 1980; Clark & Brugge, 1993; Weernink & Rijksen, 1995), led to investigations into the actin dependence of Src targeting to focal adhesions. Addition of serum or microinjection of a constitutively active form of RhoA (see Section 1.3.2), both of which induce actin stress fibre formation, into serum-

deprived Swiss 3T3 cells, restored actin stress fibres and the translocation of v-Src to focal adhesions thereby restoring the oncogenic potential of v-Src in these cells (Fincham et al., 1996). v-Src initially localised along re-formed stress fibres and there was a time dependent re-distribution of Src to the stress fibre termini at the cell periphery (Fincham et al., 1996). Furthermore, treatment with the actin disrupting drug cytochalasin D prevented Src translocation in Swiss 3T3 cells (Fincham et al., 1996). Src has previously been shown to bind to polymerised actin (Lakkakorpi et al., 1997) and interestingly the v-Src SH3 mutant that was unable to target to focal adhesions was unable to bind to polymerised actin, implying that a potential role of the SH3 domain is to link Src to cellular actin filaments allowing translocation to the cell periphery (Fincham et al., 2000). Similar effects have been seen for the intracellular targeting of Src and other ubiquitously expressed family members such as Fyn and Yes in epithelial cells, in which treatment of cells with cytochalasin D prevented translocation to cadherin mediated cell-cell junctions (see Figure 3) (Owens et al., 2000). From this it has been concluded that regulation of Src's intracellular targeting within the cell requires an intact actin cytoskeleton. Interestingly the PI3-kinase inhibitor LY294002 used to assess the role of PI3-kinase in Src's peripheral targeting also reduced the number of actin stress fibres in cells, although peripheral actin was still observed, implying that one potential role of PI3-kinase as a chaperon is to maintain actin stress fibres in a state permissive for Src translocation (Fincham et al., 2000). In this regard, the report of PI3-kinase, Src and RhoA translocation to the actin cytoskeletal fraction upon osteoclast attachment helps implicate this action of PI3-kinase in Src's targeting to the cell periphery (Lakkakorpi et al., 1997).

Based on the actin dependence of Src's peripheral targeting we set out to examine whether intracellular regulators of the actin cytoskeleton (RhoGTPases, see below) could influence the intracellular location of Src and thereby serve to spatially regulate its biological action within the cell.

1.3 RhoGTPases

Over the past decade there has been a remarkable increase in our knowledge of the role RhoGTPases play in a diverse spectrum of cellular processes including regulation of the actin cytoskeleton, cell migration, membrane trafficking, cell growth and transformation (Ridley, 1996; Van Aelst & D'Souza-Schorey, 1997). Here we focus on actin cytoskeletal organisation and remodelling induced by RhoGTPases and the role they play in processes such as cell motility, cell-substratum adhesion and disruption, and highlight their potential role in facilitating the local effects of Src during cell migration.

RhoGTPases are a subfamily of proteins belonging to the Ras superfamily of small GTPases (Hall, 1998; Van Aelst & D'Souza-Schorey, 1997). A great deal of our knowledge regarding RhoGTPases, stem from work on the prototype Rho family members RhoA, Cdc42 and Rac1, each demonstrating distinct functions within the cell. As a result RhoGTPases can be subdivided into the following groups based on cellular function and sequence homology. The first of these include RhoA, RhoB and RhoC, which share similar cellular functions including the formation of stress fibres (see Section 1.3.2). The Rac family subgroup includes Rac1, Rac2, Rac3 and RhoG which are thought to be related in function and have been shown to induce lamellipodia (see Section 1.3.2). A third class of RhoGTPases includes Cdc42 and TC10 which induce filopodia (see Section 1.3.2). A fourth class of RhoGTPases include the RhoE related GTPases RhoE, Rho6/Rnd1 and Rho7/Rnd2 which have been shown to reduce actin stress fibres (Guasch et al., 1998; Nobes et al., 1998). A final subclass of RhoGTPases include RhoD and TTF which are thought to be distinct from the other proteins and have been implicated in vesicular transport (Murphy et al., 1996). There are many more family members rapidly being identified (Ellis & Mellor, 2000), their function and role within the cell however remain poorly understood. Although members within these subgroups share similar cellular function they can also differ as a result of post-translational modification, such as alterations in lipid association (Adamson et al., 1992), which may regulate their subcellular location within the cell thereby serving to facilitate unique roles between members. Similarly, expression levels can also vary between cell types and family members, again adding to the diversity between members (Fritz et al., 1995; Hunter & Cooper, 1985; Jahner & Hunter, 1991).

1.3.1 Regulation of RhoGTPases

The Rho family GTPases are regulated in a similar manner as Ras family GTPases, serving as molecular switches by cycling between an inactive (GDP)-bound form and an active (GTP)-bound form, which in turn controls a number of cellular processes described above (Figure 4). The ratio of GTP bound (active) or GDP bound (inactive) RhoGTPases, is determined by three distinct regulatory proteins which include guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs), which enhance the exchange of bound GDP for GTP (Ridley, 1996; Whitehead et al., 1997); the GTPase activating proteins (GAPs), which serve as negative regulators of Rho family GTPases by increasing the rate of intrinsic hydrolysis of bound GTP (Cerione & Zheng, 1996); and guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors (GDIs), which inhibit both GTP exchange and the hydrolysis of GTP (Ueda et al., 1990a).

There has been a great increase in the number of GEFs discovered recently, the individual role of many in RhoGTPase signalling however, has yet to be fully established due to their cell type-specific expression and altered specificity for different RhoGTPases (Adra et al., 1997; Zheng et al., 1996). GEFs share a tandem motif of Dbl homology (DH) domains (Cerione & Zheng, 1996), which is essential and sufficient for guanine exchange activity (Hart et al., 1992) and a pleckstrin homology (PH) domain, which is involved in intracellular localisation of activated GEFs via specific lipid or protein-protein interactions (Zheng et al., 1996). There are a number of Rho family specific GEFs such as Lsc for RhoA, Tiam for Rac1 and Fgd1 for Cdc42 (Glaven et al., 1996; Habets et al., 1994; Olson, 1996), while others display activity towards many Rho family proteins, such as Vav which activates both RhoA and Rac1 (Crespo et al., 1997). Many GEFs have domains other than the DH and PH domains including SH3 domains, which suggests functions other than GEF activity (Cerione & Zheng, 1996). In this regard several GEFs have been reported to have effector functions such as PI3-kinase which via Vav may also act as an effector for Cdc42 during the hierarchical cascade between Rho family members (Zheng et al., 1994a) (see Section 1.4.3).

In a similar manner many GAPs have been discovered with differences in their Rho family protein specificity (Ellis et al., 1990; Ridley et al., 1993). For example, p122RhoGAP has specific activity towards RhoA (Homma & Emori, 1995), while α -chimerin (Leung et al., 1993) and Ralbp1 (Cantor et al., 1995) demonstrate specific activity towards Rac1 and Cdc42 respectively. Others however have a more promiscuous nature and effect a number of Rho family proteins, such as Abr, which has activity towards both Rac and Cdc42 (Tan et al., 1993). Moreover GAPs have been documented as having downstream effector functions as well as increasing the hydrolysis of GTP. For example expression of N-and β -chimerin have been documented as inducing lamellipodia and filopodia (see Section 1.3.2) (Kozma et al., 1996).

Interestingly as well as maintaining the GDP-bound state of RhoGTPases by inhibiting both GTP exchange (Ueda et al., 1990b), RhoGDIs have a role in the spatial regulation of RhoGTPases. Active RhoGTPases are found associated with the cell membrane however RhoGDIs partially control their effects within the cell by maintaining them in the cytosol in the inactive state as opposed to the membrane (Isomura et al., 1991). RhoGDIs associate with GDP-bound Rho in the cytosol and upon activation it has been reported that Rho is released from RhoGDIs with the subsequent translocation of Rho to the membrane (Takahashi et al., 1997). RhoGDIs can also bind to GTP-bound Rho family proteins and serve to reduce the intrinsic or GAP-induced GTPase activity and hence protect the
chapter 1

activated state of RhoGTPases (Hart et al., 1992). Until more recently the molecular mechanism underlying the dissociation of GDIs was unclear. However, RhoGDI dissociating factors (GDFs) such as the ERM (ezrin, radixin and moesin) family protein family have been implicated in this process (Hart et al., 1992; Tsukita et al., 1994). Radixin for example has been shown to bind to the RhoGDI/RhoGDP complex and induce dissociation thereby enhancing the ability of GEFs to induce GDP/GTP exchange (Takahashi et al., 1997).

It is clear that the role of individual GEFs, GAPs or GDIs can greatly influence many cellular processes via their control of RhoGTPases, although our understanding of their role in individual processes remains to be fully established. More is known however about the role of individual RhoGTPases in regulating the actin cytoskeleton and structures during various processes (Hall, 1998).



Figure 4. Regulation of RhoGTPases. RhoGTPases act as molecular switches by cycling between an inactive GDP-bound form and an active GTP-bound form. This is regulated by a number of different proteins including GEFs, GAPs and GDIs. In the GTP bound state RhoGTPases can interact with their effector or target proteins and play a role in a diverse spectrum of cellular processes including actin remodelling.

1.3.2 RhoGTPases act as a link between extracellular stimuli and the remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton

Several investigations have implicated the Rho family of small GTPases in linking external stimuli to the assembly and remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton. This was initially explored in Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts where the external stimulus, lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) induced stress fibre and focal adhesion formation in quiescent Swiss 3T3 cells (Ridley & Hall, 1992). Stress fibres consist of bundled contractile actin-myosin filaments that traverse the cell and provide cell attachment via focal adhesions to the extracellular matrix (Figure 5) (Chrzanowska-Wodnicka & Burridge, 1996). Focal adhesions can be defined as points of contact between cells and their extracellular environment, consisting of clustered integrins and proteins such as α-actinin, vinculin, paxillin cortactin and FAK that link the extracellular matrix to the actin cytoskeleton (Nobes & Hall, 1995; Schoenwaelder & Burridge, 1999). This stress fibre formation induced by LPA was ablated by the addition of C3-transferase which ADP-rybosylates and inactivates RhoA, B and C (Aktories & Hall, 1989; Narumiya et al., 1988; Ridley & Hall, 1992). Furthermore experiments using constitutively active and dominant negative RhoA proteins implicated RhoA in this process (Figure 5) (see section 3.2.4) (Paterson et al., 1990; Ridley & Hall, 1992; Ridley et al., 1992). Subsequent investigations demonstrated that RhoA links other extracellular stimuli to actin assembly and organisation to form stress fibres, such as sphingosine-1-phosphate and thrombin (Jalink et al., 1994; Postma et al., 1996; Seufferlein & Rozengurt, 1995).

In similar experiments, PDGF was reported to induce actin polymerisation at the cell periphery resulting in the formation of lamellipodia (Nobes & Hall, 1995; Ridley et al., 1992). Lamellipodia consist of rapidly turning over protrusive sheets of cross-linked actin filaments at the cell periphery, which develop between finger like protrusion known as filopodia (Figure 5). The formation of lamellipodia was blocked in cells expressing dominant negative Rac1 (Nobes & Hall, 1995; Ridley et al., 1992). Furthermore, microinjection of constitutively active Rac1, induced lamellipodia formation (Ridley et al., 1992), therefore establishing that Rac1 was responsible for relaying extracellular stimuli from the cell membrane to cause localised and co-ordinated actin rearrangements to form lamellipodia (Figure 5) (Ridley et al., 1992). Other growth factors such as insulin, EGF and bombesin have been reported to induce lamellipodia by a Rac1-dependent mechanism in Swiss 3T3 and other cell types (Rodriguez-Fernandez & Rozengurt, 1996).

chapter 1

Similarly, Bradykinin has been reported to induce actin polymerisation at the cell periphery resulting in the formation of filopodia (Kozma et al., 1995; Nobes & Hall, 1995). Filopodia, are finger like, transient structures protruding from the cell periphery, consisting of thin bundled actin filaments (Figure 5). Filopodia production was demonstrated to be a Cdc42 dependent mechanism as dominant negative Cdc42 ablated filopodia production while constitutively active Cdc42 caused induction of filopodia (Figure 5) (Kozma et al., 1995; Nobes & Hall, 1995). Subsequent studies led to the discovery that bombesin stimulation is also linked to the rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton in a Cdc42-dependent manner to induce filopodia formation (Rodriguez-Fernandez & Rozengurt, 1996).

figure5ledend

Figure 5

Schematic representation of the specific morphological changes induced by activation of the RhoGTPases in Swiss 3T3 cells. Bradykinin activates Cdc42 to induce filopodia formation, while PDGF and LPA activate Rac1 or RhoA to form lamellipodia or stress fibres respectively.



1.3.3 Link between extracellular signalling and RhoGTPases

Investigations were carried out to determine how LPA, PDGF and bradykinin transduce signals to Rho family proteins resulting in organisation of the actin cytoskeleton. The manner in which LPA activates RhoA to create stress fibres, appears to involve a tyrosine kinase, as LPA, but not microinjection of constitutively active RhoA-induced stress fibres can be blocked by the tyrosine kinase inhibitor, tyrophostin (Nobes et al., 1995). Thus a tyrosine kinase may be acting upstream of RhoA during LPA-induced stress fibre formation. It has been proposed that the tyrosine upstream of RhoA maybe involved in RhoA activation by altering the activity of RhoGEFs although not know yet. This type of regulation however has been documented for the Rac1 GEF, Vav, which has been reported to be regulated by tyrosine phosphorylation via Lck and Sck (Gulbins et al., 1993; Han et al., 1997; Miranti et al., 1998). Furthermore, as the LPA receptor is a member of the hetrotrimeric G-protein coupled receptor family (GPCRs), GPCRs were potential mediators in relaying extracellular signals to the respective RhoGTPase. Consistent with this idea, microinjection of activated G protein sub-units of the LPA receptor, Ga13 and Ga12, induced stress fibres formation in Swiss 3T3 cell (Buhl et al., 1995; Hooley et al., 1996). Subsequently a direct link between G α 13 and RhoA has been established in which the α sub-unit, G α 13, interacts with and activates the RhoGEF, Lsc/p115 RhoGEF (Figure 6) leading to RhoA activation and stress fibres formation (Gohla et al., 1998; Hall, 1998; Hart et al., 1998; Kozasa et al., 1998). PDZ RhoGEF also act as a direct target of Ga 12/13 to induced RhoA activation (Figure 6) (Fukuhara et al., 1999). Finally it has also been shown that the $G\alpha 13$ subunit associates with the tyrosine kinase PYK2 to induce RhoA activation, while the Gβγ subunit which normally induces stress fibre disruption has been reported to play a role in signalling to RhoA to induce stress fibre formation in epithelial-like HeLa cells (Figure 6)(Shi et al., 2000; Ueda et al., 2000).

The bradykinin receptor is also a member of the GPCR family and a similar mechanism has been proposed as a potential link between the bradykinin receptor and Cdc42, however this has yet to be established. It has also previously been reported that during the pheromone signalling pathway in yeast, the Dbl related family protein Cdc24 acts upstream of Cdc42 activation (Zhao et al., 1995; Zheng et al., 1994b). Similarly, microinjection experiments have demonstrated that the GEF, Fgd1, specifically induces Cdc42 activation and filopodial extensions (Figure 6) (Olson et al., 1996).

A number of studies have proposed that PI3-kinase is involved in PDGF cytoskeletal remodelling during lamellipodia formation (Nobes et al., 1995; Wennstrom et al., 1994). This originates from studies using the PI3-kinase inhibitor wortmannin (Nobes et al., 1995), which inhibits PDGF induced lamellipodia but not lamellipodia induced by microinjection of constitutively active Rac1, indicating that PI3-kinase is acting upstream of Rac1 in this process (Figure 6) (Nobes et al., 1995; Wennstrom et al., 1994). Following this, it was demonstrated that constitutively active PI3-kinase could cause lamellipodia formation in a Rac1 dependent manner (Reif et al., 1996). The mechanism of PI3-kinase induced Rac1 activation is thought to be mediated by the Rac1 GEF, Vav (Figure 6) (Nobes et al., 1995).

figure6ledgend

Figure 6

Signalling pathways involved in actin cytoskeletal remodelling induced by RhoGTPases. Red dotted lines represent potential cross-talk between RhoGTPases.



1.4 RhoGTPases and their effectors.

Over the past few years the characterisation and discovery of a number of proteins that bind to RhoGTPases in the GTP-bound state and act as effectors has provided a major insight into the molecular mechanisms by which RhoGTPases affect the actin cytoskeleton and regulate a variety of cellular processes.

1.4.1 Rho effectors

There are a large number of RhoA-binding proteins identified that are potentially involved in actin stress fibres formation or maintenance. The homologous serine/threonine protein kinases p160 ROCK (also called ROCK-1 or ROK β) and ROK α (also called Rho-kinase or ROCK D) are major downstream effectors of RhoA (Ishizaki et al., 1996; Leung et al., 1995; Matsui et al., 1996). Initial studies demonstrated that expression of ROK α induced stress fibre-like clusters of actin, emanating from the middle of the cell and that expression of a kinase-deficient mutant could disrupt these stress fibre-like structures (Leung et al., 1996). Similar results were subsequently observed for Rho-kinase in other cell systems (Amano et al., 1997). A further understanding of how Rho-kinase functions, stems from the finding that the myosin binding subunit (MBS) of myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) was a Rho-kinase substrate (Kimura et al., 1996; Matsui et al., 1996). Phosphorylation of MBS by Rho-kinase ablates myosin light chain phosphatase activity, resulting in an increase of phosphorylated MLC (Kimura et al., 1996). Moreover, Rho-kinase also directly phosphorylates MLC at the same site as MLCK (Amano et al., 1997). The conformational change induced by phosphorylation increases the binding of MLC to actin filaments and subsequently triggers induction of stress fibres (Chrzanowska-Wodnicka & Burridge, 1996; Fernandez et al., 1990; Lamb et al., 1988). In agreement with a role of MLC phosphorylation in stress fibres formation RhoA-induced stress fibres and focal adhesions could be blocked by MLCK inhibition (Chrzanowska-Wodnicka & Burridge, 1996; Fincham et al., 2000). It has been proposed that a balance between MLCK induced phosphorylation and MLC phosphatase activity partially determines whether stress fibres form (Amano et al., 1996). Furthermore ERM proteins have been implicated in Rhokinase induced stress fibres formation as Rho-kinase is thought to promote the interaction of ERM proteins with actin and transmembrane receptors by inducing a conformational change resulting in the 'unfolding' of ERM proteins via phosphorylation (Mackay et al., 1997; Matsui et al., 1998).

chapter 1

Other RhoA effector are the diaphanous related formin proteins mDia1/2 proteins which are the mammalian homologue of Bnip in yeast (Kohno et al., 1996; Watanabe et al., 1997). mDia1/2 belong to a family of formin-related proteins, including the drosophila diaphanous proteins and share two proline-rich, formin homology domains FH1 and FH2. These proteins have been shown to be involved in many actin based processes including cell migration, cytokinesis and cell morphology. These proteins can interact with the actin monomer binding protein, profilin and selectively bind to activated RhoA (Watanabe et al., 1997). The co-localisation of mDia and profilin at the plasma membrane and at the tips of actin stress fibres has lead to the proposal that mDia1/2 may be involved in the formation and maintenance of stress fibres. It has been suggested that profilin and mDia are involved in this process by localising ATP-bound actin monomers to areas of actin assembly and by interacting with other actin binding proteins such as VASP (Wasserman, 1998; Zigmond, 1996). Moreover, phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bis phosphate (PIP2) production via PI5-kinase can result in the removal of actin capping proteins such as gelsolin (Toker, 1998) and this together with the recruitment of mDia1/2 to these sites has been suggested to be involved in stress fibre formation. This may be necessary for the linkage of actin filaments during stress fibre formation or the long-term maintenance of stress fibres due to the intrinsic turnover of actin filament within the cell (Kirschner, 1980; Wegner, 1976). The role of mDia in RhoA-induced stress fibres has been demonstrated by work in which expression of activated mDia1 causes thin stress fibre-like actin structures, which are disorganised in the absence of Rho-kinase activity (Watanabe et al., 1999). Furthermore the Rho-kinase induced stress fibre structures described above, can be altered by the co-expression of activated mDia1 to form stress fibres that are more reminiscent of RhoA-induced stress fibres (Watanabe et al., 1999). It has therefore been proposed that mDia and Rho-kinase work together to co-ordinate actin stress fibre assembly. Interestingly, mutations in the human homologue hDia encoded by DFNA1 results in deafness, which is thought to be caused be a defect in the actin organisation in hair cells of the inner ear (Lynch et al., 1997).

While Rho-kinase, as described earlier, serves in the maintenance of MLC contractility which is required for RhoA-induced stress fibres, expression of Rho-kinase induces stress fibre-like structures are disorganised and form in clusters from the centre of the cell (Leung et al., 1996) (Amano et al., 1997; Watanabe et al., 1999). Recently, this was shown to be due to the spatial regulation of MLC phosphorylation by Rho-kinase (Totsukawa et al., 2000). It was shown that in the centre of the cell, Rho-kinase acts to phosphorylate MLC and inhibit MLC phosphatase activity, while at the cell periphery it acts only to inhibit MLC phosphatase activity, where MLCK phosphorylation of MLC can induce stress fibre

formation. Thus the spatial regulation of RhoA effectors or actin binding proteins may serve to regulate the actin cytoskeleton during RhoA-induced stress fibre formation. Interestingly, mDia binds to Src's SH3 domain via the FH1 domain of mDia and inhibition of Src/mDia binding blocks the co-operative effects of mDia and Rho-kinase, suggesting a role for Src and mDia in RhoA-induced processes (see Section 1.6.2) (Tominaga et al., 2000).

As the Rho-kinase and mDia induced actin fibres were not identical to RhoA-induced stress fibres, it was proposed that other effectors may be involved in stress fibre formation (Hall, 1998; Sahai et al., 1998; Watanabe et al., 1999). PIP2 production by RhoA-induced PI5-kinase activity has profound effects on the actin cytoskeleton by regulating various actin binding proteins and controlling actin polymerisation (Figure 6) (Toker, 1998). In this regard, it is interesting that microinjection of an anti-PIP2 antibody ablates LPA or RhoA-induced stress fibre and focal adhesion formation suggesting that PI5-kinase has a role in the assembly of stress fibres (Gilmore & Burridge, 1996). This suggests that PIP2 induced control of actin polymerisation may play a role in actin stress fibre formation. Interestingly, work by Machesky and Hall indicated that actin polymerisation although not ultimately responsible for stress fibres formation, is required for the long-term maintenance of RhoA-induced stress fibres (Machesky & Hall, 1997).

In addition to Rho-kinase, mDia1/2 and PI5-kinase many other RhoA targets have been identified as potential effectors involved in RhoA-induced stress fibre formation. These include PRK1 (also known as PKN) and PRK2, which are both serine/threonine kinases, related to PKC (Amano et al., 1996; Palmer et al., 1995; Watanabe et al., 1996) having a broad spectrum of expression. PRK1 was thought to have a role in stress fibre formation as staurosporine, a potent inhibitor of PKC and possibly PRK1, blocks focal adhesion formation (Mosch et al., 1996). Moreover LPA stimulation results in the RhoA-dependent activation of PRK1 (Watanabe et al., 1996). Further experiments illustrate that PRK1 can bind to α -actinin, which provides a link between PRK1 and the actin cytoskeleton (Mukai et al., 1997). Similarly PRK2 was initially reported to bind to activated RhoA and Rac1 (Quilliam et al., 1996; Vincent & Settleman, 1997). The expression of a kinase-defective PRK2 caused disruption of actin stress fibres in NIH 3T3 cells thereby suggesting that PRK2 may serve as a Rac1/RhoA effector, inducing the re-modelling of the actin cytoskeleton (Vincent & Settleman, 1997). Rhotekin and Rhophilin are two additional Rho effectors that lack a kinase domain but share homology with PRKs in the Rho-binding domain (Reid et al., 1996; Watanabe et al., 1996). Both interact with GTP-bound RhoA but their cellular function has yet to be fully established. One possibility is that they

contain other putative binding domains such as PH and protein-protein interacting domains which may serve as docking regions or serve a purpose in the localisation of other effectors during RhoA induced actin re-modelling. No one effector, to date, seems capable of inducing stress fibres reminiscent of those caused by RhoA and therefore it is more likely that a combination of effectors work concurrently to form stress fibres.

1.4.2 Cdc42 and Rac effectors.

Rho family protein effectors have a number of consensus binding motifs including a minimal region of approximately 16-18 residues which has been identified as being required for the binding of Cdc42 or Rac1, called the CRIB motif (Cdc42 /Rac1 interactive binding motif) (Burbelo et al., 1995). Both Cdc42 and Rac1 bind to some common effector which do not bind to RhoA as a result of the sequence homology between Cdc42 and Rac1. Using a computer based search a number of Cdc42/Rac1-binding proteins were identified that contain the CRIB domain including the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (WASP) (Figure 6). WASP binds to GTP-bound Cdc42 and is preferentially expressed in hematopoietic cells. It is thought to be a major component in Cdc42-induced actin rearrangements, as WASP induced actin polymerisation is inhibited by expression of dominant negative Cdc42 (Ramesh et al., 1999; Symons et al., 1996). WAS patients have thrombocytopenia, which is thought to be due to abnormalities in T and B cell function as a result of impaired Cdc42 function (Kolluri et al., 1996; Snapper et al., 1998; Zicha et al., 1998). Cdc42 is thought to be essential for T-cell polarity towards antigen presenting cells and WASP-deficient cells display both impaired cell migration and polarity in this process (Snapper et al., 1998; Stowers et al., 1995; Zicha et al., 1998). N-WASP, the ubiquitously expressed form of WASP also serves a similar function in other non-hematopoietic cell types (Miki et al., 1996). Over-expression of N-WASP induces filopodia and has been proposed to be involved in bradykinin-induced filopodia formation as an effector of Cdc42 (Miki et al., 1996; Miki et al., 1998a). Both WASP and N-WASP bind to F-actin and profilin as well as the Arp2/3 complex. The Arp2/3 complex consists of seven components including Arp2, Arp3, p41-Arc, p34-Arc, p21-Arc, p20-Arc and p16-Arc resulting in the stimulation of actin nucleation and polymerisation to allow actin remodelling to occur (Figure 6) (Machesky et al., 1997; Miki et al., 1998a; Rohatgi et al., 1999). Furthermore, N-WASP and WASP have a PH domain which is thought to serve in their localisation to the cell membrane and thereby function at this region of the cell (Rohatgi et al., 1999). Recently further members of the WASP family proteins such as Scar/WAVE, have been shown to be involved in Rac1-dependent cytoskeleton remodelling events, serving to couple Rac1 activity to the Arp2/3 complex and thereby actin nucleation and lamellipodia

chapter 1

formation (Machesky et al., 1997; Miki et al., 1998a). Various other proteins have been implicated in Cdc42 cytoskeleton re-organisation, including the non receptor tyrosine kinase, ACK and myotonic dystrophy kinase-related Cdc42 binding kinase (MRCK). Both ACK-1 and ACK-2 have been reported to bind to activated Cdc42 and can be phosphorylated as a results of bradykinin and EGF stimulation, implying that ACK may mediate the actions of Cdc42 (Kato-Stankiewicz et al., 2001; Yang & Cerione, 1997). MRCK has both a PH and a CRIB domain and over-expression of MRCK reflects Cdc42 induced filopodia, while expression of kinase-dead MRCK blocks filopodia formation (Leung et al., 1998). Moreover, MRCK, like Rho-kinase (see Section 1.4.1) preferentially phosphorylates MLC at serine-19 in vitro (Leung et al., 1998) and it has been suggested that this regulates, in part, an acto-myosin contractile force at the site of filopodia formation.

Amongst the Cdc42 and Rac1-binding protein that have been identified, p21 activated kinases (PAK1-5) have attracted a great deal of attention (Figure 6) (Manser et al., 1994; Martin et al., 1995a; Sells et al., 1997). PAK possesses a CRIB motif and an SH3 domain, and in general bind to Rac or Cdc42 in a GTP-dependent manner inducing PAK relocalisation and PAK kinase activity. Expression of activated PAK induces remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton in a similar manner as activated Cdc42 or Rac1 (Manser et al., 1997; Sells et al., 1997). Moreover, expression of dominant negative PAK blocks Cdc42 or Rac1 induced actin rearrangements implicating PAK as a downstream effector of Cdc42 and Rac1 (Obermeier et al., 1998). More recent studies indicate that there may be isoform and cell type specific differences in PAK signalling with regards to Cdc42 and Rac1-induced actin rearrangements. For example, PAK3 induced effects on the actin cytoskeleton can be inhibited by dominant negative Rac1 in PC12 cells, while PAK1 seems to induce its effect on the actin cytoskeleton in a Rac1 and kinase-independent manner in fibroblasts (Obermeier et al., 1998; Zhao et al., 1998). Moreover, PAK4 a novel effector of Cdc42, only binds to Cdc42 and has been implicated in Cdc42-induced actin remodelling to form filopodia (Abo et al., 1998), while the brain-specific PAK isoform PAK5, like Cdc42, promotes neurite outgrowth in N1E-115 cells (Dan et al., 2002). Recently, cortactin, which has actin cross-linking activity, is recruited to sites of cortical actin polymerisation in a PAK-dependent manner (Weed et al., 2000). Furthermore, PAK phosphorylates LIMkinase, which phosphorylates and inactivates the actin depolymerising protein cofilin thereby promoting the stabilisation of actin filaments and providing a mechanism by which PAK can indirectly influence the formation of cytoskeletal strucutures such as filopodia or lamellipodia (Daniels & Bokoch, 1999). Interestingly expression of mutant forms of Cdc42 or Rac which cannot bind to PAK can still induce filopodia or lamellipodia

chapter 1

respectively indicating that PAK may not be involved in Cdc42 or Rac1-induced actin rearrangements (Lamarche et al., 1996; Westwick et al., 1997). Further studies demonstrate that GTPase binding-deficient mutants of PAK can still induce actin remodelling, thereby arguing against the requirement of PAK kinase activity and GTPase binding of PAK during PAK induced actin remodelling (Obermeier et al., 1998). These paradoxical results regarding PAK's involvement in Rac1 or Cdc42-induced actin rearrangements may be partially explained by the involvement of an SH3 domain binding protein. As stated above, PAKs also contain a SH3 domain and it has been postulated that the actin remodelling induced by PAK may in some cases be mediated by the SH3 domain at the N-terminal of PAK, rather than via the CRIB motif (Manser et al., 1997; Sells et al., 1997). PIX (PAK interacting exchange factor) was able to cause lamellipodia formation by interacting with the SH3 domain of PAK and acts as a Rac1-specific GEF thereby providing a GTPase binding and kinase independent pathway for PAK induced actin remodelling (Obermeier et al., 1998; Sells et al., 1999), which may help explain the contradictory results described above regarding PAK's role in Rac1 or Cdc42 induced actin remodelling.

Rac1 and Cdc42 -induced actin remodelling not only involves the formation of lamellipodia or filopodia respectively but is also associated with the disassembly of RhoA-induced stress fibres and focal adhesions. Cross-talk between RhoGTPases is thought to be involved in this process and is described in more detail later (see Section1.4.3). In this regard, PAK is thought to not only be involved in the formation of actin structures induced by Cdc42 or Rac1 but may also play a key role in the disassembly of stress fibres and focal adhesions associated with Rac1 and Cdc42 (see section 1.4.3). Rac1 and Cdc42 -induced stress fibre and focal adhesion disruption is thought to be achieved via PAK induced phosphorylation and inhibition of MLCK, which results in the inhibition of MLC phosphorylation and the subsequent loss of actin stress fibres fibres to have an effector and antagonistic role in Rac1 and Cdc42 induced actin remodelling.

With respect to the induction of lamellipodia, several other effectors have been implicated including POR (partner of Rac), which was identified in a yeast-two hybrid screen (Van Aelst et al., 1996). POR interacts with activated Rac1 but not Cdc42 or RhoA. Consistent with a role for POR in lamellipodia production, mutants of POR1 blocked Rac1-induced lamellipodia. Moreover Ras induced lamellipodia formation was synergistically enhanced by co-expression of POR. Finally mutants of Rac1 that do not bind to POR block lamellipodia formation (Joneson et al., 1996).

Another effector likely to play a key role in actin re-modelling and polymerisation is PI5kinase, which binds to both Rac1 and RhoA and has been reported to be regulated by these Rho family proteins (Figure 6) (Hartwig et al., 1995; Ren et al., 1996). It has been demonstrated that Rac1 induces the uncapping of barbed ends of actin filaments, a prerequisite for actin re-modelling and polymerisation associated with lamellipodia (Hartwig et al., 1995). Furthermore this was shown to be enhanced by PI5-kinase induced PIP2 production (Hartwig et al., 1995). PIP2 has been shown to alter the folding and activity of many scaffolding and actin binding proteins such as α -actinin, ERM proteins, profilin, vinculin and WASP (Gilmore & Burridge, 1996; Rohatgi et al., 1999; Toker, 1998). For example, PIP2 binds and results in the unfolding of vinculin allowing it to associate with talin, which in turn can bind to the actin cytoskeleton (Gilmore & Burridge, 1996). PIP2 also increases a-actinin cross-linking activity and enhances uncapping of actin filaments from gelsolin (Toker, 1998), while profilin induces dissociation of actin monomers. Moreover activation of ERM proteins which serve as key regulators of both Rac1 and Rho-induced actin re-modelling, suggests that PI5-kinase-induced regulation of ERM proteins provides some role in lamellipodia and for that matter stress fibre formation (Gilmore & Romer, 1996; Mackay et al., 1997; Tsukita et al., 1994; Tsukita & Yonemura, 1997).

1.4.3 Cross-talk between RhoGTPases

As well as having individual roles in actin organisation there has been a great deal of evidence demonstrating cross talk between Rho family GTPases. Work in Swiss 3T3 cells in particular has suggested that they can act in concert forming a hierarchical cascade that links their activities, such that Cdc42 can activate Rac1 which in turn can activate RhoA (Figure 6) (Nobes & Hall, 1995). Expression of constitutively active Cdc42 results in the formation of filopodia as well as Rac1 induced lamellipodia (Kozma et al., 1995; Nobes & Hall, 1995). Furthermore dominant negative Cdc42 blocks bradykinin induced filopodia and lamellipodia, while dominant negative Rac1 only blocks lamellipodia (Nobes & Hall, 1995). On a similar note activated Rac1 causes lamellipodia and RhoA-induced stress fibres, while dominant negative Rac1 blocks PDGF-induced lamellipodia and stress fibres, but dominant negative RhoA only blocks stress fibre formation (Nobes et al., 1995). Furthermore microinjection of constitutively active Cdc42, while blocking Rac1 by coexpressing dominant negative Rac1, or blocking RhoA, using C3-transferase (Narumiya et al., 1988), enhanced the rate of filopodia production in both cases, demonstrating a hierarchical cascade from Cdc42>Rac1>RhoA (Nobes & Hall, 1995). This has also been demonstrated in neuroblastoma cells, where inactivation of RhoA, leads to increased activation of Cdc42 and Rac1 (Kozma et al., 1997). Similar hierarchical cascades have been observed in other cell types such as macrophages in relation to cell migration (Allen et al., 1997) as well as between other Rho family members. For example, RhoG-induced lamellipodia have been reported to form via a Rac1-dependent mechanism (Roux et al., 1997). Cross-talk has also been reported to occur between small G protein family subgroups such that Ras can activate Rac1 to induce lamellipodia and subsequently cause RhoA-induced stress fibres (Figure 6) (Fan et al., 1998; Hall, 1998; Nimnual et al., 1998).

The precise nature of how these GTPases relay signals to each other is poorly understood. The versatility of GEFs, GDIs and GAPs in controlling RhoGTPases and their ability to act as effectors along with their promiscuous nature, implicates their involvement in RhoGTPase cross-talk. Evidence for this potential link comes from a number of different sources including, the regulation and link between Cdc42 and Rac1. In particular a mechanism for Cdc42-induced activation of Rac1 has been proposed in which the Cdc42 effector PAK (see Section 1.4.2) regulates Rac1 by increasing the GEF activity of PIX for Rac1 (Figure 6) (Manser et al., 1998; Obermeier et al., 1998). Similarly, PI3-kinase could serve as an effector of Cdc42 and activate Rac1 via phophatidyl inositol- 4,5 bisphosphate PIP3-induced GEF activity towards Rac1 (Figure 6) (Zheng et al., 1994a). Leukotrienes have also been proposed to be involved in the cross-talk between Rho family proteins, where EGF or Rac-induced arachidonic acid production subsequently leads to the generation of leukotrienes which are sufficient for RhoA activity and stress fibre formation (Figure 6) (Peppelenbosch et al., 1995).

Even though a hierarchical cascade exists in Swiss 3T3 and other cell types, variations of this theme have been documented involving separate pathways or antagonistic behaviours between RhoGTPases. Cdc42 and Rac1 have been noted to disrupt both stress fibres and focal adhesions. The antagonism between Rac1 and RhoA has been demonstrated in both NIH3T3 and neuronal cells where Rac1 activity is able to downregulate RhoA activity (Leeuwen et al., 1997; Sander et al., 1999). In particular over-expression of Tiam1, a Rac1 GEF, or PDGF-induced Rac1 activation, impaired RhoA-induced actin rearrangements in NIH3T3 cells (Sander et al., 1999). Moreover, downregulation of RhoA via Rac1 activation impairs their migratory phenotype and behaviour (Sander et al., 1999). In the same study, over-expression of constitutively active RhoA restored RhoA activity and resulted in the reversion of the epithelial-like morphology and behaviour induced by Rac1 activation (Sander et al., 1999). Similarly, in further studies down regulation of Rac1 activity has been reported to cause an increase in RhoA activity which was accompanied by an epithelial to mesenchymal transition in cell morphology (Zondag et al., 2000).

Interestingly, expression of V14RhoA or N19RhoA had no effect on Rac1 activity indicating the hierarchical cascade from Rac1 towards RhoA (Sander et al., 1999). In neuronal cells, neurite retraction and cell rounding, both of which are known RhoA-induced effects, were blocked by Rac1 activation and conversely, Rac1 induced neurite formation has been shown to be enhanced by RhoA inactivation (Leeuwen et al., 1997). Moreover, Cdc42-induced filopodia have also been observed to form at the expense of RhoA-induced stress fibres (Dan et al., 2002; Kozma et al., 1995; Sander et al., 1999) (Manser et al., 1997; Qiu et al., 1997).

It has been suggested that a reduction in GEF activity towards RhoA induced by Cdc42 or Rac1 could influence RhoA activity (Zohn et al., 1998). Similarly, alterations in both Rho GAP or GDI activity could be involved in the down regulation of RhoA. Interestingly CIP4, which was discovered as a Cdc42-binding protein has sequence homology with a number of RhoGAPs and causes a breakdown of stress fibres (Aspenstrom, 1997). CIP4 does not induce filopodia and it has therefore been proposed that some effectors may serve in the formation of morphological actin structures while other act as antagonists towards other RhoGTPases during this process (Aspenstrom, 1997). Others propose that the antagonism is a product of competition between family members for a common pool of actin, actin binding partners or effectors. In this regard it has been suggested that the Cdc42 and Rac1 effector PAK may play a role in this antagonistic process. Expression of constitutively active PAK induces stress fibre and focal adhesion breakdown (Frost et al., 1998) (Sanders et al., 1999; Zhao et al., 1998) which is thought to occur due to PAK induced MLCK phosphorylation leading to inhibition of MLC phosphorylation, contractility of actin-myosin and therefore inhibition of stress fibre formation (Figure 6). Others have shown the antagonism between RhoGTPases to occur further upstream, as down regulation of RhoA in NIH3T3 cells by Rac1 was shown to occur independently of Rac1 induced cytoskeletal rearrangements. Rac1 mutants that were defective in mediating cytoskeletal changes could still down regulate RhoA, suggesting that the antagonism observed here between Rac1 and RhoA occurs at the Rho family GTPase level (Sander et al., 1999; Zondag et al., 2000). Furthermore, evidence of antagonism between other Rho family members and RhoA has been documented to occur, for example, activated Rad1 and RhoE/Rad3 have been shown to cause stress fibre disruption (Guasch et al., 1998; Nobes et al., 1998). It has also been proposed that effectors can act as negative regulators of RhoGTPases in a negative feedback loop. One such effector, p116(Rip) identified as a RhoA-binding protein has similar effects as dominant negative RhoA or C3-transferase, indicating not only that RhoGTPase-induced effectors can influence the activity of other family members but that they can act in a negative feedback loop to reduce the effect of

their respective RhoGTPases (Gebbink et al., 1997). Co-ordination between family members has also been reported to occur in controlling other cytoskeletal based processes such as the co-operation between Rac1 and RhoA in the formation of cadherin mediated cell-cell junctions (Braga et al., 1997; Hordijk et al., 1997; Kuroda et al., 1998; Takaishi et al., 1997). The cross-talk and co-operation between family members during processes such as cell migration will be discussed in more detail below.

1.4.4 Cross-talk between small family subgroups

A similar scenario of cross-talk has been proposed to be involved in cross talk between small G protein family subgroups. As stated earlier many GEF, GAPs and GDIs have a variety of functions that could potentially lead to cross talk between GTPases. It has been shown for example that Ras can activate Rac1 via the Ras-induced effector PI3-kinase, which enhances the activity of the Rac1 GEF Vav, by p56 Lck-induced tyrosine phosphorylation. Which increases GDP/GTP exchange activity of Vav and thereby enhances Vav induced Rac1 activity (Crespo et al., 1997; Han et al., 1997; Han et al., 1998). Furthermore Ras is thought to be able to activate Rac1 via the Rac1 exchange factor activity of Sos (Nimnual et al., 1998). The PH domain of Sos normally inhibits its Rac1 GEF activity, however binding of the PH domain to PIP3 blocks this inhibitory effect, allowing Sos to have GEF activity for Rac1 (Nimnual et al., 1998). A further indication that this is a likely mechanism for cross-talk is that Sos and other Ras GEFs such as, Ras-GRF and Ras-GRF2 have been reported to have either Cdc42, Rac1 or RhoA GEF DH and PH domains (Fan et al., 1998; Nimnual et al., 1998).

1.5 Cell motility and migration

Cell migration is a key aspect of many cellular functions, including leukocyte migration in response to inflammation, cell migration during development or wound healing, and tumour cell metastasis and invasion (Lauffenburger & Horwitz, 1996). Cell movement has been described as a crawling motion, mediated by the dynamic remodelling of both cell-substratum sites and the actin cytoskeletal network. Here, we focus on how the co-ordinated regulation of the actin cytoskeleton by RhoGTPases contributes to cell migration, acknowledging that other cytoskeletal networks including the microtubule network and intermediate filaments interact and play a role in this process.

1.5.1 A role for Rac1 in cell migration.

Rac is thought to serve a role in cell migration by stimulating the formation of lamellipodia, which initially form weak attachment sites to the substratum referred to as focal complexes. Focal complexes are thought to be rapidly turning over focal adhesions (Schoenwaelder & Burridge, 1999; Small et al., 1995) composed of various actin binding, structural and signalling proteins such as α -actinin, vinculin, paxillin cortactin and FAK which to date have been reported to have the same protein composition as focal adhesions (Nobes & Hall, 1995). The rapid turnover and supply of free actin monomers and scaffolding proteins provides the protrusive force for lamellipodia formation and cell migration (Borisy & Svitkina, 2000). The supply of actin to new adhesion sites at the barbed end of actin filaments pointing towards the leading lamellae is thought to provide a protrusive force and cause extension of the membrane resulting in lamellipodia (Borisy & Svitkina, 2000). At the same time, real time microscopy using GFP-tagged vinculin demonstrated that as cells move small complexes that form at the base of lamellipodia remain static in relation to the cell substratum as the cell migrates forward over them (Figure 7) (Small et al., 1995; Small et al., 1999). It has been postulated that Rac1 mediated focal complex formation at the leading edge provides new immature adhesion sites in the direction of cell locomotion and as the cell moves these focal complexes gradually develop into focal adhesions as a result of their localisation behind the base of lamellipodia. This focal complex to focal adhesion transition is thought to provide an adhesive force required for traction during cell migration at the leading edge, while MLC contraction at the rear induces tail-retraction and cell translocation (Figure 7) (Chrzanowska-Wodnicka & Burridge, 1996; Small et al., 1999; Stossel, 1993). Rac1 induced actin remodelling is thought to be essential for cell migration as cells expressing dominant negative Rac1 fail to form a leading edge and migrate into the wound (Nobes & Hall, 1999).

Similarly the Rac GEF, Tiam1 induces invasion of T-lymphoma cells and produces cell metastasis in nude mice (Habets et al., 1994; Michiels et al., 1995). Others however have shown Tiam1 to block migration of NIH3T3 cells on fibronectin and laminin (Sander et al., 1998). This can be explained by work demonstrating that the ability of Tiam1 to induce or inhibit migration is dependent on the extra cellular matrix (ECM) components present (Mitchison & Cramer, 1996; Sander et al., 1998). For example, on collagen Tiam1 increases migration, while on laminin or fibronectin Tiam1 inhibits cell migration (Sander et al., 1998). Further evidence for Rac1 in migration can be seen as alterations in Rac1 activity increase human breast cell motility and invasion (Keely et al., 1997; Zohn et al.,

1998). Moreover macrophage and fibroblast chemotaxis towards CSF-1 and PDGF has been documented to require Rac1 activity and lamellipodia formation (Allen et al., 1997; Anand-Apte & Zetter, 1997). It should be noted that in cells with focal adhesions and no lamellipodia, subsequent stimulation to form these structures induces the dynamic remodelling of focal adhesions to focal complexes as visualised using GFP tagged paxillin (Laukaitis et al., 2001), which provides the initial lamellipodia and leading edge required for directional migration. It is thought that Rac1 antagonises RhoA activity in cells via PAK (see Section 1.4.3) allowing these membrane extensions to form. It is therefore clear that both focal adhesions and focal complexes are transient structures whose function within the cell is critically governed by RhoGTPases during cell migration.

1.5.2 A role for Cdc42 in cell migration.

Cdc42 serves a role in cell migration by stimulating the formation of protrusive structures known as filopodia (Figure 7) (Hall, 1998; Kozma et al., 1995), which also contain focal complexes at the base and along their length. Filopodia are transient structures and like lamellipodia they are rapidly turning over (Borisy & Svitkina, 2000; Stossel, 1993). The supply of new actin and structural proteins provide the key components to extend the cell membrane and form these vital structures during directed cell migration (Allen et al., 1997: Borisy & Svitkina, 2000). Cdc42-induced filopodia are not essential for cell migration but are required for maintaining cell polarity during fibroblast movement and macrophage chemotaxis (Allen et al., 1997; Allen et al., 1998; Carney & Couve, 1989; Nobes & Hall, 1999). Using a Dunn chamber chemotaxis assay to examine directionality and persistence of cell movement, cells expressing dominant negative Cdc42 fail to maintain directed cell migration towards a chemotactic gradient (Allen et al., 1998). Interestingly, cells expressing dominant negative Cdc42 demonstrated an increase in migration velocity which has been proposed to be as a result of alleviated directionality normally induced by Cdc42 (Allen et al., 1997; Allen et al., 1998). In this regard aberrant activity of Cdc42 has been linked to the increased motility of human breast epithelial cells (Keely et al., 1997). Thus factors other than cell contraction and cell adhesion are involved in controlling cell migration rates. Cdc42 activity has been proposed to direct lamellipodia protrusions induced by Rac1 to the leading edge during wound healing (Nobes & Hall, 1999). This orientation of a leading edge can also be seen in individually migrating fibroblasts where a number of filopodia eventually coalesce to form a leading edge and extend lamellipodia in the direction of cell locomotion (Figure 7). Similarly, in yeast, Cdc42 co-ordinates actin cytoskeleton remodelling and polarisation of budding yeast (Stowers et al., 1995). Interestingly the Cdc42 and Rac1 effector PAK has been demonstrated to be required for

sustained polarisation of cells, as kinase-defective PAK expressing cells form lamellipodia but fail to sustain polarised cell migration (Sells et al., 1999). Finally as discussed in Section 1.4.1, Cdc42 activity is essential for T-cell polarity towards antigen presenting cells and cells deficient in the Cdc42 effector WASP display both impaired migration and polarity during this process (Snapper et al., 1998; Stowers et al., 1995; Zicha et al., 1998).

1.5.3 A role for RhoA in cell migration.

It has been suggested that RhoA may play a role in cell migration via myosin-based bundling of actin filaments into stress fibres and the maintenance of focal adhesions during cell movement. The contractile forces exerted by stress fibres results in the aggregation of integrins and their associated proteins to form focal adhesions which serve to stabilise adhesions and allow cell traction to occur from behind the leading edge (Chrzanowska-Wodnicka & Burridge, 1996). The contractile force also causes retraction of the cell rear and allows the cell to detach and translocate the cell body forward (Figure 7) (Chen, 1981). The extent of RhoA induced retraction has been clearly seen in neuronal cell lines, where RhoA-induced contraction leads to cell rounding in NE115 neuroblastoma cells and neurite collapse (Kozma et al., 1997; Leeuwen et al., 1997). This contractility generally antagonises cell extension, as demonstrated by the introduction of C3-transferase into cells, which blocks RhoA-induced contraction and has been reported to stimulate lamellipodia formation (Rottner et al., 1999). Similarly, expression of constitutively active RhoA or wild type RhoA blocks membrane protrusion and extension (Cox et al., 2001). Both temporal and spatial regulation of this antagonism is proposed to be co-ordinated during cell migration. Lamellipodia formation is a prerequisite for a cell to produce a leading edge however RhoA has been suggested to have a role in the selective orientation of the leading edge and plays a role in the contraction and collapse of lateral lamellipodia during directed cell motility (Stossel, 1993). Moreover, contractility can itself contribute to cell extension when sufficient adhesions are present and this has been proposed to partially be involved in the formation of both filopodia and lamellipodia (see Section 1.4.1) (Schoenwaelder & Burridge, 1999). Interestingly, as described earlier (see Section 1.4.3), Rac1 activity has been shown to lead to an increase in RhoA activity and in some cell types this increase in RhoA activity has been linked to the epithelial-mesenchymal transition which is thought to be one of the initial steps that occur during epithelial cell migration (Zondag et al., 2000).

Various experiments have resulted in an apparently paradoxical view on whether RhoA activity is important for cell motility. For example it has been reported that over-

expression of constitutively active RhoA has inhibitory effects on migration, possibly due to the inhibition of the dynamic remodelling and turnover of focal adhesions and stress fibres during this process (Nobes & Hall, 1999; Ridley et al., 1995; Takaishi et al., 1994). Similarly inactivation of RhoA activity can enhance cell migration rates, as demonstrated using the Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632, which augments the migration rate of rat embryo fibroblasts during a wound healing assay (Nobes & Hall, 1999). In keeping with this, Rnd3/RhoE promotes cell migration in response to hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) (Guasch et al., 1998), consistent with the antagonism of RhoA by Rnd3/RhoE (Guasch et al., 1998).

On the other hand, others have reported that inactivation of RhoA hinders cell migration, as treatment of cells with C3-transferase blocks T-cell lymphoma invasion as well as LPAinduced migration and invasion of hepatoma cells (Verschueren et al., 1997; Yoshioka et al., 1995), while expression of constitutively active RhoA in NIH3T3 cells confers the potential of cells to metastasise to the lung in a tail vein metastatic assay (del Peso et al., 1997). Recently, RhoA has been implicated in colon carcinoma cell migration via the formation of lamellipodia as opposed to stress fibres and cell contraction, as demonstrated by the suppression of $\alpha 6\beta 4$ -dependent lamellipodia formation and cell migration by over expression of N19RhoA and not N17Rac1 (O'Connor et al., 2000). Therefore, the role of RhoA in cell migration is not as clear as was first thought and seems to be cell type or model specific. Nevertheless, as both activation and inhibition of RhoA activity can hinder migration, it has been proposed that the precise regulation of RhoA activity is required for efficient cell migration. In this regard, the temporal regulation of RhoA activity within the cell has recently been suggested to allow cell migration to occur. For example RhoA has been documented to be transiently inhibited during integrin engagement and it is thought that this inhibition may allow initial protrusion at the leading edge of the cell which would otherwise be antagonised by the contractile forces induced by sustained RhoA activity (Arthur & Burridge, 2001; Arthur et al., 2000; Ren et al., 1999). Co-ordination of this RhoA-induced contractility along with co-ordinated activity of other RhoGTPases (as previously discussed) has been postulated to allow cells to extend in the direction of cell migration while maintaining the ability to contract and lift the rear end of the cell body during cell locomotion. The spatial regulation of RhoGTPase activity is also evident, such that cell extension occurs at the leading edge while traction forces induced by RhoA occur directly behind the leading edge and along the bottom of the cell in contact with the substratum. RhoA-induced MLC contraction also provides the driving force behind tailretraction at the rear of the cell to allow full translocation of the cell body. Recently, a related member of the RhoA family proteins, RhoC (see Section 1.3), was identified using microarray analysis, as a gene upregulated in metastatic melanoma cells in contrast to their poorly metastatic counterparts (Clark et al., 2000). Moreover, inhibition of RhoC blocked metastasis, while over-expression of RhoC in non-metastatic cells conferred an increased migratory and invasive behaviour in this cell line.

The precise temporal and spatial regulation of morphologically distinct structures induced by RhoGTPases has yet to be fully established. It does however provide an explanation as to why complete inactivation or sustained activation in various cell systems can lead to a misinterpretation regarding the importance of individual RhoGTPases in cell migration. A more likely explanation is that they all play a role in this process through their co-ordinated effect on contraction and extension at different times and places during cell migration. figure7ledgend

Figure 7

Schematic representation of adhesion dynamics during migration induced by Cdc42, Rac1 and RhoA.



1.6 Regulation of adhesion dynamics during cell migration.

Cell locomotion ultimately relies on the spatial and temporal regulation of adhesion strength as well as the contractile or expansion forces induced on the cell body by RhoGTPases. The resistance that contractile forces have to overcome in order to accomplish translocation of the cell body is predominantly due to adhesive interactions between the cell and the substratum at focal adhesions or focal complexes. Alterations therefore by protein interactions in focal adhesions and focal complexes during this process will have profound effects on the overall adhesion of the cell to the substratum. Importantly the spatial and temporal localisation of proteins involved in focal adhesion dynamics, such as Src, will therefore serve a fundamental role in controlling cell migration.

Disruption and disassembly of focal adhesions occur at the rear of the cell during cell retraction, while the initiation of new attachment sites or the rapid turnover of focal complexes has to occur at the leading edge of the cell. Moreover, in order for efficient cell migration to occur there has to be an equilibrium between adhesion strength during cell traction and adhesion disruption during cell detachment. Finally, there has to be a spatial imbalance between these adhesion forces such that adhesions at the leading edge of the cell remain while cell attachments at the rear are released (Sheetz, 1994). Interestingly, the front of migrating neuronal and fibroblast cells have a significantly greater link to cytoskeleton based adhesions than the rear of the cell (Schmidt et al., 1993). A clear illustration of how cell adhesion effects migration can be seen in fish keratinocytes which generally have a low adhesion threshold to the substratum and as a result migrate much faster than their fibroblast counterparts which demonstrate a much greater adhesion strength (Harris et al., 1980; Oliver et al., 1994). In this regard, neutrophils have an intermediate adhesive strength and consequently exhibit a migration rate between that of fish keratinocytes and fibroblasts (Evans et al., 1993). It is clear then that an optimal cellsubstratum adhesion strength exists for different cell types and that simple alterations in relative adhesion to the substratum at different times during cell migration can govern whether and how fast a cell migrates. As discussed earlier contractile forces by RhoA and directional influences via Cdc42 are also critical determinants of cell migration speed (see Section 1.5.2 and 1.5.3). We will focus here however, on the role and link between proteins present at adhesion sites, such as Src, and discuss the implication of molecular interactions at these sites with regards to cell motility.

1.6.1 A role for Src in cell migration.

Several studies have suggested that Src family kinases play a role in cell motility. For example, c-Src deficient fibroblasts have a decreased random migration (Hall et al., 1996; Kaplan et al., 1995), and cells deficient in all three ubiquitously expressed family members, Src, Fyn and Yes are unable to migrate into a wound (Klinghoffer et al., 1999). Furthermore, Src -/- fibroblasts have a defect in cell spreading (Kaplan et al., 1995), while Src -/- osteoclasts have a defect in cytoskeletal organisation (Schwartzberg et al., 1997). Others have shown c-Src kinase activity to be required for growth factor induced migration and scattering in a number of cell types, providing definitive evidence that Src contributes to the control of cell migration (Liu et al., 1999; Rahimi et al., 1998; Rodier et al., 1995). The ability of Src to influence cell motility in fibroblasts has been primarily linked to the regulation of focal adhesion turnover. Cells lacking Src family members are able to assemble focal adhesions (Klinghoffer et al., 1999), indicating that Src is not required for their formation. However, cells in which kinase defective mutants of Src are expressed have enlarged focal adhesions (Fincham & Frame, 1998; Kaplan et al., 1994), suggestive of a role for Src kinase activity in the turnover of these structures that is needed for cells to move (Fincham & Frame, 1998). Moreover, linkages between integrin vitronectin receptors and the actin cytoskeleton are strengthened in Src-deficient fibroblasts (Felsenfeld et al., 1999), indicating that Src activity is required to weaken, or disrupt, links at the integrin-cytoskeleton interface thus modulating cell motility. The presence of functional SH2 and SH3 domains in these Src proteins suggests that, in addition to phosphorylating key substrates, Src may be acting as an adaptor protein allowing its recruitment into focal adhesion structures and/or the recruitment of cellular partners to these sites. In line with this, kinase-deficient Src mutants can rescue both defects in cell spreading and cytoskeletal organisation in fibroblasts and osteoclasts, as mentioned above (Kaplan et al., 1995; Schwartzberg et al., 1997), implying that at least some effects of Src on cell adhesions and the cytoskeleton are kinase-independent and may rely on the adaptor function of Src

Src's activity at adhesions however, ultimately results in their turnover, an effect that has been attributed to Src's ability to influence cell migration. Much of the mechanistic information on how Src affects adhesions and regulators of the actin cytoskeleton has been generated from studies with v-Src. v-Src for example, leads to the disruption of cellular adhesions and loss of actin organisation, resulting in cell rounding and detachment (Fincham et al., 1999; Fincham et al., 1995). It is possible that the v-Src mediated cell detachment and rounding is an extreme version of a tightly controlled process that triggers

adhesion turnover when cell/matrix adhesions are being dynamically regulated during Src dependent cell migration. Src has been reported to localise with a variety of adhesion components, including structural regulatory and signalling proteins such as, FAK, cortactin, paxillin and ERM proteins. The exact function of each individual protein during cell migration is not fully understood however the phosphorylation of many of these adhesion components may also be linked to cytoskeletal remodelling and adhesion turnover during cell motility.

There is convincing evidence for example that the linked activity of Src and FAK, control adhesion turnover and cell migration. In support of a role for FAK in cell migration, inhibition of FAK signalling by expression of dominant negative FAK constructs has been shown to decrease migration rates (Gilmore & Romer, 1996). Furthermore, cells derived from FAK -/- mouse embryos have enlarged focal adhesions and are relatively non-motile due to impaired focal adhesions turnover (Ilic et al., 1995; Ilic et al., 1996). Direct evidence of a link between FAK and Src comes from studies where over-expression of exogenous FAK in CHO cells stimulates cell migration, which is dependent on its ability to associate with Src family members (Cary et al., 1996). Furthermore, expression of FAK mutants unable to bind Src, hinder cell migration (Cary et al., 1996). Evidence that dominant-inhibitory Src proteins and the absence of FAK both give rise to enlarged cellular adhesions and impaired migration, strongly suggests that the critical role of their activity is to induce adhesion turnover. Recently, regulatory events that lead to Srcmediated adhesion disassembly via FAK have come from studies on v-Src-induced focal adhesion disruption in which v-Src induced tyrosine phosphorylation of FAK precedes calpain-mediated proteolytic cleavage of FAK, leading to the cleavage and loss of FAK protein, adhesion disassembly and cell detachment (Carragher et al., 2001; Carragher et al., 1999; Fincham et al., 1995). In this regard mutants of Src that suppress cell motility, including kinase and myristylation defective Src, do not induce FAK proteolysis and adhesion turnover (Fincham & Frame, 1998; Fincham et al., 1995).

In addition, since FAK is unlikely to be the sole protein involved in cell migration, other potential Src substrates such as cortactin could be involved in Src induced focal adhesion turnover and remodelling during cell migration. Cortactin has been reported to localise to residual focal adhesions (Wu et al., 1991) and Rac1 activity has been documented to cause cortactin to localise to lamellipodia in Swiss 3T3 cells (Weed et al., 1998). Cortactin also binds to actin filaments (Wu et al., 1991) and has actin cross-linking activity that is regulated by Src (Huang et al., 1997). Furthermore, cortactin has been shown to colocalise and interact with Arp2/3 at sites of actin assembly (Weed et al., 2000).

Interestingly, tyrosine phosphorylation of cortactin is linked to Src and cell motility (Huang et al., 1998; Kanner et al., 1990) and recently tyrosine phosphorylation of cortactin has been reported to promote its susceptibility to calpain cleavage (Huang et al., 1997). These properties suggest that cortactin, like FAK, is a potential substrate involved in Src-induced focal adhesions turnover and remodelling during cell motility.

Several studies have also suggested that paxillin may also be an important substrate in Src induced focal adhesion turnover during cell migration. For example, paxillin -/- fibroblasts have impaired cell migration and display defects in cortical actin and focal adhesions (Hagel et al., 2002). Moreover, tyrosine phosphorylation of paxillin has been demonstrated in a number of studies to be associated with cell migration, while VEGF induced cell migration was shown to enhance the binding of Src and paxillin (Burridge et al., 1992; Kintscher et al., 2001; Munshi et al., 2000; Petit et al., 2000). Finally, Src induced phosphorylation of ezrin may expose the actin binding site on ezrin and thereby effect membrane/cytoskeletal interactions leading to lamellipodia formation, as previously demonstrated by over-expression of ezrin (Krieg & Hunter, 1992; Martin et al., 1995b). There may be many other Src substrates potentially involved in cell migration which will be discussed in more detail later.

1.6.2 Src induced modulation of RhoGTPases during cell migration.

As well as mediating the adhesion and actin cytoskeletal dynamics during cell migration by interacting with focal adhesion proteins, Src has also been proposed to modulate the actin cytoskeleton dynamics during cell motility by directly regulating RhoGTPases. This can occur at several different levels including regulation of GEFs, GAPs and RhoGTPase effectors. Src family kinases such as Lck have been shown to influence the activity of the Rac1, by tyrosine phosphorylation of Vav (Gulbins et al., 1993; Han et al., 1997). On the other hand, Src may also lead to the antagonism of RhoA via phosphorylation of p190RhoGAP (Ellis et al., 1990), leading to its association with p120RasGAP (Chang et al., 1995; McGlade et al., 1993). This association, in turn, results in an increase in RhoA GTPase activity, inhibition of RhoA activity and the disruption and disassembly of actin stress fibres (Chang et al., 1995; Fincham et al., 1999). The antagonism of RhoA as a key event in Src's de-regulation of the actin cytoskeleton was highlighted by the RhoA-induced reversion of the Src-mediated actin changes in rat fibroblasts (Mayer et al., 1999). In keeping with this, the complex between p190RhoGAP and p120RasGAP is required for stress fibre turnover and efficient cell migration (Kulkarni et al., 2000). Interestingly, integrin signalling induces early Src-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of p190RhoGAP that is thought to relieve RhoA-mediated contractile forces thus allowing protrusions to form at the leading edge of motile cells (Arthur et al., 2000). In keeping with this, further studies have demonstrated that inhibition of RhoA by p190RhoGAP enhances cell spreading and migration by promoting cell protrusion and polarity (Arthur & Burridge, 2001). Src has also been implicated in modulating the activity of mDia1/2 with regards to stress fibre formation. As discussed previously in Section 1.4.1 (Figure 6), mDia1/2 co-operate with Rho-kinase to mediate actin remodelling downstream of RhoA (Watanabe et al., 1999). Recently a direct association between c-Src and mDia, mediated by the SH3 domain of Src and the proline rich FH1 domains of Dia proteins, has been reported to be necessary for the co-operative effects of Dia and Rho-kinase in mediating stress fibre formation (Tominaga et al., 2000). Inhibition of Src and mDia binding by expression of a dominant inhibitory Src protein, or deletion of the FH1 domain of Dia proteins, was shown to block the co-operation between Dia and Rho-kinase and thereby block stress fibre formation (Tominaga et al., 2000). It is therefore possible that Src may influence actin/adhesion dynamics during cell migration by functionally interacting with and regulating RhoGTPases at a specific time and place during cell migration.

1.7 Aim.

Src can have both positive and negative effects on adhesion formation and may act as a switch between their assembly and disassembly placing it in a central position from which to co-ordinate the multi-faceted process of directed cell motility. The functional interplay between Src family members and the actin cytoskeleton with regards to RhoGTPases lead us to probe this relationship further and examine the link between these proteins and their function. Here we addressed how RhoA-, Rac1- or Cdc42-induced changes in the actin cytoskeleton influence the intracellular localisation of c-Src, and Src's biological effects within the cell. Furthermore, we address whether cross-talk between RhoGTPases is involved in Src's intracellular targeting. Finally, as Src is known to be required for cell motility, we aim to establish whether Src's catalytic activity functions in this targeting process and whether it plays a role in cell polarisation and migration.

Chapter 2
2 Materials and methods

2.1 Cell culture reagents

Supplier: Beatson Institute Central Services

Sterile dH₂0 Sterile PBS (Dulbecco 'A') Sterile PBS/1mM EDTA Penicillin solution (10,000 units/ml) Streptomycin solution (10mg/ml)

Supplier: Gibco Europe Life Technologies Ltd., Paisley, UK.

10× Dulbeccos MEM concentrate1x sodium pyruvate200mM L-glutamine2.5% trypsin solution

Supplier: Qiagen, Crawley, UK

Polyfect transfection reagent

Supplier: Sigma Chemical Co., Poole, UK..

Foetal calf serum (FCS)

2.2 Cell culture plasticware

Supplier: BD Biosciences, Oxford, UK

Falcon tissue culture dishes

Supplier: ERIE scientific, BDH Merke eurolab, Poole Dorset

Supercell culture slides

Supplier: TCS biologicals, Botolph Claydon, UK.

Nunc Delta tissue culture flasks Nunc cryotubes

2.3 Inhibitors

Supplier: CN biosciences, Nottingham, UK

PP2 Src-family kinase inhibitor

Supplier: Cytoskeleton, Inc, Northampton UK

C3 -transferase

Supplier: Sigma Chemical Co., Poole, UK.

Cytochalasin D

Supplier: Sigma pool,UK

Emetine

Supplier: Welfide Corporation, Japan

Y-27632 Rho-kinase inhibitor

2.4 Growth factors

Supplier: Sigma Chemical Co, Poole, UK

Bradykinin, LPA

Supplier: TCS Biologicals, Botolph Claydon, UK

PDGF

2.5 Antisera and associated materials

Supplier: Amersham International, Little Chalfont, UK.

Anti-mouse/horseradish peroxidase conjugate Anti-rabbit/horseradish peroxidase conjugate

Supplier: BioRad Labs, Hercules, CA

Confocal microscope MRC 600

Supplier: Biosource International, CA

Anti-FAK tyrosine-925 mAb Anti-phospho-Src-Y416 polyclonal

Supplier: Eppendorf Hamburg, Germany

Microinjector eppendorf 5171

Microinjector Femtotips

Supplier: Jackson ImmunoResearch, Luton, UK.

FITC labelled sheep anti-mouse IgG TRITC labelled goat anti-rabbit TRITC labelled goat anti-mouse FITC labelled goat anti-rabbit FITC labelled goat anti-rat IgG

L machesky, Birmingham University, UK

Anti-Arp3 mAb

Supplier: PIERCE

DMP

Supplier: Research Diagnostics, Inc, Flanders, NJ

Rhodamine conjugated anti-paxillin antibody

Supplier: Sigma chemical Co., Poole, UK.

2mM phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride 0.1% (v/v) aprotinin Protein A-sepharose beads Rhodamine-conjugated phalloidin Anti-vinculin mAb saponin

T Hunter, Salk Institute, CA Anti-Src mAb N2-17

Supplier: Transduction Laboratories, BD Biosciences, Oxford, UK

Phosphotyrosine antiserum, mouse monoclonal (PY20) Anti-FAK mAb

Supplier: Upstate Biotechnology, Lake Placid, NY

Anti-Grb2 mAb Anti-Scar polyclonal Anti-Src mAb EC10 Anti-myc tag polyclonal Ab 9E10 Anti-myc tag mAb 9E10 Supplier: Vector Laboratories Ltd., Peterborough, UK.

Vectashield mounting medium for immunofluorescence.

2.6 Protein reagents and materials

Supplier: Amersham, Little Chalfont, UK.

High molecular weight rainbow markers (14.4kDa to 220kDa) ECL reagent

Supplier: Beatson Institute Workshop.

Semi-dry blotting apparatus

Supplier: Genetic Research Instrumentation, Dunmow, UK.

Atto protein electrophoresis apparatus

Supplier: PIERCE, CLB perbio Ltd.

Micro BCA protein assay kit

Supplier: Schleicher and Schuell, London, UK.

Nitrocellulose membrane

Supplier: Severn Biotech Ltd., Kidderminster, UK.

Design-a-Gel 30% (w/v) acrylamide, 0.8% (w/v) bisacrylamide solution

Supplier: Sigma Chemical Co., Poole, UK.

TEMED (N, N, N', N'-Tetramethylethylenediamine) 0.1% (w/v) Ponceau S solution in 5% acetic acid Bovine serum albumin (BSA), fraction V Ammonium persulphate (APS) Supplier: Unipath, Basingstoke, UK.

'Oxoid' phosphate buffered saline tablets (Dulbecco 'A')

Supplier: Whatman, Maidstone, UK

3MM filter paper

2.7 Stock solutions and buffers

Cell culture solutions

Cell culture medium

1× DMEM supplemented as follows:
10% (v/v) foetal calf serum
1mM sodium pyruvate
2mM L-glutamine
50 units/ml penicillin
10µg/ml streptomycin

Trypsin solution for routine passaging

0.25% v/v Gibco trypsin in sterile PBS/1mM EDTA

2.8 Protein extraction and processing

RIPA buffer

50mM Tris/HCl, pH 7.6 150mM NaCl 1% Triton X-100 0.5% deoxycholate 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) 2mM EGTA 10mM sodium pyrophosphate 100μm sodium orthvanidate 2mm phenylmethlsolphonylfluoride 10μg/ml aprotinin

3× sample buffer100µM sodium orthovanadate Glycine

150mM Tris/HCl, pH 6.7
6% (w/v) SDS
30% (v/v) glycerol
15% (v/v) 2-mercaptoethanol
bromophenol blue to colour

SDS-PAGE stacking gel buffer

0.5M Tris/HCl, pH 6.7 0.4% (w/v) SDS

Stacking gel

4.0ml 30% acrylamide/0.8% bisacrylamide solution
6.0ml stacking gel buffer
14.0ml dH₂O
250μl 10% APS solution
20μl TEMED

SDS-PAGE resolving gel buffer

1.5M Tris/HCl, pH 8.9 0.4% (w/v) SDS

Resolving gel (for a 7.5% gel):

9.0ml 30% acrylamide/0.8% bisacrylamide solution
9.0ml resolving gel buffer
18.0ml dH₂O
250μl 10% APS solution
20μl TEMED

Protein electrophoresis tank buffer (10× concentrate)

0.05M Tris 0.05M glycine 0.1% (w/v) SDS

Semi-dry transfer buffer for immunoblotting

50mM Tris 40mM glycine 0.037 % (w/v) SDS 20% methanol

Immunoblot wash buffer

0.2% Tween 20 in PBS

Immunoblot stripping buffer

0.2M glycine 1% (w/v) SDS pH adjusted to 2.5 with hydrochloric acid

2.9 Cells and plasmids

CA10-Src251-GFP and CA10-wtSrc were kind gifts from P Schwartzberg (NIH, Bethesda, MD) and CA10–SrcY527F and CA10-SrcMF (K295M,Y527F) were a kind gift from K Kaplan (MIT, Cambridge, MA). All Src constructs were chicken c-Src. pEGFP (Clontech, Basingstoke, UK) was used for expression of green fluorescent protein. N19- and V14RhoA, V12- and N17Cdc42, and L61- and N17Rac, all in the pRK5myc plasmid were kindly provided by Alan Hall (UCL, London, UK).

2.10 Methods

2.10.1 Experimental protocol for serum starvation

Swiss 3T3 cells were routinely grown in DMEM supplemented with 10 % foetal calf serum. Cells were grown for one day after plating and subsequently serum starved for 48 h in serum free medium to induce stress fibre disassembly. To reduce the heterogeneity in the population after growth factor stimulation, cells were placed in serum-free conditions overnight (16 h), which did not abolish stress fibres but acted to reduce the heterogeneity amongst the cell population. The transfection efficiency of cells was typically between 20-30 % and in each figure the cells shown are representative of the cell morphology observed in over 80 % of cells examined. In each case experiments were repeated at least 3 times.

2.10.2 Microinjection and transfection of plasmids

Plasmids were introduced into the cells by nuclear microinjection or transient transfection as indicated in the text. Following microinjection of the plasmids at 100 ng μ l⁻¹, the proteins were expressed within 3 to 5 h after which the analysis was carried out. Transfection of the cells was carried out using Polyfect according to the manufacturer's protocol with 0.5 µg DNA per chamber of an 8 well chamber slide. Typical transfection efficiencies were around 30 %.

2.10.3 Immunofluorescence

Cells were plated onto glass chamber slides at a cell density of 1×10^4 24 h prior to transfection or onto glass coverslips 24 h prior to microinjection. For experiments in which cells were serum starved to remove stress fibres prior to expression of the proteins, the cells were grown for 48 h in serum-free conditions prior to microinjection of the appropriate plasmids and analysis carried out 3-5 h later after expression of the proteins. For all other experiments the proteins were expressed by transient transfection. Growth factor treatment of the cells were as follows, PDGF, 25 ng ml⁻¹ for 30 min, bradykinin, 100 nM for 5 min or LPA 200 ng ml⁻¹ for 30 min. The Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632 (10 μ M), PP2 (5 μ M), cytochalasin D (0.1 μ g ml⁻¹) or emetine (55 μ g ml⁻¹) were added as indicated.

Cells were fixed and stained for confocal microscopy as follows:

^{1.} Cells were washed twice with PBS and fixed in 3 % paraformaldehyde (20 min).

- Cell were then permeabilised with PBS containing 0.1% saponin and 20 mM glycine (20 min).
- 4. Cells were then blocked with PBS containing 0.1 % saponin and 10 % foetal calf serum for 1 h.
- Subsequently, cells were incubated with the appropriate primary antibodies, rhodamine-conjugated phalloidin or rhodamine conjugated paxillin antibody for 60 min.
- Non-conjugated antibody detection was by reaction with a species specific FITC- or TRITC-conjugated antibodies for 45 min.
- 7. Cells were visualised using a confocal microscope.

2.10.4 Preparation of protein extracts from adherent fibroblasts.

Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts were lysed in RIPA buffer to extract cellular proteins as follows:

The flasks or dishes were transferred directly from the 37°C incubator onto ice and were rinsed twice with ice-cold PBS. The culture vessels were then inclined and allowed to drain for 10 min to minimise the amount of residual PBS on the cells. Ice-cold lysis buffer was then pipetted onto the cells (0.5ml per 9cm plate) which were allowed to lyse for 10 minutes on ice. At the end of this time, the cells were scraped off the tissue culture plastic using a disposable cell scraper and the resulting suspension was transferred into microcentrifuge tubes. The lysates were then cleared of insoluble cell debris by centrifugation at 14,000g at 4°C for 15 min. The total protein concentration of the lysates was estimated using the BCA protein assay kit according to the manufacturers directions. The aborbance of the samples was then measured at 562nm using a Beckman DU 650 spectrophotometer. Experimental values were compared to a standard curve (obtained using BSA) and the total protein concentration in each sample calculated.

2.10.5 Protein electrophoresis.

Lysates prepared in RIPA buffer were standardised for total protein content before adding 3× sample buffer. The lysates were then boiled for 5 minutes and allowed to cool before loading onto SDS-polyacrylamide gels for electrophoresis. Protein samples were separated

on discontinuous 2mm SDS-polyacrylamide gels comprising a short stacking gel for the initial stage of the electrophoresis and a longer resolving gel to separate the proteins. The resolving gels contained 10% or 7.5 % acrylamide. Gels were typically run at either 180V for 3-4 hours or 30V overnight under constant-voltage conditions until the dye-front had reached the bottom of the gel. All gels were run with molecular weight markers.

2.10.6 Immunoblotting

After electophoresis, proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane by electrophoretic semi-dry blotting. Briefly, the SDS-PAGE gel, nitrocellulose membrane and 12 pieces of 3MM paper were soaked in transfer buffer and arranged between the blotter electrodes with 6 sheets of 3MM paper on either side of the gel/membrane sandwich oriented with the membrane on the cathode side of the gel. After gently excluding air bubbles from the paper/gel/membrane stack, the proteins were transferred for 1 h at a maximum current of 200mA and a maximum voltage of 20V for a gel of 140cm².

2.10.7 Antibody incubation and detection by ECL

Following the transfer, the nitrocellulose membrane was blocked in the appropriate blocking solution (either 5% (w/v) non-fat milk or 3% (w/v) BSA in wash buffer) for 1 hr at room temperature on a shaker. After blocking, the blots were probed with primary antibody diluted in blocking solution for either 1 h at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. After incubation in primary antibody, the blots where washed 3 times in wash buffer (15 min per wash) and were then incubated in horseradish peroxidase conjugated secondary antibody for 1 h at room temperature. After washing as described above, the blots were drained and incubated in fresh ECL reagent for 1 min with gentle agitation and were then wrapped in Saran-Wrap. The blots were placed in contact with X-ray film for a period of time sufficient to detect the light produced by the ECL reaction and the film was then processed in a Kodak automated processor.

2.10.8 Removing bound antisera from immunoblots.

Nitrocellulose blots which had been previously incubated in antisera were treated as follows to remove these bound antibodies prior to incubation with a different antiserum. The blot was firstly washed with immunoblot wash buffer to remove spent ECL reagent and was then incubated in immunoblot stripping buffer for 30 minutes at room temperature

on a gyratory shaker. At the end of this incubation, the blot was washed again and then blocked and incubated with the desired antibodies.

2.10.9 Immunoprecipitation of extracted proteins

Lysates prepared in RIPA where standardised for total protein content (0.25-1.0 mg). The IgG complexes were the collected by incubating for 1 hr at 4°C with 50 μ l of a 50% slurry of protein-A sepharose beads (coated with rabbit anti-mouse IgG for normal mouse IgG or left uncoated for rabbit serum). The immunoprecipitating IgG was incubated overnight at 4°C before collecting the IgG complexes with coated or uncoated protein-A sepharose beads as described above. The collected immune complexes were washed 5 times in RIPA lysis buffer before resuspending in 20 μ l of 3× sample buffer prior to electrophoresis and blotting.

2.10.10 Random cell migration

Cells grown on glass cover slips were transfected with Src251-GFP or GFP or cotransfected with SrcY527F and GFP or SrcMF and GFP to allow detection of the transfected cells. Following expression of the proteins microscopic images of the cells were acquired from a charged couple device camera and captured by Open Lab (improvision Software, UK) every 15 min over a 5 h period. The processed images were displayed rapidly as a movie and interactive tracking of cells with a mouse pointer resulted in the generation of cell trajectory. Calculations for the rate of cell migration were derived from the data set, with individual cell speed being calculated for each of the 20 consecutive images. The mean cell speed was then calculated for each lapse interval, and an overall figure derived for the 5 h period. Values are mean \pm S.E.M. of between 30 and 60 cells taken from at least 5 experiments.

2.10.11 Dunn chamber polarisation assay

Cells were co-transfected with SrcY527F and GFP or SrcMF and GFP for detection, or transfected with Src251-GFP or GFP alone. Cells were trypsinised 24 h post-transfection and plated onto coverslips at 1 x 10^5 in 35 mm plates for 1 h. Cells were then serum starved for 1 h and mounted on Dunn chambers with PDGF 10ng ml⁻¹ as chemoattractant (Allen et al., 1997; Allen et al., 1998). Microscopic images of the cells were acquired from

a charged couple device camera and captured by Open Lab every 15 min over a 5 h period. Criteria for calculating cells that remodelled their actin cytoskeleton were as follows. Cells that undergo a morphological shape change to form a leading lamellipodia and elongated tail directed towards the chemical gradient were included in the data set as positive polarising cells. Cells already demonstrating a cell polarity towards the chemical gradient were not included in the data set to reduce any false positives. Only cells that had random polarisation i.e, any cell out with the above criteria, or those with no obvious polarity at the beginning of the experiment were assessed over the 5 h period. The mean percentage of cells polarising along the chemical gradient for each transfected cell type was used to construct an overall figure for the 5 h period. The percentage of cells able to polarise was calculated from at least 5 independent experiments



2.10.12 Primary antisera dilutions used for immunofluorescence

Vinculin Clone VIN-11-51:100
N2-17 (endogenous Src)1:1000
Grb2 clone 811:400
Scar1:400
EC10 (Chicken specific Src)1:500
Myc 9E101:500
Anti-phospho FAK-Y9251:500
FAK clone 771:500
Conjugated Paxillin1:400

2.10.13 Secondary antisera dilutions used for immunofluorescence

Anti-mouse/FITC conjugated.....1:100

Anti-mouse/Texas red conjugated.....1:100

Anti-Rabbit/FITCconjugated.....1:100

Anti-Rabbit/Texas red conjugated.....1:100

2.10.14 Primary antisera dilutions used for immunoblotting and immuonprecipitation

Phosphotyrosine (PY20).....1:1000 (w)

Scar1:1000 (w), 4ug (IP)

Anti-phospho-Src-Y4161:1000 (w)

EC10.....1:1000 (w) 2ug (IP)

9E10 Conjugated mAb, was cross linked using DMP as described by manufacturer (PIERCE) (V Brunton) (200ug/ml).....10ug (IP)

FAK.....1:1000 (w) 5ul (IP)

Grb2.....1:1000 (w)

2.10.15 Secondary antisera dilutions used for Immunoblotting

Horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated anti - mouse or rabbit.....1:5000

2.10.16 Bacterial transformation and DNA extraction

 20μ l of competent DH5 α bacterial cells were aliquoted into chilled microfuge tubes. 1ul of diluted DNA was added to the cells and shaken to mix. The tubes were then paced on ice for 30 min, heat shocked for 40 seconds in a 42°C water bath, then placed back on ice. 80 μ l of L Broth was added to the cells and the microfuge tubes were left to shake at

225rpm for 1 Hour at 37°C. Afterwards, the cells were plated onto a L Broth plate containing the antibiotic for which the resistence gene is carried by the the transfected DNA.

DNA extraction was carried out using Qiagen plasmid prep kits. The concentration and purity of solutions of isolated DNA fragments or plasmids was determined spectrophotometrically using a Beckman DU650 spectrophotometer.

2.10.17 Routine Swiss 3T3 propagation

Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts were routinely grown on tissue culture treated dishes or flasks using DMEM supplemented with 10% foetal calf serum with tice-weekly medium changes and were never grown to confluence. These cells were maintained in a humid $37^{\circ}C/5\%$ CO₂ incubator. Adherent Swiss3T3 cells were subcultured as follows:

Fristly, the medium was aspirated off the cells and the monolayer was rinsed with PBS. The cells were thenincubated in 10 % trypsin solution and with occasional gentle agitation until the cells had detached. The cells were then resuspended in DMEM, counted and plated into cell culture flasks.

2.10.18 Swiss 3T3 fibroblast cyropreservation and recovery

Cyropreserved Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts were prepared as follows:

Swiss 3T3 were allowed to proliferate until they reached 70-80 % confluence. They were then trypsinised to remove then from culture plates. The cells were then rised with PBS and couted before resuspending in culture medium plus 7% DMSO at 1×10^6 cells/ml. This suspension was trasferred into cryotubes (1ml per vial) which were then wrapped in cotton wool and placed in a -70°C freezer overnight. The following day the cryotubes were immersed in liquid nitrogen for long term storage.

For recovery from storage in liquid nitrogen, cryotubes were rapidly immersed in water at approximately 37°C to thaw cells. The cell suspension was then immediately made up to a volume of 10 ml with culture medium and plated into a culture flask.



Chapter 3

3 Characterisation of Swiss 3T3 cells and Src251-GFP as tools to monitor c-Src targeting within the cell.

3.1 Purpose

The temporal and spatial localisation of Src has implications for the biological actions of Src kinase within the cell. As described previously (Kaplan et al., 1992) c-Src normally associates with endosomal membranes in the perinuclear region of the cell and upon activation translocates from there to its site of action in cellular adhesions by an actindependent mechanism. The aim of this study was to examine whether the distinct rearrangements of the actin cytoskeleton mediated by Rho-GTPases could influence the intracellular localisation of c-Src within the cell. The regulation of the actin cytoskeleton by the Rho family of GTPases RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 is well documented and readily manipulated in Swiss 3T3 cells (Hall, 1998; Nobes & Hall, 1995), making them an ideal model system in which to study their role in the intracellular targeting of c-Src. In this chapter we set out to determine whether the Swiss 3T3 fibroblast model was appropriate for studying the actin dependent targeting of c-Src.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Manipulation of the actin cytoskeleton in Swiss 3T3 cells

Activation of RhoA stimulates actomyosin-based contractility, which leads to the assembly of actin stress fibres and focal adhesions found at the end of stress fibres (Ridley & Hall, 1992) (Chrzanowska-Wodnicka & Burridge, 1996; Nobes & Hall, 1995). As documented previously (Ridley & Hall, 1992), we found that Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts grown in the presence of serum contain actin stress fibres that traverse the cell, as visualised following incubation with conjugated phalloidin (Figure 8a). This was also associated with the presence of prominent focal adhesions which are tethered at the ends of stress fibres and contain a number of proteins including, vinculin, paxillin and FAK, as visualised here using an anti-vinculin antibody (Figure 8b, solid arrows). Previous reports have demonstrated that deprivation of serum in Swiss 3T3 cells results in the loss of actin stress fibres within the cells (compare Figure 8 c and d) and loss

chapter 3

of focal adhesions (compare Figure 8b and 8e). We then used a molecular probe in cells serum starved for 48 h to confirm that stress fibre formation in Swiss 3T3 cells was a RhoA dependent event. Microinjection of a constitutively active Myc-tagged RhoA protein (V14RhoA), which is insensitive to RhoGAPs resulted in the formation of stress fibres in the absence of serum (Figure 9a,d compare broken arrows indicating cells expressing V14RhoA to solid arrows indicating non-injected cells). Cells expressing Myctagged V14RhoA were identified using an anti-Myc antibody (Figure 9a). It should be noted that manipulation of the actin cytoskeleton by RhoA had to be carried out in serumfree conditions as serum results in stress fibre assembly. We introduced RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 expression plasmids and Src251-GFP by transient transfection or microinjection and found there was no difference in the outcome between experiments using either method. Therefore, for convenience, transient transfection was used throughout, except in the experiments where we expressed the V14RhoA and N19RhoA proteins. Deprivation of serum in Swiss 3T3 cells results in the loss of actin stress fibres whose assembly is regulated by RhoA and manipulation of the actin cytoskeleton by Rho proteins was therefore carried out in serum-free conditions in which the transfection efficiency was very low. Expression of RhoGTPases was typically observed within 3-5 h post-microinjection.

Rac1 activation has been reported to lead to a distinct rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton resulting in localised actin polymerisation at the cell periphery, and the formation of lamellipodia (Nobes & Hall, 1995; Ridley et al., 1992). Transfection of constitutively active Myc-tagged Rac1 (L61Rac1) protein in growing cells (Figure 9b,e broken arrows) resulted in the rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton to produce lamellipodia while non-transfected cells (Figure 9e, solid arrow) had no lamellipodia. Similarly, Cdc42 activation is known to stimulate the formation small actin rich protrusions known as filopodia which emanate from the cell body (Kozma et al., 1995; Nobes & Hall, 1995) and transfection of a constitutively active Myc-tagged Cdc42 (V12Cdc42) protein in growing cells (Figure 9c,f broken arrows) resulted in the rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton to produce filopodia (Figure 9f, broken arrow) while non-transfected cells (Figure 9f, solid arrow) had no filopodia.

Disruption and breakdown of the actin cytoskeleton by serum starvation. Cells grown in the presence of 10 % serum (a-c) or were serum starved for 48 h to remove stress fibres (d,e). Solid arrows indicate vinculin staining. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (a,c,d) and vinculin using an anti-viculin antibody (b,e). Scale bars 25 μ m.



Actin

Serum



Vinculin





Actin



Actin



Vinculin

Specific activation of RhoGTPases using constitutively active RhoGTPases leads to distinct actin rearrangements. Cells were serum starved for 48h to remove stress fibres prior to microinjection of V14RhoA (a,d). Solid arrows indicate non-injected cells, while broken arrows indicate injected cell. Cells in the presence of serum were transfected with L61Rac (b,e), or transfected with V12Cdc42 (c,f). Broken arrows indicate expressing cells, while solid arrows indicate non-expressing cells. Cells expressing Rho-constructs were detected with a Myc-tag antibody (a-c), while actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (d-f). Scale bars 25 µm.







Myc



Myc



Мус



Actin

9



Actin



Actin

In fibroblasts activation of RhoGTPases by different transmembrane receptors has been reported to lead to distinct morphological rearrangements of the actin cytoskeleton (Hall, 1998). Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) for example, which is reported to be the active constituent in serum, causes stress fibre formation in a RhoA dependent manner (see section 1.3.2 Figure 5). We therefore addressed how activation of RhoA, using LPA, influenced the actin cytoskeleton in Swiss 3T3 cells and monitored adhesion complexes by staining cells with an anti-vinculin antibody. Treatment of cells with LPA resulted in stress fibre formation (Figure 10a), which was also associated with the localisation of vinculin at the cell periphery, in focal adhesions tethered at the ends of actin stress fibres (compare Figure 10d and Figure 8e). Both lamellipodia and filopodia contain focal complexes within their structures, which have been defined as small adhesion structures of indistinguishable protein composition from the larger focal adhesions as described above (Nobes & Hall, 1995). We therefore addressed how activation of Rac1 or Cdc42 using PDGF or bradykinin, could influence the actin cytoskeleton in Swiss 3T3 cells and monitored adhesion complex formation by staining cells with an anti-vinculin antibody. In our system cells were serum starved overnight for 16 h to reduce the heterogeneity amongst the cell population following growth factor stimulation. Cells serum starved for 16 h show only a slight reduction in stress fibre formation (compare Figure 10a and Figure10b) as opposed to 48 h serum starvation, which results in complete stress fibre loss (Figure 10c). The absence of serum 16 h prior to growth factor stimulation however enhances the actin remodelling induced by PDGF and Bradykinin resulting in a reduced heterogeneity amongst cells following stimulation (see Methods Section 2.10.1). Activation of Rac1 by PDGF resulted in the remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton to produce lamellipodia and a leading edge to the cell (Figure 10e, solid arrows) with small vinculin-containing complexes forming around the base of the lamellipodia (Figure 10h, solid arrows). Similar to these observations, we found that bradykinin stimulated the formation of actin microspikes at the cell periphery (Figure 10f, solid arrows) with small focal complexes forming at the base (Figure 10i, broken arrows) and along the length of the filopodia (Figure 10i, solid arrows).

We then set out to determine whether the actin cytoskeleton could be manipulated using pharmalogical intervention. Previous reports have demonstrated that similar to the effects of serum starvation, the addition of cytochalasin D which binds to the barbed end of actin monomers, disrupts the actin cytoskeleton and thereby results in the loss of actin stress fibres (Ridley & Hall, 1992Nobes, 1995 #402). Following treatment of cells with cytochalasin D, the reformation of stress fibres in response to serum (compare Figure 11a and b) or LPA (compare Figure 11c and d) was prevented.

Activation of RhoGTPases using external growth factors to manipulate the actin cytoskeleton. Cells serum-starved overnight to reduce heterogeneity amongst the cell population were stimulated with LPA (200 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (a,d), PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (b,e) or bradykinin (100 nM) for 5 min (c,f). Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (a-c) and vinculin using an anti-viculin antibody (d-f). Scale bars 25 μ m.



LPA







Actin

Actin

Actin



Vinculin

Vinculin

Vinculin

Disruption and breakdown of the actin cytoskeleton by pharmacological intervention. Cells serum starved for 48 h were stimulated with 10 % serum for 30 min (a) or LPA ($200 \text{ ng} \text{ ml}^{-1}$) for 30 min (c). Serum starved cells were pre-treated with 0.1 µg ml⁻¹ of cytochalasin D prior to serum (b) or LPA ($200 \text{ ng} \text{ ml}^{-1}$) (d) stimulation. (e-g) Cells in the presence of serum were co-microinjected with C3-transferase and IgG (for detection of injected cell). Broken arrows indicate injected cells, while solid arrows indicate non-injected cells. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (a-d,f,g), while cells microinjected with C3 transferase were detected using an anti-IgG antibody (e,g). Scale bars 25 µm.



Serum + cytochalasin D





LPA + cytochalasin D



C3 transferase



Anti-IgG

ł

Actin

Merge

chapter 3

More specific methods of inhibiting RhoGTPase-induced actin rearrangements have been reported. The clostridium botulinum exoenzyme C3-transferase for example, disrupts RhoA, B, and C induced stress fibres by ADP-ribosylation of Rho (Aktories & Hall, 1989; Verschueren et al., 1997). Co-microinjection of cells with C3-transferase protein and IgG (for detection of microinjected cells) (Figure 11e) into the cytoplasm caused the loss of stress fibres in the presence of serum as previously reported (Figure 11f,g) (Aktories & Hall, 1989). A more versatile method of inhibiting RhoA induced biological effects in the cell is by using the chemical inhibitor of ROCK Y-27632, which is a downstream effector of RhoA implicated in stress fibre formation (Kimura et al., 1996; Leung et al., 1996) (see Section 1.4.1). To verify the specificity of Y-27632 as an inhibitor of RhoA induced stress fibres, we treated cells with Y-27632 prior to serum, LPA, PDGF or bradykinin stimulation. Treatment of cells with Y-27632 caused the loss of stress fibres even though serum was present (compare Figure 12a and b). Moreover, cells incubated with Y-27632 were devoid of stress fibres even after stimulation with LPA (compare Figure 12c,d). However, cells stimulated with PDGF were able to form lamellipodia even in the presence of Y-27632 (compare Figure 12e and f). Similar results were observed in cells stimulated with bradykinin where filopodia can be seen emanating from the cell body even in the presence of Y-27632 (compare Figure 12g and h). Thus the Rho-kinase inhibitor in our system demonstrates specificity towards RhoA and not the other RhoGTPases Rac1 or Cdc42.

Dominant negative inhibitory mutants of RhoGTPases have been used extensively to establish the involvement of various RhoGTPases in a number of processes (Feig, 1999). Point mutations in the nucleotide binding pocket results in dominant negative RhoGTPases which directly compete with the respective endogenous Rho family member for its nucleotide exchange factor and inhibit the GTP exchange required for activity (see Introduction Section 1.3.1). These mutations result in a higher affinity binding potential of dominant negative RhoGTPases over their endogenous counterparts, and as they cannot bind downstream effectors they block the effect of RhoGTPases within the cell. Cells were serum starved for 48 h to remove stress fibres prior to microinjection of a dominant negative RhoA protein (N19RhoA). Expression of (N19RhoA), as detected by a Myc-tag antibody (Figure 13a), prevented the reformation of stress fibres in response to serum (Figure 13b, compare transfected cell, broken arrow to non-expressing cells, solid arrows). Expression of dominant negative Rac1, as detected using a Myc-tag antibody (Figure 13c, broken arrow), blocked the formation of actin bundling and lamellipodia in response to PDGF, confirming that the dominant negative Rac1 construct was working and that PDGF is acting through Rac1 (Figure 13d, compare expressing cell broken arrow to non-

chapter 3

expressing cells, solid arrows). Furthermore, the expression of a dominant negative Cdc42 protein (N17Cdc42) as detected using a Myc-tag antibody (Figure 12e, broken arrow), blocked the formation of filopodia in response to bradykinin (Figure 12f, solid arrow), confirming that the dominant negative Cdc42 is working and that bradykinin is acting through Cdc42 to form filopodia (Figure 12f, compare transfected cell broken arrow to non-transfected cells solid arrows).

Thus the regulation of the actin cytoskeleton by both external stimuli and the use of molecular and pharmacological probes to modulate the respective Rho-GTPases is indistinguishable from previous reports in Swiss 3T3 cells (Hall, 1998; Nobes & Hall, 1995; Ridley & Hall, 1992). The ability to specifically manipulate the actin cytoskeleton in these cells provides a useful system in which to examine the influence of the actin cytoskeleton and in particular the role of RhoGTPases in c-Src localisation.

Y-27632 specifically inhibits RhoA mediated actin remodelling without effecting Racl or Cdc42. Cells were placed in serum-free conditions overnight, which did not abolish stress fibres but acted to reduce the heterogeneity in the population prior to stimulation. Cells were subsequently treated with (b,d,f,h) or without (a,c,e,g) Y-27632 prior to stimulation with serum for 30 min (a,b), LPA (200 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (c,d), PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (e,f) of bradykinin (100 nM) for 5 min (g,h). Arrows indicate lamellipodia or filopodia respectively. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin. Scale bars 25 μ m.

Figure 12 Serum (-Y-27632)



LPA (-Y-27632)



PDGF (-Y-27632)



Bradykinin (-Y-27632)



Serum (+Y-27632)



LPA (+Y-27632)



PDGF (+Y-27632)



Bradykinin (+Y-27632)



Expression of dominant negative RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 in cells inhibit the morphological actin structure induced by serum, PDGF or bradykinin stimulation respectively. Cells were serum starved for 48 h to remove stress fibres prior to microinjection of N19RhoA (a,b). Cells in the presence of serum were transfected with N17Rac (c,d) or N17Cdc42 (e,f) and stimulated with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (c,d) or bradykinin (100 nM) for 5 min (e,f). Solid arrows indicate non-expressing cells, while broken arrows indicate expressing cell. Scale bars 25 μ m.

Serum





Myc



Actin







Мус



Actin



8

bradykinin



Actin

3.2.2 Characterisation of Src251-GFP as a tool to monitor c-Src localisation in Swiss 3T3 cells.

Early observations demonstrate that c-Src is readily found in the perinuclear region of the cell where it co-localises with endosomal membrane structures (David-Pfeuty & Singer, 1980; Kaplan et al., 1992; Nigg et al., 1982). v-Src however, is abundant in both the perinuclear region of the cell and in focal adhesions (Burr et al., 1980; Nigg et al., 1982). The apparent difference in sub-cellular localisation of c-Src and v-Src led to the proposal that mutations, particularly in the C-terminal sequences of v-Src may be responsible for the altered distribution of v-Src (see Figure 1). Mutation of tyrosine-527 to phenylalainine in c-Src, which results in catalytic activation, as well as release of constraints on the SH3 and SH2 domains, led to c-Src being constitutively associated with focal adhesions (Kaplan et al., 1994). However, mutational analysis revealed that the kinase activity of c-Src was not required for its focal adhesion localisation and that domains within the first 251 residues of c-Src (Src251) were sufficient for its focal adhesion targeting. When expressed in cells, Myc-tagged Src251 was constitutively associated with focal adhesions (Kaplan et al., 1994). We have used a green fluorescent protein (GFP) fused to the first 251 amino acids of c-Src (Src251-GFP), to monitor Src localisation within the cell by direct fluorescence. This construct comprises the c-Src myristylation site, unique region and Src homology domains (SH3 and SH2), coupled to GFP, which replaces the kinase and regulatory domains at the carboxy-terminus (Figure 14). In this section we set out to characterise the behaviour of Src251-GFP in our Swiss 3T3 cells and to determine whether the localisation of Src251-GFP is regulated by the actin cytoskeleton, as has been previously described for v-Src in fibroblasts (Fincham et al., 1996). Moreover we wanted to establish whether the coupling of Src251 to GFP interferes with its targeting within the cell.

3.2.3 Translocation of Src251-GFP to focal adhesions is dependent on the actin cytoskeleton

The translocation of Src251-GFP to the cell periphery is not regulated by intramolecular constraints and under culture conditions in which serum is present, Src251-GFP is therefore found at the cell periphery. As described earlier removal of serum from Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts for 48 h, results in a loss of actin stress fibres (Figure 11a and 15b). When Src251-GFP was micro-injected into serum-starved Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts, which have no stress fibres, it was located in the perinuclear region of the cell (Figure 15a,c, broken arrow). Treatment of serum starved cells with the actin disrupting drug cytochalasin D,

prevented both the reformation of the actin stress fibres in response to serum (compare Figure 15e to Figure 16a) as well as the translocation of Src251-GFP from the perinuclear region of the cell to peripheral focal adhesions (Figure 15g, broken arrow). In the presence of serum Src251-GFP was found in sites at the ends of actin stress fibres (Figure 16a,c), where it co-localised with the focal adhesion protein vinculin (Figure 16d-f) and paxillin (Figure 16g-i). This demonstrates that the targeting of Src251-GFP to focal adhesions is dependent on an intact actin cytoskeleton.
Src251-GFP construct. Schematic representation of the structural domains of Src251-GFP (a). Anti-Src western blot of lysates derived from Swiss 3T3 cells expressing Src251-GFP or empty vector (b).



Translocation of Src251-GFP to focal adhesions is dependent on the actin cytoskeleton. Cells were serum starved for 48 h prior to microinjection of Src251-GFP (a-c). Cells serumstarved for 48h were microinjected with Src251-GFP and were pre-treated with 0.1 μ g ml⁻¹ d cytochalasin D for 2 h before protein expression and serum stimulation (e-g). Solid arrows indicate non-expressing cells, while broken arrows indicate expressing cells. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c,f,g) and Src251-GFP was localised by direct fluorescence (a,c,e,g). Scale bars 25 μ m.

Serum starved

Src251-GFP

Actin

Merge



Serum + cytochalasin D



In the presence of serum Src251-GFP associates with focal adhesions. Cells were serun starved to remove stress fibres prior to microinjection of Src251-GFP. Cells serum-starved for 48 hr were microinjected with Src251-GFP and following expression of the protein were stimulated with 10% serum for 30 min (a-i), where it was found at the ends of actin fibres (a-c) or co-localising with vinculin (d-f) or paxillin (g-i). Arrows indicate Src251-GFP and vinculin staining. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c), while vinculin (e,f) or paxillin (h,i) were visualised using anti-vinculin or anti-paxillin antibodies. Src251-GFP was detected in the same cell by direct fluorescence. Scale bars 25 μm.

Src251-GFP

Actin

Merge



Src251-GFP



Merge



3.2.4 Discussion.

The regulation of the actin cytoskeleton by both external stimuli and the use of molecular probes to modulate the respective RhoGTPases in this study was indistinguishable from previous reports in Swiss 3T3 cells (Hall, 1998; Nobes & Hall, 1995; Ridley & Hall, 1992). Different protocols were used in previous studies; cells were plated at low density and after 6-10 days, when the cell were quiescent, they were serum starved in 0.2 % serum overnight (16 h) which resulted in the loss of stress fibres. In this study, cells were grown for one day after plating and subsequently serum starved for 48 h in serum free medium to induce stress fibre disassembly. Both methods appear to induce similar morphological changes in the actin cytoskeleton.

The disruption and breakdown of the actin cytoskeleton by serum starvation or pharmocological intervention by cytochalasin D have been validated in our system (Ridley & Hall, 1992). Treatment of cells with the Rho-kinase inhibitor blocked both LPA and serum induced stress fibres as previously described by others (Kimura et al., 1996; Leung et al., 1996). Y-27632, however, has also been reported to inhibit protein kinase C related kinase 2 (PRK2) in vitro as effectively as ROCK (Kimura et al., 1996; Leung et al., 1996; Uehata et al., 1997). PRK2 is also a RhoA effector (see Figure 6 Section 1.3.3) but with different substrate specificity to ROCK. We cannot therefore rule out the possibility that Y-27632 is inhibiting other kinases than ROCK. However, in the context of these experiments we have shown that treatment with Y-27632 results in the loss of stress fibres and does not effect Rac1 or Cdc42-induced actin remodelling, implying that it is a suitable and versatile tool to block RhoA activity without altering Rac1 or Cdc42-induced actin rearrangements. Dominant negative inhibitory mutants of RhoGTPases have been used extensively to elucidate the involvement of various RhoGTPases in a number of processes (Feig, 1999). The use of dominant negative RhoGTPases and interpretation of results using these mutants however has to be met with some caution. Dominant negative RhoGTPases directly compete with the respective endogenous Rho family member for its nucleotide exchange factor (see Introduction section 1.3.1). Due to the high affinity binding potential of dominant negative RhoGTPases over their endogenous counterparts, they block the effect of RhoGTPases in the cell, by inhibiting GTP exchange required for activity. One concern therefore, is that these mutants inhibit the GEF activity towards RhoGTPases rather than the RhoGTPases themselves. As discussed in the introduction (see Section 1.3.1) many of the nucleotide exchange factors for RhoGTPases activate multiple Rho family members. Therefore, expression of one dominant negative Rho-

110

family member may be expected to block the activation of other members. Other methods of RhoGTPase activation have been reported to bypass this GEF-dependent activation pathway (Feig, 1999) and therefore using dominant negative mutants to block this pathway may lead to a misinterpretation of results, without caution. RhoA for example, has been shown to be activated by the RhoGEF, p115 RhoGEF however recent evidence has shown RhoA can also be activated directly by Gâã or PYK2 thereby bypassing the GEF-dependent activation pathway leading to an ineffective inhibition of RhoA (see Section 1.3.3) (Shi et al., 2000; Ueda et al., 2000). In the context of our experiments, however, expression of individual inhibitory mutants such as N19RhoA, N17Rac1 and N17Cdc42 has resulted in a remarkably specific phenotype, a property which has been frequently reported by others (Feig, 1999; Hall, 1998).

The external stimuli LPA, PDGF and bradykinin are well documented to specifically induce the activity of the respective RhoGTPases RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 by modulating the activity of GEFs (see Section 1.3.1), which have specific GDP-GTP exchange activity towards the specific Rho family members. The specificity of these external stimuli towards their respective RhoGTPase has previously been illustrated, both by the distinct actin structures produced upon stimulation and by directly measuring the GTP-bound (active) state of each family member after stimulation (Hall, 1998; Nobes & Hall, 1995; Ren et al., 1999; Ridley & Hall, 1992; Ridley et al., 1992). The external stimuli used here are therefore suitable to modulate the activity of RhoGTPases within Swiss 3T3 cells and thereby serve as versatile tools to examine their influence on c-Src localisation. To compliment this, a more specific method of altering the individual RhoGTPase activity was also employed by expressing constitutively active mutants of the respective RhoGTPases. These mutants mimic the permanently active GTP-bound state of the proteins, as a result of insensitivity to GAP activity, (Van Aelst & D'Souza-Schorey, 1997). As described above the morphological rearrangements of the actin cytoskeleton were indistinguishable from earlier reports in which constitutively activated RhoGTPase proteins were microinjected into the cytoplasm of serum starved, quiescent cells.

We can therefore conclude that manipulation of the cytoskeletal network in the Swiss 3T3 fibroblast cells in our hands is comparable to previous reports used to assess and analyse the role of RhoGTPases and is therefore a suitable model in which to examine the influence of the actin cytoskeleton and in particular the role of RhoGTPases in c-Src localisation.

111

The use of GFP to detect proteins by direct fluorescence has provided unprecedented insight into the localisation of proteins, that may otherwise, not have been observed by more conventional methods. The fusion of GFP to proteins has been shown in most cases not to interfere with the behaviour of the proteins in question. GFP tagged vinculin or actin for example, have frequently been used to monitor adhesion and actin dynamics in real time during cell migration (Small et al., 1995; Small et al., 1999; Small et al., 2002; Westphal et al., 1997). The potential for examining Src251-GFP localisation in real time during cell migration and stimuli-induced actin remodelling will be discussed later (Chapter 7, Future work). Here we conclude, firstly, that the addition of GFP to the C-terminal end of Src251, like the addition of a Myc tag (Kaplan et al., 1994), did not interfere with its translocation to focal adhesions. Moreover, a recent study monitoring integrin-dependent traction forces important for cell migration, utilised Src251-GFP and did not report any alterations in the known activity and behaviour of this protein compared to Src251 alone (Felsenfeld et al., 1999).

The localisation of v-Src and c-Src to the cell periphery in fibroblasts and the localisation of c-Src to cell-cell junctions in epithelial cells requires an intact actin cytoskeletal network (Fincham et al., 1996; Owens et al., 2000). Moreover, other ubiquitously expressed family members such as Yes and Fyn have also been shown to translocate to cell-cell adhesions in an actin dependent manner (Owens et al., 2000). In this study we have shown that the peripheral localisation to focal adhesions of Src251-GFP, a fusion protein that contains the Src SH3 and SH2 domains but has no kinase domain, is also dependent on an intact actin cytoskeleton. These results imply that Src251-GFP is a useful tool to monitor the control of c-Src intracellular targeting by direct fluorescence.

3.3 Summary

In this chapter we have demonstrated that the Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts can be used to examine the influence of the actin cytoskeleton and in particular the role RhoGTPases play in c-Src localisation. Furthermore, we have characterised Src251-GFP in these cells and demonstrated it to be a valuable tool to monitor c-Src within the cell. We therefore set out to assess whether RhoGTPases play a key role in the spatial regulation of c-Src.

Chapter 4

4 Co-ordinated regulation of the actin cytoskeleton by RhoGTPases spatially regulates Src targeting to the cell periphery.

4.1 Purpose

We have shown in the previous chapter, that the Rho family GTPases Cdc42, Rac1 and RhoA can be manipulated in Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts, by stimulation of transmembrane receptors or by molecular intervention to produce morphologically distinct actin structures. Co-ordination of this actin remodelling and these structures has been implicated in cell motility by providing both the protrusive and contractile forces required for cell migration (Chrzanowska-Wodnicka & Burridge, 1996; Hall, 1998). The role however of RhoGTPases in controlling the temporal and spatial localisation of proteins has not been fully elucidated. The purpose of this chapter was to test the hypothesis that RhoGTPases serve a central role in the spatial regulation of proteins, such as Src, thereby serving to regulate their action within the cell.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Localisation of Src251-GFP to specific peripheral sites is under the control of Rho family GTPases.

Previously we demonstrated that the translocation of v-Src to focal adhesions is under the control of RhoA (Fincham et al., 1996). Furthermore, as treatment with serum, which activates RhoA, resulted in translocation of Src251-GFP from a perinuclear location to focal adhesions (Figure 16), we used molecular and pharmacological intervention to determine whether this was a RhoA-dependent event. Expression of a constitutively active RhoA protein (V14RhoA) in cells resulted in the formation of stress fibres in the absence of serum (Figure 17a). In Figure 17, the broken arrow indicates a cell expressing V14RhoA where stress fibres are present whereas the non-expressing cell (solid arrow) had no visible stress fibres. Cells expressing Src251-GFP and V14RhoA where detected using direct fluorescence by Src251-GFP. Co-expression of V14RhoA with Src251-GFP was sufficient to localise Src to the cell periphery (Figure 17b, broken arrow), were it targeted to the ends of actin stress fibres (Figure 17c, broken arrow). Expression of V14RhoA in

serum starved cells also induced the formation of prominent focal adhesions (Figure 17d). The broken arrow indicates a cell expressing V14RhoA where the focal adhesion protein vinculin was located, whereas the non-expressing cells (solid arrows) had weak focal adhesion staining. Co-expression of Src251-GFP with V14RhoA (Figure 17e) resulted in the co-localisation of Src with the focal adhesion protein vinculin (Figure 17f).

As described in Chapter 3 (see Section 3.1.1), Rac1 activation leads to localised actin polymerisation at the cell periphery resulting in the formation of lamellipodia (Figure 9b,e) (Nobes & Hall, 1995; Ridley et al., 1992). We therefore addressed how activation of Rac1 influenced the localisation of Src251-GFP within the cell. Cells in the presence of serum (i.e. a RhoA stimuli) were co-transfected with L61Rac1 and Src251-GFP. Expression of an activated Rac1 protein (L61Rac1) resulted in the formation of lamellipodia (Figure 18a, broken arrow) and co-expression of Src251-GFP with L61Rac1 resulted in the localisation of Src251-GFP to the Rac1-induced peripheral lamellipodia (Figure 18b,c, broken arrows). Both lamellipodia and filopodia contain small focal complexes within their structures, which have been defined as small focal adhesion structures (see Chapter 3) (Nobes & Hall, 1995). In conjuction with the actin rearrangement described for Rac1 and Cdc42 (see Chapter 3 Figure 9b,e and c,f) there is also thought to be a dynamic remodelling and breakdown of focal adhesions to focal complexes during lamellipodia or filopodia formation (Laukaitis et al., 2001). In cells expressing activated Rac1 protein, vinculin localised to small focal complexes at the leading edge of the cell (Figure 18d, broken arrows) (Nobes & Hall, 1995) where it co-localised with Src251-GFP (Figure 18e,f, broken arrows). However, in cells not expressing activated Rac1 (Figure18d, solid arrow) vinculin was located in larger discrete structures representing focal adhesions due to the presence of serum, which as described above induces RhoA activity causing both stress fibres formation and focal adhesion assembly. This therefore demonstrates that in parallel with the remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton, lamellipodia formation is associated with the loss of focal adhesions and the formation of smaller focal complexes to which Src251-GFP is located.

Similar to these observations we found that expression of a constitutively active Cdc42 protein (V12Cdc42) induced the formation of filopodia (Figure 19a, broken arrows show expressing cell) and co-expression of Src251-GFP with activated Cdc42 induced some of the expressed Src251-GFP to move from the perinuclear region of the cell to membrane regions at the base of filopodia (Figure 19b). At enhanced resolution (Figure 19c, inset) it can be seen in distinct complexes spaced along the actin filopodia (solid arrows, inset).

115

Similar to the observations with the expression of activated Rac1, we found that activated Cdc42 induced focal adhesion re-modelling to produce focal complexes along the base and length of the filopodia (Figure 19 d,e and see Chapter 3 Figure 10). Src251-GFP co-localised with vinculin (Figure 19f), in both focal adhesion complexes at the base of filopodia (Figure 19f, broken arrows, inset) and in complexes spaced along filopodia (Figure 19f, solid arrow).

Src localisation to focal adhesions is under the control of RhoA mediated stress fibres. Cells were serum starved for 48 h to remove stress fibres prior to co-microinjection of V14RhoA and Src251-GFP (broken arrows). Solid arrow indicates non-injected cells. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (a), while vinculin (d) was visualised using an antivinculin antibody. Src251-GFP was detected in the same cells by direct fluorescence (b,e) with merged images shown in (c, f). Scale bars 25 µm.

Actin

Src251GFP





Vinculin

Src251-GFP

Merge



Src localisation to lamellipodia is under the control of Rac mediated actin remodelling Cells in the presence of serum were co-transfected with L61Rac and Src251-GFP. Broken arrows indicate transfected cells while solid arrows indicate non-transfected cells. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (a,c), while vinculin (d,f) was visualised using an antivinculin antibody. Src251-GFP was detected in the same cells by direct fluorescence (b,e,c,f). Scale bars 25 μ m.

Actin



Src251-GFP



Merge



vinculin

Src251-GFP

Merge



Src localisation to filopodia is under the control of Cdc42 mediated actin remodelling Cells in the presence of serum were co-transfected with V12Cdc42 and Src251-GFP. Broken arrows indicate transfected cells while solid arrows indicate filopodia. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (a,c), while vinculin (d,f) was visualised using an anti-vinculin antibody. Src251-GFP was detected in the same cell by direct fluorescence (b,e,c,f). Scale bars 25 µm.



Vinculin



Src251-GFP



Merge



4.2.2 Localisation of endogenous or wt-Src by RhoGTPases is indistinguishable from the targeting of Src251-GFP.

To eliminate the possibility that the localisation of Src251-GFP to the peripheral sites described above was a consequence of over-expression of a mutated c-Src protein, we set out to relate the observed targeting of Src251-GFP to the endogenous protein. We were able to demonstrate the presence of endogenous Src in focal adhesions in response to LPA (Figure 20a), where it was found at the ends of actin stress fibres (Figure 20b). Stimulation of cells with PDGF, which activates Rac1, was sufficient to induce re-localisation of endogenous Src to lamellipodia (Figure 20c), where it co-localised with actin bundles (Figure 20d). It was difficult to visualise endogenous Src in filopodia following stimulation with bradykinin which is most likely due to problems in detecting low levels of endogenous proteins in such small structures. However, this could be over come by expressing full length wild type Src protein (wt-Src) in the cells (Figure 21a). Treatment of cells over-expressing wt-Src with bradykinin resulted in Src being readily seen at the base of filopodia (Figure 21b) and at enhanced resolution along the length of the filopodia (Figure 21b, inset). Treatment with LPA also resulted in the localisation of wt-Src at the cell periphery (Figure 21d), at the end of actin stress fibres (Figure 21e), while PDGF stimulation of cells expressing wt-Src resulted in its localisation to lamellipodia (Figure 21f), where it co-localised with actin bundles (Figure 21g).

In this section we have shown that the peripheral localisation of Src251-GFP, a fusion protein that contains Src's SH3 and SH2 domains but has no kinase domain, to focal adhesions, is dependent on RhoA-mediated assembly of actin stress fibres. Furthermore the Rho family proteins Rac1 and Cdc42 direct the precise intracellular targeting of Src to other functional structures such as lamellipodia and filopodia respectively. The data presented here on the targeting of endogenous and wild type Src implies that the control of Src251-GFP targeting is the same as for endogenous Src or the expression of wild type Src. This validates the use of Src251-GFP as a tool for following c-Src targeting within the cell.

4.2.3 Molecular or pharmacological inhibition of RhoA blocks Src targeting to focal adhesions.

Experiments in which cells expressing the Myc-tagged N19RhoA, proteins were detected using a Myc-tag antibody revealed that in all cases co-injection or co-transfection of Src251-GFP and the Rho family proteins resulted in the expression of both proteins, thus

allowing the use of the GFP tag to visualise the expressing cells by direct fluorescence. Cells were serum starved for 48 h to remove stress fibres (see Chapter 3 Section 3.2.1), prior to microinjection of a dominant negative RhoA protein (N19RhoA) and Src251-GFP. As described in Chapter 3, expression of N19RhoA prevented the reformation of stress fibres in response to serum. Co-expression of Src251-GFP with N19RhoA resulted in the inhibition of stress fibre assembly in response to serum as a result of N19RhoA expression (Figure 22b). The broken arrow shows a cell expressing N19RhoA, which is consequently devoid of actin stress fibres and in which Src251-GFP remained perinuclear (Figure 22a,c), while non-expressing cells have reformed stress fibres in response to serum (Figure 22b,c solid arrows). This was in contrast to Src's location at peripheral focal adhesions in cells stimulated with serum in the absence of N19RhoA (Figure 22d,f), where it was found at the ends of stress fibres (Figure 22e,f broken arrows).

Localisation of endogenous Src by RhoGTPases is indistinguishable from the targeting of Src251-GFP. Cells were placed in serum-free conditions overnight, which did not abolish stress fibres but acted to reduce the heterogeneity in the population following growth factor stimulation. These cells were then stimulated with LPA (200 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (a,b) of PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (c,d) and endogenous Src visualised using the N2-17 Sr antibody (a,c) and actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,d). Scale bars 25 μ m.



LPA



PDGF

endogenous Src





Localisation of wt-Src by RhoGTPases is indistinguishable from the targeting of Src25l-GFP. Anti-Src western blot of lysates derived from Swiss 3T3 cells expressing wt-Src and vector alone (a). Cells were transfected with wt-Src and following expression of the protein were placed in serum-free conditions overnight (b-g). Cells were then stimulated with bradykinin (100 nM) for 5 min (b,c), LPA (200 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (d,e) or PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (f,g). Exogenously expressed Src was visualised using the chicken specific Src EC10 antibody (b,d,f) and actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (c,e,g). Scale bars 25 μm.









wt-Src





wt-Src





Actin



Expression of dominant negative RhoA in cells blocks Src targeting to focal adhesions. Cells were serum starved for 48 h to remove stress fibres prior to microinjection of Src251-GFP and N19RhoA (a-c) or microinjection of Src251-GFP alone (d-f). Following expression of the proteins, cells were then stimulated with 10% serum for 30 min (a-f). Broken arrows indicate microinjected cells while solid arrows are non-expressing cells. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c,e,f). Src251-GFP was detected by direct fluorescence (a,c,d,f). Scale bars 25 µm.



Src251-GFP

Actin

Merge



As described in Chapter 3 (see section 3.2.1), Y-27632 is a chemical inhibitor of Rhokinase (Uehata et al., 1997), which is a downstream effector of RhoA implicated in stress fibre formation (Kimura et al., 1996; Leung et al., 1996). We have described in this study that treatment of cells with Y-27632 specifically block RhoA-induced stress fibre formation, while Rac1 and Cdc42-induced actin rearrangements were unaffected in the presence of the inhibitor. We therefore used Y-27632 to further establish whether Src's peripheral targeting was a RhoA dependent process. Following transfection, cells were treated with Y-27632 prior to expression of Src251-GFP. Under these conditions the cells were devoid of stress fibres even though serum was present (Figure 23a) and translocation of Src251-GFP to peripheral focal adhesions in response to serum was blocked (Figure 23b,c, broken arrow). As in cells expressing N19RhoA, Src251-GFP remained in the perinuclear region of the cell. Furthermore treatment of cells with Y-27632 prior to expression of Src251-GFP and LPA stimulation resulted in the loss of stress fibres (Figure 23d) and consequently blocked the translocation of Src251-GFP to peripheral focal adhesions in response to LPA stimulation (Figure 23e,f). This was in direct contrast to its localisation at peripheral focal adhesions in cells stimulated with LPA alone (Figure 23g), where it is found at the tips of actin stress fibres (Figure 23h,i). In Chapter 3 (see Section 3.3) it was suggested that Y-27632 may inhibit other kinases than ROCK. However, in the context of these experiments we have shown that treatment with Y-27632 blocks RhoAinduced stress fibres without effecting Rac1 or Cdc42 induced actin remodelling (see Chapter 3 Section 3.2.1). Moreover, this taken together with the ability of N19RhoA to block the translocation of Src251-GFP to focal adhesions leads to the conclusion that the actin-dependent localisation of Src251-GFP to focal adhesions is controlled by RhoA.

The Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632 blocks RhoA-dependent targeting of Src to focal adhesions. Cells were transfected with Src251-GFP and prior to expression were incubated with Y-27632 (10 μ M). Cells were then stimulated with 10% serum for 30 min (a-c) or LPA (200 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (d-f). Cells serum starved for 48 h were microinjected with Src251-GFP and were stimulated with LPA (200 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min in the absence of Y-27632 (g-l). Broken arrows indicate expressing cells. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidn (a,c,d,f,g,i) and Src251-GFP was detected by direct fluorescence (b,c,e,f,h,i). Scale bars 25 μ m.



LPA (+ Y-27632)

e



d

Src251-GFP



LPA (- Y-27632) Src251-GFP



4.2.4 Co-ordinated regulation of the actin cytoskeleton by RhoGTPases controls the intracellular targeting of Src to lamellipodia.

There has previously been a great deal of evidence demonstrating cross-talk between Rho family GTPases (see Introduction Section 1.4.3). Work in Swiss 3T3 cells in particular has suggested that a hierarchical cascade exists between these proteins such that Cdc42 can activate Rac1 which in turn can activate RhoA (Hall, 1998; Nobes & Hall, 1995), while others have reported antagonistic behaviour between Rho-GTPases (Zondag et al., 2000) (Leeuwen et al., 1997; Rottner et al., 1999; Sander et al., 1998). The role of the individual RhoGTPases in the sub-cellular targeting of c-Src was therefore investigated.

We and others have previously shown that PDGF stimulates the formation of lamellipodia at the cell periphery (Fincham et al., 1996; Hall, 1998) via a Rac1 dependent mechanism (Nobes & Hall, 1995; Nobes et al., 1995; Ridley et al., 1992). We have also demonstrated that both endogenous Src, wt-Src and Src251-GFP localise to lamellipodia following treatment with PDGF (see Chapter 3). To address the relationship between RhoA and Rac1 signalling in the localisation of c-Src to lamellopodia, we stimulated cells with PDGF to activate Rac1, while inhibiting the formation of stress fibres and RhoA activity, by treating the cells with Y-27632. Y-27632 was added to the cells prior to expression of Src251-GFP resulting in loss of stress fibres (Figure 24a). After stimulation with PDGF, Src251-GFP remained perinuclear (Figure 24b,c, broken arrows) and did not translocate to lamellipodia at the cell periphery, although the shape of the cell did change in response to PDGF to form lamellipodia (Figure 24a,c, solid arrows). Consistent with this, when we co-expressed constitutively active Rac1 (V12Rac1) with Src251-GFP, in the presence of Y-27632 there was no relocalisation of Src from the perinuclear region (Figure 24e,f, broken arrows), although the transfected cells were still able to form lamellipodia (Figure 25d,f solid arrows). However, if Y-27632 was washed out prior to stimulation with PDGF, hence allowing RhoA-induced stress fibres to re-form, Src251-GFP localised to lamellipodia (Figure 25a, solid arrows), where it co-localised with actin bundles at the leading edge of the cell (Figure 25b,c). This implies that RhoA activity is partially involved in targeting of Src from a perinuclear location to lamellipodia. To verify that the Rho kinase inhibitor Y-27632 had been removed after the washing procedure, cells were incubated with Y-27632, fixed and incubated with conjugated phalloidin before (Figure 25d) or after washing cells with serum (Figure 25e). Cells after the washing procedure had reformed stress fibres in response to serum (Figure 25e) in contrast to cells in the presence of Y-27632 that remained devoid of stress fibres (Figure 25d).

To further investigate the relationship between RhoA and Rac1 in c-Src localisation, we stimulated cells with PDGF while inhibiting Rac1 activity in the presence of serum (ie RhoA stimuli). As demonstrated in the previous chapter (see Section 3.2.1) expression of dominant negative Rac1 blocked the formation of actin bundling and lamellipodia in response to PDGF. Co-expression of Src251-GFP with dominant negative N17Rac1 therefore blocked the formation of lamellipodia in response to PDGF (Figure 26a,b). No lamellipodia were formed in cells expressing N17Rac1, (Figure 26a,b broken arrow as compared to the non-transfected cells, solid arrows). Although cells expressing N17Rac1 did not form lamellipodia, these cells still contained actin stress fibres (due to the presence of serum) and Src251-GFP was consequently located at the ends of these stress fibres in peripheral focal adhesions (Figure 26c, broken arrow). Thus Rac1 drives the targeting of c-Src to lamellipodia, but is not involved in the initial movement of c-Src from the cell interior to the cell periphery, which is mediated by RhoA-dependent formation of stress fibres.

Addition of the Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632, prior to PDGF stimulation or Racl expression impairs stress fibre formation and retains Src251-GFP in a perinuclear location during lamellipodia formation. Cells were transfected with Src251-GFP and prior to expression of the protein were treated overnight with Y-27632 to abolish stress fibres. The cells were then stimulated with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (a-c). Cells were co-transfected with Src251-GFP and L61Rac and prior to expression of the proteins were treated overnight with Y-27632 to abolish stress fibres (d-f). Solid arrows indicate the localisation of lamellipodia while the broken arrows show the perinuclear localisation of Src251-GFP. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (a,c,d,f) and Src251-GFP was detected by direct fluorescence (b,c,e,f). Scale bars 25 µm.



Actin

Src251-GFP

Merge



Removal of the inhibitory effect of Y-27632 allows stress fibre re-formation and PDGF induced targeting of Src to lamellipodia. Cells were transfected with Src251-GFP and prior to expression of the protein were treated overnight with Y-27632 to abolish stress fibres. The cells were then stimulated with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min following wash out of the Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632 (a-c). Cells were treated with Y-27632 fixed and incubated with conjugated phalloidin before (d) or after (e) removal of Y-27632 by washing the cells with serum containing medium. Arrows indicate Src251-GFP co-localising with actin in lamellipodia. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b-e) and Src251-GFP was detected by direct fluorescence (a,c). Scale bars 25 μ m.

PDGF following removal of Y-27632

Src251-GFP



Merge







Serum prior to removal of Y-27632





Serum following removal of Y-27632




Inhibition of Rac1 blocks the formation and targeting of Src to lamellipodia but has no effect on Src's peripheral targeting from a perinuclear location to focal adhesions. Cells in the presence of serum were co-transfected with Src251-GFP and N17Rac and then stimulated with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min. Solid arrows show the localisation of lamellipodia in non-transfected cells, while the broken arrow shows a cell expressing N17Rac and Src251-GFP. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c). Src251-GFP was detected by direct fluorescence (a,c). Scale bars 25 μm.

PDGF

N17Rac-1 + Src251-GFP



Src251-GFP







4.2.5 Co-ordinated regulation of actin cytoskeleton by RhoGTPases controls the intracellular targeting of Src to filopodia.

Based on work from the previous section we carried out similar experiments to define the relationship between RhoA and Cdc42. As discussed earlier bradykinin stimulates the formation of actin microspikes, known as filopodia, at the cell periphery, by a Cdc42mediated pathway (Kozma et al., 1995; Nobes & Hall, 1995). Addition of bradykinin to Y-27632 treated cells resulted in the formation of filopodia seen as small actin microspikes (Figure 27a, solid arrows) or vinculin containing focal complexes protruding from the cell body (Figure 27d, solid arrows). Under these conditions Src251-GFP remained perinuclear (Figure 27b,c and e,f, broken arrows). Similarly, when we co-expressed constitutively active Cdc42 (V12Cdc42) with Src251-GFP, in the presence of Y-27632 there was no relocalisation of Src from the perinuclear region (Figure 28a,c and d,f, broken arrows), although the transfected cells were still able to form filopodia (Figure 28b,e). Broken arrows show perinuclear Src localisation and solid arrows show actin containing filopodia. However, as shown previously for PDGF, removal of Y-27632 prior to addition of bradykinin, which allows stress fibres to re-form (Figure 25d,e), resulted in the translocation of Src251-GFP to filopodia in response to bradykinin (Figure 29, solid arrows). This implies that RhoA activity, at least in part is also involved in the targeting of Src from a perinuclear location to filopodia.

To further investigate the role of RhoA and Cdc42 in c-Src localisation we stimulated cells with bradykinin while inhibiting Cdc42 activity in the presence of serum (ie. RhoA stimuli). Again as described in Chapter 3 (Section 3.2.1) the expression of a dominant negative Cdc42 protein (N17Cdc42) blocked the formation of filopodia in response to bradykinin. The co-expression of Src251-GFP with dominant negative Cdc42 protein (N17Cdc42) therefore blocked bradykinin induced filopodia formation (Figure 30a-c, for actin co-staining and Figure 30d-f, for vinculin co-staining). Compare expressing cells in both cases (broken arrows) to non-expressing cells (solid arrows) that were able to induce filopodia in response to bradykinin. Furthermore, co-expression of Src251-GFP with N17Cdc42, blocked bradykinin-induced translocation of Src to filopodia, however Src251-GFP was not retained in the perinuclear region but was present in peripheral focal adhesions under these conditions (due to the presence of serum) (Figure 30c,f broken arrows). Thus, the RhoA pathway is also required to target Src from the perinuclear region of the cell periphery, prior to its localisation to filopodia induced by Cdc42.

142

chapter 4

It is interesting that inhibition of Src251-GFP targeting to PDGF-induced lamellipodia or bradykinin-induced filopodia by N17Rac1 or N17Cdc42 respectively, did not result in Src being retained or 'returned' to the perinuclear region; instead Src251-GFP remained able to target to the cell periphery, specifically residing in focal adhesions, presumably because RhoA is active in the presence of serum. Thus, although dominant-negative Rac1 or Cdc42 proteins inhibit the translocation of Src to lamellipodia or filopodia respectively, these do not interfere with the RhoA-dependent transit from the cell interior to the cell periphery.

Addition of the Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632, prior to bradykinin stimulation impairs stress fibre formation and retains Src251-GFP in a perinuclear location during filopodia formation. Cells were transfected with Src251-GFP and prior to expression of the protein were treated overnight with Y-27632 to abolish stress fibres. The cells were then stimulated with bradykinin (100 nM) for 5 min. Solid arrows indicate the localisation of filopodia while the broken arrows show the perinuclear localisation of Src251-GFP. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (a,c) and vinculin was visualised using an anti-viculin antibody (d,f). Src251-GFP was detected by direct fluorescence (b,c,e,f). Scale bars 25 µm.



Vinculin

Src251-GFP

Merge



Addition of the Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632, prior to Cdc42 expression impairs stress fibre formation and retains Src251-GFP in a perinuclear location during filopodia formation. Cells were co-transfected with Src251-GFP and V12Cdc42 and prior to expression of the proteins were treated overnight with Y-27632 to abolish stress fibres. Solid arrows indicate the localisation of filopodia while the broken arrows show the perinuclear localisation of Src251-GFP. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c) and vinculin was visualised using an anti-vinculin antibody (d,f). Src251-GFP was detected by direct fluorescence (a,c,d,f). Scale bars 25 µm.



Src251-GFP

Vinculin

Merge



Removal of the inhibitory effects of Y-27632 allows stress fibre re-formation and bradykinin induced targeting of Src to filopodia. Cells were transfected with Src251-GFP and prior to expression of the protein were treated overnight with Y-27632 to abolish stress fibres. The cells were then stimulated with bradykinin (100 nM) for 5 min following wash out of the Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632. Arrows indicate filopodia and Src251-GFP localisation. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c). Src251-GFP was detected by direct fluorescence (a,c). Scale bars 25 µm.

Bradykinin following removal of Y-27632



Inhibition of Cdc42 blocks the formation and targeting of Src to filopodia but has no effect on Src's peripheral targeting from a perinuclear location to focal adhesions. Cells in the presence of serum were co-transfected with Src251-GFP and N17Cdc42 and then stimulated with bradykinin (100 nM) for 5 min. The broken arrows indicate transfected cells, while filopodia in non-expressing cells are shown by the solid arrows. Vinculin was visualised using an anti-vinculin antibody (e,f). Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c) and Src251-GFP was detected by direct fluorescence (a,c,d,f). Scale bars 25 μm.

bradykinin



Src251-GFP

bradykinin

N17Cdc42 + Src251-GFP

Vinculin

Merge



Src251-GFP

4.3 Discussion.

We have demonstrated that an inhibitor of Rho-kinase, as well as N19RhoA, inhibit the relocalisation of Src251-GFP to focal adhesions, indicating the requirement for RhoA, its effector Rho-kinase and actin filaments in the peripheral targeting of c-Src. Moreover v-Src targeting to focal adhesions in Swiss 3T3 cells has been shown to require RhoA activity (Fincham et al., 1996). In keeping with the requirement for bundled actin stress fibres, the translocation of v-Src to focal adhesions has also been shown to require myosin activity, at least when the actin cytoskeleton is being dynamically regulated (Fincham et al., 2000). As well as RhoA-induced targeting of Src to focal adhesions, the Rho family proteins Rac1 and Cdc42 direct the precise intracellular targeting of Src to other functional structures such as lamellipodia and filopodia respectively. It is clear then that RhoGTPases play a pivotal role in the spatial regulation of Src and it is therefore possible that they regulate Src's activity within the cell. As stated earlier (see Introduction Section 1.5.3 and 1.6.1), both RhoGTPases and Src have been implicated to be involved in regulating cell migration. RhoGTPases in particular have been thought to contribute to cell motility and polarisation by controlling cell contraction and protrusion, while Src is thought to be involved in focal adhesion turnover. In this study we highlight an additional method of how RhoGTPases can contribute to directional cell migration by spatially controlling Src activity during this process. RhoGTPase-induced actin structures could serve as tracks, directing Src, and for that matter other proteins reported to be involved in cell migration, towards adhesion sites, providing both, scaffolding proteins for the formation of adhesions as well as inducing adhesion turnover. A similar hypothesis has been proposed for the involvement of the microtubule network during cell migration (Kaverina et al., 1998; Nabi, 1999). The co-ordination of Src activity and RhoGTPase-induced targeting of Src during cell migration and polarisation will be addressed and discussed in more detail in the next chapter.

One potential problem of over-expressing Src251-GFP to monitor c-Src localisation within the cell is that access to the SH3/SH2 domains of Src, which are conformationally unrestrained in Src251-GFP, may be acting as an adaptor protein non-specifically sequestering various binding partners and allowing its recruitment into the respective structures described. The data presented in this study however on the targeting of endogenous and wild type Src implies that the control of Src251-GFP targeting is the same as for endogenous Src or the expression of wild type Src, helping to verify the use of Src251-GFP to monitor c-Src targeting within the cell. As yet little is known of the

152

chapter 4

mechanism involved in the transport of Src from the perinuclear region to the cell periphery. We, and others, have demonstrated that it is not dependent on the catalytic activity of c-Src but does require the Src SH3 domain (Fincham et al., 2000; Fincham & Frame, 1998; Kaplan et al., 1994). In *vitro* experiments have demonstrated that the Src SH3 domain binds to a number of cellular partners and we have shown that the regulatory sub-unit of PI3-kinase is amongst the cellular targets of the v-Src SH3 domain that is important for its peripheral targeting (Fincham et al., 2000). Although we have shown that the catalytic activity of Src is not required for its localisation to peripheral adhesion sites, a number of stimuli which result in translocation of Src to these sites have also been reported to activate Src kinase activity (eg. LPA, PDGF and bradykinin) (Jalink et al., 1993; Rodriguez-Fernandez & Rozengurt, 1996). It seems likely therefore that these stimuli release constraints on both the kinase domain and the SH3 domain of c-Src thus ensuring that the activated protein is not aberrantly localised within the cell.

Although Src251-GFP was found in lamellipodia or filopodia following activation of Rac1 or Cdc42 respectively, data presented here using dominant negative RhoGTPases, surprisingly, indicate that the precise localisation of Src to these structures is not simply regulated by the individual RhoGTPase responsible for these actin based structures, but that co-ordination between Rho family members is required for this precise targeting of c-Src to these sites.

Firstly, PDGF- and Rac1-induced targeting of Src251-GFP to lamellipodia, is inhibited by treatment with the Rho-kinase inhibitor, Y-27632. In this case, Src251-GFP is held in the perinuclear region of the cell and is unable to move to the cell periphery. Moreover, although formation of PDGF-induced lamellipodia, as well as the targeting of Src251-GFP to these sites, is blocked by dominant inhibitory Rac1, Src251-GFP is still able to translocate from the perinuclear region of the cell to focal adhesions, presumably mediated by RhoA that is unaffected by N17Rac1. This suggests that Src251-GFP translocates from the perinuclear region of the cell to the cell periphery via stress fibres to focal adhesions, and when Rac1 is stimulated, subsequently moves to much smaller focal complexes in lamellipodia (see Figure 31). Similarly, bradykinin- and Cdc42-induced targeting of Src251-GFP to filopodia, are also inhibited by treatment with the Rho-kinase inhibitor. Again, Src251-GFP is held in the perinuclear region of the cell and is unable to move to the cell periphery. Furthermore, although formation of bradykinin-induced filopodia, as well as the targeting of Src251-GFP to these sites, is blocked by dominant inhibitory Cdc42, Src251-GFP is still able to translocate from the perinuclear region of the cell to focal adhesions, which is mediated by RhoA and unaffected by N17Cdc42. Together these

153

chapter 4

data suggest that Src251-GFP translocates from the perinuclear region of the cell to focal adhesions via stress fibres, and when appropriate stimuli is received, subsequently moves to much smaller focal complexes such as filopodia (see Figure 32). The activation of Rac1 has been reported to initiate the turnover and remodelling of existing focal adhesions into smaller focal complexes during lamellipodia formation (Laukaitis et al., 2001). This process has been shown for example, using GFP tagged paxillin to visualise the process in real time. In particular, when new lamellipodia protrusions form paxillin appears to remodel from older focal adhesions to new focal complexes at the leading edge of the cell. (Laukaitis et al., 2001; Small et al., 1995; Small et al., 1999). It is therefore possible that upon localisation of Src in focal adhesions, Rac1 can subsequently induce focal adhesion remodelling to form small focal complexes allowing Src to then relocate from focal adhesions to uniformly distributed focal complexes along the base of lamellipodia (Figure 33). A similar mechanism can therefore be proposed for Src targeting to filopodia (Figure 33). The involvement of Src kinase activity in the focal adhesions to focal complex transition is examined and discussed in detail in the next chapter.

Schematic representation of the co-ordinated actin remodelling proposed to be involved in Src's sequential targeting from the perinuclear region of the cell to lamellipodia. Src initially translocates form a perinuclear location to the cell periphery at focal adhesions via RhoA and following Rac1 stimulation subsequently moves to focal complexes in lamellipodia.



Schematic representation of the co-ordinated actin remodelling proposed to be involved in Src's sequential targeting from the perinuclear region of the cell to filopodia. Src initially translocates form a perinuclear location to the cell periphery at focal adhesions via RhoA and following Cdc42 stimulation subsequently moves to focal complexes in filopodia.



Schematic representation of Src's sequential targeting from the perinuclear region of the cell to lamellipodia or filopodia.



chapter 4

It should be noted that in these sequential stimuli experiments, RhoA activity was blocked to examine whether RhoA was involved in this process. Serum starvation of cells for 48 h to cause the loss of RhoA activity, and thereby stress fibres, was not a viable approach because expression of Rac1 or Cdc42 could potentially lead to RhoA activation via the hierarchical cascade described earlier (Hall, 1998; Nobes & Hall, 1995; Ridley & Hall, 1992; Ridley et al., 1992). This could have led to a misinterpretation of the role RhoA activity plays in this process. Thus, the reversible Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632, was used here to block RhoA-induced stress fibres, which allows rapid inactivation of RhoA, while leaving the option to relieve this inhibitory effect using the washing out procedure outlined earlier.

Various reports have demonstrated cross-talk to exist between Rho family members in a number of processes. In particular, the hierarchical cascade in Swiss 3T3 cells along with the proposed involvement of this cascade in macrophage migration, provides one example for potential cross-talk between RhoGTPases during cell migration such that Cdc42 is required for cells to polarise and migrate in the direction of a chemotatic gradient, while RhoA and Rac1 are required for cell migration (Allen et al., 1997). Moreover, antagonistic behaviour between RhoGTPases has frequently been reported and is thought to be responsible for neurite retraction or collapse as well as protrusion in neuroblastomas cell (Kozma et al., 1997). Co-operation or convergence of RhoGTPase activity has also been shown during cadherin mediated cell-cell junction formation (Braga et al., 1997), where both RhoA and Rac1 are required for the establishment of cadherin mediated cell-cell junctions, illustrating the importance of Rho family cross-talk in a number of celiular Here we illustrate a new role of RhoGTPases in directing Src to processes. morphologically functional structures and also report a novel co-operative role for RhoGTPases in this targeting process.

4.4 Summary

We have demonstrated that Src251-GFP is found in lamellipodia or filopodia following activation of the RhoGTPases Rac1 and Cdc42 respectively. Moreover data presented in this chapter indicates that the precise localisation of Src to these sites is not regulated by individual RhoGTPases, but that co-ordination between Rho family members is required for this targeting process. Both lamellipodia and filopodia have been documented to be transient structures in which the actin cytoskeleton and adhesion contacts are rapidly remodelling and turning over. In the next chapter we assess whether Src plays a passive or active role in this remodelling process.

Chapter 5

5 Src kinase activity participates in the efficient remodelling of focal adhesions to focal complexes during lamellipodia and filopodia formation.

5.1 Purpose

We have shown that c-Src can localise to focal adhesions, lamellipodia and filopodia at the cell periphery. Lamellipodia and filopodia contain focal complexes within their structures, which have been defined as small adhesion structures of indistinguishable protein composition from larger focal adhesions as previously discussed (Nobes et al., 1995). It is the dynamic remodelling and interchange between focal adhesions and focal complexes that regulate cell motility. In this chapter, we therefore addressed whether the activity of c-Src at these cellular adhesions altered their remodelling and establish the influence this has on cellular processes such as cell migration and chemotaxis. Src kinase activity has frequently been linked to focal adhesions turnover (Fincham & Frame, 1998) and cell motility (Hall et al., 1996). We therefore tested the hypothesis that Src kinase activity is required for the dynamic remodelling of focal adhesions and focal complexes during cell migration.

5.2 Results

In this study, we introduced constitutively active- and inactive-Src mutants into cells to establish the importance of Src kinase activity during adhesion remodelling. Cells were transfected with the respective Src mutants and maintained in serum (ie. a RhoA stimuli) to localise Src to focal adhesions. Cells were subsequently incubated with the protein synthesis inhibitor emetine prior to PDGF or bradykinin treatment. This protocol allowed us to focus on 'focal adhesions to focal complex' remodelling events during lamellipodia or filopodia formation and address the role Src kinase activity plays in this process.

5.2.1 Src251-GFP interferes with the efficient formation of uniform lamellipodia

To address whether Src kinase activity plays a role in adhesion remodelling, Swiss 3T3 cells were transfected with Src251-GFP in the presence of serum (Figure 34a). Under

chapter 5

these conditions the kinase null Src251-GFP was localised to focal adhesions (Figure 34a) Subsequent treatment of these cells with PDGF, which leads to Rac1 activation, resulted in PDGF-induced shape changes and formation of lamellipodia. Although expression of Src251-GFP at focal adhesions did not significantly alter the number of cells able to form lamellipodia (around 80% of cells expressing Src251-GFP underwent shape changes associated with the formation of lamellipodia), we found that under these conditions the actin localised to discrete patches around the forming lamellopodia (Figure 34b, broken arrow). Src251-GFP also re-located to the forming lamellipodia, but remained in the same discrete patches or adhesion-like structures around the edge of the lamellipodia (Figure 34c, broken arrow). Furthermore, the discontinuous actin staining in cells expressing Src251-GFP indicated that the lamellipodia were less uniform than in cells not expressing Src251-GFP (compare the solid arrow, which indicates a cell not expressing Src251-GFP, with the Src251-GFP expressing cell shown by the broken arrow in Figure 34b). This is in contrast to the uniform lamellipodia formed when Src251-GFP is held in the perinuclear region of the cell following treatment with Y-27632 (Figure 34d), prior to stimulation with PDGF (Figure 34e,f), where Src251-GFP is found in small structures continuous along the lamellipodia. As described above, cells were incubated with the protein synthesis inhibitor emetine prior to PDGF treatment in these experiments, implying that Rac1 activation led to re-localisation of Src that pre-existed in focal adhesions into complexes that are continuous along lamellipodia. This suggests that it is the presence of Src251-GFP at focal adhesions prior to addition of PDGF that interferes with the efficient formation of uniform lamellipodia.

Src kinase activity at focal adhesions is required for remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton during lamellipodia formation. Cells were transfected with Src251-GFP and maintained in 10% serum containing medium (a). Cells were then placed in serum-free medium overnight and treated with the protein synthesis inhibitor emetine (55 μ g ml⁻¹) for 30 min prior to stimulation with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (b,c). This protocol allowed us to reduce the heterogeneity in the population following PDGF stimulation by removing the serum, while maintaining Src251-GFP in the peripheral focal adhesions due to the incomplete loss of stress fibres after this short time in serum-free conditions. Cells were transfected with Src251-GFP and prior to expression of the protein were treated overnight with Y-27632 to abolish stress fibres (d). The cells were then stimulated with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min following wash out of the Rho-kinase inhibitor Y-27632 (e,f). Broken arrows indicate Src251-GFP expressing cells while solid arrow indicate non-expressing cell. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (a,b,d,e). Src251-GFP was detected by direct fluorescence (a,c,d,f). Scale bars 2^5 μ m.



Merge



Merge

5.2.2 Src mutants used as tools to determine the role Src kinase activity plays in adhesion remodelling.

Since Src251-GFP lacks a c-Src kinase domain (see Figure 35a), we examined whether the presence of an activated c-Src kinase at focal adhesions facilitated the Rac1-dependent formation of uniform, continuous lamellipodia. For this, we expressed a c-Src protein (Figure 35b), which has an activating tyrosine to phenylalanine mutation at position 527 in the c-Src coding sequence (SrcY527F) (Thomas & Brugge, 1997). We also expressed a kinase-defective Src mutant, SrcMF in cells, and examined the ability of these cells to form lamellipodia in response to PDGF. SrcMF has a point mutation in the kinase domain (K295M) (Figure 35c), rendering it kinase inactive. SrcMF also has the Y527F mutation in the regulatory carboxy-terminal region that results in an open confirmation with the SH2 and SH3 domains available for protein-protein interactions (Figure 35c). As described in Section 1.1.3 autophopsphorylation on tyrosine-416 is required for full activation of Src kinase family members (Gonfloni et al., 2000). In these experiments we therefore used autophosphorylation on tyrosine-416 as a surrogate marker of Src kinase activity. Direct comparisons between phosphorylation of tyrosine-416 and Src kinase activity have verified the use of this site to reflect the biological changes in Src kinase activity within the cell (Chen et al., 2000; Hanke et al., 1996; Yoshizumi et al., 2000). Cells lysates expressing the respective Src constructs SrcY527F, SrcMF or Src251-GFP were probed with a phospho-Src-416 antibody (Figure 35d). Cells expressing SrcY527F demonstrated an enhanced autophosphorylation on tyrosine-416 compared to kinase null (Src251-GFP) or kinase defective (SrcMF) expressing cells, thereby confirming, as expected, their relative Initially, we characterised the behaviour of activity within the cell (Figure 35d). constitutively active SrcY527F in cells as previously described for Src251-GFP (see Chapter 3). When SrcY527F was microinjected into serum-starved Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts it was located in the perinuclear region of the cell (Figure 36a,c broken arrows). However, upon addition of serum, which resulted in reformation of stress fibres (Figure 36d-f), SrcY527F translocated to sites at the end of the actin cables (Figure 36d,f), where it colocalised with the focal adhesion protein paxillin (Figure 36g-i). SrcMFs intracellular targeting to focal adhesions was also characterised. SrcMF, like Src251-GFP and SrcY527F remained perinuclear when microinjected into serum starved Swiss 3T3 cells (Figure 37a,c, broken arrow). Upon serum stimulation it localised to focal adhesions (Figure 37d-f), where it co-localised with the focal adhesion protein paxillin (Figure 37g-i). Anti-paxillin staining was used for co-localisation studies with anti-SrcY527F or SrcMF because anti-vinculin and anti-Src sera used were from the same species, restricting co-

167

localisation studies. Thus the actin-dependent translocation of SrcY527F or SrcMF is the same as for Src251-GFP (see Chapter 3).

c-Src constructs. Schematic representation of the structural domains of Src251-GFP (a). SrcY527F and SrcMF (b). Anti-phospho-Src-Y416 western blot of cell extracts from non-transfected cells (lane 1), Src251-GFP (lane 2), SrcMF (lane 3) or SrcY527F (lane 4). The same blot was re-probed with anti-Src antibody (bottom panel).

a. Src251-GFP

myristylation site



C. SrcMF (kinase defective; K295M, Y527F)



Translocation of SrcY527F to focal adhesions is indistinguishable from Src251-GFP. Cells were serum starved for 48 h to remove stress fibres prior to microinjection of SrcY527F (a-c). Serum-starved cells were microinjected with SrcY527F and following expression of the protein were stimulated with 10% serum for 30 min (d-i). SrcY527F was visualised using an anti-Src antibody (a,c,d,f,g,i). Arrows indicate perinuclear SrcY527F. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c,e,f). Paxillin was visualised with rhodamine-conjugated antipaxillin (h,i). Scale bars 25 μm.

SrcY527F

Actin

Merge



SrcY527F





SrcY527F



Paxillin



Merge



Translocation of SrcMF to focal adhesions is indistinguishable from Src251-GFP. Cells were serum starved to remove stress fibres prior to microinjection of SrcMF (a-c). Serum-starved cells were microinjected with SrcMF and following expression of the protein were stimulated with 10% serum for 30 min (d-i). SrcMF was visualised using an anti-Src antibody (a,c,d,f,g,i). Arrows indicate perinuclear SrcMF. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c,e,f). Paxillin was visualised with rhodamine-conjugated anti-paxillin (h.i). Scale bars 25 μ m.



Actin



Merge



SrcMF

Actin

Merge







SrcMF



Paxillin



Merge



5.2.3 c-Src kinase activity is required for complete remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton during lamellipodia formation.

SrcY527F was localised to focal adhesions in the presence of serum (Figure 38a), as for Src251-GFP (Figure 34a). Following treatment with PDGF, SrcY527F was re-located from focal adhesions to lamellipodia that appeared continuous and relatively uniform (Figure 38c, broken arrows), in contrast to the discontinuous structures formed in cells expressing Src251-GFP (Figure 34c, broken arrow). This implies that the efficient relocation of c-Src from RhoA-induced focal adhesions into Rac1-induced structures along lamellipodia requires Src's catalytic activity. To test whether a chemical inhibitor of c-Src kinase activity had a similar effect to Src251-GFP expression on PDGF/Rac1-induced lamellipodia formation, we treated cells expressing SrcY527F with the Src kinase inhibitor PP2 (Hanke et al., 1996) at a concentration that inhibits autophosphorylation of c-Src on tyrosine-416 (Figure 38g). Under these conditions, SrcY527F was found in focal adhesions in the presence of serum (Figure 38d). However, upon PDGF stimulation, lamellipodia formation was fragmented (Figure 38e) and the re-localisation of c-Src from focal adhesions was to discrete larger complexes along the cell periphery (Figure 38f, broken arrow). At an enhanced resolution (Figure 38h), the edge of lamellipodia in cells expressing Src251-GFP, SrcY527F + PP2 or SrcY527F alone emphasises the requirement of Src kinase activity to induce uniform lamellipodia. This effect of a kinase inhibitor, which blocks c-Src activity, supports the interpretation that expression of Src251-GFP inhibited complete Rac1-induced actin and adhesion remodelling due to its lack of kinase activity.

However, as PP2 is known to inhibit other kinases (see Discussion Section 5.3), we also expressed a kinase-defective Src mutant, SrcMF in the cells and examined the ability of these cells to form lamellipodia in response to PDGF. As described for Src251-GFP and SrcY527F, SrcMF was targeted to focal adhesions in the presence of serum (Figure 39a). Subsequent stimulation of these cells with PDGF resulted in the relocalisation of SrcMF to discrete patches around the edge of the forming lamellipodia (Figure 39b) rather than to continuous lamellipodia as seen in cells expressing the activated Src protein (Figure 38c). These discrete structures along the lamellipodia were similar to those found in cells treated with the kinase inhibitor PP2 or in cells expressing the Src251-GFP protein which lacks the kinase domain (Figure 38f and Figure 34c respectively). Magnification of the edge of the lamellipodia in SrcMF and activated Src expressing cells (Figure 39c) shows more clearly the impaired lamellipodia formation in cells expressing kinase defective SrcMF. This data

175
chapter 5

implies that, like the presence of kinase null Src251-GFP in focal adhesions, it is the presence of kinase defective Src at focal adhesions prior to PDGF-induced lamellipodia formation that interferes with the efficient formation of uniform lamellipodia.

5.2.4 c-Src kinase activity is required for remodelling of focal adhesions during lamellipodia formation.

To demonstrate that the discontinuous lamellipodia found in Src251-GFP expressing cells was associated with impaired focal adhesion re-modelling into focal complexes we compared Rac1-induced peripheral adhesion re-modelling in cells expressing Src251-GFP with cells expressing the activated c-Src mutant, SrcY527F, monitoring adhesion complexes by staining with anti-vinculin or anti-paxillin, where appropriate (see Section 5.2.2). Anti-vinculin and anti-paxillin staining were indistinguishable, and in cells treated with PDGF we observed small vinculin- and paxillin-containing complexes around the base of lamellipodia (Figure 40a and d respectively). In cells expressing Src251-GFP, treatment with PDGF induced the co-localisation of Src251-GFP with vinculin at the cell periphery but was located in large discrete structures along the length of the lamellipodia (Figure 40b,c). In contrast, in activated SrcY527F-expressing cells, c-Src co-localised with paxillin along the base of uniform lamellipodia following lamellipodia stimulation (Figure 40e,f).

Src kinase activity is required for remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton during lamellipodia formation. Cells were transfected with SrcY527F and maintained in 10% serum containing medium (a). Cells were then placed in serum-free medium overnight and treated with the protein synthesis inhibitor emetine (55 μ g ml⁻¹) for 30 min prior to stimulation with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (b,c). This protocol allowed us to reduce the heterogeneity in the population following PDGF stimulation by removing the serum, while maintaining SrcY527F in the peripheral focal adhesions due to the incomplete loss of stress fibres after this short time in serum-free conditions. Cells expressing SrcY527F were pre-treated with the Src kinase inhibitor PP2 (5 μ M) for 3 h prior to stimulation with PDGF using the same protocol as outlined above (e,f). Anti- phospho-Src-Y416 western blot of cell extracts from SrcY527F expressing cells in the absence (lane 1) or presence (lane 2) of PP2 (5 μ M) for 3 h (top panel). The same blot was re-probed with anti-Src antibody (bottom panel) (g). High resolution image of cells expressing SrcY527F and SrcY527F + PP2 following stimulation with PDGF (h). Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (a,b,d,e) and SrcY527F using an anti-Src antibody (a,c,d,f). Scale bars 25 μ m.



Merge



Merge



A.K.

Src251-GFP (kinase-null)

> SrcY527F (+ PP2)

SrcY527F (kinase-active)

SrcMF expression in focal adhesion prior to PDGF stimulation inhibits actin cytoskeletal remodelling during lamellipodia formation. Cells were transfected with SrcMF and maintained in 10% serum containing medium (a). Cells were then or placed in serum-free medium overnight and treated with the protein synthesis inhibitor emetine (55 μ g ml⁻¹) for 30 min prior to stimulation with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (b). High resolution image of the edge of the lamellipodia in cells expressing SrcMF and SrcY527F (c). SrcMF was visualised using an anti-Src antibody (a,b). Arows indicate SrcMF or SrcY527F localisation. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (a,c). Scale bars 25 μ m.



Merge

(c)

SrcMF kinase-defective

SrcY527F kinase-active

Src kinase activity is required for the disassembly of focal adhesions during lamellipodia formation. Cells were grown in serum-free conditions overnight prior to stimulation with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min and stained with anti-vinculin (a) or rhodamine conjugated antipaxillin antibodies (d). Cells transfected with Src251-GFP (b,c), or SrcY527F (e,f) were placed in serum-free medium overnight and then treated with the protein synthesis inhibitor emetine (55 µg ml⁻¹) for 30 min prior to stimulation with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (b,c,e,f). This protocol allowed us to reduce the heterogeneity in the cells following growth factor stimulation while maintaining the Src proteins in the focal adhesions prior to stimulation. SrcY527F and vinculin were visualised by anti-Src (f) and anti-vinculin (b) antibodies respectively. Paxillin was visualised with rhodamine-conjugated anti-paxillin (e) and Src251-GFP by direct immunofluoresence (c). Scale bars 25 µm.

Non-transfected cells PDGF

Src251-GFP transfected cells PDGF

SrcY527F transfected cells

PDGF



Vinculin

Vinculin

Src

Non-transfected cells PDGF



Paxillin

Paxillin

Src

5.2.5 c-Src kinase activity is also required for complete remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton and focal adhesions during filopodia formation.

Similar to the observations with PDGF, we found that bradykinin-induced focal adhesion remodelling to produce filopodia was impaired in Src251-GFP-expressing cells. If cells expressing SrcY527F or Src251-GFP were grown in serum, thus allowing their localisation to focal adhesions and subsequently treated with bradykinin, SrcY527F localised to small actin containing filopodia that were uniformly distributed around the cell body (Figure 41a-c, soild arrows). In contrast, in Src251-GFP expressing cells, Src251-GFP was found in large discrete complexes (Figure 41d-f, broken arrows) at the base of filopodia (Figure 41d-f, solid arrows). At high resolution (Figure 41g) the edge of filopodia in cells expressing kinase-null Src251-GFP and kinase active SrcY527F emphasises the requirement of Src kinase activity for efficient filopodia formation and Src targeting to these structures. This effect of Src251-GFP supports the interpretation, as previously discussed for lamellipodia, that the kinase activity of Src is required for the complete remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton and focal adhesions to efficiently produce filopodia.

By monitoring adhesion complexes during this process we found that as described for PDGF, bradykinin-induced focal adhesion remodelling to produce focal complexes at filopodia was impaired in Src251-GFP expressing cells. Anti-vinculin and anti-paxillin staining was indistinguishable in cell treated with bradykinin, in which we observed small vinculin and paxillin-containing complexes at the ends of filopodia (Figure 42a,d). As described above, SrcY527F and Src251-GFP were located to focal adhesions in the presence of serum and upon treatment with bradykinin, SrcY527F and paxillin co-localised to small structures at the ends of filopodia (Figure 42b,c), while Src251-GFP and vinculin co-localised mainly to large discrete complexes at the cell periphery from which filopodia were emanating (Figure 42e,f).

Consistent with the effect of Src251-GFP on filopodia formation, expression of SrcMF and subsequent stimulation of these cells with bradykinin led to the remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton to form discrete patches of SrcMF at the base of forming filopodia (Figure 43a,b broken arrows), rather than the continuous and more uniformed distribution of filopodia in cells expressing SrcY527F (Figure 41b,c). Although cells expressing SrcMF were able to assemble actin containing microspikes (Figure 43b, solid arrows), these were not uniformly spread around the cell body and the filopodia appeared to originate from

large clusters of paxillin containing complexes (Figure 43c,d broken arrows) in contrast to the more diffuse and smaller complexes in SrcY527F expressing cells (Figure 42b,c).

Thus, our data supports a critical role for the catalytic activity of c-Src in the Rac1- and Cdc42-induced peripheral adhesion re-modelling that results in the breakdown of larger focal adhesions and the generation of smaller focal complex adhesion structures at lamellipodia and filopodia, respectively.

Src kinase activity is required for re-modelling of the actin cytoskeleton during filopoda formation. Cells transfected with SrcY527F (a-c), or Src251-GFP (d-f) were placed in serum-free medium overnight and then treated with the protein synthesis inhibitor emetine ($\frac{1}{2}$ µg ml⁻¹) for 30 min prior to stimulation with bradykinin (100 nM) for 5 min (a-f). The protocol allowed us to reduce the heterogeneity in the cells following growth factor stimulation while maintaining the Src proteins in the focal adhesions prior to stimulation. Actin we visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c,e,f). SrcY527F was visualised using an anti-Stantibody (a,c) and Src251-GFP was detected by direct fluorescence (d,f). Solid arrows indicate Src in filopodia, while broken arrows indicate Src at the base of filopdia. High resolution image of filopodia in cells expressing Src251-GFP (upper panel) and SrcY527F (lower panel) (g). Scale bars 25 µm.

SrcY527F

Actin

Merge



Src251-GFP







Merge





Src Y527F kinase active

(g)



Src kinase activity is required for the disassembly of focal adhesions during filopodia formation. Cells were grown in serum-free conditions overnight prior to stimulation with bradykinin (100 nM) for 5 min and stained with anti-vinculin (a) or anti-paxillin antibodies (d). Cells transfected with SrcY527F (b,c), or Src251-GFP (e,f) were placed in serum-free medium overnight and treated with the protein synthesis inhibitor emetine (55 μ g ml⁻¹) for 30 min prior to stimulation with bradykinin (100 nM) for 5 min (b,c,e,f). This protocol allowed us to reduce the heterogeneity in the cells following growth factor stimulation while maintaining the Src proteins in the focal adhesions prior to stimulation. SrcY527F (c) and vinculin (e) were visualised by anti-Src and anti-vinculin antibodies respectively. Paxillin was visualised with rhodamine-conjugated anti-paxillin (b) and Src251-GFP by direct immunofluoresence (f). Scale bars 25 μ m.



Paxillin

Paxillin

Src

Non-transfected cells Bradykinin

Src251-GFP transfected cells Bradykinin



Vinculin

Vinculin

Src

SrcMF expression in focal adhesions prior to bradykinin stimulation inhibits actin and focal adhesion remodelling during filopodia formation. Cells were transfected with SrcMF and placed in serum-free medium overnight. Cells were then treated with the protein synthesis inhibitor emetine (55 μ g ml⁻¹) for 30 min prior to stimulation with bradykinin (100 nM) for 5 min. This protocol allowed us to reduce the heterogeneity in the cells following growth factor stimulation while maintaining the Src proteins in the focal adhesions prior to stimulation. SrcMF was visualised using an anti-Src antibody (a,c) and actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b). Paxillin was visualised with rhodamine-conjugated anti-paxillin (d). Scale bars 25 μ m.

Bradykinin









Bradykinin

SrcMF

Paxillin





5.2.6 Expression of Src251-GFP or SrcMF in focal adhesions prevents Y-27632 induced focal adhesion disassembly.

Further evidence that Src251-GFP was acting to prevent the turnover of peripheral adhesion structures during lamellipodia or filopodia formation was provided by treating cells with Y-27632 following expression of Src251-GFP. Src251-GFP is found in focal adhesions in cells grown in serum and treatment of these cells with Y-27632 resulted in the loss of actin stress fibres (Figure 44b). However, Src251-GFP remained at the cell periphery under these conditions (Figure 44a,c, broken arrows). Treatment with Y-27632 also resulted in the breakdown and loss of focal adhesion structures, with few vinculincontaining adhesion structures evident (Figure 44e, solid arrows). In contrast, in cells expressing Src251-GFP, large focal adhesion-like structures remained (Figure 44d,e, broken arrows) although no stress fibres were present under these conditions. As a result of the loss of stress fibres and the majority of their focal adhesions, the surrounding cells appeared to have retracted and are therefore much smaller than the Src251-GFP expressing cell. Similarly cells expressing SrcMF prevented focal adhesion breakdown induced by Y-27632. The Rho-kinase inhibitor caused the loss of actin stress fibres (Figure 45b) in cells expressing SrcMF which remained in focal adhesions in the presence of Y-27632. However, Y-27632 did not induce loss of focal adhesions in cells expressing SrcMF (Figure 45d,e). Compare cells expressing SrcMF (broken arrows) to non-expressing cells (solid arrows), which have a marked reduction in paxillin staining compared to cells expressing SrcMF. Thus, expression of the kinase-deficient Src251-GFP or SrcMF proteins stabilised focal adhesion structures that normally disassemble when the RhoA effector pathway is inhibited. This finding is consistent with the requirement for c-Src's catalytic activity during focal adhesion breakdown and turnover (Fincham & Frame, 1998), where kinase defective Src expressing cells have been shown to have enlarged focal adhesions. This may provide a potential insight into the inefficient Rac1- and Cdc42mediated peripheral adhesion remodelling observed in cells expressing Src251-GFP or SrcMF.

Stabilisation of focal adhesions in cells expressing Src251-GFP. Cells were transfected with Src251-GFP and upon expression, treated with Y-27632 (10 μ M) for 1 h. Broken arrows indicate cells expressing Src251-GFP, while solid arrows indicate vinculin staining in non-expressing cells. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c). Vinculin was visualised using an anti-vinculin antibody (e) and Src251-GFP by direct fluorescence (a,c,d). Scale bars 25 μ m.



+ Y-27632

+ Y-27632

Src251-GFP

Vinculin



Stabilisation of focal adhesions in cells expressing SrcMF. Cells were transfected with SrcMF and following its expression, treated with Y-27632 (10 μ M) for 1 h. Broken arrows indicate cells expressing SrcMF, while solid arrows indicate vinculin staining in non-expressing cells. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c). Paxillin was visualised with rhodamine-conjugated anti-paxillin (e) and SrcMF was visualised using a anti-Src antibody (a,c,d). Scale bars 25 μ m.

+ Y-27632



+ Y-27632

SrcMF Pa

Paxillin



5.2.7 c-Src kinase activity is required for cell motility and polarity

As the formation of lamellipodia and filopodia have been associated with the regulation of cell motility and chemotaxis (Allen et al., 1997; Nobes & Hall, 1999) we examined whether the impaired focal adhesion remodelling in the cells lacking kinase activity, was associated with an inhibition of cell movement or the ability of cells to polarise in response to a chemotactic agent. Using time-lapse video microscopy we found that the random migration of cells expressing Src251-GFP and SrcMF was inhibited by around 70-75%, compared to non-transfected cells, while expression of GFP alone had no effect on cell motility (Figure 46). Cells were co-transfected with the respective Src mutants and GFP for visualisation. Expression of activated Src (SrcY527F) had no significant effect on the migration of the cells suggesting that the level of endogenous Src within the cells is not limiting for migration.

To examine the capacity of cells to respond to a chemotactic gradient, we measured the ability of cells to polarise towards PDGF using a Dunn chamber (see Materials and Methods Section 2.9.11) (Allen et al., 1997). Less than 10% of cells expressing Src251-GFP or SrcMF were able to polarise along the PDGF gradient, while around 80% of the non-transfected cells exhibited polarity (Figure 47). Expression of GFP or SrcY527F had no effect on the ability of cells to polarise in response to PDGF (Figure 47). Thus, both cell migration and cell polarisation in response to a chemotactic stimuli, biological responses that require the co-ordinated activities of Rho GTPases, are impaired in cells expressing either the Src251-GFP or SrcMF kinase-deficient mutants of c-Src. Our findings indicate that RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 not only control the precise sub-cellular localisation of c-Src, but co-operate with the catalytic activity of c-Src to mediate the adhesion remodelling that is required for polarisation and cell migration.

Src251-GFP and SrcMF inhibit random cell migration. Random cell migration of cells expressing Src251-GFP, GFP, SrcY527F (+ GFP) or SrcMF (+ GFP) in 10% serum. Values are mean \pm S.E.M. taken from at least 5 independent experiments and represent data from between 30 and 60 cells in each case.



Src251-GFP and SrcMF impair random cell migration

Src251-GFP and SrcMF inhibit cell polarisation. Polarity of cells expressing Src251-GFP, GFP, SrcY527F (+GFP) or SrcMF (+GFP) in response to a PGDF gradient (10ng ml⁻¹). Values are expressed as the percentage of cells in a population able to polarise towards PDGF using the criteria described in the Methods Section 2.10.11, generated from at least 5 independent experiments.



Src251-GFP and SrcMF impair cell polarisation

chapter 5

5.3 Discussion.

The involvement of RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 in cell motility is undoubtedly linked to their ability to rearrange the actin cytoskeleton. However, a secondary consequence of this actin remodelling is apparently to target other cellular proteins, such as c-Src, to these peripheral sites. We show here that once located at the cell periphery, in focal adhesions, c-Src acts in concert with the Rho GTPases to regulate directed cell motility. Our data supports a critical role for the catalytic activity of c-Src in the Rac1- and Cdc42-induced peripheral adhesion remodelling that results in the breakdown of larger focal adhesions and the generation of smaller focal complexes to allow lamellipodia or filopodia formation respectively (see Figure 48).

In this study we introduced constitutively active and inactive-Src mutants into the cells and used them as tools to establish the importance of Src kinase activity during adhesion remodelling. In addition, we also used a pharmacological agent to inhibit Src kinase activity during focal adhesions remodelling.

The Src kinase inhibitor specificity however is not confined to Src kinase, as it has also been reported to have weak inhibitory effects on other kinases such as ZAP-70 and Jak2 (Hanke et al., 1996; Yoshizumi et al., 2000). In the context of these experiments however, PP2 was used at concentrations below the threshold reported to block these kinases, therefore ruling out their involvement in the impaired focal adhesions remodelling and Src localisation observed. More significant however, is the reported inhibitory effect PP2 has on the PDGF and EGF receptors (Hanke et al., 1996; Yoshizumi et al., 2000). As PDGF was used here to cause Rac1-induced lamellipodia it is possible that the fragmented lamellipodia and Src localisation observed in the presence of PP2 occurs as a result of partial inhibition of the PDGF receptor. This however is not the only explanation, as the kinase deficient Src mutant SrcMF, like Src251-GFP, caused the same impairment in Src localisation and lamellipodia formation as seen in cells treated with the Src kinase inhibitor. Moreover, PP2 has been reported to block phosphorylation of tyrosine-577 on FAK, which is required for FAK kinase activity (Hanke et al., 1996) (Salazar & Rozengurt, 1999). FAK is thought to play and important role in focal adhesion turnover (Parsons et al., 2000) and therefore inhibition of FAK activity may also explain the impaired focal adhesion remodelling observed in cells treated with PP2. It should be noted that this impairment in tyrosine-577 phosphorylation maybe an indirect result of Src kinase inactivation as Src has been reported to phosphorylate FAK on this site (Calalb et al.,

chapter 5

1995). The potential involvement of Src-induced phosphorylation on various residues of FAK, including tyrosine-577, in focal adhesion remodelling will be discussed later in Chapter 7. Finally, it has been previously demonstrated that PP2 blocks Src kinase activity as well as the activity of other ubiquitously expressed Src family kinase such as c-Fyn and Yes (Hanke et al., 1996; Yoshizumi et al., 2000). This suggests that we cannot rule out the inhibition of other family members in this impaired focal adhesion to focal complexes remodelling observed in PP2 treated cells. In these experiments, expression of truncated or kinase defective Src has a similar effect as PP2 treatment, verifying the use of this inhibitor in assessing the role of Src kinase activity in this process. In keeping with this however, Src251-GFP and SrcMF expression may also be inhibiting other Src family members.

The kinase defective Src mutant, SrcMF has regularly been used to assess the role Src kinase activity plays in various cellular processes (Snyder et al., 1985). A potential pitfall however in using this dominant negative mutant is that the impairment of focal adhesion to focal complex remodelling observed during lamellipodia formation in cells expressing this mutant may be caused by the over-expression of available SH2/SH3 domains and could therefore be acting as a non-regulated adaptor molecule sequestering and maintaining various proteins in focal adhesions. It is therefore possible that Src plays an adaptor function in focal adhesion formation via the SH2/SH3 domains but ultimately its kinase activity is required for the turnover of these sites. This would explain why the absence of Src kinase activity in Src251-GFP and SrcMF expressing cells have enlarged focal adhesions and inefficiently remodel focal adhesions during lamellipodia or filopodia formation.

In this study we also used the constitutively active Src mutant (SrcY527F), to assess the role Src kinase activity has on focal adhesions remodelling. Previous reports using v-Src have demonstrated that unrestrained kinase activity of v-Src leads to enhanced cytoskeletal disruption and adhesion turnover (Fincham et al., 1999), where there is a breakdown and loss of stress fibres resulting in cell rounding and detachment associated with a morphologically transformed phenotype. Although SrcY527F, has unrestrained kinase activity and is a transforming mutant of c-Src, in the time scale of these experiments the cells do not undergo morphological transformation and therefore transformation-associated actin rearrangements or focal adhesion disruption does not interfere with the formation of lamellipodia or filopodia. Therefore SrcY527F was used in these experiments to monitor the involvement of Src kinase activity in focal adhesion to focal complex remodelling.

Schematic representation of Src's targeting from the perinuclear region of the cell to lamellipodia or filopodia. Src kinase activity is not required for Src's translocation from the perinuclear region of the cell to the cell periphery at focal adhesion but its kinase activity is required for the efficient remodelling of focal adhesion to focal complexes during lamellipodia or filopodia formation respectively.



chapter 5

The use of the protein synthesis inhibitor emetine in these experiments excluded the possibility of any newly synthesised Src being involved in the focal adhesions remodelling during lamellipodia or filopodia formation. This therefore implies that Rac1 or Cdc42 activation led to the re-location of c-Src that pre-existed in focal adhesions into complexes along lamellipodia or filopodia respectively. However, in these experiments we cannot rule out the possibility that some c-Src pre-existing in the perinuclear region after emetine treatment could move out into the newly formed lamellipodia or filopodia. In the case of bradykinin-stimulated filopodia however, the time scale of these experiments would not be sufficient to allow Src to translocate from the perinuclear region of the cell to the cell periphery, which has been reported to take between 15-30 min (V. Fincham, unpublished observation). In this study filopodia formation was observed within 5 min of stimulation with bradykinin. Data presented in this chapter on Src targeting to lamellipodia or filopodia or filopodia, suggests that it is the presence of kinase-defective c-Src at focal adhesions prior to PDGF or bradykinin stimulation that interferes with the efficient formation of these structures rather than Src from the perinuclear region of the cell.

A key component of the co-ordinated movement of cells is their ability to polarise towards different migratory signals and in this study we have addressed the role of c-Src in this process. The formation of Rac1 dependent lamellipodia at the leading edge of cells is required for cell motility (Allen et al., 1998; Nobes & Hall, 1999; Ridley et al., 1995). In addition, while Cdc42 is not essential for cell movement per se, it is required for directionality and the maintenance of cell polarity (Allen et al., 1998; Nobes & Hall, 1999; Stowers et al., 1995). Swiss 3T3 cells have frequently been reported to have a low migration rate and in our system the Swiss 3T3 fibroblast migration rate was relatively low compared to other cell types such as macrophages (Allen et al., 1997). Moreover, the migration rate was significantly reduced upon expression of kinase defective Src mutants in these cells. It should be noted that a reduction in cell migration does not automatically confer a loss in the cells chemotactic capacity. Cell chemotaxis can be defined as the ability of cells to polarise and move towards a chemical gradient in a persistent manner. Using the Dunn chamber assay we can visualise cells under the influence of a constant chemical gradient, which can be generated rapidly and can persist for 5-20 h depending on the chemoattractant used. This assay allows the option of determining the persistence and directionality of cells during chemotaxis separately from migration rates. Other methods of measuring chemotaxis such as the Boyden chamber assay do not take this into account and can therefore potentially lead to false negative or positive results. For example, a reduction in cell migration (as observed in this study) could be misinterpreted as a failure to undergo chemotaxis, as cells that do not migrate fast enough may not reach the other

chapter 5

side of the filter during the course of the experiment thereby resulting in a false negative. On the other, hand cells with a significantly enhanced random migration rate may give rise to false positive results. Inhibition of Cdc42 in macrophages for example has been reported to significantly increase cell migration rates due to the loss of directional control normally enforced by Cdc42 (see Introduction Section 1.5.2 (Allen et al., 1997)). Using the Boyden chamber assay, it can be envisaged that this impairment of Cdc42, which is known to be necessary for macrophage chemotaxis (Allen et al., 1998), could lead to false positives regarding cell chemotaxis due to the enhanced random migration leading to an increased number of cells reaching the other side of the filter. As Swiss 3T3 cells expressing Src251-GFP or SrcMF have a marked reduction in cell migration, the Dunn chamber assay allowed us to examine cell polarity separately form cell migration and eliminate these potential problems. Other methods of examining directed cell migration or chemotaxis include visualising golgi orientation during a wound healing assay (Nobes & Hall, 1999). Cell migration in a wound healing assay however is not chemotactic cell migration, as cells are randomly moving into an open space as opposed to reacting to a chemical gradient. We have shown here, using the Dunn chamber assay, that c-Src kinase activity is required for cells to polarise and form a leading edge.

We propose that the ability of the RhoGTPases to direct the localisation of Src to these peripheral sites is required for the remodelling of the more static focal adhesions into smaller more dynamic focal complexes found at the leading edge of motile cells. c-Src activity is not required downstream of migratory signals to initiate cell shape changes associated with lamellipodia and filopodia formation, but is required for the remodelling of focal adhesions to smaller focal complexes associated with these structures. This is consistent with studies in which cells lacking all three ubiquitously expressed Src family members (Src, Fyn and Yes), are able to assemble focal adhesions (Klinghoffer et al., 1999), indicating that Src is not required for their formation. However, cells in which kinase defective mutants of Src are expressed have enlarged focal adhesions (Fincham & Frame, 1998; Kaplan et al., 1994), consistent with our observation with Src251-GFP and SrcMF expressing cells, suggesting a role for Src kinase activity in the turnover of these structures that is needed for cells to move (Fincham & Frame, 1998).

As discussed in Chapter 1 (see Section 1.6.1) a number of studies have also demonstrated a key role for Src family kinases in cell migration other than its role in focal adhesions turnover. For example, Src has been shown to be required for growth factor-induced cell migration which has also been attributed to Src's role in growth factor induced signalling pathways (Liu et al., 1999; Rahimi et al., 1998; Rodier et al., 1995). It is therefore possible

that in cells expressing kinase defective Src mutants that the impaired cell migration could be caused by an impairment in signalling pathways involving Src kinase activity.

As described earlier v-Src leads to the disruption of cellular adhesions and loss of actin organisation, resulting in cell rounding and detachment (Fincham et al., 1999; Fincham et al., 1995). This disruption of cellular adhesions and loss of actin organisation induced by v-Src may be an extreme version of a normal, spatial and temporally controlled process that allows adhesion remodelling to occur during cell migration. In cells expressing constitutively active SrcY527F, paxillin locates to uniform focal complexes along the lamellipodia, which were difficult to visualise as discrete structures, suggesting that costitutive Src's activity may be further disrupting the focal complexes. Interestingly, expression of activated SrcY527F did not enhance the migration of cells, indicating that the level of endogenous Src within the cell is not limiting for cell migration. This has also been seen upon re-introduction of activated Src into Src -/- cells where activated Src restored migration to a similar level as re-introduction of the wild type protein (Hall et al., 1996). Similarly, in this study SrcY527F did not enhance the ability of cells to form filopodia and polarise. Together, this indicates that adhesion dynamics must be strictly regulated during cell migration and polarisation, where there is sufficient adhesion turnover to allow focal adhesions remodelling and retraction, while maintaining enough adhesion for cell traction during cell polarisation and locomotion.

The presence of functional SH2 and SH3 domains in Src suggests that, in addition to Src's kinase activity, Src may be acting as an adaptor protein allowing its recruitment into focal adhesion structures and/or the recruitment of cellular partners to these sites. In line with this, kinase-deficient Src mutants can rescue both defects in cell spreading and cytoskeletal organisation in Src -/- fibroblasts and osteoclasts respectively (Kaplan et al., 1995; Schwartzberg et al., 1997). Moreover, cells expressing kinase defective Src have been shown to enhance the adhesive strength of cells by re-enforcing the linkage between the actin cytoskeleton and the vitronectin receptor (Felsenfeld et al., 1999). These studies imply that at least some effects of Src on cell adhesions and the cytoskeleton are kinase-independent and may rely on the adaptor function of Src. Spatial and temporal regulation of this adaptor function by RhoGTPases could potentially serve to transiently strengthen adhesions during cell traction possibly by recruiting various scaffolding proteins to these sites and increasing interactions between the ECM and the actin cytoskeleton.

One interesting aspect of Src's functional interactions with cytoskeletal regulators is the apparently paradoxical requirement for RhoA to mediates Src's peripheral targeting (see

chapter 5

Chapter 3 (Fincham et al., 1996)), and the Src-induced antagonism of RhoA via activation of p190RhoGAP (Fincham et al., 1999). p190RhoGAP is phosphorylated in a Src-kinase dependent manner (Ellis et al., 1990), leading to its association with p120RasGAP (Chang et al., 1995; McGlade et al., 1993). This association, in turn, results in increased RhoA-GTPase activity of p190RhoGAP, and the disruption and remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton (Chang et al., 1995). The antagonism of RhoA as a key event in Src's deregulation of the actin cytoskeleton was highlighted by the RhoA-induced reversion of the Src-mediated actin changes in rat fibroblasts (Mayer et al., 1999). In keeping with this, the complex between p190RhoGAP and p120RasGAP is required for stress fibre turnover and efficient cell migration (Kulkarni et al., 2000). Thus it seems that Src is recruited to peripheral adhesions in a RhoA and actin dependent manner where the kinase activity of Src leads to cytoskeletal disruption and adhesion turnover necessary for cell migration (Fincham & Frame, 1998). In line with this, Src selectively modulates integrin-dependent traction forces that are important for cell migration. In particular, linkages between integrin vitronectin receptors and the actin cytoskeleton are strengthened in Src-deficient fibroblasts (Felsenfeld et al., 1999), indicating that Src activity is required to weaken, or disrupt, links at the integrin-cytoskeleton interface thus modulating cell motility. Interestingly, integrin signalling induces early Src-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of p190RhoGAP that is thought to relieve RhoA-mediated contractile forces thus allowing protrusions to form at the leading edge of motile cells (see section 1.6.2) (Arthur et al., 2000).

In our experiments, the presence of Src251-GFP or SrcMF in focal adhesions stabilised these adhesion sites that normally disassemble when the RhoA effector pathway is inhibited. The failure to relieve RhoA-induced contractile forces may partially explain the inefficient formation of protrusive structures such as lamellipodia or filopodia in these cells. Moreover failure to inhibit this contraction at focal adhesions may also explain the impaired focal adhesion to focal complex remodelling observed in these cells. In keeping with this, further studies have demonstrated that inhibition by p190RhoGAP enhances cell spreading and migration by promoting cell protrusion and polarity (Arthur & Burridge, 2001). This may provide an insight as to why Src kinase activity is required in cell migration and more specifically why cells expressing Src251-GFP or SrcMF cannot efficiently co-ordinate cell polarisation or migration in the absence of Src kinase activity (Klinghoffer et al., 1999). Therefore although RhoA is required for Src targeting to focal adhesions and the generation of contractile forces during cell motility, Src-induced antagonism of RhoA-induced contractility is probably also required at specific times and places within migrating cells. c-Src therefore seems to have both positive and negative

effects on cellular adhesions and may act as a switch between their assembly and disassembly placing it in a central position from which to co-ordinate the multi-faceted process of cell motility.

Src induces tyrosine phosphorylation of a number of adhesion substrates, including both structural and regulatory proteins such as, ERM proteins, cortactin, FAK, paxillin (Burridge et al., 1992; Huang et al., 1997; Ilic et al., 1995; Krieg & Hunter, 1992; Martin et al., 1995b; Wu et al., 1991). The exact function of each individual phosphorylation event is not fully understood, however, alterations, in the tyrosine phosphorylation of a number of these proteins could potentially contribute to focal adhesion disruption and the regulation of cell motility (see Introduction Section 1.5.2). It should be noted that tyrosine phosphorylation of various proteins have also been observed in cells expressing kinase defective Src mutants (Kaplan et al., 1994) (E Avizienyte unpublished). This tyrosine phosphorylation could potentially be attributed to the adaptor function of Src's SH2/SH3 domains serving to localise various proteins in focal adhesions within the vicinity of potential binding partners/kinases thereby inducing their phosphorylation. The enhanced tyrosine phosphorylation observed in cells expressing constitutively active Src or v-Src may be involved in focal adhesion turnover and therefore some potential candidates linked to Src-induced focal adhesions turnover and remodelling are examined in more detail in the next chapter.

5.4 Summary

We have demonstrated that co-ordinated regulation of RhoGTPases not only serves to control cell contraction or protrusion during cell migration but also has a secondary role in determining the localisation of Src kinase to functionally distinct structures involved in directed cell migration. Moreover, we have shown that Src does not play a passive role in this process and demonstrate that Src kinase activity participates in the efficient remodelling of focal adhesions to allow the formation of lamellipodia and filopodia which are both necessary for polarised cell migration. In the next chapter we begin to address why Src kinase activity is required during this process and examine the involvement of some potential binding partners/substrates of Src in this process.

Chapter 6

6 Identification of potential binding partners/substrates of Src specifically linked to focal adhesion remodelling.

6.1 Purpose

The different abilities of active and kinase defective Src to re-model Src-containing focal adhesions into lamellipodia- or filopodia- associated complexes is most likely due to the fact that kinase-null or defective forms of Src inhibit the normal function of endogenous Src family kinases. This is consistent with previous findings that kinase-defective v-Src can inhibit focal adhesion turnover (Fincham & Frame, 1998), and suggests that the mechanism of focal adhesion turnover during v-Src transformation and during peripheral re-modelling in response to Rac and Cdc42 may be similar, in that they both require kinase activity. In this chapter we aim to identify binding partners/substrates that are specifically linked to the impaired focal adhesion remodelling observed in Src251-GFP and SrcMF expressing cells, thereby, providing an insight as to why the kinase domain or activity of Src is required for efficient lamellipodia or filopodia formation and ultimately for biological processes such as cell migration and chemotaxis. Since there are many proteins reported to bind to Src, we gave priority to candidates which are of interest to our research and whose likely cellular functions are consistent with our current model of the role Src kinase activity plays in adhesion turnover and remodelling (see Chapter 5). Each potential candidate has been selected on the basis of their reported binding to Src and links to the actin cytoskeleton or focal adhesions.

6.1.1 Scar family proteins as potential candidates involved in focal adhesion remodelling.

Scar proteins are related to the WASP family proteins and like WASP they control actin dynamics by both binding to actin and inducing actin nucleation and polymerisation via the Arp2/3 complex (Machesky & Insall, 1998). The mammalian Scar family include at least four member named Scar-1 - Scar-4 (Bear et al., 1998). Recently, preliminary data obtained by our group indicates that Scar-1 associates with Src in immune complexes, which is mediated by the SH3 domain of Src (V. Brunton, unpublished). Consistent with this link between Src and Scar-1, there has been a great deal of evidence linking Src family kinases to the related protein N-WASP and the actin cytoskeleton. Vaccina virus for
chapter 6

example, utilises the viral protein ρ 36R, which via Src kinase, recruits N-WASP to the cell surface and propels it through the host cell (Frischknecht et al., 1999). Furthermore, the Src family kinase Fyn and the Src related kinase Fgr can both bind to WASP via proline rich sequences in WASP (Banin et al., 1996; Finan et al., 1996; Ramesh et al., 1999), although the consequences for actin nucleation are not known. As Scar-1 has been reported to play a key role in actin remodelling (Machesky & Insall, 1998), especially associated with the formation of PDGF/Rac1-induced lamellipodia, we wanted to establish whether Scar was involved in Src dependent adhesion remodelling events during lamellipodia formation.

In this section we therefore set out to determine whether Scar localises to focal adhesions and focal complexes, following stimulation of RhoA and Rac1. Cells stimulated with LPA, to activate RhoA, resulted in the formation of actin stress fibres (Figure 49b) and using an anti-Scar antibody, Scar was located at sites at the ends of these actin cables (Figure 49a,c, solid arrows). Similarly, following treatment with PDGF, to induce Rac1 activity, Scar was targeted to lamellipodia (Figure 49d, solid arrow) continuous with actin staining (Figure 49e, f, solid arrows). Cells were then stained with vinculin as a monitor of adhesion complexes and vinculin co-localised with Scar in focal adhesions following stimulation with LPA (Figure 50a,c, solid arrows). Moreover, PDGF stimulation resulted in the diffuse localisation of vinculin along the base of lamellipodia (Figure 50e, solid arrows) where it co-localised with Scar (Figure 50d,f). This data demonstrates that Scar localised to similar sub-cellular compartments, as previously described for Src in response to the activation of RhoA or Rac1 (see chapter 4). It is possible that the antibody used in this study could be detecting other isoforms of Scar (Bear et al., 1998; Miki et al., 1998b). As conformation of Scar localisation at these peripheral sites we therefore transfected cells with Myc-tagged Scar-1 and subsequently stimulated cells with LPA or PDGF. Cells stimulated with LPA, resulted in the formation of stress fibres (Figure 51b, broken arrow) and using an anti-myc antibody, myc-tagged Scar-1 was found at the ends of these stress fibres (Figure 51a,c, solid arrow). Furthermore, PDGF stimulation induced the diffuse localisation of myc-tagged Scar-1 along the base of lamellipodia (Figure 51d,e,f, solid arrows). Together, this data indicates that Scar is found at the same peripheral sites as Src in response to RhoA or Rac1 activation. It is therefore possible that Scar-1 along with Src may potentially play a role in the remodelling of focal adhesions to lamellipodia. As Scar has been shown to associate with Src (V Brunton, unpublished) we therefore set out to determine whether Scar co-localised with Src after the stimulation of peripheral targeting of Src from focal adhesions to lamellipodia. Src251-GFP was found to co-localise with Scar in focal adhesions following LPA treatment of cells (Figure 52a-c, solid arrows).

chapter 6

Similarly, SrcY527F co-localised with Scar in focal adhesions after LPA stimulation (Figure 52d-e, solid arrows). Upon stimulation of focal adhesion remodelling to produce lamellipodia both, Src251-GFP and Scar where found at large discrete structures along the base of forming lamellipodia induced by PDGF (Figure 53a-c, solid arrows). In contrast in SrcY527F expressing cells Scar localised with SrcY527F along the base of uniform lamellipodia (Figure 53d-f, solid arrows). This data indicates that in cells with both, activated or kinase-defective forms of Src, Scar co-localised with Src even in cells that were unable to remodel their focal adhesions efficiently to form uniform lamellipodia. This suggests that the binding or co-localisation of Src and Scar does not seem to be determined by the kinase activity of Src and implies that more subtle differences in Scar function may be involved in the impaired lamellipodia formation observed in kinase defective Src expressing cells. One explanation for this is that Scar's activity may be compromised in cells expressing the kinase defective Src mutants.

Figure 49.

Scar localises to focal adhesion and lamellipodia induced by LPA and PDGF. Cells were grown in serum-free conditions overnight prior to stimulation with LPA (200 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (a-c) or PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (d-f). Solid arrows indicate Scar localisation. Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c,e,f). Scar was visualised using an anti-Scar antibody. Scale bars 25 μ m.

LPA



PDGF



Scar co-localises with vinculin at focal adhesions and lamellipodia induced by LPA and PDGF. Cells were grown in serum-free conditions overnight prior to stimulation with LPA (200 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (a-c) or PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (d-f). Solid arrows indicate Scar localisation. Vinculin was visualised using an anti-vinculin antibody (b,c,e,f) and Scar was visualised using an anti-Scar antibody (a,c,d,f). Scale bars 25 μ m.

LPA



PDGF



Myc-tagged Scar-1 localises to focal adhesions and lamellipodia induced by LPA and PDGF. Cells were grown in serum-free conditions overnight prior to stimulation with LPA (200 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (a-c), or PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (d-f). Actin was visualised with rhodamine-phalloidin (b,c,e,f). Myc-tagged Scar-1 was visualised using an anti-myc antibody (a,c,d,f). Scale bars 25 μ m.

LPA



PDGF



Мус

Scar co-localises with Src251-GFP and SrcY527F at focal adhesions induced by RhoA activation. Cells transfected with Src251-GFP (a-c) or SrcY527F (d-f) were placed in serum-free medium overnight and then treated with the protein synthesis inhibitor emetine (55 μ g ml⁻¹) for 30 min prior to stimulation with LPA (200 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (a-f). This protocol allowed us to reduce the heterogeneity in the cells prior to LPA stimulation while maintaining the Src proteins in the focal adhesions prior to stimulation. Scar was visualised using an anti-Src antibody (b,c,e,f), Src251-GFP by direct fluorescence (a,c) and SrcY527F using anti-Src antibody (d,f). Scale bars 25 μ m.



LPA

LPA



Scar co-localises with Src251-GFP and SrcY527F in lamellipodia induced by Rac-1 activation. Cells transfected with Src251-GFP (a-c) or SrcY527F (d-f) were placed in serum-free medium overnight and then treated with the protein synthesis inhibitor emetine (55 μ g ml⁻¹) for 30 min prior to stimulation with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (a-f). This protocol allowed us to reduce the heterogeneity in the cells prior to PDGF stimulation while maintaining the Src proteins in the focal adhesions prior to stimulation. Scar was visualised using an anti-Scar antibody (b,c,e,f), Src251-GFP by direct fluorescence (a,c) and SrcY527F using anti-Src antibody (d,f). Scale bars 25 μ m.



PDGF

PDGF

SrcY527F Scar Merge

6.1.2 The effect of Src kinase activity on Scar-1 function.

As discussed earlier Scar is involved in actin cytoskeletal remodelling by binding to actin and the Arp2/3 complex (Machesky & Insall, 1998). We therefore examined Scar's ability to regulate these processes where there was inefficient actin and focal adhesion remodelling during lamellipodia formation. In particular, as Scar is known to bind directly to the Arp2/3 complex and stimulate its ability to promote the nucleation of new actin filaments (Machesky & Insall, 1998), we determined whether a functional kinase domain of c-Src was required for Arp2/3 binding. We examined the binding of Myc-tagged Scar-1 and Arp2/3 in cells expressing kinase-defective mutants of Src that where unable to remodel focal adhesions in response to PDGF and displayed impaired motility (see Chapter 5) and compared this with cells expressing constitutively active Src. Swiss 3T3 cells expressing Myc-tagged Scar-1 or co-expressing Scar-1 with Src251-GFP, SrcMF or SrcY527F were stimulated with PDGF. (Machesky et al., 1997; Welch et al., 1997). Using one component of the Arp2/3 complex, Arp3, as a surrogate marker of Arp2/3 binding, we found that the presence of either constitutively active Src or kinase defective Src mutants within the cell had no effect on the ability of Scar-1 to bind to Arp3 (Figure 54). As Scar is known to bind directly to actin monomers (Machesky & Insall, 1998) and via the Arp2/3 complex induce actin nucleation, we assessed whether a functional kinase domain of Src could influence the capacity of Scar to bind to actin, which could potentially alter lamellipodia formation (Machesky & Insall, 1998; Miki et al., 1998b). Swiss 3T3 cells expressing Scar-1 or co-expressed with Src251-GFP, SrcMF or SrcY527F were stimulated with PDGF. Myc-tagged Scar-1 was immunoprecipitated from cell lysates and incubated with monomeric actin for 30 min. Using an antibody to actin, we found that the actin binding capacity of Scar-1 was not altered in cells co-expressing the constitutively active or kinase defective Src mutants (Figure 55).

As Scar is known to act as an intermediate between growth factor receptors and the actin cytoskeleton, via adapter molecules such as Grb2 and Nck (Frischknecht et al., 1999; Miki et al., 1999), we investigated whether Src kinase activity effected the adapter function of Scar by examining its ability to bind to Grb2. Cells expressing kinase-defective mutants of Src that where unable to remodel focal adhesions in response to PDGF were compared to cells expressing constitutively active Src. Cells expressing Scar-1 or co-expressing Scar-1 with Src251-GFP, SrcMF or SrcY527F were stimulated with PDGF. Using an antibody to Grb2, we discovered that the presence of a Src kinase domain had no effect on the adaptor

224

function of Scar-1 (Figure 56). Thus we have no evidence to date that the Src kinase domain can influence the function of Scar-1 within the cell.

Src kinase activity does not effect Arp2/3 binding to Scar-1. Cells were placed in serumfree conditions overnight and then stimulated with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min. Myc-tagged Scar-1 was immunoprecipitated from extracts of cells co-transfected with SrcY527F, SrcMF, Src251-GFP or Scar-1 alone using conjugated 9E10 anti-serum. The proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and the levels of Arp2/3 binding to Scar-1 were detected following blotting with an anti-Arp3 antibody, upper panel. Levels of Scar-1 immunoprecipitated from cell extracts was determined using an anti-Scar-1 antibody, lower panel.





Src kinase activity does not effect actin monomer binding to Scar-1. Cells were placed in serum-free conditions overnight and then stimulated with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min. Myc-tagged Scar-1 was immunoprecipitated from extracts of cells co-transfected with SrcY527F, SrcMF, Src251-GFP or Scar-1 alone using conjugated 9E10 anti-serum and incubated with monomeric actin for 30 min at 4°C. The proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and the levels of actin binding to Scar-1 detected following blotting with an anti-actin antibody, upper panel. Levels of Scar-1 immunoprecipitated from cell extracts was determined using an anti-Scar-1 antibody, lower panel.





Src kinase activity does not effect Grb2 binding to Scar-1. Cells were placed in serum-free conditions overnight and then stimulated with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min. Myc-tagged Scar-1 was immunoprecipitated from extracts of cells co-transfected with SrcY527F, SrcMF, Src251-GFP or Scar-1 alone using conjugated 9E10 anti-serum. The proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and the levels of Grb2 binding to Scar-1 detected following blotting with an anti-Grb2 antibody, upper panel. Levels of Scar-1 immunoprecipitated from cell extracts was determined using an anti-Scar-1 antibody, lower panel.

IP Myc-tagged Scar-1



6.1.3 FAK as a candidate in Src induced focal adhesions remodelling.

Src phosphorylates and associates with a number of proteins involved in the regulation of focal adhesion dynamics. FAK for example, is a known Src substrate at adhesion sites and there is considerable evidence that FAK plays a central role in the regulation of focal adhesion disassembly and cell motility (see Section 1.6.2). We therefore, initially set out to determine whether phosphorylation of FAK was altered during PDGF-induced focal adhesion remodelling and lamellipodia formation. Swiss 3T3 cells were stimulated with PDGF, and FAK was immunoprecipitated from cell lysates with an anti-FAK antibody. Using an phosphotyrosine antibody we found that there was an increase in the tyrosine phosphorylation of FAK in PDGF stimulated cells, compared to non-stimulated cells (Figure 57), indicating that the PDGF-induced focal adhesion remodelling seen in Swiss 3T3 cells is accompanied by FAK phosphorylation events. We therefore, tested whether phosphorylation of FAK was regulated by Src kinase activity, by examining FAK phosphorylation in cells expressing Src kinase defective mutants that were unable to remodel focal adhesions in response to PDGF and compared this to cells expressing constitutively active Src. Cells expressing Src251-GFP, SrcMF or SrcY527F, in which the Src mutants localised to focal adhesions in the presence of serum, were subsequently stimulated with PDGF to induce focal adhesion remodelling and lamellipodia formation. Under these conditions the tyrosine phosphorylation of FAK in response to PDGF stimulation, was compromised in cells expressing Src251-GFP and SrcMF, compared to cells expressing SrcY527F and was reduced to similar levels as non-transfected cells (Figure 58). This indicates that the presence of kinase defective Src in focal adhesions is inhibiting the normal phosphorylation of FAK during focal adhesion remodelling induced by PDGF.

FAK has been reported to be phosphorylated on a number of different sites that are potentially involved in mediating various properties of FAK (Calalb et al., 1995; Owen et al., 1999). Src for example, has been shown to phosphorylate FAK on many sites including tyrosine-925 (Schlaepfer & Hunter, 1996). Recent data obtained by our group however demonstrates that in a colorectal cancer cell line expressing Src251-GFP, FAK is phosphorylated on all tyrosine phosphorylation sites except for tyrosine-925 (E Avizienyte, unpublished). It is therefore possible that this site is a potential phosphorylation site linking the activities of Src and FAK to the impaired focal adhesions turnover and remodelling observed in this study. We therefore tested whether FAK phosphorylated on tyrosine-925 was located at peripheral focal adhesions or focal complexes described

232

earlier, following stimulation of RhoA or Rac1. In cells stimulated with LPA, FAK phosphorylation on tyrosine-925 (visualised using a phospho-Y925 FAK antibody) could be seen to localise to focal adhesions (Figure 59a, solid arrows), while FAK phosphorylated on tyrosine-925 was evenly distributed at the base of lamellipodia in cells stimulated with PDGF (Figure 59b, solid arrows). Total (non-phosphorylated and phosphorylated) FAK localisation was also examined under these conditions and was found in focal adhesions or focal complexes along the base of lamellipodia in response to LPA or PDGF respectively (Figure 59c,d). This data, indicates that phosphorylation of tyrosine-925 of FAK occurs at these peripheral adhesion sites and we therefore used tyrosine-925 phosphorylation as a marker of Src-induced, phosphorylation events during the remodelling process. We wished to establish whether, in the context of this remodelling, the phosphorylation of FAK on tyrosine-925 was differentially regulated in cells expressing constitutively active or kinase defective Src. Cells expressing Src251-GFP or SrcY527F, in which the Src mutants localised to focal adhesions in the presence of serum, were subsequently stimulated with PDGF to induce focal adhesion remodelling and lamellipodia formation. Under these conditions FAK phosphorylation on tyrosine-925 could be seen to localise to discrete patches around the edge of the lamellipodia in Src251-GFP expressing cells (Figure 60a), while in SrcY527F expressing cells FAK phosphorylation on tyrosine-925 was found to be continuous along the lamellipodia (Figure 60b). Thus a different spatial regulation in FAK phosphorylation on tyrosine-925 can be seen between cells expressing kinase active or defective Src however differences in FAK phosphorylation levels were difficult to establish. Subsequent experiments employing a retroviral transfection system allowed us to examine differences between kinase defective and active Src expressing cells (see Disccusion Section 6.2.2).

PDGF stimulation increases FAK phosphorylation. Cells were placed in serum-free conditions overnight and then stimulated with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min. Control cells were not stimulated with PDGF. FAK was immunoprecipitated from whole cell extracts using an anti-FAK antibody. The proteins resolved by SDS-PAGE and the levels of tyrosine phosphorylation were detected following blotting with an anti-phosphotyrosine antibody, upper panel. Levels of FAK immunoprecipitated from cell extracts was determined using an anti-FAK antibody, lower panel.



IP FAK

Phosphorylation of FAK is inhibited in cells expressing kinase defective Src. Cells were placed in serum-free conditions overnight and then stimulated with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (lane 2-4). FAK was immunoprecipitated from extracts of cells transfected with SrcY527F, SrcMF, or Src251-GFP or non-transfected cells using an anti-FAK antibody. The proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and the levels of tyrosine phosphorylation detected following blotting with an anti-phosphotyrosine antibody, upper panel. Levels of FAK immunoprecipitated from cell extracts was determined using an anti-FAK antibody, lower panel.





PDGF

FAK phosphorylated on tyrosine-925 is found in focal adhesions and lamellipodia. Cells were grown in serum-free conditions overnight prior to stimulation with LPA (200 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (a,c) or PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min (b,d). FAK phosphorylated on tyrosine-925 was visualised using a phospho-FAK-Y925 specific antibody (a,b), while FAK was visualised using an anti-FAK antibody (c,d). Arrows indicate FAK localisation. Scale bars 25 μm.

LPA



phospho-FAK-Y925

PDGF



phospho-FAK-Y925

LPA



FAK





FAK

FAK phosphorylation on tyrosine-925 localises to discrete patches around the edge of the lamellipodia in Src251-GFP expressing cells and is found to be continuous along the lamellipodia in SrcY527F expressing cells. Cells transfected with SrcY527F (a) or Src251-GFP (b) were grown in serum-free conditions overnight prior to stimulation with PDGF (25 ng ml⁻¹) for 30 min. FAK phosphorylated on tyrosine-925 was visualised using a phospho-FAK-Y925 specific antibody (a,b). Scale bars 25 μm.

PDGF



phospho-FAK-Y925

phospho-FAK-Y925

6.2 Discussion

In this chapter we addressed whether the impaired remodelling observed in cells expressing kinase defective Src could be linked to two potentially important Src binding partners/substrates, Scar and FAK.

6.2.1 Scar as a candidate in Src induced focal adhesions remodelling.

We initially addressed whether the impaired remodelling in cells expressing kinasedefective Src could be related to Src-induced changes in the localisation of Scar. Scar is involved in Rac1 mediated actin polymerisation, which is a prerequisite for lamellipodia formation and could potentially influence the efficiency of lamellipodia formation (Machesky & Insall, 1998; Machesky et al., 1997; Miki et al., 1998b). Previous reports for example, have demonstrated that Scar plays a critical role in Rac1 induced lamellipodia formation (Machesky & Insall, 1998; Miki et al., 1998b). Scar was found at the same peripheral sites as Src in response to RhoA and Rac1 stimuli, indicating that Scar's spatial regulation within the cell is consistent with a potential role in remodelling events during lamellipodia formation. After inducing focal adhesion remodelling to form lamellipodia, we found that Scar was still localised with Src even in the kinase-defective cells that were unable to efficiently remodel their focal adhesions to induce uniform lamellipodia. This suggested that Scar was at the correct sites within the cell to initiate the actin remodelling. required for lamellipodia formation, however efficient remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton did not occur. One explanation for this is that Scar activity may be compromised in cells expressing the kinase defective Src mutants. We therefore examined whether the function of Scar within the cell was altered in cells expressing constitutively active or kinase defective mutants of Src. The ability of Scar to bind to the Arp2/3 complex and thereby control actin polymerisation during lamellipodia formation however was not altered in cells expressing kinase defective Src mutants. Consistent with this, Src kinase activity had no effect on the ability of Scar to bind to actin monomers in vitro. We can therefore conclude from this that the inhibition of focal adhesion remodelling observed in kinase defective Src expressing cells may not be mediated by alterations in Scar-1induced actin binding events.

Other factors involving Scar-1 however could also influence the remodelling events during lamellipodia formation. Grb2 for example, has recently been shown to bind to Scar (Miki et al., 1999) and has been shown to be required for lamellipodia formation, as inhibitory

242

antibodies to Grb2 block PDGF-induced lamellipodia formation (Matuoka et al., 1993). Moreover, Grb2 has also been shown to bind and sequester proteins to the plasma membrane (Li et al., 1993; Miki et al., 1999; Rozakis-Adcock et al., 1993; She et al., 1997). The binding therefore of Grb2 to Scar could potentially be involved in the peripheral targeting of Scar and the Arp2/3 complex to the cell membrane during lamellipodia formation. Alterations in the binding of Grb2 to Scar in cells expressing active or kinase defective Src could therefore effect the efficient formation of lamellipodia (Miki et al., 1999). In this study however we demonstrate that expression of kinase active or deficient Src mutants in cells has no effect on Grb2 binding to Scar thereby ruling out this possibility in our model. Tyrosine phosphorylation of the related protein WASP has been reported in various cell systems to alter its function and thereby the actin dynamics within the cell during a number of processes and this phosphorylation-induced alteration in WASP function could therefore act as a precedent for Scar regulation during lamellipodia formation (Oda et al., 1998; She et al., 1997; Wu et al., 1998). Under the conditions of our study however we have not detected any alteration in the tyrosine phosphorylation status of Scar within the cells expressing kinase active or defective Src mutants. Scar was thought to be a potential candidate involved in linking Src to the actin cytoskeleton during lamellipodia formation. To date however we have no evidence that Scar function is altered in cells expressing constitutively active or kinase defective Src mutants, suggesting that alterations in Scar localisation or activity are not responsible for the impaired remodelling observed in cells expressing kinase defective Src. We cannot however completely rule out the possibility that Scar may be involved in this process by mechanisms that we have not addressed.

6.2.2 FAK as a candidate in Src induced focal adhesions remodelling.

Src binds to and phosphorylates a number of other cytoskeletal associated proteins and here we have addressed the involvement of FAK in focal adhesion remodelling. There is convincing evidence that the linked activity of Src and FAK, controls adhesion turnover and cell migration (see Section 1.6.2). Direct evidence for a link between Src and FAK in adhesion turnover comes from studies where over-expression of exogenous FAK in CHO cells stimulates cell migration, which is dependent on its ability to associate with Src family members (Cary et al., 1996). Furthermore, expression of FAK mutants unable to bind Src, hinders focal adhesion turnover and cell migration (Cary et al., 1996). Finally, evidence that dominant-inhibitory Src proteins and the absence of FAK both give rise to enlarged cellular adhesions and impaired migration (see Section 1.6.1), strongly suggests that the critical role of their activity is to induce adhesion turnover and remodelling. In this

regard, mutants of Src that suppress cell motility, including kinase defective Src (see Chapter 3) have previously been shown to impair FAK proteolysis and adhesion turnover (Fincham & Frame, 1998). In this study we have shown that tyrosine phosphorylation of FAK is suppressed in cells expressing kinase defective Src. Recently, regulatory events that lead to Src-mediated adhesion disassembly via FAK have come from studies on v-Srcinduced focal adhesion disruption, in which v-Src induced tyrosine phosphorylation of FAK precedes its calpain-mediated proteolytic cleavage. This results in FAK cleavage, adhesion disassembly and cell detachment (Carragher et al., 2001; Carragher et al., 1999; Fincham et al., 1995). In keeping with this, calpain is present at focal adhesions and is required for migratory responses downstream of EGFR (Beckerle et al., 1987; Glading et al., 2000). Moreover, recent work by our group has also demonstrated that inhibition of calpain blocks cell migration (Carragher et al., 2001). It is therefore possible that FAK phosphorylation and the calpain-mediated proteolysis of FAK is a tightly controlled process that triggers adhesion turnover and remodelling when cell/matrix adhesions are being dynamically regulated during Src dependent cell migration. In this regard, the reduced phosphorylation of FAK in kinase defective cells may explain why cells expressing kinase defective Src have reduced focal adhesion turnover and remodelling and as a result cell migration and polarisation is impaired. In line with this, previous work by our group has shown that un-phosphorylated FAK, in the presence of kinase defective v-Src, forms a more stable complex with Src and remains un-degraded in stabilised focal adhesions (Fincham & Frame, 1998).

FAK has been documented to be phosphorylated on a number of different sites (Calalb et al., 1995; Owen et al., 1999). We chose to study the phosphorylation of FAK on tyrosine-925 as it has previously been shown to be the only site on FAK that is not phosphorylated in Src251-GFP expressing colorectal cancer cells (E Avizienyte, unpublished) and is therefore a potential link between the impaired focal adhesion turnover and remodelling observed in cells expressing kinase defective Src and the activities of Src and FAK in this In the context of focal adhesion remodelling to lamellipodia, we examined process. whether the phosphorylation of FAK on tyrosine-925 is differentially regulated in cells expressing SrcY527F or SrcMF. We found a different spatial regulation in FAK phosphorylation on tyrosine-925 between cells expressing kinase active or defective Src however differences in FAK phosphorylation levels by immunofluorescence were difficult to visualise. Subsequently, experiments employing a retroviral transfection system to increase the percentage of cell expressing the respective Src constructs allowed us to see more subtle differences between cells expressing kinase defective and active Src mutants. Cells expressing the empty vector or SrcMF in which SrcMF was localised to focal

244

adhesions, were stimulated with PDGF. Using an antibody against phosphorylated tyrosine-925 in FAK, we found that PDGF stimulated the phosphorylation of tyrosine-925, while in cells expressing SrcMF there was very little phosphorylation on this site (Figure 7, (Timpson et al., 2001). Therefore, using FAK tyrosine 925 phosphorylation as a marker of Src-dependent phosphorylation events at peripheral adhesions, we have shown that kinase defective Src expression suppresses both peripheral phosphorylation events and adhesion re-modelling. The potential link between FAK-925 phosphorylation and focal adhesion remodelling and turnover will be discussed in more detail in chapter 7 (see section 7.1.4, future studies). Reduced FAK phosphorylation on tyrosine-925, like the general reduction in phosphorylation of FAK in kinase defective cells, in response to PDGF stimulation, may effect its susceptibility to calpain cleavage and explain the impaired remodelling and directed cell migration observed in these cells. The potential involvement of FAK-specific phospho-acceptor sites and their involvement in FAK degradation, focal adhesion disruption and remodelling could be examined in the future. For this, we currently have constructs encoding epitope tagged mutant FAK proteins with each of FAK's tyrosine phosphorylation sites mutated to phenylalanine, both individually and in combinations, thereby inhibiting possible tyrosine phosphorylation on these sites. Over-expression of these proteins would allow us to determine for example, whether Src-induced phosphorylation of FAK on tyrosine-925 observed here, regulates focal adhesion turnover and remodelling, as well as allowing us to assess the role other phosphorylation sites play in this process. It is possible that phosphorylation on one or more of these sites could be involved in focal adhesion turnover during cell migration. On the other hand phosphorylation has been shown to stabilise FAK, for example, integrin-induced phosphorylation of FAK on tyrosine-397 is associated with focal adhesions assembly, which interestingly has recently been shown to protect FAK and focal adhesions from degradation induced by v-Src (N Carragher, unpublished). The potential for site specific phosphorylation events in controlling focal adhesions disassembly or assembly, makes FAK an exciting candidate to examine further as a key player in adhesion dynamics induced by Src during cell migration.

Phosphorylation of FAK on tyrosine-925 also recruits the SH2 domain of the adaptor protein Grb2 (Schlaepfer & Hunter, 1996) which in turn can result in activation of the Rasextracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK) pathway. Several lines of evidence suggest a role for this pathway in the control of cell motility and polarity. Firstly, as described earlier inhibitory antibodies to Grb2 block PDGF-induced lamellipodia (Matuoka et al., 1993). Secondly, activated ERK has been found in newly forming focal adhesions where it is thought to play a role in their assembly (Fincham et al., 2000). Thirdly, inhibition of

ERK activation blocks cell migration in different cell types (Klemke et al., 1997; Nguyen et al., 1999) which has been attributed to the ability of ERK to phosphorylate and activate MLCK (Nguyen et al., 1999). Moreover, we have recently shown that inhibition of MEK blocks Src-induced focal adhesion turnover (V. Fincham unpublished). MLCK is important for the formation of peripheral adhesions and the generation of tension during cell motility (Schoenwaelder & Burridge, 1999). Therefore, the reduced phosphorylation on tyrosine-925 could potentially explain the impaired lamellipodia and cell migration observed in cells expressing kinase defective Src by a mechanism which involves an impaired FAK-Grb2-ERK signalling pathway.

6.3 Summary

In this chapter we have initiated studies to address the involvement of two potentially interesting binding partners/substrates of Src in focal adhesion to focal complex remodelling during lamellipodia formation. Src however, also phosphorylates and binds to a number of other cytoskeletal and focal adhesion associated proteins and these events along with Src's potential link to yet unidentified proteins may also be involved in adhesion turnover, remodelling and directed cell motility (Arthur & Burridge, 2001; Arthur et al., 2000; Thomas et al., 1995). The impaired FAK phosphorylation reported in this study are therefore likely to represent only part of a number of Src mediated phosphorylation events regulating focal adhesion remodelling and directed cell motility.

In these experiments we have focused on focal adhesion remodelling events during lamellipodia formation. It should be noted that time permitting we would also like to address the involvement of potential candidates in the focal adhesion remodelling during bradykinin (Cdc42)-induced filopodia formation. It is possible that different candidates may play a role in focal adhesion remodelling depending on the structure being formed and therefore some candidates may be specifically involved in lamellipodia formation while others could be involved in filopodia formation or both.

Chapter 7
7 Conclusion

7.1 Summary and future work.

7.1.1 Summary

The ability of a cell to move depends on a cycle of adhesion, loss of attachment and readhesion, which is governed by, and co-ordinated with, changes in the actin cytoskeleton arrangement (Schoenwaelder & Burridge, 1999; Small et al., 1999). The actin structures, lamellipodia and filopodia assemble and disassemble at the leading edge of cells under the control of Rac1 and Cdc42, providing a means of polarised cell movement. Small focal complexes form at lamellipodia and filopodia, which are rapidly turned over as the cell moves forward, while the RhoA-dependent assembly of stress fibres provide contractility and propulsion required for forward cell movement. Since it is the balance between contractility and adhesion that governs the rate of cell motility, relative activities of RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 are critical in determining whether and how a cell moves. Moreover, alterations in adhesive interactions between the cell and the substratum by protein-protein interactions, via proteins such as Src, during this process also influence cell migration. In the current study we have examined both the role of the RhoGTPases in directing the intracellular localisation of the tyrosine kinase c-Src, that is known to be required for adhesion turnover and cell motility (Fincham & Frame, 1998), and secondly examined the role of Src kinase activity in controlling cell movement.

The current data presented here and in previous studies with v-Src (Fincham et al., 2000; Fincham & Frame, 1998; Fincham et al., 1996) has helped us define a number of stages in Src's peripheral targeting. Firstly, Src is transferred from the microtubule-dependent perinuclear region of the cell into multi-protein complexes, yet to be fully identified, which associate with the actin cytoskeleton (Fincham & Frame, 1998; Fincham et al., 1996). Subsequently Src translocates to the cell periphery to focal adhesions in a RhoA and actindependent manner (see Figure 61) (See Chapter 4, Section 4.1.1 (Fincham et al., 1996). Moreover, we have illustrated here, that the co-ordination of RhoGTPases is required to specifically relocate Src from RhoA-induced focal adhesions to lamellipodia or filopodia following Rac1 or Cdc42 activation, respectively (see Chapter 4, section 4.1.1). Furthermore, the kinase activity of Src has previously been shown to be dispensable for Src's peripheral targeting to focal adhesions (Fincham & Frame, 1998; Kaplan et al., 1994). We show in this study that Src kinase activity is required for focal adhesion turnover and remodelling to induce the disassembly of large focal adhesions to smaller focal complexes needed for efficient lamellipodia or filopodia formation and directed cell migration (Chapter 5). Finally, we have identified FAK as a potential binding partner/substrate involved in Src-induced focal adhesion remodelling during lamellipodia formation (Chapter 6).

Schematic representation of Src's intracellular targeting from the perinuclear region of the cell to lamellipodia or filopodia. Illustrating some questions yet to be addressed including which potential chaperon proteins are involved in the peripheral targeting of Src and which potential candidates are involved in Src's focal adhesion remodelling during lamellipodia or filopodia formation.



7.1.2 Future studies.

The two main areas for future investigations are (a) the role of various proteins in the initial peripheral targeting of Src from a perinuclear location to the cell periphery (see Figure 61) and (b) examination of proteins potentially involved in Src-induced focal adhesion turnover and remodelling during lamellipodia and filopodia formation (See Figure 61).

7.1.3 Potential candidates involved in Src's perinuclear to peripheral targeting

As discussed in the introduction (see Section 1.1.1), Src contains both SH2 and SH3 protein-protein interacting domains, which can associate with a variety of different chaperon proteins. It has been postulated that sequential binding of a sub-set of proteins may mediate the translocation of Src between sub-cellular compartments within the cell and it is therefore likely that different proteins will be specifically involved in different stages of Src's intracellular targeting. To date, we have ruled out a number of key components in Src's peripheral targeting including AFAP, HSP90 and FAK (see Introduction Section 1.2.2) (Fincham et al., 2000). We have however, identified PI3kinase as an SH3 binding protein required for Src's peripheral targeting to focal adhesions, most likely mediated by its ability to maintain actin stress fibre integrity (Fincham et al., 2000). In addition to this, there are many proteins that bind to Src, whose likely cellular functions are consistent with a role in Src's peripheral targeting. The Scar family of proteins that control actin polymerisation for example, were assessed in Chapter 6 (see Section 6.1.1) as potential candidates involved in focal adhesions remodelling and actin reorganisation during lamellipodia formation. Interestingly, Machesky and Hall have previously demonstrated that long-term expression of inhibitory Scar-1 mutants result in a loss of actin stress fibres, indicating that there is a need for actin nucleation and new polymerisation, induced by Scar-1, for long-term maintenance of stress fibres (Machesky & Hall, 1997). This requirement for actin polymerisation to maintain stress fibres has been demonstrated by the incorporation of new polymerised actin into stress fibres (Machesky & Hall, 1997). It is therefore possible that Scar-1s ability to control actin polymerisation may be involved in Src's peripheral targeting by maintaining actin stress fibre integrity during RhoA and actin dependent targeting of Src to focal adhesions.

To address the role of actin polymerisation in Src targeting to the cell periphery, we could inhibit actin polymerisation and examine Src translocation and new actin assembly in real time using time lapse microscopy. Cells could be microinjected with rhodamine-labelled actin (Chan et al., 1998; Small et al., 2002), to allow us to monitor actin dynamics in real time. This will allow us to visualise both, Src251-GFP translocation to focal adhesions and the incorporation and remodelling of new actin in real time. From this we could determine whether Src translocation occurs along with new actin polymerisation or whether Src is targeting to the cell periphery along pre-formed actin stress fibres.

With regards to RhoA-induced peripheral targeting of Src to focal adhesions we have also demonstrated that inhibition of the Rho-effector ROCK (see Section 1.4.1), blocks this peripheral targeting process (see Chapter 4). ROCK is thought to co-operate with various other RhoA effector to induce stress fibres (see Section 1.4.1). Recently the diaphanous related formin proteins, mDia 1/2 have attracted attention as important effectors cooperating with ROCK to induce actin stress fibres (see Section 1.4.1). Interestingly, a direct association between c-Src and mDia1/2, most likely mediated by the SH3 domain of Src and the proline-rich sequences of the Dia protein FH domains has been reported (Tominaga et al., 2000). Moreover, the expression of a dominant inhibitory Src protein, or deletion of the FH1 domain of mDia2 has been reported to abolish the co-operative effects of the Dia proteins with ROCK in mediating RhoA-induced stress fibre formation (Tominaga et al., 2000). These properties of mDia1/2 make them exiting candidates that potentially play a role in Src's peripheral targeting. It has therefore been proposed that RhoA may localise Src to focal adhesions via mDia1/2 (Tominaga et al., 2000). A number of DRF proteins and mutants are currently available to address the involvement of diaphanous proteins in Src's peripheral targeting (provided by Art Albert's group at the Van Andel Institute, Michigan). Furthermore, mouse cells that are functionally -/- for mDia1 or mDia2 are being generated by Art Alberts group, which will help establish the involvement of Dia in Src's peripheral transport to focal adhesions.

There are almost certainly more Src binding partners and methods of Src transport to the cell periphery to be identified. For example, recent work by our group has suggested that, like its binding partner paxillin, there may be a vesicle-mediated delivery component to the intracellular targeting of Src. Mutants of v-Src which do not target to the cell periphery can be observed located in the perinulcear region of the cell in structures that resemble large vesicles (V Fincham, unpublished observation), suggesting that these non-targeting mutants are unable to be released from this mode of transport to the actin cytoskeletal transport mechanisms described in this study. The ARF-GTP-binding proteins could be

potential candidates involved in this process, as they are well known regulators of intracellular membrane traffic (Serafini et al., 1991) and have previously been identified as Src binding partners (Brown et al., 1998). Moreover, ARF proteins have been shown to be involved in the vesicular transport of various proteins to the cell periphery, such as paxillin (Norman et al., 1998), as well as being implicated in regulation of the actin cytoskeleton (Randazzo et al., 2000). Furthermore, ARF proteins have been documented to localise in the perinuclear region of the cell and to focal adhesions, or to peripheral lamellipodia during cell migration (Brown et al., 1998; Randazzo et al., 2000). These properties of ARF proteins make them exciting candidates that may potentially play a role in Src's intracellular targeting, both as a link between the potential vesicle-mediated targeting of Src and the known actin-dependent targeting of Src described in this study. As discussed earlier, it is likely that the sequential binding of a sub-set of proteins may mediate the transport of Src between sub-cellular compartments. Our ability to regulate the intracellular localisation of Src by modulating the actin cytoskeleton (described in this study) or by utilising the versatile properties of the temperature sensitive (ts) v-Src system, which incorporates both targeting and non-targeting mutants of Src (Fincham et al., 2000; Westphal et al., 1997), provides us with excellent tools to address the involvement of various proteins at different stages of Src's intracellular targeting and may reveal more about the interactions between Src, the actin cytoskeleton and other potentially modes of transport, including vesicle based targeting within the cell. A greater understanding of the nature and mechanisms involved in the defined stages of Src's intracellular transport may lead to the identificatio of new key players in this process in the future.

7.1.4 Potential candidates involved in Src's focal adhesion remodelling during lamellipodia or filopodia formation.

In this study we have demonstrated a further stage in Src's intracellular targeting, by illustrating the remodelling of Src containing focal adhesions to lamellipodia or filopodia in response to the respective RhoGTPase (see Figure 61) (see chapter 4 section 4.1.4 and 4.1.5). Similar to the strategy discussed above, we have employed a candidate approach here to address the involvement of potential proteins involved in this specific remodelling and our preliminary results suggest that FAK might be involved in the regulation and partial disassembly of large focal adhesions to smaller focal complexes necessary for lamellipodia formation (see chapter 5 section 5.1.4 and 5.1.5 and chapter 6 section 6.1.3).

FAK is unlikely to be the sole substrate of Src involved in focal adhesion turnover. Cortactin, paxillin and ERM proteins are amongst some of the other potential candidates involved in Src induced focal adhesion remodelling. The effects on FAK phosphorylation reported in this study are therefore likely to represent only part of a number of Src mediated phosphorylation and binding events regulating adhesion remodelling in response to biological stimuli that induce directed cell migration. The list of potential candidates involved in Src's perinuclear to peripheral targeting or in Src-induced phosphorylation events during adhesion remodelling, is not exhaustive, and on a long term basis we plan to screen for other potential candidates involved in these processes. Standard procedures will be used, including co-immunoprecipitation, metabolic labelling and 2D gel electrophoresis to identify binding partners/substrates that are specifically linked to the impaired focal adhesion remodelling observed in cells expressing kinase defective Src. Cells expressing activated or kinase deficient Src, treated with the respective stimuli (PDGF or bradykinin), will be used to examine the differential Src protein binding partners/substrates involved in Src's intracellular targeting at different stages within the targeting process. This will allow us to specifically link known and potentially unknown binding proteins to the impaired focal adhesions remodelling observed in this study during lamellipodia of filopodia formation respectively. Unidentified proteins that are differentially expressed will then be subjected to further examination and identification by mass spectroscopy.

A great deal of structural and functional studies with members of the Src family kinases has led to a detailed understanding of Src activation and inactivation at the molecular level (see Introduction Section 1.1.3). Conformational activation, usually induced by dephosphorylation of Src tyrosine-527, or displacement of Src's intramolecular interactions. simultaneously stimulates catalytic activity and frees the protein binding domains for protein-protein interactions, which could potentially control Src's targeting within the cell. The co-ordinated regulation of Src targeting by RhoGTPases and the simultaneous kinase activation ensures that inadvertant relocalisation of active Src is avoided. This allows Src to respond for example, to migratory stimuli such as PDGF, and specifically incorporate into adhesions as they form. Src activity at these sites however, ultimately induces the disassembly and remodelling of adhesions (see Introduction Section 1.6.1) which is necessary for example, to produce protrusive structures such as lamellipodia and filopodia. Since the formation of these structures is intimately involved in controlling cell migration and chemotaxis, the major challenge now is to establish how motile cells spatially and temporally integrate the activity of RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42, which in turn spatially regulates c-Src during cell migration. In future work, monitoring Src by direct fluorescence may allow us to begin to address how the integrated effects of RhoGTPases

255

relates to the spatial and temporal regulation of Src at different stages during the process of directed cell migration. Recently, we have intitiated studies to address this by visualising Src's intracellular targeting in real time using a C-terminal linker sequence to tag full length Src with GFP (a kind gift from G. Superti Furga). Furthermore, understanding which proteins are key regulators in this process and determining how Src-kinase dependent events at focal adhesions regulate remodelling in response to biological stimuli that induce directed cell migration will be of great interest in the future. It should be noted that RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 may also regulate the localisation of other proteins within the cell that, like Src, play an important role in adhesion dynamics during cell migration.

Appendices

.

1836 Research Paper

Coordination of cell polarization and migration by the Rho family GTPases requires Src tyrosine kinase activity

Paul Timpson*, Gareth E. Jones[‡], Margaret C. Frame^{*†} and Valerie G. Brunton^{*}

Background: The ability of a cell to polarize and move is governed by remodeling of the cellular adhesion/cytoskeletal network that is in turn controlled by the Rho family of small GTPases. However, it is not known what signals lie downstream of Rac1 and Cdc42 during peripheral actin and adhesion remodeling that is required for directional migration.

Results: We show here that individual members of the Rho family, RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42, direct the specific intracellular targeting of c-Src tyrosine kinase to focal adhesions, lamellipodia, or filopodia, respectively, and that the adaptor function of c-Src (the combined SH3/SH2 domains coupled to green fluorescent protein) is sufficient for targeting. Furthermore, Src's catalytic activity is absolutely required at these peripheral cell-matrix attachment sites for remodeling that converts RhoA-dependent focal adhesions into smaller focal complexes along Rac1-induced lamellipodia (or Cdc42-induced filopodia). Consequently, cells in which kinase-deficient c-Src occupies peripheral adhesion sites exhibit impaired polarization toward migratory stimuli and reduced motility. Furthermore, phosphorylation of FAK, an Src adhesion substrate, is suppressed under these conditions.

Conclusions: Our findings demonstrate that individual Rho GTPases specify Src's exact peripheral localization and that Rac1- and Cdc42-induced adhesion remodeling and directed cell migration require Src activity at peripheral adhesion sites.

Background

Adhesive interactions between cells and the extracellular environment, together with regulation of the intracellular cytoskeleton, control a number of key biological functions, including cell motility and invasion. Focal adhesions consist of clustered integrins and proteins that link the extracellular matrix (ECM), through the integrins, to the actin cytoskeleton and to proteins involved in adhesion-dependent signal transduction [1]. One such protein is the nonreceptor tyrosine kinase c-Src that can also associate with endosomal membranes in the perinuclear region of the cell [2, 3]. Mutation of tyrosine-527 to phenylalanine in c-Src, which results in catalytic activation, as well as release of constraints on the SH3 and SH2 domains, leads to c-Src being constitutively associated with focal adhesions [4]. Similarly, temperature-sensitive variants of the viral oncoprotein v-Src localize to focal adhesions when activated by switch to permissive temperature [5]. The kinase activity of v-Src or c-Src is not required for focal adhesion localization, but mutational analysis has revealed a critical role for the SH3 domain of both proteins in their intracellular targeting [4, 6, 7]. Although the localization of Src to focal adhesions does not require Src's catalytic activity, kinase activity is required for v-Src-induced focal adhesion turnover during transformation and motility [6, Addresses: *Beatson Institute for Cancer Research, CRC Beatson Laboratories, Garscube Estate, Switchback Road, Bearsden, Glasgow, G61 1BD, United Kingdom. [†]Institute of Biological and Life Sciences, Davidson Building, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, G12 80Q, United Kingdom. [‡]The Randall Institute, King's College London, Guy's Campus, London, SE1 1UL, United Kingdom.

Correspondence: Valerie G. Brunton E-mail: v.brunton@beatson.gla.ac.uk

Received: 13 June 2001 Revised: 10 October 2001 Accepted: 11 October 2001

Published: 27 November 2001

Current Biology 2001, 11:1836-1846

0960-9822/01/\$ - see front matter © 2001 Elsevier Science Ltd. All rights reserved.

8]. Thus, in order for v-Sre to induce its biological effects, it must first be translocated from its site of synthesis to its site of action at peripheral cell-matrix adhesions.

The localization of v-Src to focal adhesions requires the integrity of the actin cytoskeleton and is under the control of RhoA GTPase [5]. In fibroblasts, activation of Rho GTPases, RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 by different transmembrane receptors leads to distinct rearrangements of the actin cytoskeleton. Activation of RhoA stimulates actomyosin-based contractility, which leads to the assembly of actin stress fibers and focal adhesions found at the end of stress fibers [9, 10]. Rac1 activation leads to localized actin polymerization at the cell periphery, resulting in the formation of lamellipodia, while activation of Cdc42 results in the formation of fine actin-rich protrusions, known as filopodia [11-13]. Rac1 and Cdc42 stimulate the assembly of focal complexes that are associated with lamellipodia and filopodia, respectively. They contain a number of the same proteins found in Rho-induced focal adhesions, including vinculin, paxillin, and focal adhesion kinase (FAK) [13].

Here, we addressed how RhoA-, Rac1-, or Cdc42-induced changes in the actin cytoskeleton influence the intracellu-

Research Paper Separase in C. elegans meiosis Siomos et al. 1835

- 40. Hill DP, Shakes DC, Ward S, Strome S: A sperm-supplied product essential for initiation of normal embryogenesis in Caenorhabditis elegans is encoded by the paternal-effect embryonic-lethal gene, spe-11. *Dev Biol* 1989, **136**:154-166.
- Chitwood BG, Chitwood MB: *Introduction to nematology*. Baltimore: University Park Press; 1974.
 Browning H, Strome S: A sperm-supplied factor required for
- Browning H, Strome S. A sperm-supplied factor required for embryogenesis in C. elegans. Development 1996, 122:391-404.
- 43. Sullivan M, Lehane C, Uhlmann F: Orchestrating anaphase and mitotic exit: separase cleavage and localization of Slk19. Nat Cell Biol 2001, 3:771-777.
- Uhlmann F, Lottspeich F, Nasmyth K: Sister-chromatid separation at anaphase onset is promoted by cleavage of the cohesin subunit Scc1. Nature 1999, 400:37-42.
- Grey RD, Wolf DP, Hedrick JL: Formation and structure of the fertilization envelope in Xenopus laevis. *Dev Biol* 1974, 36:44-61.
- 46. Wolf DP: The cortical granule reaction in living eggs of the toad, Xenopus laevis. *Dev Biol* 1974, **36**:62-71.
- Gerton GL, Hedrick JL: The vitelline envelope to fertilization envelope conversion in eggs of Xenopus laevis. *Dev Biol* 1986, 116:1-7.
- Bleil JD, Wassarman PM: Mammalian sperm-egg interaction: identification of a glycoprotein in mouse egg zonae pellucidae possessing receptor activity for sperm. Cell 1980, 20:873-882.
- Schultz RM, Kopf GS: Molecular basis of mammalian egg activation. In Current Topics in Developmental Biology. Edited by Pedersen RA, Schatten G. San Diego: Academic Press; 1995:21-62.
- Wassarman PM: Zona pellucida glycoproteins. Annu Rev Biochem 1988, 57:415-442.
- 51. Moller CC, Wassarman PM: Characterization of a proteinase that cleaves zona pellucida glycoprotein ZP2 following activation of mouse eggs. *Dev Biol* 1989, **132**:103-112.
- Miller DJ, Gong X, Decker G, Shur BD: Egg cortical granule N-acetylglucosaminidase is required for the mouse zona block to polyspermy. J Cell Biol 1993, 123:1431-1440.
- 53. Brenner S: The genetics of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* 1974, **77**:71-94.
- Oegema K, Desai A, Rybina S, Kirkham M, Hyman AA: Functional Analysis of Kinetochore Assembly in Caenorhabditis elegans. J Cell Biol 2001, 153:1209-1226.
- Edgar GE: Blastomere Culture and Analysis. In Caenorhabditis elegans Modern Biological Analysis of an Organism. Edited by Epstein HF, Shakes DC. San Francisco: Academic Press; 1995:303-321.

the restriction is a set of the information and the second second of the second second

Here's a laterated in a fibrate for Card Support

Responses the oblight of a coll to polarize and move merbilishing of the collular adhomics/spicalos/network controllish by the Rho tamak of amak GTPsuses. However, and mights in stownshearr of Rec1 and Coloriz during collegene remoduling that is required for duric liceal ring.

Reputitor: We show here that notwoked interplant of its Ref. and CoroA2, direct the spoulle interpolate target possible broken to to a software, it is for the combined St and the trop source brocker. It is for the combined St syspated to green functions of the tears of a there is both and the software for the tears of a these to the broken who states is the to the tears of a these to be broken who states is the to the tears of a the tears of a states of the software for the tears of a broken who states for the tear of the tears of the broken for the tear of the tear of the tears of the broken who states the tear of the tears of the broken people of where tears are a the tear of the tears of the tear of the tear of the tears of 3-1 and the tear of the tear of the tear of the tears of the tear of the broken people of where tear or the tear of 3-1 and the tear of t

Constantions: Our bridings domonstrate 1901 mili-rated Rhs of early bride a seast performal institution and shall Final - an definition antenana remadeling and depended defining and of teach and advention area.

hautogeound

••• A provide the product of the regulation of the restriction of the second of the regulation of the restriction of the res

lar localization of c-Src and Src's biological effects at these peripheral sites. As the first 251 amino acids of c-Src, comprising the site of myristylation, unique region, and SH3 and SH2 domains, are sufficient to localize c-Src to ocal adhesions, we used green fluorescent protein (GFP) used to the first 251 amino acids of c-Src (Src251-GFP) to monitor subcellular localization following stimulation of the Rho GTPases. Upon stimulation of RhoA, Rac1, or Cdc42, actin reorganization is accompanied by recruitment of c-Src to peripheral adhesion sites at stress fiber rermini, lamellipodia, or filopodia, respectively. Furthermore, modulation of the actin cytoskeleton showed that RhoA activity and actin stress fibers are needed for Src's translocation from the cell interior to the membrane, with he precise peripheral localization being determined by local actin organization that is in turn controlled by RhoA, Rac1, and Cde42 activities. In addition, Src's catalytic activity is required for the Rac1- and Cdc42-induced adhesion remodeling that is required for cell polarization and migration. We also show that impaired adhesion remodeling in the presence of Src proteins that lack kinase activity is accompanied by reduced peripheral phosphorylation events, as shown by suppression of FAK phosphorvlation at tyrosine 925.

Results

The regulation of the actin cytoskeleton by the Rho family of GTPases is well documented and readily manipulated n Swiss 3T3 cells, making them an ideal model system n which to study the role of RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 in the intracellular targeting of c-Src. We therefore determined whether Src251-GFP (Figure 1) was a suitable tool for studying the targeting of c-Src in these cells. We introduced Rho, Rac, and Cdc42 expression plasmids and Src251-GFP by transient transfection or microinjection (further details on the conditions used are given in the Supplementary methods section available with this article online).

Translocation of Src251-GFP to focal adhesions is dependent on the actin cytoskeleton

When Src251-GFP was microinjected into serum-starved cells, it was located in the perinuclear region (Figure 1b, arrow). However, upon addition of serum, which resulted in reformation of stress fibers, Src251-GFP translocated to sites at the end of the actin cables (Figure 1c, arrows), where it colocalized with the focal adhesion protein vinculin (data not shown). Similar results were seen following treatment with lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) (Figure 1d), which initiates the reformation of actin stress fibers in serum-starved Swiss 3T3 cells in a RhoA-dependent manner [9]. Treatment with the actin-disrupting drug cytochalasin D prevented the reformation of the actin stress fibers in response to serum and the translocation of Src251-GFP from the perinuclear region to the peripheral focal adhesions (Figure 1e), further confirming that the translocation of Src251-GFP to focal adhesions was actin dependent. Thus, the regulation of Src251-GFP in Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts is indistinguishable from the actin-dependent translocation of v-Src to focal adhesions that we have described previously [5]. These results imply that Src251-GFP is a useful tool to monitor the control of c-Src's intracellular targeting by direct fluorescence.

Localization of Src251-GFP to specific peripheral sites is under the control of Rho family GTPases

As treatment with LPA, which activates RhoA, resulted in translocation of Src251-GFP to focal adhesions (Figure 1d), we set out to determine whether this was a RhoAdependent event. Expression of a constitutively active RhoA protein (V14RhoA) in the absence of serum resulted in the formation of stress fibers (Figure 2a, broken arrow). Coexpression of V14RhoA with Src251-GFP was sufficient to localize Src to the cell periphery at the ends of stress fibers (Figure 2a, broken arrow), where it colocalized with the focal adhesion protein vinculin (data not shown).

We then addressed how activation of Rac1 or Cdc42 influenced the localization of c-Src within the cell. Activated Rac1 protein (L61Rac1) was expressed in the cells by transient transfection and resulted in the formation of lamellipodia (Figure 2b, broken arrows). Coexpression of Src251-GFP with L61Rac1 showed that Src251-GFP was localized at an actin ring around the cell periphery (Figure 2b, solid arrow) beyond which an actin ruffle had formed. Src251-GFP was also found at the tip of the ruffle that appeared to have folded back on itself (Figure 2b, broken arrows). Coexpression of a constitutively active Cdc42 protein (V12Cdc42) with Src251-GFP resulted in the formation of filopodia, and some of the expressed Src251-GFP moved from the perinuclear region to membrane regions at the base of filopodia (Figure 2c, broken arrow), and at enhanced resolution (Figure 2c, inset) it can be seen in distinct complexes spaced along the actin filopodia (broken arrows, inset).

The role of the individual Rho GTPases in the subcellular targeting of c-Src was further probed in experiments using specific inhibitors of RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42. Expression of a dominant-negative RhoA protein (N19RhoA) prevented the reformation of stress fibers in response to serum (compare Figure 3a with 3b). The broken arrow shows a cell expressing N19RhoA, which is consequently devoid of actin stress fibers and in which Src251-GFP remained perinuclear (Figure 3b). This was in contrast to its location at peripheral focal adhesions in cells stimulated with serum (Figure 3a). Y-27632 is a chemical inhibitor of Rho kinase (ROCK) [14], which is a downstream effector of RhoA implicated in stress fiber formation [15, 16]. Treatment of cells with Y-27632 results in the loss of stress fibers, and, when cells were treated with Y-27632

1838 Current Biology Vol 11 No 23

Figure 1

Translocation of Src251-GFP to focal adhesions is dependent on the actin cytoskeleton. (a) Schematic representation of the structural domains of Src251-GFP. SrcY527F, and SrcMF constructs used. (b) Cells were serum starved for 48 hr prior to microinjection of Src251-GFP. (c,d) Serumstarved cells were microinjected with Src251-GFP and, following expression of the protein, were stimulated with serum (c) or LPA (d). (e) Serum-starved cells were microinjected with Src251-GFP and pretreated with cytochalasin D for 2 hr before stimulation with serum. Actin was visualized with rhodaminephalloidin, and Src251-GFP was localized by direct fluorescence. Scale bars = 25 μ m.



Src, green; phalloidin, red

prior to expression of Src251-GFP, the cells were devoid of stress fibers even though serum was present and translocation of Src251-GFP to peripheral focal adhesions in response to serum was blocked (Figure 3c). Y-27632 has also been reported to inhibit other kinases, and we cannot rule out the possibility that Y-27632 is inhibiting kinases other than ROCK. However, in the context of these experiments, treatment with Y-27632 results in the loss of stress fibers and taken together with the ability of N19RhoA to block translocation of Src251-GFP to focal adhesions we conclude that the actin-dependent localization of Src251-GFP to these peripheral sites is controlled by RhoA. Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) stimulates the formation of lamellipodia at the cell periphery [17] via a Rac1-dependent mechanism [11]. To address the relationship between RhoA and Rac1 signaling in the localization of c-Src within the cell, we stimulated cells with PDGF while inhibiting the formation of stress fibers by treating the cells with Y-27632. As above, Y-27632 was added to the cells prior to expression of Sre251-GFP, resulting in loss of stress fibers. After stimulation with PDGF, Src251-GFP remained perinuclear (Figure 3d, broken arrow) and did not translocate to the cell periphery, although the shape of the cell did change in response to



Src, green; phalloidin, red

Src localization is under the control of Rho family GTPases. (a) Cells vere serum starved for 48 hr to remove stress fibers prior to comicroinjection of V14RhoA and Src251-GFP (broken arrow). Solid urrow indicates noninjected cell. (b) Cells were cotransfected with L61Rac and Src251-GFP. (c) Cells were cotransfected with V12Cdc42 and Src251-GFP. The broken arrow indicates Src251-GFP at the base of filopodia, and the broken arrows (inset) show an inhanced resolution of Src251-GFP localizing along filopodia. Actin vas visualized with rhodamine-phalloidin and Src251-GFP by direct fuorescence. Scale bars = 25 μ m.

PDGF at the cell periphery (Figure 3d, solid arrows). However, if Y-27632 was washed out prior to stimulation with PDGF, Src251-GFP localized to lamellipodia (Figure 3e, solid arrows). Expression of dominant-negative N17Rac1 blocked the formation of lamellipodia in reponse to PDGF (Figure 3f), confirming that PDGF was working through activation of Rac1. No lamellipodia were formed in cells expressing N17Rac1 (broken arrow) as compared to the nontransfected cells (solid arrows). Although cells expressing N17Rac1 did not form lamellipodia, these cells still contained actin stress fibers, and Src251-GFP was consequently located at the ends of these stress fibers in peripheral focal adhesions (Figure 3f, broken arrow). Thus, Rac1 drives the targeting of c-Src to lamellipodia but is not involved in the initial movement of c-Src from the cell interior to the cell periphery, which is mediated by RhoA-dependent formation of stress fibers.

Similar experiments were carried out to define the relationship between RhoA signaling and Cdc42. Bradykinin stimulates the formation of actin microspikes, known as filopodia, at the cell periphery, by a Cdc42-mediated pathway [12, 13]. Addition of bradykinin to Y-27632-treated cells resulted in the formation of filopodia seen as small actin-containing microspikes protruding from the cell body (Figure 3g, solid arrows), although Src251-GFP remained perinuclear in the presence of Y-27632 (Figure 3g, broken arrow). However, removal of Y-27632 prior to addition of bradykinin resulted in the translocation of Src251-GFP to the peripheral microspikes in response to bradykinin (Figure 3h, solid arrows). The expression of a dominant-negative Cdc42 protein (N17Cdc42) blocked bradykinin-induced filopodia formation (Figure 3i, broken arrow) as compared to nonexpressing cells (solid arrow) that were able to induce filopodia. Coexpression of Src251-GFP with N17Cdc42, blocked bradykinininduced translocation of Src to filopodia; however, Src251-GFP was not retained in the perinuclear region but was present in peripheral focal adhesions under these conditions (Figure 3i, broken arrow). Thus, the RhoA pathway is also required to target c-Src from the perinuclear region to the cell periphery, prior to its localization to filopodia induced by Cdc42.

To eliminate the possibility that the localization of Src251-GFP to these peripheral sites was a consequence of overexpression of available SH3 and SH2 domains, we were also able to show that endogenous Src was able to localize to lamellipodia in response to PDGF (Figure 3j). It was difficult to visualize endogenous Src in filopodia following stimulation with bradykinin, which is most likely due to problems in detection of the low levels of endogenous proteins in small structures. However, this could be overcome by expressing full-length wild-type Src protein where treatment with bradykinin resulted in Src being readily seen in filopodia (Figure 3k, inset). These data imply that the control of Src251-GFP targeting within the cell is the same as for endogenous Src or expressed wildtype Src protein.

c-Src kinase activity is required for the efficient remodeling of cellular adhesions

It is the dynamic remodeling and interchange between focal adhesions and focal complexes associated with lamellipodia and filopodia that regulates cell motility, and we therefore addressed whether the activity of c-Src at these cellular adhesions altered their remodeling. Cells were grown in serum, where Src251-GFP is localized at focal adhesions as a consequence of RhoA activity (Figures 1 and 4c). Subsequent treatment of these cells with PDGF resulted in PDGF-induced shape changes and formation of lamellipodia. Although expression of Src251-GFP did not significantly alter the number of cells able to form lamellipodia (around 80% of cells expressing Src251-GFP underwent shape changes associated with the formation of lamellipodia), we found that the Src was localized only to discrete patches around the forming ruffle (broken arrow in Figure 4d) where it colocalized with actin (data

Coordinated regulation of the actin cytoskeleton by Rho family GTPases is required for Src targeting. (a-c) Cells were serum starved for 48 hr to remove stress fibers prior to microinjection of Src251-GFP (a,c) or comicroinjection of Src251-GFP with N19RhoA (b). Following expression of the proteins, cells were stimulated with serum (a,b) or preincubated with Y-27632 for 1 hr prior to stimulation with serum (c). Broken arrows indicate microinjected cells, while solid arrows are nonexpressing cells. (d,e,g,h) Cells were transfected with Src251-GFP and prior to expression of the protein were treated overnight with Y-27632 to abolish stress fibers. The cells were then stimulated with PDGF (d) or bradykinin (g) or were stimulated with PDGF or bradykinin following wash out of the Y-27632 (e,h). (f,i) Cells were cotransfected with Src251-GFP and N17Rac or N17Cdc42 and then placed in serum-free medium overnight to reduce the heterogeneity in the population prior to PDGF (f) or bradykinin (i) stimulation. Solid arrows show nontransfected cells, while broken arrows show cells expressing the constructs. Actin was visualized with rhodamine-phalloidin and Src251-GFP by direct fluorescence. (j) Cells were placed in serum-free conditions overnight, stimulated with PDGF and endogenous Src visualized using the N2-17 Src antibody. (k) Cells expressing wild-type Src were placed in serum-free conditions overnight and stimulated with bradykinin. Inset shows enhanced resolution of wt-Src localizing along filopodia. Exogenously expressed Src was visualized using the chicken-specific Src EC10 antibody. Scale bars = 25 μ m.





endogenous c-Src

Bradykinin



expressed wt-c-Src

not shown). This is in contrast to the uniform lamellipodia formed when Src251-GFP is held in the perinuclear region of the cell prior to stimulation with PDGF (Figure 3e), where Src251-GFP is found in small structures continuous along the lamellipodia. This suggests that it is the presence of Src251-GFP at focal adhesions prior to addition of PDGF that interferes with the actin rearrangements required for efficient formation of uniform lamellipodia. Since Src251-GFP lacks a c-Src kinase domain (Figure 1), we examined whether the presence of an activated c-Src kinase at focal adhesions facilitated the Rac1-dependent formation of uniform, continuous lamellipodia. For

Src kinase activity is required for efficient amellipodia formation. (a,b) Cells were ransfected with SrcY527F and maintained in 10% serum to localize SrcY527F in peripheral focal adhesions (a). Cells were then placed in serum-free medium overnight to educe heterogeneity in the population and reated with emetine for 30 min prior to PDGF stimulation (b). (c,d) Cells were transfected with Src251-GFP and maintained in 10% serum c) or stimulated with PDGF as described above (d). (e,f) Cells were transfected with SrcMF and maintained in 10% serum (e) or stimulated with PDGF as described above f). (g) Enhanced magnification of kinasedefective (SrcMF) (upper panel) or kinase-active Src (SrcY527F) (lower panel) localization in PDGF-induced lamellipodia. Src251-GFP was visualized by direct fluorescence, SrcY527F and SrcMF using an anti-Src antibody. Scale bars = $25 \mu m$.



this, we expressed a c-Src protein, which has an activating tyrosine to phenylalanine mutation at position 527 in the c-Src coding sequences (SrcY527F) (reviewed in [18]) (Figure 1). SrcY527F localized to focal adhesions in the presence of serum (Figure 4a). Following treatment with PDGF, peripheral SrcY527F was located at lamellipodia that appeared continuous and relatively uniform (Figure 4b, broken arrows), in contrast to the discontinuous structures formed in cells expressing Src251-GFP (Figure 4d, broken arrow). These data imply that the efficient relocation of c-Src from RhoA-induced focal adhesions into Rac1-induced structures along lamellipodia requires Src's catalytic activity, although expression of kinase-deficient Src251-GFP did not block the initial PDGF-induced shape changes that accompany lamellipodia formation (Figure 4d). Furthermore, the protein synthesis inhibitor emetine was added prior to PDGF treatment in these experiments, implying that Rac1 activation led to relocalization of c-Src that preexisted in focal adhesions into complexes that are continuous along lamellipodia. However, we cannot rule out that some c-Src preexisted in the perinuclear region after emetine treatment and moved out into the newly forming lamellipodia upon activation of Rac1.

To further test whether the kinase activity of Src was required for efficient remodeling, we expressed a kinasedefective Src mutant, SrcMF, in the cells and examined

the ability of these cells to form lamellipodia in response to PDGF. SrcMF has a point mutation in the kinase domain (K295M) rendering it kinase inactive (Figure 1). SrcMF localizes to focal adhesions in cells grown in serum (Figure 4e), and subsequent stimulation of these cells with PDGF resulted in the relocalization of SrcMF to discrete patches around the edge of the forming lamellipodia (Figure 4f) rather than to continuous lamellipodia as seen in cells expressing the activated Src protein (Figure 4b). Magnification of the edge of the lamellipodia in SrcMF and activated Src-expressing cells (Figure 4g) shows more clearly the influence of Src kinase activity on the formation of the lamellipodia. Src colocalizes with actin both in the discrete patches in the SrcMF-expressing cells and the continuous lamellipodia formed in cells expressing activated Src (data not shown). Treatment of cells with the Src kinase inhibitor PP2 also resulted in the formation of fragmented lamellipodia in response to PDGF (results shown in Supplementary materials). Taken together, these data imply a role for Src kinase activity in the efficient Rac1-induced actin remodeling associated with lamellipodia formation.

To demonstrate that the discontinuous lamellipodia found in Src251-GFP-expressing cells was associated with impaired focal adhesion remodeling into focal complexes, we compared Rac1-induced peripheral adhesion remodeling in cells expressing Src251-GFP with cells expressing

Src kinase activity is required for the remodeling of peripheral adhesions during lamellipodia formation. (a,d) Cells were grown in serum-free conditions overnight to reduce heterogeneity in the population, then treated with emetine for 30 min prior to stimulation with PDGF, and stained with anti-vinculin (a) or anti-paxillin antibodies (d). (b,c) Cells transfected with Src251-GFP or (e,f) SrcY527F were placed in serum-free medium overnight prior to PDGF stimulation. SrcY527F and vinculin were visualized by anti-Src and anti-vinculin antibodies. respectively. Paxillin was visualized with rhodamine-conjugated anti-paxillin and Src251-GFP by direct immunofluoresence. Scale bars = $25 \mu m$.



the activated c-Src mutant SrcY527F, monitoring adhesion complexes by staining with anti-vinculin or anti-paxillin. (Anti-paxillin staining was used for colocalization studies with anti-SrcY527F because anti-vinculin and anti-Src sera used were from the same species, restricting colocalization studies.) Anti-vinculin and anti-paxillin staining were indistinguishable, and, in growing cells treated with PDGF, we observed small vinculin- and paxillin-containing complexes around the base of lamellipodia (Figure 5a,d, respectively). In PDGF-treated cells expressing Src251-GFP, vinculin colocalized with Src251-GFP at the cell periphery but was located in larger discrete structures along the length of the lamellipodia (Figure 5b,c). In contrast, in activated SrcY527F-expressing cells, c-Src colocalized with paxillin along the base of uniform lamellipodia (Figure 5e,f). Paxillin localizes to focal complexes at the leading edge of lamellipodia as described by Nobes and Hall [13]; however, in cells expressing activated Src, these were difficult to visualize as discrete structures, suggesting that Src's overactivity may be further breaking down the focal complexes.

Similar to these observations with PDGF, we found that bradykinin-induced focal adhesion remodeling to produce focal complexes at filopodia was impaired in Src251-GFPexpressing cells (results shown in Supplementary materials). Thus, our data support a critical role for the catalytic activity of c-Src in the Rac1- and Cdc42-induced peripheral adhesion remodeling that results in the breakdown of larger focal adhesions and the generation of smalle focal complex adhesion structures at lamellipodia and filo podia, respectively. Further details given in Supplementary materials.

c-Src kinase activity is required for cell motility and polarization

As the formation of lamellipodia and filopodia have been associated with the regulation of cell motility and chemotaxis [19, 20], we examined whether the impaired focal adhesion remodeling in the cells lacking kinase activity inhibited cell movement or the ability of cells to polarize in response to a chemotactic agent. We found that the random migration of cells expressing Src251-GFP or SrcMF was inhibited by around 70%, while expression of GFP alone had no effect on cell motility (Figure 6a). Expression of activated Src (SrcY527F) had no effect on the migration of the cells, suggesting that the level of endogenous Src within the cells is not limiting for migration. This has also been reported for reintroduction of activated Src into Src-i- cells where activated Src restored migration to a similar level as reintroduction of the wildtype protein [21]. To examine the capacity of cells to respond to a chemotactic gradient, we measured the ability of cells to polarize toward PDGF using a Dunn chamber [19]. Approximately 10% of cells expressing Src251-GFP or SrcMF were able to polarize along the PDGF



Src kinase activity is required for random cell migration and the ability of cells to remodel in response to a chemoattractant gradient. (a) Random cell migration of cells in 10% serum expressing Src251-GFP, GFP, SrcY527F (+ GFP), or SrcMF (+ GFP). Values are mean \pm SEM taken from at least five independent experiments and represent data from between 30 and 60 cells in each case. (b) Polarity of cells expressing Src251-GFP, GFP, SrcY527F (+ GFP), or SrcMF (+ GFP) in response to a 10 ng/ml⁻¹ PGDF gradient. Values are expressed as the percentage of cells in a population able to polarize, using the criteria described in the Supplementary materials section, generated from at least five independent experiments.

gradient, while around 80% of the nontransfected cells exhibited polarity (Figure 6b). Expression of GFP or SrcY527F had no effect on the polarity of the cells in response to PDGF (Figure 6b). Thus, both cell migration and cell polarization in response to a chemotactic stimuli, biological responses that require the coordinated activities of Rho GTPases, are impaired in cells expressing either the Src251-GFP or SrcMF kinase-deficient mutants of c-Src.

Src activity is required for phosphorylation of FAK

FAK is a known Src substrate at adhesion sites, and there is considerable evidence that FAK plays a central role in the regulation of cell motility (reviewed in [22]). We therefore addressed whether phosphorylation of FAK was suppressed in cells expressing Src kinase-defective mutants that were unable to remodel focal adhesions in response to PDGF and displayed impaired motility. Using an antibody against phosphorylated tyrosine 925 in FAK, which is a site specifically phosphorylated by Src ([23] and our unpublished data), we found that PDGF stimulated the phosphorylation of tyrosine 925, while in cells expressing SrcMF there was very little phosphorylation on this site (Figure 7a). Expression of SrcMF (Figure 7b, lower panel) did not alter the level of FAK protein within the cells (Figure 7b, upper panel). Therefore, using FAK tyrosine 925 phosphorylation as a marker of Src-dependent phosphorylation events at adhesions, we have shown that kinase-defective SrcMF expression suppresses both peripheral phosphorylation events and adhesion remodeling.

Discussion

The ability of a cell to move depends on a cycle of adhesion, loss of attachment, and readhesion, which is governed by and coordinated with changes in the actin cytoskeleton arrangement and the microtubule system [1, 24]. The actin structures, lamellipodia, and filopodia assemble and disassemble at the leading edge of cells under the control of Rac1 and Cdc42, providing a means of polarized cell movement. Small focal complexes form at lamellipodia and filopodia, which are rapidly turned over as the cell moves forward, while the RhoA-dependent assembly of stress fibers provide contractility and propulsion required for forward cell movement. Since it is the balance between contractility and adhesion that governs the rate of cell motility, relative activities of RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 are critical in determining whether and how a cell moves. In this study, we examined the role of the Rho GTPases in directing the intracellular localization of the tyrosine kinase c-Src, which is known to be required for cell motility, and the role of its kinase activity in controling cell movement.

The intracellular localization of c-Src is modulated by RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 activity

The localization of v-Src and c-Src to the cell periphery in fibroblasts requires an intact actin cytoskeletal network [5]. Here, we show that the peripheral localization of Src251-GFP, a fusion protein that contains Src's SH3 and SH2 domains but lacks a kinase domain, is also dependent on RhoA-mediated assembly of actin stress fibers. Although Src251-GFP was found in lamellipodia and filopodia following activation of Rac1 or Cdc42, this was also dependent on the activity of RhoA, which mediates transit from the perinuclear region to the cell periphery. This implies that Src requires actin stress fibers to incorporate into focal adhesions or into smaller focal complexes at lamellipodia or filopodia, depending on the balance of specific Rho GTPase signals within the cell. As yet, little is known of the mechanism involved in the transport of Sre from the perinuclear region to the cell periphery. We and others have demonstrated that it is not dependent on the catalytic activity of c-Src but does require the Src SH3 domain [4, 6, 7]. In vitro experiments have demonstrated that the Src SH3 domain binds to a number of

1844 Current Biology Vol 11 No 23

Figure 7

Phosphorylation of FAK is suppressed in cells expressing kinase-defective Src. (a) Cells were placed in serum-free conditions overnight and then stimulated with PDGF Control cells were not stimulated with PDGF. FAK phosphorylated on tyrosine 925 was immunoprecipitated (IP) from extracts of cells infected with SrcMF or the empty vector using a phospho-FAK-Y925-specific antibody. The proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE, and the levels of phosphorylated FAK were detected following blotting with an anti-FAK antibody (blot). (b) Expression of FAK and SrcMF in the SrcMF and vector-infected cells was determined in whole-cell extracts using an anti-FAK antibody (top panel), and exogenously expressed SrcMF was visualized using the chicken-specific Src EC10 antibody (bottom panel).



cellular partners and that the regulatory subunit of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI 3-kinase) is one binding partner of the v-Src SH3 domain that is important for its peripheral targeting [7]. Although the catalytic activity of Src is not required for its targeting, a number of stimuli that induce its peripheral targeting also activate Src kinase activity (e.g., PDGF and bradykinin). These stimuli can therefore release constraints on both the kinase domain and the SH3 domain of c-Src, ensuring that the activated protein is not aberrantly localized within the cell.

Regulation of cell motility requires coordinated activity of Rho GTPases and Src

Involvement of RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 in cell motility is undoubtedly linked to their ability to rearrange the actin cytoskeleton. However, a secondary consequence of this actin remodeling is apparently to target other cellular proteins, such as c-Src, to these peripheral sites. We show here that once located at the cell periphery c-Src acts in concert with the Rho GTPases to regulate cell polarity and motility. Several studies have suggested that Src family kinases play a role during cell motility. For example, c-Srcdeficient fibroblasts have a decreased random migration [21], and cells deficient in all three ubiquitously expressed family members, Src, Fyn, and Yes, are unable to migrate into a wound [25]. Furthermore, c-Src kinase activity is required for growth factor-induced migration and scattering in a number of cell types [26-28]. The ability of Src to influence cell motility in fibroblasts has been linked to the regulation of focal adhesion turnover. Cells lacking Src family members are able to assemble focal adhesions [25], indicating that Src is not required for their formation. However, cells in which kinase-defective mutants of Src are expressed have enlarged focal adhesions [4, 6], suggestive of a role for Src kinase activity in the turnover of these structures that is needed for cells to move [6]. The presence of functional SH2 and SH3 domains in these

Src proteins suggests that, in addition to phosphorylatin ; key substrates, Src may be acting as an adaptor protein allowing its recruitment into focal adhesion structures and or to recruit cellular partners to these sites. One such candidate is FAK, as there is considerable evidence linking Src activity to FAK-regulated cell motility [8, 29]. It is known that in fibroblasts lacking the FAK protein ther is an increased number of focal adhesions and an impaire ability to move, suggesting that FAK is required for th turnover of focal adhesions during cell motility [30], while the ability of Src to induce adhesion turnover has bee linked to the phosphorylation and possibly subsequen proteolysis of FAK [6, 8]. In this study, we have show that phosphorylation of FAK on tyrosine 925, which is site known to be phosphorylated by Src [23], is suppressed in cells which are unable to remodel their peripheral adhe sions after PDGF treatment, correlating with impaired cell motility and polarity. Thus, SreMF expression sup presses both Src-dependent phosphorylation events at the cell periphery and stimulus-induced adhesion remod eling.

A key component of the coordinated movement of cells is their ability to polarize toward different migratory signals, and we addressed the role of c-Src in this process. The formation of Rac1-dependent lamellipodia at the leading edge is required for cell motility [19, 20, 31]. In addition, while Cdc42 is not essential for cell movement per se, it is required for directionality and the maintenance of cell polarity [19, 20, 32]. We have shown that c-Src kinase activity is required for cells to polarize and form a leading edge, and we propose that the ability of the Rho GTPases to direct the localization of Src to these peripheral sites is required for the remodeling of the more static focal adhesions into smaller more dynamic focal complexes found at the leading edge of motile cells.

The involvement of Src kinases in the regulation of integrin-ECM interactions has been reported in a number of studies [25, 33, 34]. Specifically, Src can regulate the generation of contractile force between the actin cytoskeleton and integrins, thus modulating cell motility [33]. In addition, c-Src can transiently inhibit integrin-induced activation of Rho GTPase activity [34], and oncogenic v-Src can antagonize RhoA activity via mechanisms involving activation of p190RhoGAP [35, 36]. Thus, Src may act to regulate the turnover of Rho-mediated adhesions, which is critical to the migratory process. In addition to adhesion remodeling, Src facilitates the turnover of actin filaments which stabilize focal adhesion sites [7, 36], and this may partially explain the reduction of random migration observed in our study in cells expressing kinase-defective Sre mutants (Figure 6a) and also cells lacking Src and the other family members Fyn and Yes [25]. More recently, the mDia family of Rho effectors, which cooperate with ROCK in the formation of bundled stress fibers, have been shown to bind to Src, and Src kinase activity is required for the cooperative effect of mDia on stress fiber formation [37]. Thus, c-Src can have both positive and negative effects on Rho-mediated stress fiber and adhesion formation and may act at a pivotal point between their assembly and disassembly, placing it in a central position from which to coordinate the multifaceted process of cell motility.

The major challenges are now to determine (1) how motile cells integrate different signals that regulate the activity of RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42, which in turn regulate the localization of c-Src and possibly other Src family kinases within the cell, and (2) how Src-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation regulates adhesion remodeling in response to biological stimuli that induce directed cell migration.

Materials and methods

Cells and plasmids

CA10-Src251-GFP and CA10-Src were kind gifts from P. Schwartzberg [NIH, Bethesda, Maryland), and CA10-SrcY527F and CA10-SrcMF (K295M,Y527F) were a kind gift from K. Kaplan (MIT, Cambridge, Massachusetts). pEGFP (Clontech, Basingstoke, UK) was used for expression of GFP. N19- and V14RhoA, V12- and N17Cdc42, and L61- and N17Rac, all in the pRK5myc plasmid, were kindly provided by Alan Hall (UCL, London, UK). Swiss 3T3 cells were routinely grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum. Plasmids were introduced into the cells by nuclear microinjection or transient transfection as indicated in the text, with further details given in the Supplementary materials.

Immunofluorescence

Cells were plated onto glass chamber slides 24 hr prior to transfection or onto glass coverslips 24 hr prior to microinjection. For experiments in which cells were serum starved to remove stress fibers prior to expression of the proteins, the cells were grown for 48 hr in serum-free conditions prior to microinjection of the appropriate plasmids and analysis carried out 3–5 hr later after expression of the proteins. For all other experiments, the proteins were expressed by transient transfection. Growth factor treatment of the cells were as follows: 10% serum for 30 min, PDGF, 25 ng/ml⁻¹ for 30 min (TCS Biologicals, Botolph Claydon, UK), bradykinin, 100 nM for 5 min or LPA 200 ng/ml⁻¹ for 30 min (both Sigma, Poole, UK). Y-27632 (10 μ M, Welfide Corporation, Japan), cytochalasin D (0.1 μ g/ml⁻¹), or emetine (55 μ g/ml⁻¹, both Sigma, Poole, UK) were added as indicated. Cells were fixed in 3% paraformaldehyde, washed PBS/100 nM glycine, then permeabilized with PBS/0.1% saponin/20 mM glycine. After blocking with PBS/0.1% saponin/10% fetal calf serum, cells were incubated with anti-Src mAb EC10 to detect the exogenously expressed chicken Src proteins (Upstate Biotechnology, Lake Placid, New York), anti-Src monoclonal antibody N2-17 to detect endogenous Src protein (a kind gift from T. Hunter, Salk Institute, California), anti-vinculin mAb, rhodamine-conjugated phalloidin (both Sigma, Poole, UK), or rhodamine-conjugated paxillin antibody detection was by reaction with species-specific TRITC-conjugated antibodies (Sigma, Poole, UK). Cells were visualized using a confocal microscope (MRC 600; BioRad Labs, Hercules, California).

FAK phosphorylation

Cells infected with pBABEpuro or pBABEpuro-SrcMF were trypsinized and plated at 2.5×10^6 onto 100 mm culture plates in growth medium for 24 hr. The cells were then serum starved for 24 hr prior to stimulation with 25 ng/ml⁻¹ PDGF. Cell extracts were prepared in 50 mM Tris (pH 7.4), 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 0.5% deoxycholate, 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 10 mM sodium pyrophosphate, 0.5 mM sodium fluoride, 1 mM PMSF, 10 µg/ml⁻¹ aprotinin, and 100 µM sodium orthovanadate, and 1 mg of cell lysate incubated with 2 µg of phospho-FAK-Y925 rabbit polyclonal antibody. Generation of this antibody was as described in [38] using the peptide NDKVYENVT GLVKA(C), which corresponds to residues 921-934 in FAK, in which tyrosine 925 has been chemically phosphorylated. The immune complexes were collected with protein A sepharose and the proteins resolved by SDS-PAGE. FAK phosphorylated on tyrosine 925 was detected following incubation with anti-FAK monoclonal antibody (Transduction Laboratories, BD Biosciences, Oxford, UK) using ECL detection.

Cell migration and polarization

Cells were transfected with Src251-GFP or GFP or cotransfected with SrcY527F and GFP or SrcMF and GFP to allow detection of the transfected cells. To monitor polarization, cells were trypsinized 24 hr post-transfection and plated onto coverslips for 1 hr. Cells were then serum straved for 1 hr and mounted on Dunn chambers with PDGF 10 ng/ml⁻¹ as chemoattractant [19]. For measurement of both random migration and polarization, microscopic images of the cells were acquired from a charged couple device camera (Hamamatsu C4742) and captured by Open Lab (Improvision Software, UK) every 15 min over a 5 hr period. Details of how the mean cell speed was calculated and the criteria used to determine cell polarity are given in the Supplementary materials.

Supplementary material

Further experimental details on the different methods used for the introduction of plasmids into the cells and the rationale for their use can be found in the Supplementary material online at http://images.cellpress. com/supmat/supmatin.htm. More detailed descriptions are also given for the measurement of cell migration and polarity.

Additional data are provided in which we have used the kinase inhibitor PP2 as further confirmation of the requirement of Src kinase activity for efficient remodeling of cellular adhesions in response to PDGF, and data are also presented which demonstrates that bradykinin-induced focal adhesion remodeling to produce focal complexes was also impaired in Src251-GFP-expressing cells. We also provide further evidence that Src kinase activity is required for the turnover of focal adhesions in experiments where treatment of cells expressing Src251-GFP with the ROCK inhibitor results in the stabilization of focal adhesions which are normally broken down in the absence of a Rho signal.

Acknowledgements

We thank John and Anne Wyke for critical reading of the manuscript. Thanks also to Gordon McLean for providing the phospho-FAK-Y925 antibody; Pam Schwartzberg and Ken Kaplan for Src constructs; and Alan Hall for the Rho family constructs. This work was supported by the Cancer Research Campaign, and G.E.J. is a Leverhulme Trust Research Fellow.

References

- Schoenwaelder SM, Burridge K: Bidirectional signaling between the cytoskeleton and integrins. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1999, 11:274-286.
- David-Pfeuty T, Nouvian-Dooghe Y: Immunolocalization of the cellular src protein in interphase and mitotic NIH c-src overexpresser cells. J Cell Biol 1990, 111:3097-3116.
- Kaplan KB, Swedlow JR, Varmus HE, Morgan DO: Association of p60c-src with endosomal membranes in mammalian fibroblasts. J Cell Biol 1992, 118:321-333.
- Kaplan KB, Bibbins KB, Swedlow JR, Arnaud M, Morgan DO, Varmus HE: Association of the amino-terminal half of c-Src with focal adhesions alters their properties and is regulated by phosphorylation of tyrosine 527. EMBO J 1994, 13:4745-4756.
- Fincham VJ, Unlu M, Brunton VG, Pitts JD, Wyke JA, Frame MC: Translocation of Src kinase to the cell periphery is mediated by the actin cytoskeleton under the control of the Rho family of small G proteins. J Cell Biol 1996, 135:1551-1564.
- 6. Fincham VJ, Frame MC: The catalytic activity of Src is dispensable for translocation to focal adhesions but controls the turnover of these structures during cell motility. *EMBO J* 1998, **17:**81-92.
- Fincham VJ, Brunton VG, Frame MC: The SH3 domain directs acto-myosin-dependent targeting of v-Src to focal adhesions via phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Mol Cell Biol* 2000, 20:6518-6536.
- Fincham VJ, Wyke JA, Frame MC: v-Src-induced degradation of focal adhesion kinase during morphological transformation of chicken embryo fibroblasts. Oncogene 1995, 10:2247-2252.
- 9. Ridley AJ, Hall A: The small GTP-binding protein rho regulates the assembly of focal adhesions and actin stress fibers in response to growth factors. *Cell* 1992, **70**:389-399.
- Chrzanowska-Wodnicka M, Burridge K: Rho-stimulated contractility drives the formation of stress fibers and focal adhesions. J Cell Biol 1996, 133:1403-1415.
- Ridley AJ, Paterson HF, Johnston CL, Diekmann D, Hall A: The small GTP-binding protein rac regulates growth factor-induced membrane ruffling. *Cell* 1992, 70:401-410.
- Kozma R, Ahmed S, Best A, Lim L: The Ras-related protein Cdc42Hs and bradykinin promote formation of peripheral actin microspikes and filopodia. *Mol Cell Biol* 1995, 15:1942-1952.
- Nobes CD, Hall A: Rho, rac, and cdc42 GTPases regulate the assembly of multimolecular focal complexes associated with actin stress fibers, lamellipodia, and filopodia. *Cell* 1995, 81:53-62.
- Uehata M, Ishizaki T, Satoh H, Ono T, Kawahara T, Morishita T, et al.: Calcium sensitization of smooth muscle mediated by a Rho-associated protein kinase in hypertension. Nature 1997, 389:990-994.
- Kimura K, Ito M, Amano M, Chihara K, Fukata Y, Nakafuku M, et al.: Regulation of myosin phosphatase by Rho and Rhoassociated kinase (Rho-kinase). Science 1996, 273:245-248.
- Leung T, Chen XQ, Manser E, Lim L: The p160 RhoA-binding kinase ROK alpha is a member of a kinase family and is involved in the reorganization of the cytoskeleton. *Mol Cell Biol* 1996, 16:5313-5327.
- 17. Mellstrom K, Heldin C, Westermark B: Induction of circular membrane ruffling on human fibroblasts by plateletderived growth factor. *Expt Cell Res* 1988, **177:**347-359.
- Thomas SM, Brugge JS: Cellular functions regulated by Src family kinases. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 1997, 13:513-609.
- Allen WE, Zicha D, Ridley AJ, Jones GE: A role for Cdc42 in macrophage chemotaxis. J Cell Biol 1998, 141:1147-1157.
- Nobes CD, Hall A: Rho GTPases control polarity, protrusion, and adhesion during cell movement. J Cell Biol 1999, 144:1235-1244.
- 21. Hall CL, Lange LA, Prober DA, Zhang S, Turley EA: pp60(c-src) is required for cell locomotion regulated by the hyaluronan receptor RHAMM. *Oncogene* 1996, 13:2213-2224.
- 22. Parsons JT, Martin KH, Slack JK, Taylor JM, Weed SA: Focal adhesion kinase: a regulator of focal adhesion dynamics and cell movement. *Oncogene* 2000, **19:**5606-5613.
- 23. Schlaepfer DD, Hunter T: Evidence for in vivo phosphorylation

of the Grb2 SH2-domain binding site on focal adhesion kinase by Src-family protein-tyrosine kinases. *Mol Cell Biol* 1996, **16:**5623-5633.

- 24. Small JV, Rottner K, Kaverina I: Functional design in the actin cytoskeleton. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1999, 11:54-60.
- Klinghoffer RA, Sachsenmaier C, Cooper JA, Soriano P: Src famil kinases are required for integrin but not PDGFR signal transduction. EMBO J 1999, 18:2459-2471.
- Rodier JM, Valles AM, Denoyelle M, Thiery JP, Boyer B: pp60^{osrc} is a positive regulator of growth factor-induced cell scattering in a rat bladder carcinoma cell line. J Cell Biol 1995, 131:761 773.
- 27. Rahim N, Hung W, Tremblay E, Saulnier R, Elliot B: c-Src kinase activity is required for hepatocyte growth factor-induced motility and anchorage-independent growth of mammary carcinoma cells. *J Biol Chem* 1998, **273:**33714-33721.
- Liu J, Huang C, Zhan X: Src is required for cell migration and shape changes induced by fibroblast growth factor 1. Oncogene 1999, 18:6700-6706.
- 29. Cary LA, Chang JF, Guan JL: Stimulation of cell migration by overexpression of focal adhesion kinase and its association with Src and Fyn. J Cell Sci 1996, 109:1787-1794.
- Ilic D, Furuta Y, Kanazawa S, Takeda N, Sobue K, Nakatsuji N, et al.: Reduced cell motility and enhanced focal adhesion contact formation in cells from FAK-deficient mice. Nature 1995, 377:539-544.
- Ridley AJ, Comoglio PM, Hall A: Regulation of scatter factor/ hepatocyte growth factor responses by Ras, Rac and Rho in MDCK cells. *Mol Cell Biol* 1995, 15:1110-1122.
- Stowers L, Yelon D, Berg LJ, Chant J: Regulation of the polarization of T cells toward antigen-presenting cells by Ras-related small GTPase Cdc42. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 199-92:5027-5031.
- Felsenfeld DP, Schwartzberg PL, Venegas A, Tse R, Sheetz MP: Selective regulation of integrin-cytoskeleton interactions by the tyrosine kinase Src. Nat Cell Biol 1999, 1:200-206.
- Arthur WT, Petch LA, Burridge K: Integrin engagement suppresses RhoA activity via a c-Src-dependent mechanism. Curr Biol 2000, 10:719-722.
- Ellis C, Moran M, McCormick F, Pawson T: Phosphorylation of GAP and GAP-associated proteins by transforming and mitogenic tyrosine kinases. *Nature* 1990, 343:377-381.
- Fincham VJ, Chudleigh A, Frame MC: Regulation of p190 Rho-GAP by v-Src is linked to cytoskeletal disruption during transformation. J Cell Sci 1999, 112:947-956.
- Tominaga T, Sahai E, Chardin P, McCormick F, Courtneidge SA, Alberts AS: Diaphanous-related formins bridge Rho GTPase and Src tyrosine signaling. *Mol Cell* 2000, 5:12-25.
- McLean GW, Fincham VJ, Frame MC: v-Src induces tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase independently of tyrosine 397 and formation of a complex with Src. J Biol Cher 2000, 275:23333-23339.

List of References

259

- Abram, C.L. & Courtneidge, S.A. (2000). Src family tyrosine kinases and growth factor signaling. *Exp Cell Res*, **254**, 1-13.
- Adamson, P., Marshall, C.J., Hall, A. & Tilbrook, P.A. (1992). Post-translational modifications of p21rho proteins. *J Biol Chem*, **267**, 20033-8.
- Adra, C.N., Manor, D., Ko, J.L., Zhu, S., Horiuchi, T., Van Aelst, L., Cerione, R.A. & Lim, B. (1997). RhoGDIgamma: a GDP-dissociation inhibitor for Rho proteins with preferential expression in brain and pancreas. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 4279-84.
- Aktories, K. & Hall, A. (1989). Botulinum ADP-ribosyltransferase C3: a new tool to study low molecular weight GTP-binding proteins. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, **10**, 415-8.
- Allen, W.E., Jones, G.E., Pollard, J.W. & Ridley, A.J. (1997). Rho, Rac and Cdc42 regulate actin organization and cell adhesion in macrophages. J Cell Sci, 110, 707-20.
- Allen, W.E., Zicha, D., Ridley, A.J. & Jones, G.E. (1998). A role for Cdc42 in macrophage chemotaxis. *J Cell Biol*, **141**, 1147-57.
- Amano, M., Chihara, K., Kimura, K., Fukata, Y., Nakamura, N., Matsuura, Y. & Kaibuchi, K. (1997). Formation of actin stress fibers and focal adhesions enhanced by Rhokinase. Science, 275, 1308-11.
- Amano, M., Ito, M., Kimura, K., Fukata, Y., Chihara, K., Nakano, T., Matsuura, Y. & Kaibuchi, K. (1996). Phosphorylation and activation of myosin by Rho-associated kinase (Rho- kinase). J Biol Chem, 271, 20246-9.
- Anand-Apte, B. & Zetter, B. (1997). Signaling mechanisms in growth factor-stimulated cell motility. *Stem Cells*, **15**, 259-67.
- Arthur, W.T. & Burridge, K. (2001). RhoA inactivation by p190RhoGAP regulates cell spreading and migration by promoting membrane protrusion and polarity. *Mol Biol Cell*, 12, 2711-20.
- Arthur, W.T., Petch, L.A. & Burridge, K. (2000). Integrin engagement suppresses RhoA activity via a c-Src-dependent mechanism. *Curr Biol*, **10**, 719-22.
- Aspenstrom, P. (1997). A Cdc42 target protein with homology to the non-kinase domain of FER has a potential role in regulating the actin cytoskeleton. *Curr Biol*, **7**, 479-87.
- Bagrodia, S., Chackalaparampil, I., Kmiecik, T.E. & Shalloway, D. (1991). Altered tyrosine 527 phosphorylation and mitotic activation of p60c-src. *Nature*, **349**, 172-5.
- Bagrodia, S., Taylor, S.J. & Shalloway, D. (1993). Myristylation is required for Tyr-527 dephosphorylation and activation of pp60c-src in mitosis. *Mol Cell Biol*, 13, 1464-70.
- Banin, S., Truong, O., Katz, D.R., Waterfield, M.D., Brickell, P.M. & Gout, I. (1996). Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (WASp) is a binding partner for c-Src family protein-tyrosine kinases. *Curr Biol*, 6, 981-8.
- Bear, J.E., Rawls, J.F. & Saxe, C.L., 3rd. (1998). SCAR, a WASP-related protein, isolated as a suppressor of receptor defects in late Dictyostelium development. J Cell Biol, 142, 1325-35.
- Beckerle, M.C., Burridge, K., DeMartino, G.N. & Croall, D.E. (1987). Colocalization of calcium-dependent protease II and one of its substrates at sites of cell adhesion. *Cell*, **51**, 569-77.

Behrens, J., Vakaet, L., Friis, R., Winterhager, E., Van Roy, F., Mareel, M.M. &
Birchmeier, W. (1993). Loss of epithelial differentiation and gain of invasiveness correlates with tyrosine phosphorylation of the E-cadherin/beta-catenin complex in cells transformed with a temperature-sensitive v-SRC gene. J Cell Biol, 120, 757-66.

- Bergman, M., Joukov, V., Virtanen, I. & Alitalo, K. (1995). Overexpressed Csk tyrosine kinase is localized in focal adhesions, causes reorganization of alpha v beta 5 integrin, and interferes with HeLa cell spreading. *Mol Cell Biol*, 15, 711-22.
- Bibbins, K.B., Boeuf, H. & Varmus, H.E. (1993). Binding of the Src SH2 domain to phosphopeptides is determined by residues in both the SH2 domain and the phosphopeptides. *Mol Cell Biol*, **13**, 7278-87.
- Bijlmakers, M.J. & Marsh, M. (2000). Hsp90 is essential for the synthesis and subsequent membrane association, but not the maintenance, of the Src-kinase p56(lck). Mol Biol Cell, 11, 1585-95.
- Bjorge, J.D., Pang, A. & Fujita, D.J. (2000). Identification of protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1B as the major tyrosine phosphatase activity capable of dephosphorylating and activating c-Src in several human breast cancer cell lines. J Biol Chem, 275, 41439-46.
- Bolen, J.B. & Brugge, J.S. (1997). Leukocyte protein tyrosine kinases: potential targets for drug discovery. Annu Rev Immunol, 15, 371-404.
- Borisy, G.G. & Svitkina, T.M. (2000). Actin machinery: pushing the envelope. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, **12**, 104-12.
- Braga, V.M., Machesky, L.M., Hall, A. & Hotchin, N.A. (1997). The small GTPases Rho and Rac are required for the establishment of cadherin-dependent cell-cell contacts. *J Cell Biol*, **137**, 1421-31.
- Broome, M.A. & Hunter, T. (1996). Requirement for c-Src catalytic activity and the SH3 domain in platelet- derived growth factor BB and epidermal growth factor mitogenic signaling. *J Biol Chem*, **271**, 16798-806.
- Brown, M.T., Andrade, J., Radhakrishna, H., Donaldson, J.G., Cooper, J.A. & Randazzo, P.A. (1998). ASAP1, a phospholipid-dependent arf GTPase-activating protein that associates with and is phosphorylated by Src. *Mol Cell Biol*, 18, 7038-51.
- Brown, M.T. & Cooper, J.A. (1996). Regulation, substrates and functions of src. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, **1287**, 121-49.
- Brugge, J.S. (1986). Interaction of the Rous sarcoma virus protein pp60src with the cellular proteins pp50 and pp90. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, **123**, 1-22.
- Brunton, V.G., Ozanne, B.W., Paraskeva, C. & Frame, M.C. (1997). A role for epidermal growth factor receptor, c-Src and focal adhesion kinase in an in vitro model for the progression of colon cancer. *Oncogene*, **14**, 283-93.
- Buhl, A.M., Johnson, N.L., Dhanasekaran, N. & Johnson, G.L. (1995). G alpha 12 and G alpha 13 stimulate Rho-dependent stress fiber formation and focal adhesion assembly. J Biol Chem, 270, 24631-4.
- Burbelo, P.D., Drechsel, D. & Hall, A. (1995). A conserved binding motif defines numerous candidate target proteins for both Cdc42 and Rac GTPases. J Biol Chem, 270, 29071-4.
- Burnham, M.R., Bruce-Staskal, P.J., Harte, M.T., Weidow, C.L., Ma, A., Weed, S.A. & Bouton, A.H. (2000). Regulation of c-SRC activity and function by the adapter protein CAS. *Mol Cell Biol*, **20**, 5865-78.
- Burr, J.G., Dreyfuss, G., Penman, S. & Buchanan, J.M. (1980). Association of the src gene product of Rous sarcoma virus with cytoskeletal structures of chicken embryo fibroblasts. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **77**, 3484-8.
- Burridge, K., Turner, C.E. & Romer, L.H. (1992). Tyrosine phosphorylation of paxillin and pp125FAK accompanies cell adhesion to extracellular matrix: a role in cytoskeletal assembly. *J Cell Biol*, **119**, 893-903.
- Buss, J.E., Kamps, M.P. & Sefton, B.M. (1984). Myristic acid is attached to the transforming protein of Rous sarcoma virus during or immediately after synthesis and is present in both soluble and membrane-bound forms of the protein. *Mol Cell Biol*, 4, 2697-704.

- Calalb, M.B., Polte, T.R. & Hanks, S.K. (1995). Tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase at sites in the catalytic domain regulates kinase activity: a role for Src family kinases. *Mol Cell Biol*, **15**, 954-63.
- Cantor, S.B., Urano, T. & Feig, L.A. (1995). Identification and characterization of Ralbinding protein 1, a potential downstream target of Ral GTPases. *Mol Cell Biol*, 15, 4578-84.
- Carney, P.R. & Couve, E. (1989). Cell polarity changes and migration during early development of the avian peripheral auditory system. *Anat Rec*, **225**, 156-64.
- Carragher, N.O., Fincham, V.J., Riley, D. & Frame, M.C. (2001). Cleavage of focal adhesion kinase by different proteases during SRC- regulated transformation and apoptosis. Distinct roles for calpain and caspases. *J Biol Chem*, **276**, 4270-5.
- Carragher, N.O., Levkau, B., Ross, R. & Raines, E.W. (1999). Degraded collagen fragments promote rapid disassembly of smooth muscle focal adhesions that correlates with cleavage of pp125(FAK), paxillin, and talin. J Cell Biol, 147, 619-30.
- Cary, L.A., Chang, J.F. & Guan, J.L. (1996). Stimulation of cell migration by overexpression of focal adhesion kinase and its association with Src and Fyn. J Cell Sci, 109, 1787-94.
- Cerione, R.A. & Zheng, Y. (1996). The Dbl family of oncogenes. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 8, 216-22.
- Chackalaparampil, I. & Shalloway, D. (1988). Altered phosphorylation and activation of pp60c-src during fibroblast mitosis. *Cell*, **52**, 801-10.
- Chan, A.Y., Raft, S., Bailly, M., Wyckoff, J.B., Segall, J.E. & Condeelis, J.S. (1998). EGF stimulates an increase in actin nucleation and filament number at the leading edge of the lamellipod in mammary adenocarcinoma cells. *J Cell Sci*, **111**, 199-211.
- Chang, J.H., Gill, S., Settleman, J. & Parsons, S.J. (1995). c-Src regulates the simultaneous rearrangement of actin cytoskeleton, p190RhoGAP, and p120RasGAP following epidermal growth factor stimulation. *J Cell Biol*, **130**, 355-68.
- Chen, J.K., Capdevila, J. & Harris, R.C. (2000). Overexpression of C-terminal Src kinase blocks 14, 15- epoxyeicosatrienoic acid-induced tyrosine phosphorylation and mitogenesis. *J Biol Chem*, **275**, 13789-92.
- Chen, W.T. (1981). Mechanism of retraction of the trailing edge during fibroblast movement. J Cell Biol, 90, 187-200.
- Chow, L.M., Davidson, D., Fournel, M., Gosselin, P., Lemieux, S., Lyu, M.S., Kozak, C.A., Matis, L.A. & Veillette, A. (1994). Two distinct protein isoforms are encoded by ntk, a csk-related tyrosine protein kinase gene. *Oncogene*, 9, 3437-48.
- Chow, L.M., Fournel, M., Davidson, D. & Veillette, A. (1993). Negative regulation of Tcell receptor signalling by tyrosine protein kinase p50csk. *Nature*, **365**, 156-60.
- Chrzanowska-Wodnicka, M. & Burridge, K. (1996). Rho-stimulated contractility drives the formation of stress fibers and focal adhesions. *J Cell Biol*, **133**, 1403-15.
- Clark, E.A. & Brugge, J.S. (1993). Redistribution of activated pp60c-src to integrindependent cytoskeletal complexes in thrombin-stimulated platelets. *Mol Cell Biol*, 13, 1863-71.
- Clark, E.A., Golub, T.R., Lander, E.S. & Hynes, R.O. (2000). Genomic analysis of metastasis reveals an essential role for RhoC. *Nature*, **406**, 532-5.
- Collett, M.S. & Erikson, R.L. (1978). Protein kinase activity associated with the avian sarcoma virus src gene product. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **75**, 2021-4.
- Cooper, J.A., Gould, K.L., Cartwright, C.A. & Hunter, T. (1986). Tyr527 is phosphorylated in pp60c-src: implications for regulation. *Science*, **231**, 1431-4.
- Courtneidge, S.A. (1985). Activation of the pp60c-src kinase by middle T antigen binding or by dephosphorylation. *Embo J*, **4**, 1471-7.
- Courtneidge, S.A., Fumagalli, S., Koegl, M., Superti-Furga, G. & Twamley-Stein, G.M. (1993). The Src family of protein tyrosine kinases: regulation and functions. *Dev Suppl*, 57-64.

- Courtneidge, S.A., Levinson, A.D. & Bishop, J.M. (1980). The protein encoded by the transforming gene of avian sarcoma virus (pp60src) and a homologous protein in normal cells (pp60proto-src) are associated with the plasma membrane. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **77**, 3783-7.
- Couture, C., Baier, G., Altman, A. & Mustelin, T. (1994). p56lck-independent activation and tyrosine phosphorylation of p72syk by T-cell antigen receptor/CD3 stimulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **91**, 5301-5.
- Cox, E.A., Sastry, S.K. & Huttenlocher, A. (2001). Integrin-mediated adhesion regulates cell polarity and membrane protrusion through the Rho family of GTPases. *Mol Biol Cell*, 12, 265-77.
- Crespo, P., Schuebel, K.E., Ostrom, A.A., Gutkind, J.S. & Bustelo, X.R. (1997). Phosphotyrosine-dependent activation of Rac-1 GDP/GTP exchange by the vav proto-oncogene product. *Nature*, **385**, 169-72.
- Crow, D.S., Beyer, E.C., Paul, D.L., Kobe, S.S. & Lau, A.F. (1990). Phosphorylation of connexin43 gap junction protein in uninfected and Rous sarcoma virus-transformed mammalian fibroblasts. *Mol Cell Biol*, **10**, 1754-63.
- Dan, C., Nath, N., Liberto, M. & Minden, A. (2002). PAK5, a new brain-specific kinase, promotes neurite outgrowth in N1E- 115 cells. *Mol Cell Biol*, **22**, 567-77.
- Daniels, R.H. & Bokoch, G.M. (1999). p21-activated protein kinase: a crucial component of morphological signaling? *Trends Biochem Sci*, 24, 350-5.
- David-Pfeuty, T. & Singer, S.J. (1980). Altered distributions of the cytoskeletal proteins vinculin and alpha- actinin in cultured fibroblasts transformed by Rous sarcoma virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 77, 6687-91.
- del Peso, L., Hernandez-Alcoceba, R., Embade, N., Carnero, A., Esteve, P., Paje, C. & Lacal, J.C. (1997). Rho proteins induce metastatic properties in vivo. *Oncogene*, **15**, 3047-57.
- Ellis, C., Moran, M., McCormick, F. & Pawson, T. (1990). Phosphorylation of GAP and GAP-associated proteins by transforming and mitogenic tyrosine kinases. *Nature*, 343, 377-81.
- Ellis, S. & Mellor, H. (2000). The novel Rho-family GTPase rif regulates coordinated actin-based membrane rearrangements. *Curr Biol*, **10**, 1387-90.
- Erpel, T., Superti-Furga, G. & Courtneidge, S.A. (1995). Mutational analysis of the Src SH3 domain: the same residues of the ligand binding surface are important for intra- and intermolecular interactions. *Embo J*, 14, 963-75.
- Evans, E., Leung, A. & Zhelev, D. (1993). Synchrony of cell spreading and contraction force as phagocytes engulf large pathogens. *J Cell Biol*, **122**, 1295-300.
- Fan, W.T., Koch, C.A., de Hoog, C.L., Fam, N.P. & Moran, M.F. (1998). The exchange factor Ras-GRF2 activates Ras-dependent and Rac-dependent mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. *Curr Biol*, 8, 935-8.
- Feder, D. & Bishop, J.M. (1990). Purification and enzymatic characterization of pp60c-src from human platelets. *J Biol Chem*, **265**, 8205-11.
- Feig, L.A. (1999). Tools of the trade: use of dominant-inhibitory mutants of Ras-family GTPases. *Nat Cell Biol*, **1**, E25-7.
- Felsenfeld, D.P., Schwartzberg, P.L., Venegas, A., Tse, R. & Sheetz, M.P. (1999). Selective regulation of integrin--cytoskeleton interactions by the tyrosine kinase Src. Nat Cell Biol, 1, 200-6.
- Fernandez, A., Brautigan, D.L., Mumby, M. & Lamb, N.J. (1990). Protein phosphatase type-1, not type-2A, modulates actin microfilament integrity and myosin light chain phosphorylation in living nonmuscle cells. *J Cell Biol*, **111**, 103-12.
- Filson, A.J., Azarnia, R., Beyer, E.C., Loewenstein, W.R. & Brugge, J.S. (1990). Tyrosine phosphorylation of a gap junction protein correlates with inhibition of cell-to-cell communication. *Cell Growth Differ*, **1**, 661-8.
- Finan, P.M., Soames, C.J., Wilson, L., Nelson, D.L., Stewart, D.M., Truong, O., Hsuan, J.J. & Kellie, S. (1996). Identification of regions of the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome

protein responsible for association with selected Src homology 3 domains. *J Biol Chem*, **271**, 26291-5.

- Fincham, V.J., Brunton, V.G. & Frame, M.C. (2000). The SH3 domain directs actomyosin-dependent targeting of v-Src to focal adhesions via phosphatidylinositol 3kinase. *Mol Cell Biol*, 20, 6518-36.
- Fincham, V.J., Chudleigh, A. & Frame, M.C. (1999). Regulation of p190 Rho-GAP by v-Src is linked to cytoskeletal disruption during transformation. J Cell Sci, 112, 947-56.
- Fincham, V.J. & Frame, M.C. (1998). The catalytic activity of Src is dispensable for translocation to focal adhesions but controls the turnover of these structures during cell motility. *Embo J*, 17, 81-92.
- Fincham, V.J., Unlu, M., Brunton, V.G., Pitts, J.D., Wyke, J.A. & Frame, M.C. (1996). Translocation of Src kinase to the cell periphery is mediated by the actin cytoskeleton under the control of the Rho family of small G proteins. *J Cell Biol*, 135, 1551-64.
- Fincham, V.J., Wyke, J.A. & Frame, M.C. (1995). v-Src-induced degradation of focal adhesion kinase during morphological transformation of chicken embryo fibroblasts. *Oncogene*, **10**, 2247-52.
- Flynn, D.C., Leu, T.H., Reynolds, A.B. & Parsons, J.T. (1993). Identification and sequence analysis of cDNAs encoding a 110-kilodalton actin filament-associated pp60src substrate. *Mol Cell Biol*, 13, 7892-900.
- Ford, C.E., Furlong, M.T., Geahlen, R.L. & Harrison, M.L. (1994). Signaling-induced association of a tyrosine-phosphorylated 36-kDa protein with p50csk. J Biol Chem, 269, 30378-85.
- Fox, J.E., Goll, D.E., Reynolds, C.C. & Phillips, D.R. (1985). Identification of two proteins (actin-binding protein and P235) that are hydrolyzed by endogenous Ca2+dependent protease during platelet aggregation. J Biol Chem, 260, 1060-6.
- Frischknecht, F., Moreau, V., Rottger, S., Gonfloni, S., Reckmann, I., Superti-Furga, G. & Way, M. (1999). Actin-based motility of vaccinia virus mimics receptor tyrosine kinase signalling. *Nature*, **401**, 926-9.
- Fritz, G., Kaina, B. & Aktories, K. (1995). The ras-related small GTP-binding protein RhoB is immediate-early inducible by DNA damaging treatments. J Biol Chem, 270, 25172-7.
- Frost, J.A., Khokhlatchev, A., Stippec, S., White, M.A. & Cobb, M.H. (1998). Differential effects of PAK1-activating mutations reveal activity- dependent and -independent effects on cytoskeletal regulation. *J Biol Chem*, **273**, 28191-8.
- Fukuhara, S., Murga, C., Zohar, M., Igishi, T. & Gutkind, J.S. (1999). A novel PDZ domain containing guanine nucleotide exchange factor links heterotrimeric G proteins to Rho. J Biol Chem, 274, 5868-79.
- Fukui, Y., O'Brien, M.C. & Hanafusa, H. (1991). Deletions in the SH2 domain of p60v-src prevent association with the detergent-insoluble cellular matrix. *Mol Cell Biol*, 11, 1207-13.
- Garber, E.A., Krueger, J.G., Hanafusa, H. & Goldberg, A.R. (1983). Only membraneassociated RSV src proteins have amino-terminally bound lipid. *Nature*, **302**, 161-3.
- Gebbink, M.F., Kranenburg, O., Poland, M., van Horck, F.P., Houssa, B. & Moolenaar, W.H. (1997). Identification of a novel, putative Rho-specific GDP/GTP exchange factor and a RhoA-binding protein: control of neuronal morphology. *J Cell Biol*, 137, 1603-13.
- Gillham, H., Golding, M.C., Pepperkok, R. & Gullick, W.J. (1999). Intracellular movement of green fluorescent protein-tagged phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in response to growth factor receptor signaling. *J Cell Biol*, **146**, 869-80.
- Gilmore, A.P. & Burridge, K. (1996). Regulation of vinculin binding to talin and actin by phosphatidyl- inositol-4-5-bisphosphate. *Nature*, **381**, 531-5.

- Gilmore, A.P. & Romer, L.H. (1996). Inhibition of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) signaling in focal adhesions decreases cell motility and proliferation. *Mol Biol Cell*, **7**, 1209-24.
- Glading, A., Chang, P., Lauffenburger, D.A. & Wells, A. (2000). Epidermal growth factor receptor activation of calpain is required for fibroblast motility and occurs via an ERK/MAP kinase signaling pathway. J Biol Chem, 275, 2390-8.
- Glaven, J.A., Whitehead, I.P., Nomanbhoy, T., Kay, R. & Cerione, R.A. (1996). Lfc and Lsc oncoproteins represent two new guanine nucleotide exchange factors for the Rho GTP-binding protein. *J Biol Chem*, **271**, 27374-81.
- Gohla, A., Harhammer, R. & Schultz, G. (1998). The G-protein G13 but not G12 mediates signaling from lysophosphatidic acid receptor via epidermal growth factor receptor to Rho. *J Biol Chem*, **273**, 4653-9.
- Gonfloni, S., Weijland, A., Kretzschmar, J. & Superti-Furga, G. (2000). Crosstalk between the catalytic and regulatory domains allows bidirectional regulation of Src. *Nat Struct Biol*, **7**, 281-6.
- Grandori, C. & Hanafusa, H. (1988). p60c-src is complexed with a cellular protein in subcellular compartments involved in exocytosis. *J Cell Biol*, **107**, 2125-35.
- Guan, J.L. & Shalloway, D. (1992). Regulation of focal adhesion-associated protein tyrosine kinase by both cellular adhesion and oncogenic transformation. *Nature*, 358, 690-2.
- Guasch, R.M., Scambler, P., Jones, G.E. & Ridley, A.J. (1998). RhoE regulates actin cytoskeleton organization and cell migration. *Mol Cell Biol*, **18**, 4761-71.
- Guinebault, C., Payrastre, B., Racaud-Sultan, C., Mazarguil, H., Breton, M., Mauco, G.,
 Plantavid, M. & Chap, H. (1995). Integrin-dependent translocation of
 phosphoinositide 3-kinase to the cytoskeleton of thrombin-activated platelets
 involves specific interactions of p85 alpha with actin filaments and focal adhesion
 kinase. J Cell Biol, 129, 831-42.
- Gulbins, E., Coggeshall, K.M., Baier, G., Katzav, S., Burn, P. & Altman, A. (1993). Tyrosine kinase-stimulated guanine nucleotide exchange activity of Vav in T cell activation. Science, 260, 822-5.
- Habets, G.G., Scholtes, E.H., Zuydgeest, D., van der Kammen, R.A., Stam, J.C., Berns, A. & Collard, J.G. (1994). Identification of an invasion-inducing gene, Tiam-1, that encodes a protein with homology to GDP-GTP exchangers for Rho-like proteins. *Cell*, 77, 537-49.
- Haefner, B., Baxter, R., Fincham, V.J., Downes, C.P. & Frame, M.C. (1995). Cooperation of Src homology domains in the regulated binding of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. A role for the Src homology 2 domain. J Biol Chem, 270, 7937-43.
- Hagel, M., George, E.L., Kim, A., Tamimi, R., Opitz, S.L., Turner, C.E., Imamoto, A. & Thomas, S.M. (2002). The adaptor protein paxillin is essential for normal development in the mouse and is a critical transducer of fibronectin signaling. *Mol Cell Biol*, 22, 901-15.
- Hall, A. (1998). Rho GTPases and the actin cytoskeleton. Science, 279, 509-14.
- Hall, C.L., Lange, L.A., Prober, D.A., Zhang, S. & Turley, E.A. (1996). pp60(c-src) is required for cell locomotion regulated by the hyaluronanreceptor RHAMM. Oncogene, 13, 2213-24.
- Hamaguchi, M. & Hanafusa, H. (1987). Association of p60src with Triton X-100-resistant cellular structure correlates with morphological transformation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, **84**, 2312-6.
- Han, J., Das, B., Wei, W., Van Aelst, L., Mosteller, R.D., Khosravi-Far, R., Westwick, J.K., Der, C.J. & Broek, D. (1997). Lck regulates Vav activation of members of the Rho family of GTPases. *Mol Cell Biol*, **17**, 1346-53.
- Han, J., Luby-Phelps, K., Das, B., Shu, X., Xia, Y., Mosteller, R.D., Krishna, U.M., Falck, J.R., White, M.A. & Broek, D. (1998). Role of substrates and products of PI 3-

kinase in regulating activation of Rac-related guanosine triphosphatases by Vav. *Science*, **279**, 558-60.

- Hanke, J.H., Gardner, J.P., Dow, R.L., Changelian, P.S., Brissette, W.H., Weringer, E.J., Pollok, B.A. & Connelly, P.A. (1996). Discovery of a novel, potent, and Src family-selective tyrosine kinase inhibitor. Study of Lck- and FynT-dependent T cell activation. J Biol Chem, 271, 695-701.
- Harder, K.W., Moller, N.P., Peacock, J.W. & Jirik, F.R. (1998). Protein-tyrosine phosphatase alpha regulates Src family kinases and alters cell-substratum adhesion. *J Biol Chem*, 273, 31890-900.
- Harris, A.K., Wild, P. & Stopak, D. (1980). Silicone rubber substrata: a new wrinkle in the study of cell locomotion. *Science*, **208**, 177-9.
- Harris, K.F., Shoji, I., Cooper, E.M., Kumar, S., Oda, H. & Howley, P.M. (1999).
 Ubiquitin-mediated degradation of active Src tyrosine kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* SA, 96, 13738-43.
- Hart, M.J., Jiang, X., Kozasa, T., Roscoe, W., Singer, W.D., Gilman, A.G., Sternweis, P.C.
 & Bollag, G. (1998). Direct stimulation of the guanine nucleotide exchange activity of p115 RhoGEF by Galpha13. *Science*, 280, 2112-4.
- Hart, M.J., Maru, Y., Leonard, D., Witte, O.N., Evans, T. & Cerione, R.A. (1992). A GDP dissociation inhibitor that serves as a GTPase inhibitor for the Ras-like protein CDC42Hs. Science, 258, 812-5.
- Hartwig, J.H., Bokoch, G.M., Carpenter, C.L., Janmey, P.A., Taylor, L.A., Toker, A. & Stossel, T.P. (1995). Thrombin receptor ligation and activated Rac uncap actin filament barbed ends through phosphoinositide synthesis in permeabilized human platelets. *Cell*, 82, 643-53.
- Hildebrand, J.D., Schaller, M.D. & Parsons, J.T. (1993). Identification of sequences required for the efficient localization of the focal adhesion kinase, pp125FAK, to cellular focal adhesions. *J Cell Biol*, **123**, 993-1005.
- Homma, Y. & Emori, Y. (1995). A dual functional signal mediator showing RhoGAP and phospholipase C- delta stimulating activities. *Embo J*, 14, 286-91.
- Hooley, R., Yu, C.Y., Symons, M. & Barber, D.L. (1996). G alpha 13 stimulates Na+-H+ exchange through distinct Cdc42-dependent and RhoA-dependent pathways. *J Biol Chem*, **271**, 6152-8.
- Hordijk, P.L., ten Klooster, J.P., van der Kammen, R.A., Michiels, F., Oomen, L.C. & Collard, J.G. (1997). Inhibition of invasion of epithelial cells by Tiam1-Rac signaling. Science, 278, 1464-6.
- Huang, C., Liu, J., Haudenschild, C.C. & Zhan, X. (1998). The role of tyrosine phosphorylation of cortactin in the locomotion of endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem*, 273, 25770-6.
- Huang, C., Ni, Y., Wang, T., Gao, Y., Haudenschild, C.C. & Zhan, X. (1997). Downregulation of the filamentous actin cross-linking activity of cortactin by Srcmediated tyrosine phosphorylation. J Biol Chem, 272, 13911-5.
- Hunter, T. & Cooper, J.A. (1985). Protein-tyrosine kinases. Annu Rev Biochem, 54, 897-930.
- Ilic, D., Furuta, Y., Kanazawa, S., Takeda, N., Sobue, K., Nakatsuji, N., Nomura, S., Fujimoto, J., Okada, M. & Yamamoto, T. (1995). Reduced cell motility and enhanced focal adhesion contact formation in cells from FAK-deficient mice. *Nature*, 377, 539-44.
- Ilic, D., Kanazawa, S., Furuta, Y., Yamamoto, T. & Aizawa, S. (1996). Impairment of mobility in endodermal cells by FAK deficiency. *Exp Cell Res*, **222**, 298-303.
- Irby, R.B., Mao, W., Coppola, D., Kang, J., Loubeau, J.M., Trudeau, W., Karl, R., Fujita, D.J., Jove, R. & Yeatman, T.J. (1999). Activating SRC mutation in a subset of advanced human colon cancers. *Nat Genet*, **21**, 187-90.
- Ishizaki, T., Maekawa, M., Fujisawa, K., Okawa, K., Iwamatsu, A., Fujita, A., Watanabe, N., Saito, Y., Kakizuka, A., Morii, N. & Narumiya, S. (1996). The small GTP-

binding protein Rho binds to and activates a 160 kDa Ser/Thr protein kinase homologous to myotonic dystrophy kinase. *Embo J*, **15**, 1885-93.

- Isomura, M., Kikuchi, A., Ohga, N. & Takai, Y. (1991). Regulation of binding of rhoB p20 to membranes by its specific regulatory protein, GDP dissociation inhibitor. Oncogene, 6, 119-24.
- Jahner, D. & Hunter, T. (1991). The ras-related gene rhoB is an immediate-early gene inducible by v- Fps, epidermal growth factor, and platelet-derived growth factor in rat fibroblasts. *Mol Cell Biol*, **11**, 3682-90.
- Jalink, K., Eichholtz, T., Postma, F.R., van Corven, E.J. & Moolenaar, W.H. (1993). Lysophosphatidic acid induces neuronal shape changes via a novel, receptormediated signaling pathway: similarity to thrombin action. *Cell Growth Differ*, 4, 247-55.
- Jalink, K., van Corven, E.J., Hengeveld, T., Morii, N., Narumiya, S. & Moolenaar, W.H. (1994). Inhibition of lysophosphatidate- and thrombin-induced neurite retraction and neuronal cell rounding by ADP ribosylation of the small GTP-binding protein Rho. J Cell Biol, 126, 801-10.
- Jang, J.S. & Choi, Y.H. (1999). Proteolytic degradation of the retinoblastoma family protein p107: A putative cooperative role of calpain and proteasome. Int J Mol Med, 4, 487-92.
- Johnson, T.M., Williamson, N.A., Scholz, G., Jaworowski, A., Wettenhall, R.E., Dunn, A.R. & Cheng, H.C. (2000). Modulation of the catalytic activity of the Src family tyrosine kinase Hck by autophosphorylation at a novel site in the unique domain. J Biol Chem, 275, 33353-64.
- Joneson, T., McDonough, M., Bar-Sagi, D. & Van Aelst, L. (1996). RAC regulation of actin polymerization and proliferation by a pathway distinct from Jun kinase. *Science*, **274**, 1374-6.
- Kabouridis, P.S., Magee, A.I. & Ley, S.C. (1997). S-acylation of LCK protein tyrosine kinase is essential for its signalling function in T lymphocytes. *Embo J*, 16, 4983-98.
- Kaech, S., Schnierle, B., Wyss, A. & Ballmer-Hofer, K. (1993). Myristylation and aminoterminal phosphorylation are required for activation of pp60c-src during mitosis. *Oncogene*, 8, 575-81.
- Kamei, T., Machida, K., Nimura, Y., Senga, T., Yamada, I., Yoshii, S., Matsuda, S. & Hamaguchi, M. (2000). C-Cbl protein in human cancer tissues is frequently tyrosine phosphorylated in a tumor-specific manner. *Int J Oncol*, **17**, 335-9.
- Kamps, M.P. & Sefton, B.M. (1986). Neither arginine nor histidine can carry out the function of lysine-295 in the ATP-binding site of p60src. *Mol Cell Biol*, **6**, 751-7.
- Kanner, S.B., Reynolds, A.B., Vines, R.R. & Parsons, J.T. (1990). Monoclonal antibodies to individual tyrosine-phosphorylated protein substrates of oncogene-encoded tyrosine kinases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 87, 3328-32.
- Kaplan, J.M., Varmus, H.E. & Bishop, J.M. (1990). The src protein contains multiple domains for specific attachment to membranes. *Mol Cell Biol*, **10**, 1000-9.
- Kaplan, K.B., Bibbins, K.B., Swedlow, J.R., Arnaud, M., Morgan, D.O. & Varmus, H.E. (1994). Association of the amino-terminal half of c-Src with focal adhesions alters their properties and is regulated by phosphorylation of tyrosine 527. *Embo J*, 13, 4745-56.
- Kaplan, K.B., Swedlow, J.R., Morgan, D.O. & Varmus, H.E. (1995). c-Src enhances the spreading of src-/- fibroblasts on fibronectin by a kinase-independent mechanism. *Genes Dev*, 9, 1505-17.
- Kaplan, K.B., Swedlow, J.R., Varmus, H.E. & Morgan, D.O. (1992). Association of p60csrc with endosomal membranes in mammalian fibroblasts. *J Cell Biol*, **118**, 321-33.
- Kaplan, N. & Simon, M.I. (1988). Purification and characterization of the wild-type and mutant carboxy- terminal domains of the Escherichia coli Tar chemoreceptor. J Bacteriol, 170, 5134-40.

267

- Kato, J.Y., Takeya, T., Grandori, C., Iba, H., Levy, J.B. & Hanafusa, H. (1986). Amino acid substitutions sufficient to convert the nontransforming p60c- src protein to a transforming protein. *Mol Cell Biol*, **6**, 4155-60.
- Kato-Stankiewicz, J., Ueda, S., Kataoka, T., Kaziro, Y. & Satoh, T. (2001). Epidermal growth factor stimulation of the ACK1/Dbl pathway in a Cdc42 and Grb2dependent manner. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 284, 470-7.
- Kaverina, I., Rottner, K. & Small, J.V. (1998). Targeting, capture, and stabilization of microtubules at early focal adhesions. J Cell Biol, 142, 181-90.
- Keely, P.J., Westwick, J.K., Whitehead, I.P., Der, C.J. & Parise, L.V. (1997). Cdc42 and Rac1 induce integrin-mediated cell motility and invasiveness through PI(3)K. *Nature*, **390**, 632-6.
- Kimura, K., Ito, M., Amano, M., Chihara, K., Fukata, Y., Nakafuku, M., Yamamori, B., Feng, J., Nakano, T., Okawa, K., Iwamatsu, A. & Kaibuchi, K. (1996). Regulation of myosin phosphatase by Rho and Rho-associated kinase (Rho- kinase). Science, 273, 245-8.
- Kintscher, U., Wakino, S., Kim, S., Fleck, E., Hsueh, W.A. & Law, R.E. (2001). Angiotensin II induces migration and Pyk2/paxillin phosphorylation of human monocytes. *Hypertension*, 37, 587-93.
- Kirschner, M.W. (1980). Implications of treadmilling for the stability and polarity of actin and tubulin polymers in vivo. J Cell Biol, 86, 330-4.
- Klemke, R.L., Cai, S., Giannini, A.L., Gallagher, P.J., de Lanerolle, P. & Cheresh, D.A. (1997). Regulation of cell motility by mitogen-activated protein kinase. J Cell Biol, 137, 481-92.
- Klinghoffer, R.A., Sachsenmaier, C., Cooper, J.A. & Soriano, P. (1999). Src family kinases are required for integrin but not PDGFR signal transduction. *Embo J*, **18**, 2459-71.
- Kmiecik, T.E. & Shalloway, D. (1987). Activation and suppression of pp60c-src transforming ability by mutation of its primary sites of tyrosine phosphorylation. *Cell*, **49**, 65-73.
- Kohno, H., Tanaka, K., Mino, A., Umikawa, M., Imamura, H., Fujiwara, T., Fujita, Y., Hotta, K., Qadota, H., Watanabe, T., Ohya, Y. & Takai, Y. (1996). Bni1p implicated in cytoskeletal control is a putative target of Rho1p small GTP binding protein in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Embo J*, **15**, 6060-8.
- Kolluri, R., Tolias, K.F., Carpenter, C.L., Rosen, F.S. & Kirchhausen, T. (1996). Direct interaction of the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein with the GTPase Cdc42. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **93**, 5615-8.
- Kozasa, T., Jiang, X., Hart, M.J., Sternweis, P.M., Singer, W.D., Gilman, A.G., Bollag, G. & Sternweis, P.C. (1998). p115 RhoGEF, a GTPase activating protein for Galpha12 and Galpha13. Science, 280, 2109-11.
- Kozma, R., Ahmed, S., Best, A. & Lim, L. (1995). The Ras-related protein Cdc42Hs and bradykinin promote formation of peripheral actin microspikes and filopodia in Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts. *Mol Cell Biol*, 15, 1942-52.
- Kozma, R., Ahmed, S., Best, A. & Lim, L. (1996). The GTPase-activating protein nchimaerin cooperates with Rac1 and Cdc42Hs to induce the formation of lamellipodia and filopodia. *Mol Cell Biol*, **16**, 5069-80.
- Kozma, R., Sarner, S., Ahmed, S. & Lim, L. (1997). Rho family GTPases and neuronal growth cone remodelling: relationship between increased complexity induced by Cdc42Hs, Rac1, and acetylcholine and collapse induced by RhoA and lysophosphatidic acid. *Mol Cell Biol*, **17**, 1201-11.
- Krieg, J. & Hunter, T. (1992). Identification of the two major epidermal growth factorinduced tyrosine phosphorylation sites in the microvillar core protein ezrin. J Biol Chem, 267, 19258-65.
- Kulkarni, S.V., Gish, G., van der Geer, P., Henkemeyer, M. & Pawson, T. (2000). Role of p120 Ras-GAP in directed cell movement. *J Cell Biol*, **149**, 457-70.

- Kuroda, S., Fukata, M., Nakagawa, M., Fujii, K., Nakamura, T., Ookubo, T., Izawa, I.,
 Nagase, T., Nomura, N., Tani, H., Shoji, I., Matsuura, Y., Yonehara, S. &
 Kaibuchi, K. (1998). Role of IQGAP1, a target of the small GTPases Cdc42 and
 Rac1, in regulation of E-cadherin- mediated cell-cell adhesion. *Science*, 281, 832-5.
- Lakkakorpi, P.T., Wesolowski, G., Zimolo, Z., Rodan, G.A. & Rodan, S.B. (1997). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase association with the osteoclast cytoskeleton, and its involvement in osteoclast attachment and spreading. *Exp Cell Res*, **237**, 296-306.
- Lamarche, N., Tapon, N., Stowers, L., Burbelo, P.D., Aspenstrom, P., Bridges, T., Chant, J. & Hall, A. (1996). Rac and Cdc42 induce actin polymerization and G1 cell cycle progression independently of p65PAK and the JNK/SAPK MAP kinase cascade. *Cell*, 87, 519-29.
- Lamb, N.J., Fernandez, A., Conti, M.A., Adelstein, R., Glass, D.B., Welch, W.J. & Feramisco, J.R. (1988). Regulation of actin microfilament integrity in living nonmuscle cells by the cAMP-dependent protein kinase and the myosin light chain kinase. J Cell Biol, 106, 1955-71.
- Lauffenburger, D.A. & Horwitz, A.F. (1996). Cell migration: a physically integrated molecular process. *Cell*, **84**, 359-69.
- Laukaitis, C.M., Webb, D.J., Donais, K. & Horwitz, A.F. (2001). Differential dynamics of alpha 5 integrin, paxillin, and alpha-actinin during formation and disassembly of adhesions in migrating cells. J Cell Biol, 153, 1427-40.
- Leeuwen, F.N., Kain, H.E., Kammen, R.A., Michiels, F., Kranenburg, O.W. & Collard, J.G. (1997). The guanine nucleotide exchange factor Tiam1 affects neuronal morphology; opposing roles for the small GTPases Rac and Rho. J Cell Biol, 139, 797-807.
- Leung, T., Chen, X.Q., Manser, E. & Lim, L. (1996). The p160 RhoA-binding kinase ROK alpha is a member of a kinase family and is involved in the reorganization of the cytoskeleton. *Mol Cell Biol*, **16**, 5313-27.
- Leung, T., Chen, X.Q., Tan, I., Manser, E. & Lim, L. (1998). Myotonic dystrophy kinaserelated Cdc42-binding kinase acts as a Cdc42 effector in promoting cytoskeletal reorganization. *Mol Cell Biol*, **18**, 130-40.
- Leung, T., How, B.E., Manser, E. & Lim, L. (1993). Germ cell beta-chimaerin, a new GTPase-activating protein for p21rac, is specifically expressed during the acrosomal assembly stage in rat testis. *J Biol Chem*, **268**, 3813-6.
- Leung, T., Manser, E., Tan, L. & Lim, L. (1995). A novel serine/threonine kinase binding the Ras-related RhoA GTPase which translocates the kinase to peripheral membranes. J Biol Chem, 270, 29051-4.
- Levinson, A.D., Oppermann, H., Levintow, L., Varmus, H.E. & Bishop, J.M. (1978). Evidence that the transforming gene of avian sarcoma virus encodes a protein kinase associated with a phosphoprotein. *Cell*, **15**, 561-72.
- Ley, S.C., Marsh, M., Bebbington, C.R., Proudfoot, K. & Jordan, P. (1994). Distinct intracellular localization of Lck and Fyn protein tyrosine kinases in human T lymphocytes. *J Cell Biol*, **125**, 639-49.
- Li, N., Batzer, A., Daly, R., Yajnik, V., Skolnik, E., Chardin, P., Bar-Sagi, D., Margolis, B. & Schlessinger, J. (1993). Guanine-nucleotide-releasing factor hSos1 binds to Grb2 and links receptor tyrosine kinases to Ras signalling. *Nature*, 363, 85-8.
- Linstedt, A.D., Vetter, M.L., Bishop, J.M. & Kelly, R.B. (1992). Specific association of the proto-oncogene product pp60c-src with an intracellular organelle, the PC12 synaptic vesicle. *J Cell Biol*, **117**, 1077-84.
- Liu, J., Huang, C. & Zhan, X. (1999). Src is required for cell migration and shape changes induced by fibroblast growth factor 1. *Oncogene*, **18**, 6700-6.
- Liu, X., Marengere, L.E., Koch, C.A. & Pawson, T. (1993). The v-Src SH3 domain binds phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase. *Mol Cell Biol*, **13**, 5225-32.
- Lock, P., Ralph, S., Stanley, E., Boulet, I., Ramsay, R. & Dunn, A.R. (1991). Two isoforms of murine hck, generated by utilization of alternative translational

initiation codons, exhibit different patterns of subcellular localization. *Mol Cell Biol*, **11**, 4363-70.

- Lynch, E.D., Lee, M.K., Morrow, J.E., Welcsh, P.L., Leon, P.E. & King, M.C. (1997). Nonsyndromic deafness DFNA1 associated with mutation of a human homolog of the Drosophila gene diaphanous. *Science*, **278**, 1315-8.
- MacAuley, A. & Cooper, J.A. (1988). The carboxy-terminal sequence of p56lck can regulate p60c-src. *Mol Cell Biol*, **8**, 3560-4.
- MacAuley, A. & Cooper, J.A. (1989). Structural differences between repressed and derepressed forms of p60c- src. *Mol Cell Biol*, **9**, 2648-56.
- Machesky, L.M. & Hall, A. (1997). Role of actin polymerization and adhesion to extracellular matrix in Rac- and Rho-induced cytoskeletal reorganization. J Cell Biol, 138, 913-26.
- Machesky, L.M. & Insall, R.H. (1998). Scar1 and the related Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein, WASP, regulate the actin cytoskeleton through the Arp2/3 complex. Curr Biol, 8, 1347-56.
- Machesky, L.M., Reeves, E., Wientjes, F., Mattheyse, F.J., Grogan, A., Totty, N.F., Burlingame, A.L., Hsuan, J.J. & Segal, A.W. (1997). Mammalian actin-related protein 2/3 complex localizes to regions of lamellipodial protrusion and is composed of evolutionarily conserved proteins. *Biochem J*, **328**, 105-12.
- Mackay, D.J., Esch, F., Furthmayr, H. & Hall, A. (1997). Rho- and rac-dependent assembly of focal adhesion complexes and actin filaments in permeabilized fibroblasts: an essential role for ezrin/radixin/moesin proteins. J Cell Biol, 138, 927-38.
- Manser, E., Huang, H.Y., Loo, T.H., Chen, X.Q., Dong, J.M., Leung, T. & Lim, L. (1997). Expression of constitutively active alpha-PAK reveals effects of the kinase on actin and focal complexes. *Mol Cell Biol*, **17**, 1129-43.
- Manser, E., Leung, T., Salihuddin, H., Zhao, Z.S. & Lim, L. (1994). A brain serine/threonine protein kinase activated by Cdc42 and Rac1. *Nature*, **367**, 40-6.
- Manser, E., Loo, T.H., Koh, C.G., Zhao, Z.S., Chen, X.Q., Tan, L., Tan, I., Leung, T. & Lim, L. (1998). PAK kinases are directly coupled to the PIX family of nucleotide exchange factors. *Mol Cell*, 1, 183-92.
- Martin, G.A., Bollag, G., McCormick, F. & Abo, A. (1995a). A novel serine kinase activated by rac1/CDC42Hs-dependent autophosphorylation is related to PAK65 and STE20. *Embo J*, **14**, 1970-8.
- Martin, M., Andreoli, C., Sahuquet, A., Montcourrier, P., Algrain, M. & Mangeat, P. (1995b). Ezrin NH2-terminal domain inhibits the cell extension activity of the COOH-terminal domain. J Cell Biol, 128, 1081-93.
- Masaki, T., Okada, M., Tokuda, M., Shiratori, Y., Hatase, O., Shirai, M., Nishioka, M. & Omata, M. (1999). Reduced C-terminal Src kinase (Csk) activities in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology*, 29, 379-84.
- Matsui, T., Amano, M., Yamamoto, T., Chihara, K., Nakafuku, M., Ito, M., Nakano, T., Okawa, K., Iwamatsu, A. & Kaibuchi, K. (1996). Rho-associated kinase, a novel serine/threonine kinase, as a putative target for small GTP binding protein Rho. *Embo J*, 15, 2208-16.
- Matsui, T., Maeda, M., Doi, Y., Yonemura, S., Amano, M., Kaibuchi, K. & Tsukita, S. (1998). Rho-kinase phosphorylates COOH-terminal threonines of ezrin/radixin/moesin (ERM) proteins and regulates their head-to-tail association. J Cell Biol, 140, 647-57.
- Matsuyoshi, N., Hamaguchi, M., Taniguchi, S., Nagafuchi, A., Tsukita, S. & Takeichi, M. (1992). Cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion is perturbed by v-src tyrosine phosphorylation in metastatic fibroblasts. *J Cell Biol*, **118**, 703-14.
- Matuoka, K., Shibasaki, F., Shibata, M. & Takenawa, T. (1993). Ash/Grb-2, a SH2/SH3containing protein, couples to signaling for mitogenesis and cytoskeletal reorganization by EGF and PDGF. *Embo J*, **12**, 3467-73.

- Mayer, T., Meyer, M., Janning, A., Schiedel, A.C. & Barnekow, A. (1999). A mutant form of the rho protein can restore stress fibers and adhesion plaques in v-src transformed fibroblasts. *Oncogene*, **18**, 2117-28.
- McGlade, J., Brunkhorst, B., Anderson, D., Mbamalu, G., Settleman, J., Dedhar, S., Rozakis-Adcock, M., Chen, L.B. & Pawson, T. (1993). The N-terminal region of GAP regulates cytoskeletal structure and cell adhesion. *Embo J*, **12**, 3073-81.
- Michiels, F., Habets, G.G., Stam, J.C., van der Kammen, R.A. & Collard, J.G. (1995). A role for Rac in Tiam1-induced membrane ruffling and invasion. *Nature*, **375**, 338-40.
- Miki, H., Fukuda, M., Nishida, E. & Takenawa, T. (1999). Phosphorylation of WAVE downstream of mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling. *J Biol Chem*, **274**, 27605-9.
- Miki, H., Miura, K. & Takenawa, T. (1996). N-WASP, a novel actin-depolymerizing protein, regulates the cortical cytoskeletal rearrangement in a PIP2-dependent manner downstream of tyrosine kinases. *Embo J*, **15**, 5326-35.
- Miki, H., Sasaki, T., Takai, Y. & Takenawa, T. (1998a). Induction of filopodium formation by a WASP-related actin- depolymerizing protein N-WASP. *Nature*, **391**, 93-6.
- Miki, H., Suetsugu, S. & Takenawa, T. (1998b). WAVE, a novel WASP-family protein involved in actin reorganization induced by Rac. *Embo J*, **17**, 6932-41.
- Miranti, C.K., Leng, L., Maschberger, P., Brugge, J.S. & Shattil, S.J. (1998). Identification of a novel integrin signaling pathway involving the kinase Syk and the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Vav1. *Curr Biol*, **8**, 1289-99.
- Mitchison, T.J. & Cramer, L.P. (1996). Actin-based cell motility and cell locomotion. *Cell*, **84**, 371-9.
- Moarefi, I., LaFevre-Bernt, M., Sicheri, F., Huse, M., Lee, C.H., Kuriyan, J. & Miller, W.T. (1997). Activation of the Src-family tyrosine kinase Hck by SH3 domain displacement. *Nature*, **385**, 650-3.
- Mosch, H.U., Roberts, R.L. & Fink, G.R. (1996). Ras2 signals via the Cdc42/Ste20/mitogen-activated protein kinase module to induce filamentous growth in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **93**, 5352-6.
- Mukai, H., Toshimori, M., Shibata, H., Takanaga, H., Kitagawa, M., Miyahara, M., Shimakawa, M. & Ono, Y. (1997). Interaction of PKN with alpha-actinin. *J Biol Chem*, **272**, 4740-6.
- Munshi, N., Groopman, J.E., Gill, P.S. & Ganju, R.K. (2000). c-Src mediates mitogenic signals and associates with cytoskeletal proteins upon vascular endothelial growth factor stimulation in Kaposi's sarcoma cells. *J Immunol*, **164**, 1169-74.
- Murphy, C., Saffrich, R., Grummt, M., Gournier, H., Rybin, V., Rubino, M., Auvinen, P., Lutcke, A., Parton, R.G. & Zerial, M. (1996). Endosome dynamics regulated by a Rho protein. *Nature*, **384**, 427-32.
- Mustelin, T. & Altman, A. (1990). Dephosphorylation and activation of the T cell tyrosine kinase pp56lck by the leukocyte common antigen (CD45). *Oncogene*, **5**, 809-13.
- Mustelin, T., Pessa-Morikawa, T., Autero, M., Gassmann, M., Andersson, L.C., Gahmberg, C.G. & Burn, P. (1992). Regulation of the p59fyn protein tyrosine kinase by the CD45 phosphotyrosine phosphatase. *Eur J Immunol*, 22, 1173-8.
- Nabi, I.R. (1999). The polarization of the motile cell. J Cell Sci, 112, 1803-11.
- Nada, S., Okada, M., MacAuley, A., Cooper, J.A. & Nakagawa, H. (1991). Cloning of a complementary DNA for a protein-tyrosine kinase that specifically phosphorylates a negative regulatory site of p60c-src. *Nature*, **351**, 69-72.
- Nada, S., Yagi, T., Takeda, H., Tokunaga, T., Nakagawa, H., Ikawa, Y., Okada, M. & Aizawa, S. (1993). Constitutive activation of Src family kinases in mouse embryos that lack Csk. *Cell*, 73, 1125-35.
- Nakagawa, T., Tanaka, S., Suzuki, H., Takayanagi, H., Miyazaki, T., Nakamura, K. & Tsuruo, T. (2000). Overexpression of the csk gene suppresses tumor metastasis in vivo. *Int J Cancer*, **88**, 384-91.

- Narumiya, S., Sekine, A. & Fujiwara, M. (1988). Substrate for botulinum ADPribosyltransferase, Gb, has an amino acid sequence homologous to a putative rho gene product. *J Biol Chem*, **263**, 17255-7.
- Nguyen, D.H., Catling, A.D., Webb, D.J., Sankovic, M., Walker, L.A., Somlyo, A.V., Weber, M.J. & Gonias, S.L. (1999). Myosin light chain kinase functions downstream of Ras/ERK to promote migration of urokinase-type plasminogen activator-stimulated cells in an integrin-selective manner. J Cell Biol, 146, 149-64.
- Nigg, E.A., Sefton, B.M., Hunter, T., Walter, G. & Singer, S.J. (1982). Immunofluorescent localization of the transforming protein of Rous sarcoma virus with antibodies against a synthetic src peptide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **79**, 5322-6.
- Nimnual, A.S., Yatsula, B.A. & Bar-Sagi, D. (1998). Coupling of Ras and Rac guanosine triphosphatases through the Ras exchanger Sos. *Science*, **279**, 560-3.
- Nobes, C.D. & Hall, A. (1995). Rho, rac, and cdc42 GTPases regulate the assembly of multimolecular focal complexes associated with actin stress fibers, lamellipodia, and filopodia. *Cell*, **81**, 53-62.
- Nobes, C.D. & Hall, A. (1999). Rho GTPases control polarity, protrusion, and adhesion during cell movement. *J Cell Biol*, **144**, 1235-44.
- Nobes, C.D., Hawkins, P., Stephens, L. & Hall, A. (1995). Activation of the small GTPbinding proteins rho and rac by growth factor receptors. *J Cell Sci*, **108**, 225-33.
- Nobes, C.D., Lauritzen, I., Mattei, M.G., Paris, S., Hall, A. & Chardin, P. (1998). A new member of the Rho family, Rnd1, promotes disassembly of actin filament structures and loss of cell adhesion. *J Cell Biol*, **141**, 187-97.
- Norman, J.C., Jones, D., Barry, S.T., Holt, M.R., Cockcroft, S. & Critchley, D.R. (1998).
 ARF1 mediates paxillin recruitment to focal adhesions and potentiates Rhostimulated stress fiber formation in intact and permeabilized Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts. J Cell Biol, 143, 1981-95.
- Obermeier, A., Ahmed, S., Manser, E., Yen, S.C., Hall, C. & Lim, L. (1998). PAK promotes morphological changes by acting upstream of Rac. *Embo J*, **17**, 4328-39.
- O'Connor, K.L., Nguyen, B.K. & Mercurio, A.M. (2000). RhoA function in lamellae formation and migration is regulated by the alpha6beta4 integrin and cAMP metabolism. *J Cell Biol*, **148**, 253-8.
- O'Connor, T.J., Bjorge, J.D., Cheng, H.C., Wang, J.H. & Fujita, D.J. (1995). Mechanism of c-SRC activation in human melanocytes: elevated level of protein tyrosine phosphatase activity directed against the carboxy- terminal regulatory tyrosine. *Cell Growth Differ*, **6**, 123-30.
- Oda, A., Druker, B.J., Ariyoshi, H., Smith, M. & Salzman, E.W. (1993). pp60src is an endogenous substrate for calpain in human blood platelets. *J Biol Chem*, **268**, 12603-8.
- Oda, A., Ochs, H.D., Druker, B.J., Ozaki, K., Watanabe, C., Handa, M., Miyakawa, Y. & Ikeda, Y. (1998). Collagen induces tyrosine phosphorylation of Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein in human platelets. *Blood*, **92**, 1852-8.
- Okada, M. & Nakagawa, H. (1988). Identification of a novel protein tyrosine kinase that phosphorylates pp60c-src and regulates its activity in neonatal rat brain. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, **154**, 796-802.
- Okada, M. & Nakagawa, H. (1989). A protein tyrosine kinase involved in regulation of pp60c-src function. J Biol Chem, 264, 20886-93.
- Okamura, H. & Resh, M.D. (1994). Differential binding of pp60c-src and pp60v-src to cytoskeleton is mediated by SH2 and catalytic domains. *Oncogene*, **9**, 2293-303.
- Oliver, T., Lee, J. & Jacobson, K. (1994). Forces exerted by locomoting cells. Semin Cell Biol, 5, 139-47.
- Olson, M.F. (1996). Guanine nucleotide exchange factors for the Rho GTPases: a role in human disease? *J Mol Med*, **74**, 563-71.
- Olson, M.F., Pasteris, N.G., Gorski, J.L. & Hall, A. (1996). Faciogenital dysplasia protein (FGD1) and Vav, two related proteins required for normal embryonic development, are upstream regulators of Rho GTPases. *Curr Biol*, **6**, 1628-33.
- Ostergaard, H.L., Shackelford, D.A., Hurley, T.R., Johnson, P., Hyman, R., Sefton, B.M. & Trowbridge, I.S. (1989). Expression of CD45 alters phosphorylation of the lckencoded tyrosine protein kinase in murine lymphoma T-cell lines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **86**, 8959-63.
- Osusky, M., Taylor, S.J. & Shalloway, D. (1995). Autophosphorylation of purified c-Src at its primary negative regulation site. *J Biol Chem*, **270**, 25729-32.
- Owen, J.D., Ruest, P.J., Fry, D.W. & Hanks, S.K. (1999). Induced focal adhesion kinase (FAK) expression in FAK-null cells enhances cell spreading and migration requiring both auto- and activation loop phosphorylation sites and inhibits adhesion-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of Pyk2. *Mol Cell Biol*, **19**, 4806-18.
- Owens, D.W., McLean, G.W., Wyke, A.W., Paraskeva, C., Parkinson, E.K., Frame, M.C. & Brunton, V.G. (2000). The catalytic activity of the Src family kinases is required to disrupt cadherin-dependent cell-cell contacts. *Mol Biol Cell*, **11**, 51-64.
- Palmer, R.H., Dekker, L.V., Woscholski, R., Le Good, J.A., Gigg, R. & Parker, P.J. (1995). Activation of PRK1 by phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate and phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate. A comparison with protein kinase C isotypes. J Biol Chem, 270, 22412-6.
- Park, I., Chung, J., Walsh, C.T., Yun, Y., Strominger, J.L. & Shin, J. (1995).
 Phosphotyrosine-independent binding of a 62-kDa protein to the src homology 2 (SH2) domain of p56lck and its regulation by phosphorylation of Ser-59 in the lck unique N-terminal region. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 92, 12338-42.
- Parsons, J.T., Martin, K.H., Slack, J.K., Taylor, J.M. & Weed, S.A. (2000). Focal adhesion kinase: a regulator of focal adhesion dynamics and cell movement. *Oncogene*, 19, 5606-13.
- Parsons, J.T. & Weber, M.J. (1989). Genetics of src: structure and functional organization of a protein tyrosine kinase. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, **147**, 79-127.
- Paterson, H.F., Self, A.J., Garrett, M.D., Just, I., Aktories, K. & Hall, A. (1990). Microinjection of recombinant p21rho induces rapid changes in cell morphology. J Cell Biol, 111, 1001-7.
- Peppelenbosch, M.P., Qiu, R.G., de Vries-Smits, A.M., Tertoolen, L.G., de Laat, S.W., McCormick, F., Hall, A., Symons, M.H. & Bos, J.L. (1995). Rac mediates growth factor-induced arachidonic acid release. *Cell*, 81, 849-56.
- Petit, V., Boyer, B., Lentz, D., Turner, C.E., Thiery, J.P. & Valles, A.M. (2000).
 Phosphorylation of tyrosine residues 31 and 118 on paxillin regulates cell migration through an association with CRK in NBT-II cells. *J Cell Biol*, 148, 957-70.
- Ponniah, S., Wang, D.Z., Lim, K.L. & Pallen, C.J. (1999). Targeted disruption of the tyrosine phosphatase PTPalpha leads to constitutive downregulation of the kinases Src and Fyn. Curr Biol, 9, 535-8.
- Postma, F.R., Jalink, K., Hengeveld, T. & Moolenaar, W.H. (1996). Sphingosine-1phosphate rapidly induces Rho-dependent neurite retraction: action through a specific cell surface receptor. *Embo J*, **15**, 2388-92.
- Qiu, R.G., Abo, A., McCormick, F. & Symons, M. (1997). Cdc42 regulates anchorageindependent growth and is necessary for Ras transformation. *Mol Cell Biol*, 17, 3449-58.
- Quilliam, L.A., Lambert, Q.T., Mickelson-Young, L.A., Westwick, J.K., Sparks, A.B.,
 Kay, B.K., Jenkins, N.A., Gilbert, D.J., Copeland, N.G. & Der, C.J. (1996).
 Isolation of a NCK-associated kinase, PRK2, an SH3-binding protein and potential effector of Rho protein signaling. *J Biol Chem*, **271**, 28772-6.
- Rahimi, N., Hung, W., Tremblay, E., Saulnier, R. & Elliott, B. (1998). c-Src kinase activity is required for hepatocyte growth factor-induced motility and anchorageindependent growth of mammary carcinoma cells. *J Biol Chem*, **273**, 33714-21.

Ralston, R. & Bishop, J.M. (1985). The product of the protooncogene c-src is modified during the cellular response to platelet-derived growth factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A, 82, 7845-9.

Rameh, L.E., Chen, C.S. & Cantley, L.C. (1995). Phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)P3 interacts with SH2 domains and modulates PI 3-kinase association with tyrosinephosphorylated proteins. *Cell*, 83, 821-30.

Ramesh, N., Anton, I.M., Martinez-Quiles, N. & Geha, R.S. (1999). Waltzing with WASP. *Trends Cell Biol*, **9**, 15-9.

Randazzo, P.A., Nie, Z., Miura, K. & Hsu, V.W. (2000). Molecular aspects of the cellular activities of ADP-ribosylation factors. *Sci STKE*, **2000**, RE1.

Reid, T., Furuyashiki, T., Ishizaki, T., Watanabe, G., Watanabe, N., Fujisawa, K., Morii, N., Madaule, P. & Narumiya, S. (1996). Rhotekin, a new putative target for Rho bearing homology to a serine/threonine kinase, PKN, and rhophilin in the rhobinding domain. J Biol Chem, 271, 13556-60.

Reif, K., Nobes, C.D., Thomas, G., Hall, A. & Cantrell, D.A. (1996). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signals activate a selective subset of Rac/Rho-dependent effector pathways. *Curr Biol*, 6, 1445-55.

- Ren, X.D., Bokoch, G.M., Traynor-Kaplan, A., Jenkins, G.H., Anderson, R.A. & Schwartz, M.A. (1996). Physical association of the small GTPase Rho with a 68kDa phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate 5-kinase in Swiss 3T3 cells. *Mol Biol Cell*, 7, 435-42.
- Ren, X.D., Kiosses, W.B. & Schwartz, M.A. (1999). Regulation of the small GTP-binding protein Rho by cell adhesion and the cytoskeleton. *Embo J*, **18**, 578-85.
- Resh, M.D. (1994). Myristylation and palmitylation of Src family members: the fats of the matter. *Cell*, **76**, 411-3.
- Reynolds, A.B., Vila, J., Lansing, T.J., Potts, W.M., Weber, M.J. & Parsons, J.T. (1987). Activation of the oncogenic potential of the avian cellular src protein by specific structural alteration of the carboxy terminus. *Embo J*, 6, 2359-64.

Rickles, F.R., Hair, G.A., Zeff, R.A., Lee, E. & Bona, R.D. (1995). Tissue factor expression in human leukocytes and tumor cells. *Thromb Haemost*, **74**, 391-5.

- Ridley, A.J. (1996). Rho: theme and variations. Curr Biol, 6, 1256-64.
- Ridley, A.J., Comoglio, P.M. & Hall, A. (1995). Regulation of scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor responses by Ras, Rac, and Rho in MDCK cells. *Mol Cell Biol*, **15**, 1110-22.
- Ridley, A.J. & Hall, A. (1992). The small GTP-binding protein rho regulates the assembly of focal adhesions and actin stress fibers in response to growth factors. *Cell*, **70**, 389-99.
- Ridley, A.J., Paterson, H.F., Johnston, C.L., Diekmann, D. & Hall, A. (1992). The small GTP-binding protein rac regulates growth factor-induced membrane ruffling. *Cell*, 70, 401-10.
- Ridley, A.J., Self, A.J., Kasmi, F., Paterson, H.F., Hall, A., Marshall, C.J. & Ellis, C. (1993). rho family GTPase activating proteins p190, bcr and rhoGAP show distinct specificities in vitro and in vivo. *Embo J*, **12**, 5151-60.
- Robbins, S.M., Quintrell, N.A. & Bishop, J.M. (1995). Myristoylation and differential palmitoylation of the HCK protein- tyrosine kinases govern their attachment to membranes and association with caveolae. *Mol Cell Biol*, **15**, 3507-15.
- Rodier, J.M., Valles, A.M., Denoyelle, M., Thiery, J.P. & Boyer, B. (1995). pp60c-src is a positive regulator of growth factor-induced cell scattering in a rat bladder carcinoma cell line. J Cell Biol, 131, 761-73.
- Rodriguez-Fernandez, J.L. & Rozengurt, E. (1996). Bombesin, bradykinin, vasopressin, and phorbol esters rapidly and transiently activate Src family tyrosine kinases in Swiss 3T3 cells. Dissociation from tyrosine phosphorylation of p125 focal adhesion kinase. J Biol Chem, 271, 27895-901.

- Rohatgi, R., Ma, L., Miki, H., Lopez, M., Kirchhausen, T., Takenawa, T. & Kirschner, M.W. (1999). The interaction between N-WASP and the Arp2/3 complex links
 Cdc42- dependent signals to actin assembly. *Cell*, 97, 221-31.
- Rottner, K., Hall, A. & Small, J.V. (1999). Interplay between Rac and Rho in the control of substrate contact dynamics. *Curr Biol*, **9**, 640-8.
- Roux, P., Gauthier-Rouviere, C., Doucet-Brutin, S. & Fort, P. (1997). The small GTPases Cdc42Hs, Rac1 and RhoG delineate Raf-independent pathways that cooperate to transform NIH3T3 cells. *Curr Biol*, **7**, 629-37.
- Rozakis-Adcock, M., Fernley, R., Wade, J., Pawson, T. & Bowtell, D. (1993). The SH2 and SH3 domains of mammalian Grb2 couple the EGF receptor to the Ras activator mSos1. *Nature*, **363**, 83-5.
- Sabe, H., Shoelson, S.E. & Hanafusa, H. (1995). Possible v-Crk-induced transformation through activation of Src kinases. *J Biol Chem*, **270**, 31219-24.
- Sahai, E., Alberts, A.S. & Treisman, R. (1998). RhoA effector mutants reveal distinct effector pathways for cytoskeletal reorganization, SRF activation and transformation. *Embo J*, **17**, 1350-61.
- Salazar, E.P. & Rozengurt, E. (1999). Bombesin and platelet-derived growth factor induce association of endogenous focal adhesion kinase with Src in intact Swiss 3T3 cells. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 28371-8.
- Sander, E.E., ten Klooster, J.P., van Delft, S., van der Kammen, R.A. & Collard, J.G. (1999). Rac downregulates Rho activity: reciprocal balance between both GTPases determines cellular morphology and migratory behavior. J Cell Biol, 147, 1009-22.
- Sander, E.E., van Delft, S., ten Klooster, J.P., Reid, T., van der Kammen, R.A., Michiels, F. & Collard, J.G. (1998). Matrix-dependent Tiam1/Rac signaling in epithelial cells promotes either cell-cell adhesion or cell migration and is regulated by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. J Cell Biol, 143, 1385-98.
- Sanders, L.C., Matsumura, F., Bokoch, G.M. & de Lanerolle, P. (1999). Inhibition of myosin light chain kinase by p21-activated kinase. *Science*, **283**, 2083-5.
- Schaller, M.D., Hildebrand, J.D., Shannon, J.D., Fox, J.W., Vines, R.R. & Parsons, J.T. (1994). Autophosphorylation of the focal adhesion kinase, pp125FAK, directs SH2dependent binding of pp60src. *Mol Cell Biol*, 14, 1680-8.
- Schlaepfer, D.D. & Hunter, T. (1996). Evidence for in vivo phosphorylation of the Grb2 SH2-domain binding site on focal adhesion kinase by Src-family protein-tyrosine kinases. *Mol Cell Biol*, 16, 5623-33.
- Schmidt, C.E., Horwitz, A.F., Lauffenburger, D.A. & Sheetz, M.P. (1993). Integrincytoskeletal interactions in migrating fibroblasts are dynamic, asymmetric, and regulated. J Cell Biol, 123, 977-91.
- Schoenwaelder, S.M. & Burridge, K. (1999). Bidirectional signaling between the cytoskeleton and integrins. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, **11**, 274-86.
- Schuh, S.M. & Brugge, J.S. (1988). Investigation of factors that influence phosphorylation of pp60c-src on tyrosine 527. *Mol Cell Biol*, **8**, 2465-71.
- Schwartzberg, P.L., Xing, L., Hoffmann, O., Lowell, C.A., Garrett, L., Boyce, B.F. & Varmus, H.E. (1997). Rescue of osteoclast function by transgenic expression of kinase- deficient Src in src-/- mutant mice. *Genes Dev*, **11**, 2835-44.
- Sells, M.A., Boyd, J.T. & Chernoff, J. (1999). p21-activated kinase 1 (Pak1) regulates cell motility in mammalian fibroblasts. *J Cell Biol*, **145**, 837-49.
- Sells, M.A., Knaus, U.G., Bagrodia, S., Ambrose, D.M., Bokoch, G.M. & Chernoff, J. (1997). Human p21-activated kinase (Pak1) regulates actin organization in mammalian cells. *Curr Biol*, 7, 202-10.
- Serafini, T., Orci, L., Amherdt, M., Brunner, M., Kahn, R.A. & Rothman, J.E. (1991). ADP-ribosylation factor is a subunit of the coat of Golgi-derived COP- coated vesicles: a novel role for a GTP-binding protein. *Cell*, 67, 239-53.
- Seufferlein, T. & Rozengurt, E. (1995). Sphingosylphosphorylcholine rapidly induces tyrosine phosphorylation of p125FAK and paxillin, rearrangement of the actin

cytoskeleton and focal contact assembly. Requirement of p21rho in the signaling pathway. *J Biol Chem*, **270**, 24343-51.

- She, H.Y., Rockow, S., Tang, J., Nishimura, R., Skolnik, E.Y., Chen, M., Margolis, B. & Li, W. (1997). Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein is associated with the adapter protein Grb2 and the epidermal growth factor receptor in living cells. *Mol Biol Cell*, 8, 1709-21.
- Sheetz, M.P. (1994). Cell migration by graded attachment to substrates and contraction. *Semin Cell Biol*, **5**, 149-55.
- Shenoy, S., Chackalaparampil, I., Bagrodia, S., Lin, P.H. & Shalloway, D. (1992). Role of p34cdc2-mediated phosphorylations in two-step activation of pp60c-src during mitosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **89**, 7237-41.
- Shi, C.S., Sinnarajah, S., Cho, H., Kozasa, T. & Kehrl, J.H. (2000). G13alpha-mediated PYK2 activation. PYK2 is a mediator of G13alpha - induced serum response element-dependent transcription. J Biol Chem, 275, 24470-6.
- Sicheri, F. & Kuriyan, J. (1997). Structures of Src-family tyrosine kinases. *Curr Opin Struct Biol*, 7, 777-85.
- Sicheri, F., Moarefi, I. & Kuriyan, J. (1997). Crystal structure of the Src family tyrosine kinase Hck. *Nature*, **385**, 602-9.
- Small, J.V., Herzog, M. & Anderson, K. (1995). Actin filament organization in the fish keratocyte lamellipodium. *J Cell Biol*, **129**, 1275-86.
- Small, J.V., Rottner, K. & Kaverina, I. (1999). Functional design in the actin cytoskeleton. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, **11**, 54-60.
- Small, J.V., Stradal, T., Vignal, E. & Rottner, K. (2002). The lamellipodium: where motility begins. *Trends Cell Biol*, **12**, 112-20.
- Smart, J.E., Oppermann, H., Czernilofsky, A.P., Purchio, A.F., Erikson, R.L. & Bishop, J.M. (1981). Characterization of sites for tyrosine phosphorylation in the transforming protein of Rous sarcoma virus (pp60v-src) and its normal cellular homologue (pp60c-src). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **78**, 6013-7.
- Snapper, S.B., Rosen, F.S., Mizoguchi, E., Cohen, P., Khan, W., Liu, C.H., Hagemann, T.L., Kwan, S.P., Ferrini, R., Davidson, L., Bhan, A.K. & Alt, F.W. (1998).
 Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein-deficient mice reveal a role for WASP in T but not B cell activation. *Immunity*, 9, 81-91.
- Snyder, M.A., Bishop, J.M., Colby, W.W. & Levinson, A.D. (1983). Phosphorylation of tyrosine-416 is not required for the transforming properties and kinase activity of pp60v-src. *Cell*, 32, 891-901.
- Snyder, M.A., Bishop, J.M., McGrath, J.P. & Levinson, A.D. (1985). A mutation at the ATP-binding site of pp60v-src abolishes kinase activity, transformation, and tumorigenicity. *Mol Cell Biol*, **5**, 1772-9.
- Soderling, T.R. (1990). Protein kinases. Regulation by autoinhibitory domains. *J Biol Chem*, **265**, 1823-6.
- Songyang, Z., Blechner, S., Hoagland, N., Hoekstra, M.F., Piwnica-Worms, H. & Cantley, L.C. (1994a). Use of an oriented peptide library to determine the optimal substrates of protein kinases. *Curr Biol*, 4, 973-82.
- Songyang, Z., Shoelson, S.E., McGlade, J., Olivier, P., Pawson, T., Bustelo, X.R., Barbacid, M., Sabe, H., Hanafusa, H., Yi, T. & et al. (1994b). Specific motifs recognized by the SH2 domains of Csk, 3BP2, fps/fes, GRB-2, HCP, SHC, Syk, and Vav. *Mol Cell Biol*, 14, 2777-85.
- Stehelin, D. (1976). The transforming gene of avian tumor viruses. *Pathol Biol (Paris)*, 24, 513-5.
- Stossel, T.P. (1993). On the crawling of animal cells. Science, 260, 1086-94.
- Stowers, L., Yelon, D., Berg, L.J. & Chant, J. (1995). Regulation of the polarization of T cells toward antigen-presenting cells by Ras-related GTPase CDC42. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 92, 5027-31.

- Su, J., Muranjan, M. & Sap, J. (1999). Receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha activates Src-family kinases and controls integrin-mediated responses in fibroblasts. *Curr Biol*, 9, 505-11.
- Sugimoto, Y., Erikson, E., Graziani, Y. & Erikson, R.L. (1985). Inter- and intramolecular interactions of highly purified Rous sarcoma virus-transforming protein, pp60v-src. *J Biol Chem*, 260, 13838-43.
- Symons, M., Derry, J.M., Karlak, B., Jiang, S., Lemahieu, V., McCormick, F., Francke, U. & Abo, A. (1996). Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein, a novel effector for the GTPase CDC42Hs, is implicated in actin polymerization. *Cell*, 84, 723-34.
- Takahashi, K., Sasaki, T., Mammoto, A., Takaishi, K., Kameyama, T., Tsukita, S. & Takai, Y. (1997). Direct interaction of the Rho GDP dissociation inhibitor with ezrin/radixin/moesin initiates the activation of the Rho small G protein. J Biol Chem, 272, 23371-5.
- Takaishi, K., Sasaki, T., Kato, M., Yamochi, W., Kuroda, S., Nakamura, T., Takeichi, M. & Takai, Y. (1994). Involvement of Rho p21 small GTP-binding protein and its regulator in the HGF-induced cell motility. *Oncogene*, 9, 273-9.
- Takaishi, K., Sasaki, T., Kotani, H., Nishioka, H. & Takai, Y. (1997). Regulation of cellcell adhesion by rac and rho small G proteins in MDCK cells. *J Cell Biol*, **139**, 1047-59.
- Takeya, T. & Hanafusa, H. (1983). Structure and sequence of the cellular gene homologous to the RSV src gene and the mechanism for generating the transforming virus. *Cell*, **32**, 881-90.
- Tan, E.C., Leung, T., Manser, E. & Lim, L. (1993). The human active breakpoint cluster region-related gene encodes a brain protein with homology to guanine nucleotide exchange proteins and GTPase-activating proteins. J Biol Chem, 268, 27291-8.
- Taylor, S.J. & Shalloway, D. (1994). An RNA-binding protein associated with Src through its SH2 and SH3 domains in mitosis. *Nature*, **368**, 867-71.
- Thomas, J.W., Ellis, B., Boerner, R.J., Knight, W.B., White, G.C., 2nd & Schaller, M.D. (1998). SH2- and SH3-mediated interactions between focal adhesion kinase and Src. *J Biol Chem*, **273**, 577-83.
- Thomas, S.M. & Brugge, J.S. (1997). Cellular functions regulated by Src family kinases. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol*, **13**, 513-609.
- Thomas, S.M., Soriano, P. & Imamoto, A. (1995). Specific and redundant roles of Src and Fyn in organizing the cytoskeleton. *Nature*, **376**, 267-71.
- Timpson, P., Jones, G.E., Frame, M.C. & Brunton, V.G. (2001). Coordination of cell polarization and migration by the Rho family GTPases requires Src tyrosine kinase activity. *Curr Biol*, **11**, 1836-46.
- Toker, A. (1998). The synthesis and cellular roles of phosphatidylinositol 4,5bisphosphate. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, **10**, 254-61.
- Tominaga, T., Sahai, E., Chardin, P., McCormick, F., Courtneidge, S.A. & Alberts, A.S. (2000). Diaphanous-related formins bridge Rho GTPase and Src tyrosine kinase signaling. *Mol Cell*, 5, 13-25.
- Totsukawa, G., Yamakita, Y., Yamashiro, S., Hartshorne, D.J., Sasaki, Y. & Matsumura,
 F. (2000). Distinct roles of ROCK (Rho-kinase) and MLCK in spatial regulation of
 MLC phosphorylation for assembly of stress fibers and focal adhesions in 3T3
 fibroblasts. J Cell Biol, 150, 797-806.
- Tsukita, S., Oishi, K., Sato, N., Sagara, J. & Kawai, A. (1994). ERM family members as molecular linkers between the cell surface glycoprotein CD44 and actin-based cytoskeletons. *J Cell Biol*, **126**, 391-401.
- Tsukita, S. & Yonemura, S. (1997). ERM proteins: head-to-tail regulation of actin-plasma membrane interaction. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 22, 53-8.
- Ueda, H., Itoh, H., Yamauchi, J., Morishita, R., Kaziro, Y., Kato, K. & Asano, T. (2000). G protein betagamma subunits induce stress fiber formation and focal adhesion assembly in a Rho-dependent manner in HeLa cells. J Biol Chem, 275, 2098-102.

- Ueda, H., Uno, S., Harada, J., Kobayashi, I., Katada, T., Ui, M. & Satoh, M. (1990a). Evidence for receptor-mediated inhibition of intrinsic activity of GTP- binding protein, Gi1 and Gi2, but not G0 in reconstitution experiments. *FEBS Lett*, 266, 178-82.
- Ueda, T., Kikuchi, A., Ohga, N., Yamamoto, J. & Takai, Y. (1990b). Purification and characterization from bovine brain cytosol of a novel regulatory protein inhibiting the dissociation of GDP from and the subsequent binding of GTP to rhoB p20, a ras p21-like GTP-binding protein. *J Biol Chem*, **265**, 9373-80.
- Uehata, M., Ishizaki, T., Satoh, H., Ono, T., Kawahara, T., Morishita, T., Tamakawa, H., Yamagami, K., Inui, J., Maekawa, M. & Narumiya, S. (1997). Calcium sensitization of smooth muscle mediated by a Rho-associated protein kinase in hypertension. *Nature*, **389**, 990-4.
- Van Aelst, L. & D'Souza-Schorey, C. (1997). Rho GTPases and signaling networks. *Genes Dev*, **11**, 2295-322.

Van Aelst, L., Joneson, T. & Bar-Sagi, D. (1996). Identification of a novel Rac1interacting protein involved in membrane ruffling. *Embo J*, **15**, 3778-86.

- Verschueren, H., De Baetselier, P., De Braekeleer, J., Dewit, J., Aktories, K. & Just, I. (1997). ADP-ribosylation of Rho-proteins with botulinum C3 exoenzyme inhibits invasion and shape changes of T-lymphoma cells. *Eur J Cell Biol*, **73**, 182-7.
- Vincent, S. & Settleman, J. (1997). The PRK2 kinase is a potential effector target of both Rho and Rac GTPases and regulates actin cytoskeletal organization. *Mol Cell Biol*, 17, 2247-56.
- Wasserman, S. (1998). FH proteins as cytoskeletal organizers. Trends Cell Biol, 8, 111-5.
- Watanabe, G., Saito, Y., Madaule, P., Ishizaki, T., Fujisawa, K., Morii, N., Mukai, H., Ono, Y., Kakizuka, A. & Narumiya, S. (1996). Protein kinase N (PKN) and PKNrelated protein rhophilin as targets of small GTPase Rho. *Science*, 271, 645-8.
- Watanabe, N., Kato, T., Fujita, A., Ishizaki, T. & Narumiya, S. (1999). Cooperation between mDia1 and ROCK in Rho-induced actin reorganization. *Nat Cell Biol*, 1, 136-43.
- Watanabe, N., Madaule, P., Reid, T., Ishizaki, T., Watanabe, G., Kakizuka, A., Saito, Y., Nakao, K., Jockusch, B.M. & Narumiya, S. (1997). p140mDia, a mammalian homolog of Drosophila diaphanous, is a target protein for Rho small GTPase and is a ligand for profilin. *Embo J*, 16, 3044-56.
- Weed, S.A., Du, Y. & Parsons, J.T. (1998). Translocation of cortactin to the cell periphery is mediated by the small GTPase Rac1. *J Cell Sci*, **111**, 2433-43.
- Weed, S.A., Karginov, A.V., Schafer, D.A., Weaver, A.M., Kinley, A.W., Cooper, J.A. & Parsons, J.T. (2000). Cortactin localization to sites of actin assembly in lamellipodia requires interactions with F-actin and the Arp2/3 complex. *J Cell Biol*, 151, 29-40.
- Weernink, P.A. & Rijksen, G. (1995). Activation and translocation of c-Src to the cytoskeleton by both platelet-derived growth factor and epidermal growth factor. *J Biol Chem*, **270**, 2264-7.
- Wegner, A. (1976). Head to tail polymerization of actin. J Mol Biol, 108, 139-50.
- Welch, M.D., DePace, A.H., Verma, S., Iwamatsu, A. & Mitchison, T.J. (1997). The human Arp2/3 complex is composed of evolutionarily conserved subunits and is localized to cellular regions of dynamic actin filament assembly. *J Cell Biol*, **138**, 375-84.
- Welham, M.J. & Wyke, J.A. (1988). A single point mutation has pleiotropic effects on pp60v-src function. J Virol, 62, 1898-906.
- Wennstrom, S., Hawkins, P., Cooke, F., Hara, K., Yonezawa, K., Kasuga, M., Jackson, T., Claesson-Welsh, L. & Stephens, L. (1994). Activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase is required for PDGF-stimulated membrane ruffling. *Curr Biol*, 4, 385-93.

- Westphal, M., Jungbluth, A., Heidecker, M., Muhlbauer, B., Heizer, C., Schwartz, J.M., Marriott, G. & Gerisch, G. (1997). Microfilament dynamics during cell movement and chemotaxis monitored using a GFP-actin fusion protein. *Curr Biol*, **7**, 176-83.
- Westwick, J.K., Lambert, Q.T., Clark, G.J., Symons, M., Van Aelst, L., Pestell, R.G. & Der, C.J. (1997). Rac regulation of transformation, gene expression, and actin organization by multiple, PAK-independent pathways. *Mol Cell Biol*, 17, 1324-35.
- Whitehead, I.P., Campbell, S., Rossman, K.L. & Der, C.J. (1997). Dbl family proteins. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, **1332**, F1-23.
- Wu, H., Reynolds, A.B., Kanner, S.B., Vines, R.R. & Parsons, J.T. (1991). Identification and characterization of a novel cytoskeleton-associated pp60src substrate. *Mol Cell Biol*, 11, 5113-24.
- Wu, Y., Spencer, S.D. & Lasky, L.A. (1998). Tyrosine phosphorylation regulates the SH3mediated binding of the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein to PSTPIP, a cytoskeletal-associated protein. J Biol Chem, 273, 5765-70.
- Xu, W., Harrison, S.C. & Eck, M.J. (1997). Three-dimensional structure of the tyrosine kinase c-Src. *Nature*, **385**, 595-602.
- Xu, Y., Singer, M.A. & Lindquist, S. (1999). Maturation of the tyrosine kinase c-src as a kinase and as a substrate depends on the molecular chaperone Hsp90. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96, 109-14.
- Yamaguchi, H. & Hendrickson, W.A. (1996). Structural basis for activation of human lymphocyte kinase Lck upon tyrosine phosphorylation. *Nature*, **384**, 484-9.
- Yang, W. & Cerione, R.A. (1997). Cloning and characterization of a novel Cdc42associated tyrosine kinase, ACK-2, from bovine brain. *J Biol Chem*, **272**, 24819-24.
- Yokouchi, M., Kondo, T., Sanjay, A., Houghton, A., Yoshimura, A., Komiya, S., Zhang,
 H. & Baron, R. (2001). Src-catalyzed phosphorylation of c-Cbl leads to the interdependent ubiquitination of both proteins. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 35185-93.
- Yoshioka, K., Imamura, F., Shinkai, K., Miyoshi, J., Ogawa, H., Mukai, M., Komagome, R. & Akedo, H. (1995). Participation of rhop21 in serum-dependent invasion by rat ascites hepatoma cells. *FEBS Lett*, **372**, 25-8.
- Yoshizumi, M., Abe, J., Haendeler, J., Huang, Q. & Berk, B.C. (2000). Src and Cas mediate JNK activation but not ERK1/2 and p38 kinases by reactive oxygen species. *J Biol Chem*, **275**, 11706-12.
- Yu, H., Chen, J.K., Feng, S., Dalgarno, D.C., Brauer, A.W. & Schreiber, S.L. (1994). Structural basis for the binding of proline-rich peptides to SH3 domains. *Cell*, 76, 933-45.
- Zhao, Z., Zander, N.F., Malencik, D.A., Anderson, S.R. & Fischer, E.H. (1992). Continuous spectrophotometric assay of protein tyrosine phosphatase using phosphotyrosine. *Anal Biochem*, **202**, 361-6.
- Zhao, Z.S., Leung, T., Manser, E. & Lim, L. (1995). Pheromone signalling in Saccharomyces cerevisiae requires the small GTP- binding protein Cdc42p and its activator CDC24. *Mol Cell Biol*, 15, 5246-57.
- Zhao, Z.S., Manser, E., Chen, X.Q., Chong, C., Leung, T. & Lim, L. (1998). A conserved negative regulatory region in alphaPAK: inhibition of PAK kinases reveals their morphological roles downstream of Cdc42 and Rac1. *Mol Cell Biol*, 18, 2153-63.
- Zheng, X.M., Resnick, R.J. & Shalloway, D. (2000). A phosphotyrosine displacement mechanism for activation of Src by PTPalpha. *Embo J*, **19**, 964-78.
- Zheng, X.M., Wang, Y. & Pallen, C.J. (1992). Cell transformation and activation of pp60csrc by overexpression of a protein tyrosine phosphatase. *Nature*, **359**, 336-9.
- Zheng, Y., Bagrodia, S. & Cerione, R.A. (1994a). Activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase activity by Cdc42Hs binding to p85. *J Biol Chem*, **269**, 18727-30.
- Zheng, Y., Cerione, R. & Bender, A. (1994b). Control of the yeast bud-site assembly GTPase Cdc42. Catalysis of guanine nucleotide exchange by Cdc24 and stimulation of GTPase activity by Bem3. *J Biol Chem*, **269**, 2369-72.

- Zheng, Y., Glaven, J.A., Wu, W.J. & Cerione, R.A. (1996). Phosphatidylinositol 4,5bisphosphate provides an alternative to guanine nucleotide exchange factors by stimulating the dissociation of GDP from Cdc42Hs. *J Biol Chem*, **271**, 23815-9.
- Zhou, M.M., Ravichandran, K.S., Olejniczak, E.F., Petros, A.M., Meadows, R.P., Sattler, M., Harlan, J.E., Wade, W.S., Burakoff, S.J. & Fesik, S.W. (1995). Structure and ligand recognition of the phosphotyrosine binding domain of Shc. *Nature*, **378**, 584-92.
- Zicha, D., Allen, W.E., Brickell, P.M., Kinnon, C., Dunn, G.A., Jones, G.E. & Thrasher, A.J. (1998). Chemotaxis of macrophages is abolished in the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. *Br J Haematol*, **101**, 659-65.
- Zigmond, S.H. (1996). Signal transduction and actin filament organization. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, **8**, 66-73.
- Zohn, I.M., Campbell, S.L., Khosravi-Far, R., Rossman, K.L. & Der, C.J. (1998). Rho family proteins and Ras transformation: the RHOad less traveled gets congested. *Oncogene*, **17**, 1415-38.
- Zondag, G.C., Evers, E.E., ten Klooster, J.P., Janssen, L., van der Kammen, R.A. & Collard, J.G. (2000). Oncogenic Ras downregulates Rac activity, which leads to increased Rho activity and epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *J Cell Biol*, **149**, 775-82.

GLASGOW UNIVERSITY LIBRARY